

Original citation:

Schlichting, Marco. (2017) Hermitian K-theory, derived equivalences and Karoubi's fundamental theorem. Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra, 221 (7). pp. 1729-1844.

Permanent WRAP URL:

http://wrap.warwick.ac.uk/81621

Copyright and reuse:

The Warwick Research Archive Portal (WRAP) makes this work by researchers of the University of Warwick available open access under the following conditions. Copyright © and all moral rights to the version of the paper presented here belong to the individual author(s) and/or other copyright owners. To the extent reasonable and practicable the material made available in WRAP has been checked for eligibility before being made available.

Copies of full items can be used for personal research or study, educational, or not-for-profit purposes without prior permission or charge. Provided that the authors, title and full bibliographic details are credited, a hyperlink and/or URL is given for the original metadata page and the content is not changed in any way.

Publisher's statement:

© 2016, Elsevier. Licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/

A note on versions:

The version presented here may differ from the published version or, version of record, if you wish to cite this item you are advised to consult the publisher's version. Please see the 'permanent WRAP URL' above for details on accessing the published version and note that access may require a subscription.

For more information, please contact the WRAP Team at: wrap@warwick.ac.uk

HERMITIAN K-THEORY, DERIVED EQUIVALENCES AND KAROUBI'S FUNDAMENTAL THEOREM

MARCO SCHLICHTING

ABSTRACT. Within the framework of dg categories with weak equivalences and duality that have uniquely 2-divisible mapping complexes, we show that higher Grothendieck-Witt groups (aka. hermitian K-groups) are invariant under derived equivalences and that Morita exact sequences induce long exact sequences of Grothendieck-Witt groups. This implies an algebraic Bott sequence and a new proof and generalisation of Karoubi's Fundamental Theorem. For the higher Grothendieck-Witt groups of vector bundles of (possibly singular) schemes X with an ample family of line-bundles such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \Gamma(X, O_X)$, we obtain Mayer-Vietoris long exact sequences for Nisnevich coverings and blowups along regularly embedded centers, projective bundle formulas, and a Bass fundamental theorem. For coherent Grothendieck-Witt groups, we obtain a localization theorem analogous to Quillen's K'-localization theorem.

Contents

Introduction	1
1. Grothendieck-Witt groups of dg categories	6
2. The cone functor and a counter-example to invariance	26
3. Grothendieck-Witt groups of triangulated categories	30
4. The multi-simplicial \mathcal{R}_{\bullet} -construction	40
5. Products and the Grothendieck-Witt spectrum	49
6. Bott Sequence, Invariance and Localization	56
7. Relation with <i>L</i> -theory and Tate of <i>K</i> -theory	61
8. The Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt spectrum	68
9. Higher Grothendieck-Witt groups of schemes	77
10. Bott-periodicity	89
Appendix A. Homology of the infinite orthogonal group	93
Appendix B. Spectra, Tate spectra, and Bispectra	101
References	116

INTRODUCTION

By a result of Thomason [TT90, Theorem 1.9.8], algebraic K-theory is "invariant under derived equivalences". This is a tremendously powerful fact. Together with Waldhausen's Fibration Theorem [Wal85, Theorem 1.6.4] it implies a Localization Theorem which - omitting hypothesis - says that a "short exact sequence of triangulated categories" induces a long exact sequence of algebraic K-groups. This property of algebraic K-theory implies long exact Mayer-Vietoris sequences for Nisnevich coverings [TT90] and for blow-ups along regularly embedded centers

MARCO SCHLICHTING

[Tho93b]. Both results are fundamental for the recent advances in our understanding of the algebraic K-theory of singular varieties [CHSW08], [CHW08].

In this article, we investigate the problem of "invariance under derived equivalences" for the higher Grothendieck-Witt groups introduced by the author in [Sch10b]. These groups naturally occur in \mathbb{A}^1 -homotopy theory [Mor12], [AF14] and are to oriented Chow groups what algebraic K-theory is to ordinary Chow groups. They are the algebraic analog of the topological KO-groups, or, in the context of schemes with involution, they are the algebraic analog of Atiyah's KRtheory.

Within the framework of dg categories with weak equivalences and duality that have uniquely 2-divisible mapping complexes, we show in Theorems 6.5 and 8.9 that the higher Grothendieck-Witt groups are invariant under derived equivalences. This is in some sense the best one can hope for since without an assumption such as "uniquely 2-divisible homomorphism groups", there are examples of derived equivalences that do not induce isomorphisms of Grothendieck-Witt groups; see Proposition 2.1.

Together with our Fibration Theorem [Sch10b, Theorem 6] this implies Theorems 6.6 and 8.10 which are the analogs for higher Grothendieck-Witt groups of the Thomason-Waldhausen Localization Theorem mentioned above. We obtain several new results as application of our Localization Theorem: algebraic versions of the Bott sequence in topology (Theorems 6.1 and 8.11), a new and more general proof of Karoubi's Fundamental Theorem [Kar80] (Theorem 6.2), Nisnevich descent for (possibly singular) noetherian schemes with an ample family of line bundles (Theorem 9.7), a Mayer-Vietoris property for blow-ups along regularly embedded centers (Theorem 9.9), projective bundle formulas (Theorem 9.10 and Remark 9.11), a Bass fundamental theorem for Grothendieck-Witt groups (Theorem 9.13), and an analog for Grothendieck-Witt groups of Quillen's K'-theory localization theorem based on coherent sheaves (Theorem 9.19).

Special cases of our results have been obtained by other authors using different methods. Notably, Karoubi proved his Fundamental Theorem for $\mathbb{Z}[1/2]$ -algebras with involution in [Kar80], and Hornbostel proved Nisnevich descent and a version of the Projective Line Bundle Theorem both in the case of regular noetherian separated $\mathbb{Z}[1/2]$ -schemes in [Hor05]. At the very least all geometric results regarding singular schemes are new. Our interpretation of Karoubi's U and V-theories as the odd shifted higher Grothendieck-Witt groups and our careful study of the multiplicative structure of higher Grothendieck-Witt groups in Sections 5 and 8 should be of independent interest.

Results of this article have already been used in [FS09], [Zib11], [PW10], in the solution of a conjecture of Suslin on the structure of stably free projective modules [FRS12] and in the solution of a conjecture of Williams and the analog of the Quillen-Lichtenbaum conjecture for hermitian K-theory [BKSØ15].

We give an outline of the article. Section 1 doesn't contain anything essentially new. We recall definitions and basic facts about dg categories and introduce the obvious notion of a dg category with weak equivalences and duality. The main point here is our treatment of the pretriangulated hull \mathcal{A}^{ptr} of a dg category \mathcal{A} (Definition 1.16) which makes it clear that \mathcal{A}^{ptr} is a dg category with weak equivalences and duality whenever \mathcal{A} is, and the assignment $\mathcal{A} \mapsto \mathcal{A}^{ptr}$ is symmetric monoidal in some sense; see Section 5.1. The Grothendieck-Witt group $GW_0(\mathscr{A})$ of a dg category with (weak equivalences and) duality is defined to be the Grothendieck-Witt group of the exact category with weak equivalences and duality in the sense of [Sch10b, Definition 1] of the category $Z^0 \mathscr{A}^{ptr}$ of closed degree zero maps in the pretriangulated hull of \mathscr{A} . When \mathscr{A} is a dg algebra A then $GW_0(A)$ is the Grothendieck-Witt group of finitely generated semi-free dg A-modules. When $\mathscr{A} = \operatorname{sPerf}(X)$ is the dg category of bounded complexes of vector bundles on a scheme X with weak equivalences the quasi-isomorphisms, then $GW_0(\operatorname{sPerf}(X))$ is the Grothendieck-Witt group $GW_0(X)$ of X as introduced by Knebusch in [Kne77].

In Section 2, we introduce the "duality preserving" cone functor, a version for dg categories with duality of the functor that sends a map of complexes to its cone. We use the cone functor to construct in Proposition 2.1 examples of functors between dg categories with weak equivalences and duality which induce equivalences of derived categories but the induced map on Grothendieck-Witt groups is not an isomorphism. Our examples use dg categories for which the mapping complexes are not uniquely 2-divisible.

In Section 3 we slightly generalize the notion of a triangulated category with duality given in [Bal00] in that we don't require the shift of the triangulated category to be an isomorphism; it is only required to be an equivalence. As in [Bal00] and [Wal03b] we have a Witt and a Grothendieck-Witt group of such categories, but, contrary to *loc.cit.*, our presentation doesn't use shifted dualities. For a dg category with weak equivalences and duality \mathscr{A} , we verify in Lemma 3.6 that the triangulated category $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$ of \mathscr{A} , that is, the localization of the homotopy category $H^0\mathscr{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ of the pretriangulated hull of \mathscr{A} with respect to the weak equivalences, is indeed a triangulated category with duality. We show in Proposition 3.8 that the Grothendieck-Witt group of a dg category with weak equivalences and duality \mathscr{A} agrees with the Grothendieck-Witt group of its triangulated category $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$ provided its mapping complexes are uniquely 2-divisible, a condition we denote by $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. Without an assumption such as $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$, this proposition cannot hold as shown by the examples in Section 2.

In Section 4, we recall from [Sch10b] the hermitian analog \mathcal{R}_{\bullet} (denoted by S_{\bullet}^{e} in [Sch10b]) of Waldhausen's S_{\bullet} -construction and introduce its iterated versions $\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}^{(n)}$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$. The main result here is Proposition 4.9 which is the basis for the construction of the Grothendieck-Witt spectrum functor to be introduced in Section 5. Together with Corollary 4.11 it implies Karoubi's Fundamental Theorem [Kar80].

In Section 5, we construct the Grothendieck-Witt theory functor GW which is a symmetric monoidal functor from dg categories with weak equivalences and duality (that have uniquely 2-divisible mapping complexes) to symmetric spectra of topological spaces. The higher Grothendieck-Witt groups of a dg category with weak equivalences and duality \mathscr{A} are the homotopy groups $GW_i(\mathscr{A})$ of its Grothendieck-Witt spectrum $GW(\mathscr{A})$. To explain the idea of the construction, recall that Waldhausen's S_{\bullet} -construction can be iterated to yield a symmetric spectrum $\{w\mathscr{A}^{\text{ptr}}, wS_{\bullet}\mathscr{A}^{\text{ptr}}, wS_{\bullet}^{(2)}\mathscr{A}^{\text{ptr}}, \ldots\}$ which is a positive Ω -spectrum. Similarly, the \mathcal{R}_{\bullet} -construction can be iterated. However, contrary to the K-theory case, $(w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}^{(2)}\mathscr{A}^{\text{ptr}})_h$ is not a delooping of $(w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}\mathscr{A}^{\text{ptr}})_h$. To construct a spectrum as in the K-theory case, we note that the pretriangulated hull \mathscr{A}^{ptr} can be equipped with many dualities. For each integer n, we have a dg category with weak equivalences and duality $\mathscr{A}^{[n]}$ all having the same pretriangulated hull as \mathscr{A} , but they are equipped with dualities that depend on n. When $\mathscr{A} = \operatorname{sPerf}(X)$, the categories

MARCO SCHLICHTING

 $\mathscr{A}^{[n]}$ correspond to the dg categories $\operatorname{sPerf}(X)$ equipped with the shifted dualities $E \mapsto \operatorname{Hom}_{O_X}^{\bullet}(E, O_X[n])$. With appropriate models $\mathscr{A}^{(n)}$ for $\mathscr{A}^{[n]}$, we show in Theorem 5.5 that the sequence

$$GW(\mathscr{A}) = \{ (w\mathscr{A})_h, (w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}\mathscr{A}^{(1)})_h, (w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}^{(2)}\mathscr{A}^{(2)})_h, \ldots \}$$

together with the bonding maps of Definition 5.4 is a positive symmetric Ω -spectrum. By Proposition 5.6, its infinite loop space is the Grothendieck-Witt space of $Z^0 \mathscr{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ as defined in [Sch10b]. In particular, its zero-th homotopy group is the Grothendieck-Witt group of Section 1. The spectrum $GW(\mathscr{A})$ is the Grothendieck-Witt analog of connective K-theory. However (!), this spectrum is rarely connective: its negative homotopy groups are Balmer's triangular Witt groups of $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$; see Proposition 6.3.

Section 6 contains our main results regarding the higher Grothendieck-Witt groups of dg categories with weak equivalences and duality. Write $GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{A})$ for the Grothendieck-Witt spectrum of $\mathscr{A}^{[n]}$. Then $GW^{[0]}(\mathscr{A}) \simeq GW(\mathscr{A})$ and $GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) \simeq GW^{[n+4]}(\mathscr{A})$. We show in Theorem 6.1 an algebraic version of the Bott sequence in topology. Our theorem asserts that if $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$ then the sequence

$$GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{F} K(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{H} GW^{[n+1]}(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\eta \cup} S^1 \wedge GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{A})$$

is an exact triangle in the homotopy category of spectra. Here F and H are forgetful and hyperbolic functors, and $\eta \in GW_{-1}^{[-1]}(k)$ corresponds to the unit $\langle 1 \rangle \in W(k) \cong GW_{-1}^{[-1]}(k)$ in the Witt ring of the base ring k. This theorem implies Karoubi's Fundamental Theorem for dg categories (Theorem 6.2) and the Localization Theorem 6.6 asserting that a sequence $\mathscr{A}_0 \to \mathscr{A}_1 \to \mathscr{A}_2$ of dg categories with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}_i$ and such that the sequence $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}_0 \to \mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}_1 \to \mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}_2$ of associated triangulated categories is exact induces a homotopy fibration

$$GW(\mathscr{A}_0) \to GW(\mathscr{A}_1) \to GW(\mathscr{A}_2)$$

of Grothendieck-Witt spectra. In particular, our higher Grothendieck-Witt groups are invariant under derived equivalences (Theorem 6.5).

In Section 7 we generalize results of Kobal and Williams [Kob99] to dg categories with weak equivalences and duality. For such a category \mathscr{A} , its connective K-theory spectrum $K(\mathscr{A})$ is equipped with a canonical C_2 -action induced by the duality on \mathscr{A} . When $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$, we show in Theorem 7.6 a homotopy fibration

$$K(\mathscr{A})_{hC_2} \to GW(\mathscr{A}) \to L(\mathscr{A})$$

and a homotopy cartesian square of spectra

where $K(\mathscr{A})_{hC_2}$, $K(\mathscr{A})^{hC_2}$ and $\hat{\mathbb{H}}(C_2, K(\mathscr{A}))$ denote the homotopy orbit, homotopy fixed point and the Tate spectrum of the C_2 -spectrum $K(\mathscr{A})$. The spectrum $L(\mathscr{A}) = \eta^{-1} GW(\mathscr{A})$ is 4-periodic and has homotopy groups the Balmer triangular Witt groups of \mathscr{A} . The map $GW(\mathscr{A}) \to K(\mathscr{A})^{hC_2}$ is the subject of Williams' conjecture which predicts it to be a 2-adic equivalence. The results of this section are essential in the solution of this conjecture for schemes in [BKSØ15]. In Section 8, we define the analog $\mathbb{G}W$, called *Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt spectrum functor*, of the non-connective *K*-theory functor \mathbb{K} . As a spectrum it is equivalent to the mapping telescope of a sequence of spectra

$$GW(\mathscr{A}) \longrightarrow \Omega GW(S\mathscr{A}) \longrightarrow \Omega^2 GW(S^2\mathscr{A}) \longrightarrow \cdots$$

where S denotes the algebraic suspension ring (Remark 8.8). However, this mapping telescope does not define a symmetric monoidal functor from dg categories to spectra for the same reason that the infinite loop space functor $\Omega^{\infty}GW$ of GW is not symmetric monoidal. That's why our symmetric monoidal functor $\mathbb{G}W$ takes values in the category of bispectra. The symmetric monoidal model category of bispectra is yet another model for the homotopy category of spectra. It contains the category of symmetric spectra as a full monoidal subcategory, the inclusion of spectra into bispectra preserves stable equivalences and induces an equivalence of associated homotopy categories. There is a natural map $GW(\mathscr{A}) \to \mathbb{G}W(\mathscr{A})$ which is an isomorphism in degrees ≥ 1 and a monomorphism in degree 0 (Theorem 8.14). If $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$ is idempotent complete, then this map is also an isomorphism in degree 0. For instance, for a ring with involution A with $\frac{1}{2} \in A$, the group $\mathbb{G}W_0(A)$ is the Grothendieck-Witt group of the category of finitely generated projective A-modules. We show in Theorems 8.9, 8.10 and 8.11 the $\mathbb{G}W$ -analogs of the Invariance, Localization, and Bott Sequence theorems proved for GW in Section 6.

In Section 9 we prove the results regarding the higher Grothendieck-Witt groups of schemes mentioned above.

In Section 10 we show that our results imply the 8 homotopy equivalences in Bott's Periodicity Theorem for the infinite orthogonal group as envisioned by Karoubi in [Kar73]. Whereas Karoubi's proof of his Fundamental Theorem in [Kar80] is based on classical 8-fold Bott periodicity, our new proof of his theorem actually implies 8-fold Bott periodicity. This is explained in Section 10.1. Of course, Bott periodicity is not new, but the reader may find it a little reward at the end of a long paper.

There are two appendices to this article. One, Section A, shows that for a ring with involution A such that $\frac{1}{2} \in A$, the connected component of the infinite loop space of GW(A) is homotopy equivalent to Quillen's plus construction $BO(A)^+$ applied to the classifying space of the infinite orthogonal group of A. This is necessary if Theorem 6.2 is truly to be a new proof of Karoubi's Fundamental Theorem. In [Sch04], we gave proofs of the results of Section A based on Karoubi's version of the Fundamental Theorem. Here we avoid Karoubi's theorem. The other appendix, Section B, recollects definitions and results about symmetric spectra, homotopy orbit, homotopy fixed and Tate spectra, and about bispectra used throughout the paper.

DG-categories versus complicial exact categories. In some preprint versions of this paper I used "complicial exact categories" (in the sense of, for instance, [Sch11, Definition 3.2.2]) whereas I decided to work with "dg-categories" here. In practice, all complicial exact categories have a "dg-enhancement" even though the exact structures may differ (this, however, doesn't change the *GW*-theories, by [Sch10b, Lemma 7]). The passage from exact categories to complexes which are complicial exact categories underlying a dg-category is explained in [Sch10b, §6]; see also [Sch10b, Remark 14].

MARCO SCHLICHTING

The advantage of the category of dg-categories is that it has a symmetric monoidal tensor-product. This considerably simplifies the construction of the GW-spectrum and the treatment of products in GW-theory.

Advice for the hurried reader. For a first reading, I suggest to skip the technical sections 1-8 while nevertheless bearing in mind Examples 1.28 and 1.38 and the analogies of GW and $\mathbb{G}W$ with connective and non-connective K-theory K and K. Take note, however, that the negative homotopy groups GW_i of GW are the Balmer Witt groups W^{-i} for i < 0 which are non-zero in general; see the example following Proposition 5.6. Then take the Localization Theorems 6.6 and 8.10 as axioms and use Remark 6.7 to deduce the Bott sequences 6.1 and 8.11. Now you are ready to jump right into Section 9.

Acknowledgements. This paper is part of a collection of papers published in honor of Charles A. Weibel's 65th birthday. Ever since I wrote my PhD, Chuck has been incredibly supportive; I warmly thank him for that.

It should be clear to the reader that this paper owes a lot to the mathematics of Max Karoubi, Robert Thomason, and Paul Balmer. I would like to thank them. Thanks also go to Baptiste Calmes and Heng Xie for comments on earlier drafts, and to the anonymous referee for his comments.

It took me about 10 years to put the results of this paper into its final form. I gave the first talks about the main results of Section 8 and its consequences at a workshop on algebraic K-theory in Montreal, 2004, and in a series of lectures at ETH Zurich in 2005, though proofs and framework were very different then. I apologize for the delay in publication.

Over the years, various institutions and grant agencies have given financial support, such as I.H.E.S. and Max Planck in Bonn, NSF and EPSRC. I would like to thank them.

1. GROTHENDIECK-WITT GROUPS OF DG CATEGORIES

Let k be a commutative ring. Our work takes place in the framework of differential graded categories over k. We recall standard notation and terminology; see also [Kel06].

1.1. Differential graded k-modules. A dg k-module is a k-module M together with a direct sum decomposition $M = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} M^i$ and a k-linear map $d : M \to M$, called differential, such that $d(M^i) \subset M^{i+1}$ for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $d \circ d = 0$. Elements $x \in M^i$ are said to be homogeneous of degree |x| = i. A morphism $f : M \to N$ of dg k-modules is a morphism of graded k-modules commuting with differentials, that is, $f(M^i) \subset N^i$ and f(dx) = d(fx) for all $x \in M$. Composition is composition of k-modules. This defines the category dgMod_k of dg k-modules.

There are additive functors $Z^0, B^0, H^0: \mathrm{dgMod}_k \to \mathrm{Mod}_k$ to the category Mod_k of k-modules defined by

$$Z^{0}M = \ker(d: M^{0} \to M^{1})$$
$$B^{0}M = \operatorname{Im}(d: M^{-1} \to M^{0})$$
$$H^{0}M = Z^{0}M/B^{0}M.$$

 $\mathbf{6}$

The tensor product of two dg k-modules M and N is given by

$$(M \otimes N)^n = \bigoplus_{i+j=n} M^i \otimes N^j$$

with differential $d(x \otimes y) = dx \otimes y + (-1)^{|x|} x \otimes dy$. The function dg k-module [M, N] from M to N is the dg k-module given by

$$[M,N]^n = \prod_{-i+j=n} \operatorname{Hom}_k(M^i,N^j)$$

with differential $df = d \circ f - (-1)^{|f|} f \circ d$. Note that the dg k-module morphisms from M to N are precisely the elements of $Z^0[M, N]$. Tensor product \otimes , function object [,] and unit $\mathbb{1} = k$ make the category of dg k-modules into a closed symmetric monoidal category where evaluation, coevaluation and symmetry (or switch) are given by

$$e: [M, N] \otimes M \to N: f \otimes x \mapsto f(x), \qquad \nabla: M \mapsto [N, M \otimes N]: x \mapsto (y \mapsto x \otimes y),$$
$$\tau: M \otimes N \to N \otimes M: x \otimes y \mapsto (-1)^{|x||y|} y \otimes x.$$

There is a coherence theorem for closed symmetric monoidal categories [KML71]. This will be convenient when checking the commutativity of diagrams. It is therefore important to consider the various categories to be defined below as closed symmetric monoidal categories, and it is important to insist that functors and natural transformations be defined using only the basic building blocks of closed symmetric monoidal categories such as unit, tensor product, function object, evaluation and coevaluation.

1.2. Pointed differential graded categories. DG categories are categories enriched in the closed symmetric monoidal category of dg k-modules. The category of small dg-categories is therefore endowed with the structure of a closed symmetric monoidal category [Kel82]. In particular, it is equipped with internal tensor products, function objects, unit, evaluation and coevaluation. For the purpose of K-theory and Grothendieck-Witt theory it will be convenient to assume the following.

All dg categories in this paper are pointed.

This means that they are equipped with a choice of zero object called base-point. All dg functors are to preserve base points, and tensor products, function objects and all other constructions pertaining to dg categories are to be understood to be performed in the pointed category. The functor $\mathcal{A} \mapsto \mathcal{A}_+$ from dg categories to pointed dg categories that adds a base point zero object is symmetric monoidal and doesn't change *K*-theory nor Grothendieck-Witt theory. So, there is no loss in assuming our dg categories to be pointed. To be less repetitive we may drop the adjective pointed and write "dg category" for what should be "pointed dg category".

For the reader's convenience and to fix notation, we recall what some of this means in detail.

Definition 1.1. A small *pointed dg category* \mathcal{A} (henceforth called *dg category*) is given by the following data:

MARCO SCHLICHTING

- a non-empty set of objects,
- for any two objects A, B of \mathcal{A} a dg k-module $\mathcal{A}(A, B) = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{A}(A, B)^i$, called *mapping complex* from A to B,
- for any object A a unit morphism $1_A \in \mathcal{A}(A, A)^0$,
- for any three objects A, B, C a map of dg k-modules

$$\circ: \mathcal{A}(B,C) \otimes \mathcal{A}(A,B) \to \mathcal{A}(A,C): f \otimes g \mapsto f \circ g$$

satisfying the usual associativity and unit constraints of a category,

• a choice of zero object $0_{\mathcal{A}}$ called base point.

Note that $d(1_A) = 0$ for every object $A \in \mathcal{A}$ (since $d(1) = d(1 \circ 1) = d(1) \circ 1 + 1 \circ d(1)$) and that $d(f \circ g) = 0$ whenever df = 0 and dg = 0. In particular, we have a subcategory $Z^0\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{A}$ which has the same objects as \mathcal{A} and morphism k-modules $(Z^0\mathcal{A})(A, B) = Z^0(\mathcal{A}(A, B))$. We call $Z^0\mathcal{A}$ the underlying category of the dg category \mathcal{A} and think of a dg category \mathcal{A} as the k-linear category $Z^0\mathcal{A}$ together with the additional homological algebra data of the mapping complexes $\mathcal{A}(X, Y)$ for all pairs of objects X, Y of \mathcal{A} .

A morphism of pointed dg categories, also called dg functor, $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ from \mathcal{A} to \mathcal{B} is given by the following data: to every object A of \mathcal{A} is assigned an object FA of \mathcal{B} , for every two objects A, B of \mathcal{A} there is given a morphism of dg k-modules $\mathcal{A}(A, B) \to \mathcal{B}(FA, FB) : f \mapsto F(f)$ such that $F(1_A) = 1_{F(A)}$ and for any three objects A, B, C of \mathcal{A} and any $f \in \mathcal{A}(B, C)$ and $g \in \mathcal{A}(A, B)$ we have $F(f \circ g) = F(f) \circ F(g) \in \mathcal{B}(FA, FC)$. Moreover, F is required to send the base point of \mathcal{A} to the base point of \mathcal{B} . We denote by dgCat_k the category of small pointed dg k-categories. The category of small pointed k-linear categories will be denoted by Cat_k. We may drop the index k if the base ring k is understood.

A natural transformation $\alpha : F \to G$ between dg functors $F, G : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is a collection $\{\alpha_A\}_{A \in \mathcal{A}}$ of morphisms $\alpha_A \in Z^0 \mathcal{B}(FA, GA)$ such that for all $A, B \in \mathcal{A}$ and $f \in \mathcal{A}(A, B)$ we have $\alpha_B \circ F(f) = G(f) \circ \alpha_A$. A dg functor $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is an equivalence of dg categories if there exists a dg functor $G : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{A}$ such that FG and GF are naturally isomorphic to the identity functors. If $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is an equivalence of dg categories, then $Z^0 F : Z^0 \mathcal{A} \to Z^0 \mathcal{B}$ is an equivalence of linear categories. If F is fully faithful then the converse also holds.

For $\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B} \in \text{dgCat}_k$, the *tensor product dg category* $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ has objects the pairs (A, B) of objects A of \mathcal{A} and B of \mathcal{B} . The objects of the form $(A, 0_{\mathcal{B}})$ and $(0_{\mathcal{A}}, B)$ are identified with the base point $0_{\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}}$ of $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$, that is, $Ob(\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}) = Ob\mathcal{A} \wedge Ob\mathcal{B}$. We may sometimes write $A \otimes B$ or AB for the object (A, B) of $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$. Morphism complexes are

$$(\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B})((A_1, B_1), (A_2, B_2)) = \mathcal{A}(A_1, A_2) \otimes \mathcal{B}(B_1, B_2)$$

with composition defined by $(f_1 \otimes g_1) \circ (f_2 \otimes g_2) = (-1)^{|g_1||f_2|} (f_1 \circ f_2) \otimes (g_1 \circ g_2)$ and unit $1_{(A,B)} = 1_A \otimes 1_B$. The switch dg-functor $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{B} \otimes \mathcal{A}$ is the switch of pointed sets $(A, B) \mapsto (B, A)$ on objects and the switch of dg k-modules (§1.1) on morphism complexes.

The homomorphism dg category dgFun $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}) \in \text{dgCat}_k$ for $\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B} \in \text{dgCat}_k$ has objects the dg functors $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ (which, by our convention, preserve base points) and the morphism complex [F, G] in degree *n* is the set $[F, G]^n$ of collections $\alpha = (\alpha_A)_{A \in \mathcal{A}}$ with $\alpha_A \in \mathcal{B}(FA, GA)^n$ satisfying $G(f) \circ \alpha_A = (-1)^{|\alpha||f|} \alpha_B \circ F(f)$

for all homogeneous $f \in \mathcal{A}(A, B)$. The differential $d\alpha$ is defined by $(d\alpha)_A = d^{\mathcal{B}}\alpha_A$ where $d^{\mathcal{B}}$ is the differential in \mathcal{B} .

If \mathcal{C} is a small category and $\mathcal{A} \in \mathrm{dgCat}_k$, we write $\mathrm{Fun}(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A})$ for the dg category

$$\operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{C},\mathcal{A}) = \operatorname{dgFun}(k[\mathcal{C}]_+,\mathcal{A})$$

where $k[\mathcal{C}]$ is the dg category whose objects are the objects of \mathcal{C} and the mapping complex $k[\mathcal{C}](A, B)$ in degree 0 is the free k-module $k[\mathcal{C}](A, B)^0 = k[\mathcal{C}(A, B)]$ generated by the elements of $\mathcal{C}(A, B)$ and in degree $i \neq 0$ we have $k[\mathcal{C}](A, B)^i = 0$. Note that dg functors $k[\mathcal{C}]_+ \to \mathcal{A}$ are the same as functors $\mathcal{C} \to Z^0 \mathcal{A}$. The functors Z^0, H^0 : dgMod_k \to Mod_k extend to functors

$$Z^0, H^0 : \mathrm{dgCat}_k \to \mathrm{Cat}_k$$
.

For example, the category $Z^0 \mathcal{A}$ is the underlying k-linear category of \mathcal{A} , and $H^0 \mathcal{A}$ has the same objects as \mathcal{A} and the morphism k-module $H^0\mathcal{A}(A, B)$ is the module $H^0(\mathcal{A}(A,B)).$

Example 1.2 (The category \mathscr{C}_k). Let \mathscr{C}_k , or simply \mathscr{C} if k is understood, be the full subcategory of dgMod_k of those dg k-modules M such that $M^i = k^{n_i}$ for some $n_i \in \mathbb{N}$ and $M^i \neq 0$ for only finitely many $i \in \mathbb{Z}$. In other words, \mathscr{C}_k is (a small model of) the category of bounded complexes of finitely generated free k-modules. Tensor product, function space and unit in the category of dg k-modules provide \mathscr{C}_k with a structure of a closed symmetric monoidal category where evaluation, coevaluation and symmetry are as in Section 1.1. This makes \mathscr{C}_k into a dg category. We consider \mathscr{C}_k as a pointed dg category with base point the unique zero object in \mathscr{C}_k .

In \mathscr{C}_k , we have the following distinguished objects 1, C and T and an exact sequence Γ relating them. The object 1 is the unit k of the tensor product in \mathscr{C}_k . Let C be the dg k-algebra $k[\varepsilon]/\varepsilon^2$, $|\varepsilon| = -1$, $d\varepsilon = 1$. As a graded k-module, we have $C = k \cdot 1 \oplus k \cdot \varepsilon$, and the differential is determined by $d\varepsilon = 1$. Note that C is a commutative dg k-algebra containing 1 as a dg submodule. We let T be the quotient dg k-module C/1. As a graded k-module, we have $T = k\varepsilon$, $|\varepsilon| = -1$, and the differential is zero. If we denote by $i: \mathbb{1} \to C: 1 \mapsto 1$ the inclusion and by $p: C \to T: 1 \mapsto 0, \varepsilon \mapsto \varepsilon$ the projection map, we have an exact sequence of dg k-modules in \mathscr{C}_k

(1.1)
$$\Gamma \qquad \mathbb{1} \xrightarrow{i} C \xrightarrow{p} T.$$

Often we will write $\mathscr{C}_k \mathcal{A}$ (or $\mathscr{C} \mathcal{A}$ if k is understood) for the tensor product dg category $\mathscr{C}_k \otimes \mathcal{A}$. There is a canonical fully faithful embedding of dg categories $\mathcal{A} \to \mathscr{C}_k \mathcal{A} : \mathcal{A} \mapsto \mathbb{1} \otimes \mathcal{A}.$

1.3. Exact and pretriangulated dg categories. Recall from [Qui73], [Kel90], [Sch10a, §2.1] that a small exact category is a small additive category \mathscr{E} equipped with a set of sequences of maps in \mathscr{E} , called *conflations* (or admissible exact sequences),

(1.2)
$$X \xrightarrow{i} Y \xrightarrow{p} Z$$

satisfying the properties (Ex0) - (Ex4) below. In a conflation (1.2), the map i is called *inflation* (or admissible monomorphism) and may be depicted as \rightarrow , and the map p is called *deflation* (or admissible epimorphism) and may be depicted as \rightarrow .

(Ex0) Conflations are closed under isomorphisms.

(Ex1) In a conflation (1.2), the map i is a kernel of p, and p is a cokernel of i.

(Ex2) For any two objects $X, Y \in \mathcal{E}$, the following sequence is a conflation

$$X \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}} X \oplus Y \xrightarrow{(0 \ 1)} Y.$$

- (Ex3) Inflations are closed under compositions, and deflations are closed under compositions.
- (Ex4) The pushout of an inflation along any map in & exists and is an inflation. Dually, the pull-back of a deflation along any map in & exists and is a deflation.

Example 1.3. A typical example of an exact category is the category Vect(X) of vector bundles (that is, locally free sheaves of finite rank) on a scheme X. The conflations are the usual short exact sequence of locally free sheaves.

Example 1.4. If \mathscr{E} is a k-linear exact category, we make the category of bounded complexes in \mathscr{E} into a dg category $\operatorname{Ch}^{b}(\mathscr{E})$ as follows. Its objects are the bounded complexes in \mathscr{E} (unless stated otherwise, all complexes in this article are cohomologically indexed and thus have their differentials increase degrees). Let M and N be two objects of $\operatorname{Ch}^{b}(\mathscr{E})$. Their mapping complex is the dg k-module [M, N] with

$$[M,N]^n = \prod_{-i+j=n} \mathscr{E}(M^i,N^j)$$

and differential $df = d_N \circ f - (-1)^{|f|} f \circ d_M$. The underlying category $Z^0 \operatorname{Ch}^b(\mathscr{E})$ is the usual category of bounded complexes in \mathscr{E} and maps the chain maps (that is, degree 0 maps that commute with differentials). The category $H^0 \operatorname{Ch}^b(\mathscr{E})$ is the usual homotopy category of bounded complexes in \mathscr{E} where the maps are the homotopy classes of chain maps. Note that the dg category $\operatorname{Ch}^b(\mathscr{E})$ only depends on \mathscr{E} as an additive category. At this point, the exact structure is irrelevant.

Definition 1.5. Let \mathcal{A} be a dg category. A sequence $A \xrightarrow{f} B \xrightarrow{g} C$ of morphisms in the underlying category $Z^0\mathcal{A}$ with gf = 0 is called *exact* if there are $s \in \mathcal{A}(C, B)^0$ and $r \in \mathcal{A}(B, A)^0$ such that $1_A = rf$, $1_B = fr + sg$, and $1_C = gs$. Note that s determines r and vice versa. A pointed dg category \mathcal{A} is called *exact* if these exact sequences make the underlying linear category $Z^0\mathcal{A}$ into an exact category.

Example 1.6. Let \mathscr{E} be a k-linear exact category. Recall from Example 1.4 the dg category $\operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}$ of bounded complexes in \mathscr{E} . This is an exact dg category. The conflations in the underlying category $Z^0 \operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}$ are the short exact sequences of complexes which degree-wise (that is, forgetting differentials) are split exact. In particular, the exact structure on $Z^0 \operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}$ does not depend on the exact structure of \mathscr{E} .

Definition 1.7. A pointed dg category \mathcal{A} is called *pretriangulated* if it is exact and if the functor $\mathcal{A} \to \mathscr{C}_k \mathcal{A} : \mathcal{A} \mapsto \mathbb{1} \otimes \mathcal{A}$ is an equivalences of dg categories. Since $\mathcal{A} \to \mathscr{C}_k \mathcal{A}$ is fully faithful, the last condition is equivalent to requiring that $Z^0 \mathcal{A} \to Z^0(\mathscr{C}_k \mathcal{A})$ be an equivalences of k-linear categories.

Example 1.8. We already noticed in Example 1.6 that for a k-linear exact category \mathscr{E} , the dg category $\operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}$ of Example 1.4 is exact. In fact, it is pretriangulated. The inverse of the dg functor $\operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E} \to \mathscr{C}_k \otimes \operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}$ is the total complex dg functor

 $\mathscr{C}_k \otimes \operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E} \to \operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}$ which sends the object (A, E) of $\mathscr{C}_k \otimes \operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}$ to the total complex object $A \otimes E$ with

$$(A\otimes E)^n = \bigoplus_{i+j=n} A^i \otimes E^j$$

and differential restricted to $A^i \otimes E^j$ the map $d^i_A \otimes 1_{E_j} + (-1)^i 1_{A^i} \otimes d^j_E$. Here, for $A = k^n$, the expression $A^i \otimes E^j = k^n \otimes E^j$ stands for $(E^j)^{\oplus n}$. The total complex dg functor is the "identity" on mapping complexes.

Remark 1.9. For a dg category to be exact (pretriangulated) is a property, not an extra structure. Note also that any dg functor $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ preserves exact sequences. In particular, if $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is a dg functor between exact dg categories, then the functor $Z^0 \mathcal{A} \to Z^0 \mathcal{B}$ between underlying exact categories is exact.

Lemma 1.10. Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} be pointed dg categories.

- (1) If \mathcal{B} is exact then so is dgFun(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}).
- (2) If \mathcal{B} is pretriangulated then so is dgFun(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}).
- (3) If \mathcal{B} is pretriangulated then so is $\mathscr{C}_k \mathcal{B}$.

Proof. We prove part (1). Since \mathcal{B} is exact, $Z^0\mathcal{B}$, \mathcal{B}^0 and \mathcal{B} are all additive categories. This implies that Z^0 dgFun(\mathcal{A}, B), dgFun(\mathcal{A}, B)⁰ and dgFun(\mathcal{A}, B) are all additive categories with $(F \oplus G)(A) = F(A) \oplus G(A)$ for $F, G \in \mathrm{dgFun}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ and $A \in \mathcal{A}$. Given a map $i: F_0 \to F_1$ in $Z^0 \operatorname{dgFun}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ such that there is a homogeneous degree 0 map $r: F_1 \to F_0$ with ri = 1, then i is an admissible monomorphism if and only if for every $A \in \mathcal{A}$ the map $i(A) : F_0(A) \to F_1(A)$ is an admissible monomorphism in $Z^0\mathcal{B}$. This implies that the composition of two admissible monomorphisms in Z^0 dgFun $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ is an admissible monomorphism. It also implies that the push-out of a map in Z^0 dgFun $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ along an admissible monomorphism exists and is an admissible monomorphism, the push-out being defined object-wise and made into a dg functor by functoriality of the push-out and the fact that the inclusions $Z^0 \mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{B}^0 \subset \mathcal{B}$ are exact where the additive categories \mathcal{B}^0 and \mathcal{B} are equipped with only those exact sequences which split. This shows (Ex3) and (Ex4) for inflations. By a dual argument, (Ex3) and (Ex4) hold for deflations. The remaining axioms (Ex0) - (Ex2) trivially hold, and thus Z^0 dgFun(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}) is indeed an exact category.

Next we prove part (2). We already know that $dgFun(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ is exact. We are left with proving that $dgFun(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}) \to \mathscr{C}_k \otimes dgFun(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}) : F \mapsto \mathbb{1} \otimes F$ is an equivalence. Since that functor is fully faithful, we need to show essential surjectivity. Now, for any dg categories \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} , the dg functor

$$\mathscr{C}_k \otimes \mathrm{dgFun}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}) \to \mathrm{dgFun}(\mathcal{A}, \mathscr{C}_k \otimes \mathcal{B}) : X \otimes F \mapsto (A \mapsto X \otimes F(A))$$

is fully faithful. This follows from the fact that for any $X, Y \in \mathscr{C}_k$ the dg k-module [X, Y] is finitely generated free as k-module and thus tensoring with [X, Y] commutes with arbitrary equalizers of dg k-modules. Therefore, all functors in the diagram



are fully faithful. If \mathcal{B} is pretriangulated, then the diagonal map is an equivalence. By fully faithfulness of the horizontal functor, the vertical functor is also an equivalence.

Finally, we prove (3). If \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are equivalent dg categories, then \mathcal{A} is pretriangulated if and only if \mathcal{B} is. Therefore, if \mathcal{B} is pretriangulated, then \mathcal{B} and $\mathscr{C}_k \mathcal{B}$ are equivalent and hence $\mathscr{C}_k \mathcal{B}$ is pretriangulated.

1.4. The pretriangulated hull. Introduction. Pretriangulated dg categories are dg categories whose homotopy categories are naturally tringulated. Most dg categories of interest are pretriangulated, for instance $\operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}$ as noted in Example 1.8. Our treatment of products in GW-theory, in fact, the very definition of the GW-spectrum, do require us to consider dg categories of the form $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ which, in general, are not pretriangulated dg category. Now, for any dg category \mathcal{A} there is a pretriangulated completion \mathcal{A}^{ptr} , called *pretriangulated hull of* \mathcal{A} , which was introduced in [BK90]; see also [Dri04].

In short, the pretriangulated hull of a dg category \mathcal{A} is the category of finitely generated semi-free dg \mathcal{A} -modules, that is, those dg \mathcal{A} -modules $M : \mathcal{A}^{op} \to \mathrm{dgMod}_k$ which have a finite filtration

$$0 = F^0 M \subset \ldots \subset F^r M \subset F^{r+1} M \subset \ldots \subset F^n M = M$$

by dg submodules such that $F^{r+1}M/F^rM$ is finitely generated free (that is, a finite direct sum of (shifts of) objects of \mathcal{A}). In [BK90], [Dri04] the authors give an explicit model for \mathcal{A}^{ptr} . Below, we give a variant of their construction. For us, the pretriangulated hull of \mathcal{A} is the dg category of extensions of $\mathscr{C}_k\mathcal{A}$; see Definition 1.16. Our treatment here is somewhat heavier than one would expect. This is because we will need a description of \mathcal{A}^{ptr} in the context of dg categories with dualities which is in some sense symmetric monoidal with respect to the tensor product of such categories. So, along the way we will take care of the monoidal structures. We start with the definition of the dg category of extensions.

1.5. The dg category of extensions. Let poSet be the category of small posets (that is, partially ordered sets) with injective order preserving maps as morphisms. This is a symmetric monoidal category under the cartesian product as monoidal product. Recall that the category of small pointed dg categories dgCat is symmetric monoidal under the tensor product of dg categories (Section 1.2). In particular, the product category poSet \times dgCat is symmetric monoidal with component-wise monoidal product. We will define a symmetric monoidal functor

(1.3)
$$\operatorname{poSet} \times \operatorname{dgCat} \to \operatorname{dgCat} : (\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{A}) \mapsto \mathcal{P}\mathcal{A}$$

as follows. For a poset \mathcal{P} and a pointed dg category \mathcal{A} the pointed dg category $\mathcal{P}\mathcal{A}$ has objects the pairs A = (A, q) where $A : Ob\mathcal{P} \to Ob\mathcal{A}$ is a function that sends all but a finite number of elements of \mathcal{P} to the base point zero object of \mathcal{A} , and $q = (q_{ij})_{i,j\in\mathcal{P}}$ is a matrix of elements $q_{ij} \in \mathcal{A}(A_j, A_i)^1$ of degree 1 such that $q_{ij} = 0$ for $i \not\leq j \in P$ and $dq + q^2 = 0$. The support $\operatorname{supp}(A)$ of (A, q) is the set of indices $i \in \mathcal{P}$ such that $A_i \neq 0$. This is a finite set. In particular, only finitely many entries in q are non-zero, and thus, the matrix product q^2 makes sense where $(q^2)_{ij} = \sum_k q_{ik}q_{kj}$. The base point of $\mathcal{P}\mathcal{A}$ is the pair (A, 0) where the function A sends all objects of \mathcal{P} to the base point of \mathcal{A} . For two objects $A = (A, q^A)$ and

 $B = (B, q^B)$ of \mathcal{PA} , the morphism complex is

$$\mathcal{PA}(A,B)^n = \prod_{i,j\in\mathcal{P}} \mathcal{A}(A_i,B_j)^n$$

whose elements are the matrices $f = (f_{ji})_{i,j \in \mathcal{P}}$ with entries $f_{ji} \in \mathcal{A}(A_i, B_j)^n$. The differential $d^{\mathcal{P}\mathcal{A}}f$ for such a matrix f is defined by

$$d^{\mathcal{P}\mathcal{A}}f = d^{\mathcal{A}}f + q^B \circ f - (-1)^{|f|}f \circ q^A$$

where $(d^{\mathcal{A}}f)_{i,j} = d^{\mathcal{A}}(f_{i,j})$ and $d^{\mathcal{A}}$ is the differential in \mathcal{A} . Composition in $\mathcal{P}\mathcal{A}$ is matrix multiplication in \mathcal{A} . One checks that $\mathcal{P}\mathcal{A}$ is indeed a pointed dg category. Clearly, the assignment $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{A}) \mapsto \mathcal{P}\mathcal{A}$ is functorial in \mathcal{A} . It is also functorial in \mathcal{P} as an embedding $\mathcal{P}_0 \subset \mathcal{P}_1$ defines a full embedding of dg categories $\mathcal{P}_0\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{P}_1\mathcal{A}$ sending $(\mathcal{A}, q) \in \mathcal{P}_0\mathcal{A}$ to its extension by zero $(\bar{\mathcal{A}}, \bar{q})$ in $\mathcal{P}_1\mathcal{A}$ where $\bar{\mathcal{A}}_i = \mathcal{A}_i$ if $i \in \mathcal{P}_0$, $\bar{\mathcal{A}}_i = 0$ for $i \notin \mathcal{P}_0$, $\bar{q}_{ij} = q_{ij}$ if $i, j \in \mathcal{P}_0$ and $\bar{q}_{ij} = 0$ otherwise.

The functor $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{A}) \mapsto \mathcal{P}\mathcal{A}$ is symmetric monoidal with monoidal compatibility map

(1.4)
$$\mathcal{P}_0 \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{P}_1 \mathcal{X} \longrightarrow (\mathcal{P}_0 \times \mathcal{P}_1)(\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{X})$$

sending the object $(A, q^A) \otimes (X, q^X)$ of $\mathcal{P}_0 \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{P}_1 \mathcal{X}$ to the object (AX, q^{AX}) where $(AX)_{ax} = (A_a, X_x)$ for $a \in \mathcal{P}_0$, $x \in \mathcal{P}_1$, and q^{AX} is the sum of matrix tensor products $q^{AX} = q^A \otimes 1_X + 1_A \otimes q^X$. On morphism complexes the dg functor sends the tensor product of matrices $(f) \otimes (g)$ to the matrix tensor product $(f \otimes g)$, that is, $(f \otimes g)_{ax,by} = f_{ab} \otimes g_{xy}$ for $a, b \in \mathcal{P}_0$ and $x, y \in \mathcal{P}_1$.

Remark 1.11. An embedding of posets $\mathcal{P}_0 \subset \mathcal{P}_1$ induces a fully faithful embedding $\mathcal{P}_0 \mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{P}_1 \mathcal{A}$ of dg categories. Any two embeddings $i_0, i_1 : \mathcal{P}_0 \subset \mathcal{P}_1$ induce naturally isomorphic embeddings $i_0, i_1 : \mathcal{P}_0 \mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{P}_1 \mathcal{A}$ of dg categories. This is because for $(\mathcal{A}, q) \in \mathcal{P}_0 \mathcal{A}$ the "identity matrix" induces an isomorphism in $Z^0 \mathcal{P}_1 \mathcal{A}$ between the two objects $i_0(\mathcal{A}, q)$ and $i_1(\mathcal{A}, q)$. In particular, the embedding $\mathcal{P}_0 \mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{P}_1 \mathcal{A}$ is an equivalence of dg categories if for every embedding of posets $P \subset \mathcal{P}_1$ with P finite, there is an embedding $\mathcal{P} \subset \mathcal{P}_0$. For example, any poset embedding $\mathbb{N} \subset \mathcal{P}$ induces an equivalence of dg categories $\mathbb{N} \mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{P} \mathcal{A}$ since every finite poset can be embedded into \mathbb{N} .

Remark 1.12. Let \mathcal{A} be a dg category and \mathcal{P}_0 and \mathcal{P}_1 be posets. Then there is a fully faithful embedding of dg categories

(1.5)
$$\mathcal{P}_0(\mathcal{P}_1\mathcal{A}) \to (\mathcal{P}_0\mathcal{P}_1)\mathcal{A} : (A,Q) \mapsto (B,q)$$

where $\mathcal{P}_0\mathcal{P}_1 = \mathcal{P}_0 \times \mathcal{P}_1$ is equipped with the lexicographic order: (i, r) < (j, s) if and only if i < j, or i = j and r < s.

To define the functor, recall that an object (A, Q) of $\mathcal{P}_0(\mathcal{P}_1\mathcal{A})$ is given by a map of sets $\mathcal{P}_0 \to Ob\mathcal{P}_1\mathcal{A} : i \mapsto (A_i, q^{A_i})$ with finite support together with a matrix $Q = (Q_{ij})_{i,j\in\mathcal{P}_0}$ where $Q_{ij} \in \mathcal{P}_1\mathcal{A}(A_j, A_i)^1$ such that $Q_{ij} = 0$ whenever $i \not\leq j$ in \mathcal{P}_0 and $Q^2 + d^{\mathcal{P}_1\mathcal{A}}Q = 0$. Here (A_i, q^{A_i}) is an object of $\mathcal{P}_1\mathcal{A}$, that is, $A_i : \mathcal{P}_1 \to Ob\mathcal{A} :$ $r \mapsto (A_i)_r$ is a finitely supported map of sets, and $q^{A_i} = (q_{rs}^{A_i})_{r,s\in\mathcal{P}_1}$ is a matrix with $q_{rs}^{A_i} \in \mathcal{A}((A_i)_s, (A_i)_r)^1$ such that $q_{rs}^{A_i} = 0$ for $r \not\leq s$ in \mathcal{P}_1 and $(q^{A_i})^2 + d^A q^{A_i} = 0$. The map Q_{ij} itself is a matrix with entries $(Q_{ij})_{rs} \in \mathcal{A}((A_j)_s, (A_i)_r)^1$. Now, the image (B, q) of (A, Q) under the map (1.5) is given by the map of sets $B : \mathcal{P}_0 \times \mathcal{P}_1 \to \mathcal{A}$ defined by

$$B_{i,r} = (A_i)_r, \quad i \in \mathcal{P}_0, \ r \in \mathcal{P}_1$$

and the matrix $q = (q_{ir,js})_{i,j \in \mathcal{P}_0, r,s \in \mathcal{P}_1}$ has entries

$$q_{ir,js} = \begin{cases} (Q_{ij})_{rs} & i \neq j \\ (q^{A_i})_{rs} & i = j. \end{cases}$$

On morphisms, the functor (1.5) is given by the "identity".

Definition 1.13. Let \mathcal{A} be a pointed dg category. The *dg category of extensions* of \mathcal{A} is the pointed dg category

$$\mathbb{Z}(\mathcal{A})$$

defined in Section 1.5 where \mathbb{Z} is the poset of integers with its usual ordering. The dg category of extensions is equipped with the fully faithful inclusion of dg categories $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathbb{Z}\mathcal{A}$ induced by the embedding of posets $\{0\} \subset \mathbb{Z}$.

Example 1.14. If we consider an exact category \mathscr{E} as a dg category with $\mathscr{E}^0 = \mathscr{E}$ and $\mathscr{E}^i = 0$ for $i \neq 0$, then its dg category of extensions $\mathbb{Z}\mathscr{E}$ is (equivalent) to \mathscr{E} . If we consider a ring R as a dg category with one object, then $\mathbb{Z}R$ is the category of finitely generated free R-modules.

Lemma 1.15. Let \mathcal{A} be a pointed dg category. Then the dg category of extensions $\mathbb{Z}\mathcal{A}$ is exact.

Proof. The axioms (Ex0) and (Ex1) hold in any dg category. For (Ex2), we have to show that $\mathbb{Z}A$ is an additive category. Every object (A, q) in $\mathbb{Z}A$ is isomorphic to its shift (A[1], q[1]) where $A[1]_i = A_{i+1}$ and $q[1]_{i,j} = q_{i+1,j+1}$. Hence, for any two objects (A, q^A) and (B, q^B) we can assume that they have disjoint support. Then $(A, q^A) \oplus (B, q^B) = (C, q^C)$ where

$$C_{i} = \begin{cases} A_{i} & i \in \operatorname{supp}(A) \\ B_{i} & i \in \operatorname{supp}(B) \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases} \qquad q_{ij}^{C} = \begin{cases} q_{ij}^{A} & i, j \in \operatorname{supp}(A) \\ q_{ij}^{B} & i, j \in \operatorname{supp}(B) \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

We are left with showing axioms (Ex3) and (Ex4) for inflations, the case of deflations being dual. Let [2] be a the poset $\{0 < 1 < 2\}$. Let \mathcal{B} be a dg category and let

$$A_{i-1} \xrightarrow{f_i} A_i \xrightarrow{g_i} B_i$$

be admissible exact sequences in $Z^0\mathcal{B}$ where i = 1, 2. So, there are $r_i : A_i \to A_{i-1}$, $s_i : B_i \to A_i$ in \mathcal{B}^0 such that $1_{A_{i-1}} = r_i f_i$, $1_{A_i} = f_i r_i + s_i g_i$, and $1_{B_i} = g_i s_i$. Note that $(dr_i)f_i = 0$, $g_i(ds_i) = 0$ and thus $(dr_i)(ds_i) = (dr_i)(f_i r_i + s_i g_i)(ds_i) = 0$. Note also that $(dr_i)s_i + r_i(ds_i) = 0$ because $r_i s_i = 0$. In $Z^0([2]\mathcal{B})$ we have a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} A_{0} \xrightarrow{f_{1}} A_{1} \xrightarrow{f_{2}} A_{2} \\ \downarrow \\ \downarrow \\ \downarrow \\ A_{0} \xrightarrow{(1)}{(1)}} (A_{0}, B_{1}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 & r_{1}(ds_{1}) \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}) \xrightarrow{(1)}{(1)}} (A_{0}, B_{1}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 & r_{1}(ds_{1}) \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}) \xrightarrow{(1)}{(1)}} (A_{0}, B_{1}, B_{2}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 & r_{1}(ds_{1}) & r_{1}r_{2}(ds_{2}) \\ 0 & 0 & g_{1}r_{2}(ds_{2}) \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}) \end{array}$$

in which the vertical arrows are isomorphisms with inverses given by 1_{A_0} , (f_1, s_1) and (f_2f_1, f_2s_1, s_2) . It follows that the composition f_2f_1 is an inflation in $Z^0([2]\mathcal{B})$ with cokernel

$$\operatorname{coker}(f_2 f_1) \cong (B_1, B_2, \begin{pmatrix} 0 & g_1 r_2(ds_2) \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}).$$

If $h: A_0 \to X$ is a map in $Z^0 \mathcal{B}$, we have a push-out diagram in $Z^0([2]\mathcal{B})$ as follows

$$A_{0} \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}} (A_{0}, B_{1}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 & r_{1}(ds_{1}) \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix})$$

$$h \downarrow \qquad \begin{pmatrix} h & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \downarrow$$

$$X \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}} (X, B_{1}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 & hr_{1}(ds_{1}) \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}).$$

Therefore, compositions of inflations in $Z^0\mathcal{B}$ are inflations in $Z^0([2]\mathcal{B})$, and pushouts of inflations in $Z^0\mathcal{B}$ along any map in $Z^0\mathcal{B}$ exist in $Z^0([2]\mathcal{B})$ and are inflations.

This applies in particular to the dg category $\mathcal{B} = \mathbb{Z}\mathcal{A}$. We claim that the inclusion $\{0\} \subset [2]$ induces an equivalence of dg categories $\mathbb{Z}\mathcal{A} \subset [2](\mathbb{Z}\mathcal{A})$, and hence, (Ex3) and (Ex4) hold in $\mathbb{Z}\mathcal{A}$ for inflations. To prove the claim, note that by Remark 1.12 we have a fully faithful embedding of dg categories $[2](\mathbb{Z}\mathcal{A}) \subset ([2]\mathbb{Z})\mathcal{A}$ where $[2]\mathbb{Z} = [2] \times \mathbb{Z}$ is equipped with the lexicographic order. Since both posets $[2]\mathbb{Z}$ and \mathbb{Z} contain \mathbb{N} , the full embeddings $\mathbb{Z}\mathcal{A} \subset [2](\mathbb{Z}\mathcal{A}) \subset ([2]\mathbb{Z})\mathcal{A}$ are equivalences of dg categories, in view of Remark 1.11.

1.6. The pretriangulated hull of a dg category. Finally, we come to the definition of the pretriangulated hull of a dg category; compare [BK90], [Dri04].

Definition 1.16. Let \mathcal{A} be a pointed dg category. The *pretriangulated hull* of \mathcal{A} is the pointed dg category

$$\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{ptr}} = \mathbb{Z}\left(\mathscr{C}_k \mathcal{A}\right).$$

It is equipped with the full inclusion $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ induced by the inclusions in Example 1.2 and Definition 1.13: $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathscr{C}_k \mathcal{A} \subset \mathbb{Z}(\mathscr{C}_k \mathcal{A})$. By Lemma 1.20 below, the dg category \mathcal{A}^{ptr} is indeed pretriangulated, and the inclusion $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ is an equivalence if and only if \mathcal{A} is pretriangulated.

Remark 1.17. The model of the pretriangulated hull of a dg category \mathcal{A} given in [BK90] and[Dri04] is the dg category $\mathbb{Z}(\mathscr{T}_k \otimes \mathcal{A})$ where $\mathscr{T}_k \subset \mathscr{C}_k$ is the full dg subcategory whose objects are all shifts k[i] of $k, i \in \mathbb{Z}$. The canonical inclusion $\mathbb{Z}(\mathscr{T}_k \otimes \mathcal{A}) \subset \mathbb{Z}(\mathscr{C}_k \otimes \mathcal{A})$ is an equivalence of dg categories. This follows from Lemma 1.20 below since both dg categories are pretriangulated (hulls of \mathcal{A}).

Remark 1.18. There is an action

$$(1.6) \qquad \otimes : \mathscr{C}_k \otimes \mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{ptr}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{ptr}}$$

of the symmetric monoidal category \mathscr{C}_k on $\mathcal{A}^{\rm ptr}$ given by the composition of dg functors

$$\mathscr{C}_k \otimes \mathbb{Z}(\mathscr{C}_k \mathcal{A}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}(\mathscr{C}_k \otimes \mathscr{C}_k \mathcal{A}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}(\mathscr{C}_k \otimes \mathcal{A})$$

in which the first map is the monoidal compatibility map (1.4) with $\mathcal{P}_0 = [0]$ and $\mathcal{P}_1 = \mathbb{Z}$, and the second map is induced by $\otimes : \mathscr{C}_k \otimes \mathscr{C}_k \to \mathscr{C}_k$.

For objects A of \mathscr{C}_k and X of \mathcal{A}^{ptr} , we may write AX for the image in \mathcal{A}^{ptr} of the object $A \otimes X$ under the map (1.6). In this sense, for any object X of \mathcal{A}^{ptr} the objects CX and TX are defined where $C, T \in \mathscr{C}_k$ are as in Example 1.2.

The action (1.6) makes $Z^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ into a complicial exact category in the sense of [Sch11, Definition 3.2.2]. By [Sch11, A.2.16], the exact category $Z^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ is therefore a Frobenius exact category, that is, an exact category with enough injective and projective objects, and injective and projective objects coincide. By [Sch11, A.2.16(f)], an object of $Z^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ is injective and projective if and only if it is a direct factor of an object of the form CX with $X \in \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$.

In fact, the exact structure on $Z^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ coincides with its Frobenius exact structure defined in [Sch11, A.2.15]. This is because for an inflation $f: X \to Y$ in $Z^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ with retract $r: Y \to X$ in $(\mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}})^0$ and any map $g: X \to CU$ in $Z^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$, the map g is the composition

$$X \xrightarrow{f} Y \xrightarrow{1 \otimes r - \varepsilon \otimes dr} CX \xrightarrow{1_C \otimes g} CCU \xrightarrow{m \otimes 1} CU$$

where $m: CC \to C$ is the multiplication in the dga C (use that (dr)f = 0).

Remark 1.19. The action (1.18) of \mathscr{C}_k on \mathcal{A}^{ptr} plays an important role in the rest of the paper. This is the reason we chose $\mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}} = Z(\mathscr{C}_k \mathcal{A})$ as our model of the pretriangulated hull of \mathscr{A} rather than the one given in [BK90], [Dri04].

Lemma 1.20. (1) Let $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{B}$ be a full inclusion of pointed dg categories with \mathcal{A} pretriangulated. Then if in an exact sequence in $Z^0\mathcal{B}$

$$0 \to X \to Y \to Z \to 0,$$

X and Z are in \mathcal{A} then Y is (isomorphic to an object) in \mathcal{A} .

(2) If \mathcal{A} is a pretriangulated dg category, then the inclusion

 $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathbb{Z}\mathcal{A}$

is an equivalence of dg categories.

- (3) For any pointed dg category \mathcal{A} , the dg category \mathcal{A}^{ptr} is pretriangulated.
- (4) A pointed dg category A is pretriangulated if and only if the inclusion

 $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{ptr}}$

is an equivalence.

Proof. (1) Embedding \mathcal{B} into \mathcal{B}^{ptr} , we can assume $Z^0\mathcal{B}$ to be a Frobenius exact category as in Remark 1.18. Since \mathcal{A} is pretriangulated, there is an admissible monomorphism $i \otimes 1_X : X \to CX$ in $Z^0\mathcal{A}$ (use the equivalence $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathscr{C}\mathcal{A}$). The map $X \to Y$ is an admissible monomorphism in $Z^0\mathcal{B}$, and CX is an injective object of $Z^0\mathcal{B}$ (Remark 1.18). It follows that the map $X \to CX$ extends to a map $Y \to CX$, and we obtain a map of exact sequences in $Z^0\mathcal{B}$



The right hand square is a pull-back square in $Z^0\mathcal{B}$. Since \mathcal{A} is exact and the maps $CX \to TX$ and $Z \to TX$ are in $Z^0\mathcal{A}$ with $CX \to TX$ an admissible epimorphism in $Z^0\mathcal{A}$, the pull-back P of $CX \to TX \leftarrow Z$ exists in $Z^0\mathcal{A}$. Since $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{B}$ is exact, it preserves pull-backs along admissible epimorphisms. Hence, Y is isomorphic to P, an object of \mathcal{A} .

(2) Every object X of $\mathbb{Z}\mathcal{A}$ has a filtration $0 = X_0 \subset X_1 \subset ... \subset X_n = X$ with $X_i \subset X_{i+1}$ an admissible monomorphism in $\mathbb{Z}\mathcal{A}$ and quotients X_{i+1}/X_i in \mathcal{A} . By (1), the object X is (isomorphic to an object) in \mathcal{A} .

(3) By Lemma 1.15, the dg category \mathcal{A}^{ptr} is exact. Moreover, the inclusion $\mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}} \subset \mathscr{C}_k \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ is an equivalence since the fully faithful dg functors in Remark 1.18

$$\mathbb{Z}\mathscr{C}_k\mathcal{A}\subset \mathscr{C}_k\mathbb{Z}\mathscr{C}_k\mathcal{A} o \mathbb{Z}\mathscr{C}_k\mathscr{C}_k\mathcal{A} o \mathbb{Z}\mathscr{C}_k\mathcal{A}$$

are essentially surjective. Therefore, \mathcal{A}^{ptr} is indeed pretriangulated.

(4) If \mathcal{A} is pretriangulated, then $\mathscr{C}\mathcal{A}$ is equivalent to \mathcal{A} and pretriangulated. Therefore, and in light of (2), the inclusions $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathscr{C}\mathcal{A} \subset \mathbb{Z}(\mathscr{C}\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ are equivalences of dg categories. Conversely, if $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ is an equivalence then \mathcal{A} is pretriangulated in view of (3).

Example 1.21. Let \mathscr{E} be an exact category considered as a dg category as in Example 1.14. Then $\mathscr{E}^{\text{ptr}} = \text{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}$ since every object of the pretriangulated dg category $\text{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}$ has a filtration with quotients shifts of objects of \mathscr{E} . If R is a ring considered as a dg category with one object, then R^{ptr} is the dg category of bounded complexes of finitely generated free R-modules.

Remark 1.22. If \mathcal{A} is a pretriangulated dg category, then we know (Remark 1.18 and Lemma 1.20 (4)) that its underlying category $Z^0\mathcal{A}$ is a Frobenius exact category. I claim that a map f in $Z^0\mathcal{A}$ is zero in $H^0\mathcal{A}$ if and only if it factors through some injective projective object of $Z^0\mathcal{A}$, and therefore $H^0\mathcal{A}$ is the stable category $Z^0\mathcal{A}$ of the Frobenius category $Z^0\mathcal{A}$:

$$H^0 \mathcal{A} = \underline{Z^0 \mathcal{A}}.$$

To prove the claim, note that objects of the form CX are zero in $H^0\mathcal{A}$ because its identity morphism $1_{CX} = 1_C \otimes 1_X = d(\varepsilon \otimes 1_X)$ is the zero map in $H^0\mathcal{A}$. Since injective projective objects in $Z^0\mathcal{A}$ are the direct factors of objects of the form CX(Remark 1.18), this shows that they all are zero in $H^0\mathcal{A}$ and that a map f in $Z^0\mathcal{A}$ which is zero in the stable category is zero in $H^0\mathcal{A}$. Conversely, assume that the map $f: X \to Y$ in $Z^0\mathcal{A}$ is zero in $H^0\mathcal{A}$ then f = dg for some $g \in \mathcal{A}(X, Y)^1$. But then f factors through CX and hence is zero in the stable category since f is the composition in $Z^0\mathcal{A}$

$$X \xrightarrow{i \otimes 1} CX \xrightarrow{\varepsilon^{\vee} \otimes g} Y$$

where $\varepsilon^{\vee} \in [C, \mathbb{1}]^1$ is the unique degree-one map $C \to \mathbb{1}$ with $\varepsilon^{\vee}(\varepsilon) = 1$.

1.7. The homotopy category of a dg category. Let \mathcal{A} be a dg category. Recall that the homotopy category $H^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ of its pretriangulated hull is the stable category of the Frobenius category $Z^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ (Remark 1.22). Therefore, it is equipped with the structure of a triangulated category [Hap87], [Kel96]. The *shift functor* of the triangulated category is the functor $T : H^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}} \to H^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}} : X \to TX$ defined by the object $T \in \mathscr{C}_k$ using the action (1.6). The exact triangles in $H^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ are those which are isomorphic in $H^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ to a triangle of the following form, called *standard exact triangle*,

(1.7)
$$X \xrightarrow{f} Y \xrightarrow{g} C(f) \xrightarrow{h} TX$$

defined by the following map of exact sequences in \mathcal{A}^{ptr}

(1.8)
$$X \xrightarrow{i \otimes 1} CX \xrightarrow{p \otimes 1} TX$$
$$f \downarrow \Box \qquad \downarrow 1$$
$$Y \xrightarrow{g} C(f) \xrightarrow{h} TX$$

where $f: X \to Y$ is any morphism of \mathcal{A}^{ptr} . The left-hand square is cocartesian in \mathcal{A}^{ptr} . It exists because \mathcal{A}^{ptr} is exact and is equipped with an action of \mathscr{C}_k ; see Remark 1.18. The object TX is the *shift* of X, the object CX is called the *cone* of X and the object C(f) is called the *cone* of f where T and C are the objects of \mathscr{C}_k defined in Example 1.2.

Remark 1.23. As a triangulated category, the category $H^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ is generated by \mathcal{A} , that is, every object of $H^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ is obtained from \mathcal{A} by iteration of taking finite direct sums, shifts and cones. This is because every object of $\mathbb{Z}\mathscr{C}_k \mathcal{A}$ has a filtration with quotients in $\mathscr{C}_k \mathcal{A}$, and every object in $\mathscr{C}_k \mathcal{A}$ is obtained from \mathcal{A} by iteration of taking finite direct sums, shifts and cones (since \mathscr{C}_k is obtained from k in this way).

Definition 1.24. A localization pair [Kel99], also called dg pair, is a pair $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}_0)$ consisting of a pointed dg category \mathcal{A} and a full pointed dg subcategory $\mathcal{A}_0 \subset \mathcal{A}$. A morphism of localization pairs $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}_0) \to (\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{B}_0)$ is a dg functor $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ which sends \mathcal{A}_0 into \mathcal{B}_0 . The associated triangulated category of a localization pair $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}_0)$ is the Verdier quotient triangulated category

$$\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}_0) = (H^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}) / (H^0 \mathcal{A}_0^{\text{ptr}}).$$

The associated triangulated category is equipped with an additive functor

$$Z^0\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{T}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{A}_0)$$

obtained as the composition $Z^0 \mathcal{A} \subset Z^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}} \to H^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}} \to \mathcal{T}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}_0)$. Write A^{sat} for the full dg subcategory of \mathcal{A} consisting of the objects $A \in \mathcal{A}$ which are zero in the associated triangulated category $\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}_0)$. The dg pair is called *saturated* if $\mathcal{A}_0 = \mathcal{A}^{\text{sat}}$. The saturation of $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}_0)$ is the dg pair $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}^{\text{sat}})$. Note that a dg pair and its saturation have the same associated triangulated category.

Example 1.25. Let \mathscr{E} be an exact category, and let $\operatorname{Ac}_0^b \mathscr{E} \subset \operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}$ be the full dg subcategory of those complexes E^* such that each $d^i : E^i \to E^{i+1}$ has a factorization $E^i \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Im}(d^i) \rightarrowtail E^{i+1}$ in \mathscr{E} into a deflation followed by an inflation such that $\operatorname{Im}(d^{i-1}) \rightarrowtail E^i \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Im}(d^i)$ is a conflation for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}$. Then $(\operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}, \operatorname{Ac}_0^b \mathscr{E})$ is a dg pair with saturation $(\operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}, \operatorname{Ac}^b \mathscr{E})$ where $\operatorname{Ac}^b \mathscr{E} \subset \operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}$ is the full dg subcategory of those complexes which are homotopy equivalent to an object of $\operatorname{Ac}_0^b \mathscr{E}$. If \mathscr{E} is idempotent complete (or more generally, if every map that admits a retraction is an inflation), then $\operatorname{Ac}_0^b \mathscr{E} = \operatorname{Ac}^b \mathscr{E}$, and $(\operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}, \operatorname{Ac}^b \mathscr{E})$ is saturated. The associated triangulated category $\mathcal{T}(\operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}, \operatorname{Ac}^b \mathscr{E})$ is the usual bounded derived category $\mathcal{D}^b(\mathscr{E})$ of the exact category \mathscr{E} . For details; see [Nee90].

1.8. **DG categories with weak equivalences.** Let \mathcal{A} be a pointed dg category, and let $w \subset Z^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ be a set of morphisms containing all isomorphisms. Let \mathcal{A}^w be the full dg subcategory of \mathcal{A} consisting of those objects A for which the map $0_{\mathcal{A}} \to A$ is in w. Such objects are called w-acyclic objects (in \mathcal{A}). Note that the base point zero object $0_{\mathcal{A}}$ is in \mathcal{A}^w since the identity on $0_{\mathcal{A}}$ is in w. We call the set w saturated in \mathcal{A} if a map f in $Z^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ is in the set w if and only if the functor $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{T}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}^w)$ sends f to an isomorphism.

Definition 1.26. A dg category with weak equivalences is a pair $\mathscr{A} = (\mathcal{A}, w)$ where \mathcal{A} is a pointed dg category and $w \subset Z^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ is a set of morphisms which is saturated in \mathcal{A} . A map f in w is called *weak equivalence*. The *triangulated category of a dg* category with weak equivalences $\mathscr{A} = (\mathcal{A}, w)$ is the triangulated category

$$\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A} = \mathcal{T}(\mathcal{A}, w) = \mathcal{T}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}^w)$$

of the associated saturated dg pair $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}^w)$.

Example 1.27. Continuing Example 1.25, denote by quis the set of chain maps in $Z^0 \operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}$ which are quasi-isomorphisms, that is, whose cones are in $\operatorname{Ac}^b \mathscr{E}$. Then $(\operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}, \operatorname{quis})$ is a dg category with weak equivalences. The associated triangulated category $\mathcal{T}(\operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}, \operatorname{quis})$ is the usual bounded derived category $\mathcal{D}^b \mathscr{E}$ of the exact category \mathscr{E} .

A dg functor $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ between dg categories with weak equivalences (\mathcal{A}, w) and (\mathcal{B}, w) is called *exact* if it sends weak equivalences to weak equivalences, or equivalently, if it sends \mathcal{A}^w to \mathcal{B}^w . Such a functor induces a triangle functor $\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{A}, w) \to \mathcal{T}(\mathcal{B}, w)$ which strictly commutes with the shifts in both categories. We write

dgCatW

for the category of small dg categories with weak equivalences. Note that this category is the same as the category of saturated dg pairs where a dg category with weak equivalences (\mathcal{A}, w) corresponds to the saturated dg pair $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}^w)$. This allows us to switch freely between the two concepts.

A pointed dg category \mathcal{A} is considered a dg category with weak equivalences where the weak equivalences are the homotopy equivalences, that is the maps which are isomorphisms in $H^0\mathcal{A} \subset H^0\mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$. Equivalently, it is the saturation of the localization pair $(\mathcal{A}, 0)$.

The category dgCatW is closed symmetric monoidal. The tensor product

 $(\mathcal{A}, w) \otimes (\mathcal{B}, w)$

is the saturation of the dg pair $(\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{A}^w \otimes \mathcal{B} \cup \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}^w)$. The function object

 $\operatorname{dgFun}(\mathcal{A}, w; \mathcal{B}, w)$

is the saturation of the dg pair (dgFun^w(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}), dgFun($\mathcal{A}; \mathcal{B}^{w}$)) where dgFun^w(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}) is the full dg subcategory of dgFun(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}) of those dg functors that preserve weak equivalences. The unit is the pointed dg category k_{+} associated with the base ring k.

1.9. Categories with duality. Recall from [Sch10a], [Sch10b] that a category with duality is a triple $(\mathcal{C}, *, \eta)$ with \mathcal{C} a category, $*: \mathcal{C}^{op} \to \mathcal{C}$ a functor, $\eta: 1 \to * \circ *^{op}$ a natural transformation, called *double dual identification*, such that $1_{A^*} = \eta_A^* \circ \eta_{A^*}$ for all objects A in \mathcal{C} . If η is a natural isomorphism, we say that the duality is strong. In case η is the identity (in which case ** = id), we call the duality strict.

A symmetric form in a category with duality $(\mathcal{C}, *, \eta)$ is a pair (X, φ) where $\varphi : X \to X^*$ is a morphism in \mathcal{C} satisfying $\varphi^* \eta_X = \varphi$. A map of symmetric forms $(X, \varphi) \to (Y, \psi)$ is a map $f : X \to Y$ in \mathcal{C} such that $\varphi = f^* \circ \psi \circ f$. Composition of such maps is composition in \mathcal{C} . For a category with duality $(\mathcal{C}, *, \eta)$, we denote

by C_h the category of symmetric forms in C. It has objects the symmetric forms in C and its morphisms are the maps of symmetric forms as defined above.

A form functor from a category with duality $(\mathcal{A}, *, \alpha)$ to another such category $(\mathcal{B}, *, \beta)$ is a pair (F, φ) with $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ a functor and $\varphi : F* \to *F$ a natural transformation, called *duality compatibility morphism*, such that $\varphi_A^*\beta_{FA} = \varphi_{A^*}F(\alpha_A)$ for every object A of \mathcal{A} . There is an evident definition of composition of form functors; see [Sch10a, 3.2]. We write CatD for the category of small categories with duality and form functors as morphisms. A natural transformation $f : (F, \varphi) \to (G, \psi)$ of form functors $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is a natural transformation of functors $f : F \to G$ such that for all objects A of \mathcal{A} we have $f_A^* \circ \psi_A \circ f_{A^*} = \varphi_A$.

If \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are categories with duality, then the category Fun $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ of functors $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is a category with duality, where the dual F^{\sharp} of a functor F is *F*, and the double dual identification $\eta_F : F \to F^{\sharp\sharp}$ at an object A of \mathcal{A} is the map $\beta_{F(A^{**})} \circ F(\alpha_A) = F(\alpha_A)^{**} \circ \beta_{FA}$. To give a form functor (F, φ) is the same as to give a symmetric form $(F, \hat{\varphi})$ in the category with duality Fun $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ in view of the formulas $\varphi_A = F(\alpha_A)^* \circ \hat{\varphi}_{A^*}$ and $\hat{\varphi}_A = \varphi_{A^*} \circ F(\alpha_A)$. A natural transformation $(F, \varphi) \to (G, \psi)$ of form functors is the same as a map $(F, \hat{\varphi}) \to (G, \hat{\psi})$ of symmetric forms in Fun $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$.

A duality preserving functor between categories with duality $(\mathcal{A}, *, \alpha)$ and $(\mathcal{B}, *, \beta)$ is a functor $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ which commutes with dualities and double dual identifications, that is, we have $F^* = *F$ and $F(\alpha) = \beta_F$. In this case, (F, id) is a form functor. We write CatD_{str} for the category of small categories with strict duality and duality preserving functors as morphisms.

A k-linear exact category with duality is a k-linear category with duality $(\mathscr{E}, *, \eta)$ where \mathscr{E} is an exact category, $* : \mathscr{E}^{op} \to \mathscr{E}$ is a k-linear exact functor, and η is a natural isomorphism.

Example 1.28. Let X be a k-scheme, L a line bundle on X, and Vect(X) the exact category of vector bundles on X. Then

 $(\operatorname{Vect}(X), \sharp_L, \operatorname{can}^L)$

is a k-linear exact category with duality where E^{\sharp_L} is the sheaf of O_X -module homomorphisms $Hom_{O_X}(E, L)$ for $E \in Vect(X)$, and $\operatorname{can}_E^L : E \to E^{\sharp_L \sharp_L}$ is the canonical double dual identification which (locally on X) is the evaluation at x for $x \in E(U)$ and $U \subset X$ an affine open subset. Note that $(\operatorname{Vect}(X), \sharp_L, -\operatorname{can}^L)$ is also a k-linear exact category with duality.

1.10. **DG categories with duality.** If \mathcal{A} is a pointed dg category, its opposite pointed dg category \mathcal{A}^{op} has the same objects and base point as \mathcal{A} and the mapping complexes are $\mathcal{A}^{op}(X,Y) = \mathcal{A}(Y,X)$. Composition is defined by $f^{op} \circ g^{op} =$ $(-1)^{|f||g|}(g \circ f)^{op}$ where f^{op} and g^{op} are the maps in \mathcal{A}^{op} corresponding to the homogeneous maps f and g in \mathcal{A} . For a dg functor $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$, the assignment $F^{op} :$ $\mathcal{A}^{op} \to \mathcal{B}^{op} : X \mapsto F(X), f^{op} \mapsto F(f)^{op}$ defines a dg functor between opposite categories. The identity $\mathcal{A}^{op} \otimes \mathcal{B}^{op} \to (\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B})^{op} : (\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}) \mapsto (\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}), f^{op} \otimes g^{op} \mapsto (f \otimes g)^{op}$ is an isomorphism of dg categories and lets us identify these two dg categories. Note that $(\mathcal{A}^{op})^{op} = \mathcal{A}$.

Definition 1.29. A pointed dg category with duality is a triple $(\mathcal{A}, \lor, \operatorname{can})$ where \mathcal{A} is a pointed dg category, $\lor : \mathcal{A}^{op} \to \mathcal{A}$ is a dg functor, called *duality functor*, and $\operatorname{can} : 1 \to \lor \circ \lor^{op}$ is a natural transformation of dg functors (that is, an element of

 $Z^0[1, \vee \circ \vee^{op}])$, called *double dual identification*, such that $\operatorname{can}_A^{\vee} \circ \operatorname{can}_{A^{\vee}} = 1_{A^{\vee}}$ for all objects A in \mathcal{A} . Note that the duality functor satisfies $(f \circ g)^{\vee} = (-1)^{|f| \cdot |g|} g^{\vee} \circ f^{\vee}$ for composable homogeneous morphisms f and g of degrees |f| and |g|. Any dg category with duality $(\mathcal{A}, \vee, \operatorname{can})$ defines a category with duality $(Z^0\mathcal{A}, \vee, \operatorname{can})$ by restriction of structure along the inclusion $Z^0\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{A}$.

Example 1.30. Let $(\mathscr{E}, *, \eta)$ be a k-linear exact category with duality. We will endow the dg category $\operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}$ of bounded complexes in \mathscr{E} (Example 1.4) with the structure

$$(\mathrm{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}, *, \eta)$$

of a dg category with strong duality such that the canonical embedding $\mathscr{E} \to \operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}$ is duality preserving. On objects, the dg functor $* : (\operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E})^{op} \to \operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}$ is given by

$$(E^*)^i = (E^{-i})^*, \quad (d^*)^i = (-1)^{i+1} (d^{-i-1})^*$$

for $(E, d) \in \operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}$. On function complexes, the dg functor * is the map of complexes $* : [M, N] \to [N^*, M^*]$ given by

$$\mathscr{E}(M^i, N^j) \to \mathscr{E}(N^{-i}, M^{-j}) : f \mapsto (-1)^{i(j-i)} f^*$$

for $M, N \in \operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}$. The canonical double dual identification on $E \in \operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}$ is $(\eta_E)^i = (-1)^i \eta_{E^i}$. The signs occurring in these formulas are chosen to be compatible with Subsection 1.11. In case $\mathscr{E} = \operatorname{Vect}(X)$, they agree with the signs coming from the closed symmetric monoidal structure on $\operatorname{Ch}^b \operatorname{Vect}(X)$ as in Section 9. The signs here differ from the choices in [Bal01a]. For a comparison isomorphism; see [Sch10b, Section 6.1].

A morphism $(\mathcal{A}, \lor, \operatorname{can}) \to (\mathcal{B}, \lor, \operatorname{can})$ of dg categories with duality, also called $dg \ form \ functor$, is a pair (F, φ) where $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is a dg functor and $\varphi : F \circ \lor \to$ $\lor \circ (F^{op})$ is a natural transformation of dg functors, called *duality compatibility* morphism, such that $\varphi_{\mathcal{A}^{\vee}} \circ F(\operatorname{can}_{\mathcal{A}}) = \varphi_{\mathcal{A}}^{\lor} \circ \operatorname{can}_{F\mathcal{A}}$ for all objects \mathcal{A} of \mathcal{A} . Composition of $(F, \varphi) : (\mathcal{A}, \lor, \operatorname{can}) \to (\mathcal{B}, \lor, \operatorname{can})$ and $(G, \psi) : (\mathcal{B}, \lor, \operatorname{can}) \to (\mathcal{C}, \lor, \operatorname{can})$ is $(G \circ F, \psi_F \circ G(\varphi)) : (\mathcal{A}, \lor, \operatorname{can}) \to (\mathcal{C}, \lor, \operatorname{can})$. Composition is associative and unital with unit on \mathcal{A} the identity dg form functor $(id_{\mathcal{A}}, id)$. This defines the category

$dgCatD_k$

whose objects are the small pointed dg categories with duality (over k) and whose morphisms are the dg form functors.

The category dgCatD_k is closed symmetric monoidal. The tensor product

$$(\mathcal{A},ee,\mathrm{can}^\mathcal{A})\otimes(\mathcal{B},*,\mathrm{can}^\mathcal{B})=(\mathcal{A}\otimes\mathcal{B},ee\otimes*,\mathrm{can}^\mathcal{A}\otimes\mathrm{can}^\mathcal{B})$$

has duality functor $\vee \otimes * : (\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B})^{op} = \mathcal{A}^{op} \otimes \mathcal{B}^{op} \to \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ and double dual identification $\operatorname{can}_{A}^{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \operatorname{can}_{B}^{\mathcal{B}} : (\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}) \to (\mathcal{A}^{\vee \vee}, \mathcal{B}^{**})$. The unit of the tensor product is the dg category k_{+} equipped with the trivial duality. The switch $\tau : \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{B} \otimes \mathcal{A}$ in dgCatD_k is the switch in dgCat_k with identity as duality compatibility map. The internal function object of $(\mathcal{A}, \vee, \operatorname{can}^{\mathcal{A}})$ and $(\mathcal{B}, *, \operatorname{can}^{\mathcal{B}})$ is the dg category dgFun $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ of dg functors equipped with the duality

$$\sharp: \mathrm{dgFun}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})^{op} \to \mathrm{dgFun}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}): F \mapsto F^{\sharp} = * \circ F^{op} \circ \vee^{op}$$

and double dual identification $\operatorname{can}_{F}^{\mathcal{B}} \circ F(\operatorname{can}^{\mathcal{A}}) : F \to F^{\sharp\sharp}$. Note that a dg form functor $(F, \varphi) : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ between dg categories with duality is the same as a symmetric form in the dg category with duality dgFun $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ of dg functors from \mathcal{A} to \mathcal{B} , or, in the notation of Section 1.9, an object of the category $(Z^0 \operatorname{dgFun}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}))_h$ of symmetric forms in $Z^0 \operatorname{dgFun}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$.

If C is a category with duality and A a pointed dg category with duality, we write Fun(C, A) for the pointed dg category with duality

$$\operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A}) = \operatorname{dgFun}(k[\mathcal{C}]_+, \mathcal{A}).$$

1.11. **Dualities in** \mathscr{C}_k . Recall that tensor products and function complexes make the category \mathscr{C}_k of bounded complexes of finitely generated free k-modules into a closed symmetric monoidal category. Therefore, an object A in \mathscr{C}_k defines a pointed dg category with duality

$$\mathscr{C}_k^{[A]} = (\mathscr{C}_k, \vee_A, \operatorname{can}^A).$$

On objects the duality is defined by

$$\vee_A : \mathscr{C}_k^{op} \to \mathscr{C}_k : X \mapsto [X, A].$$

On morphism complexes it is the unique admissble natural transformation

$$[X,Y] \xrightarrow{\nabla} [[Y,A], [X,Y] \otimes [Y,A]] \xrightarrow{[1,\tau]} [[Y,A], [Y,A] \otimes [X,Y]] \xrightarrow{[1,\circ]} [[Y,A], [X,A]],$$

that is, the map

$$[X,Y] \to [[Y,A],[X,A]] : f \mapsto \left\{ g \mapsto (-1)^{|g||f|} gf \right\}$$

for homogenerous composable $f \in [X, Y]$ and $g \in [Y, A]$. The canonical double dual identification $\operatorname{can}_X^A : X \to X^{\vee_A \vee_A} : x \mapsto \operatorname{can}_X^A(x)$ is given by

$$\operatorname{can}_X^A(x)(f) = (-1)^{|x||f|} f(x)$$

for homogeneous $f \in [X, A]$ and $x \in X$.

Tensor product of complexes defines an equivalence of dg categories with duality

(1.9)
$$(\otimes, \operatorname{can}) : \mathscr{C}^{[A]} \otimes \mathscr{C}^{[B]} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathscr{C}^{[A \otimes B]}$$

where the duality compatibility isomorphism is

(1.10)
$$\operatorname{can}: [X, A] \otimes [Y, B] \to [X \otimes Y, A \otimes B]: f \otimes g \mapsto f \otimes g$$

with $(f \otimes g)(x \otimes y) = (-1)^{|x||g|} f(x) \otimes g(y)$. For later reference, we note that the following diagram of dg form functors commutes up to a natural isomorphism of form functors defined below

(1.11)
$$\begin{array}{c} \mathscr{C}^{[A]} \otimes \mathscr{C}^{[B]} \xrightarrow{(\otimes, \operatorname{can})} \mathscr{C}^{[A \otimes B]} \\ \tau \bigvee & & & & \downarrow (id, \tau) \\ \mathscr{C}^{[B]} \otimes \mathscr{C}^{[A]} \xrightarrow{(\otimes, \operatorname{can})} \mathscr{C}^{[B \otimes A]} \end{array}$$

In the diagram, the left vertical dg form functor is the switch in the symmetric monoidal dgCatD_k and the right vertical dg form functor is the identity functor equipped with the duality compatibility map $[1, \tau] : [X, A \otimes B] \rightarrow [X, B \otimes A]$ induced by the switch $\tau : A \otimes B \rightarrow B \otimes A$ in \mathscr{C}_k . The isomorphism of form functors between the two compositions in the diagram is given by the switch isomorphism $\tau : X \otimes Y \rightarrow Y \otimes X$ in \mathscr{C}_k .

Remark 1.31. As in any closed symmetric monoidal category, a map $\mu : X \otimes Y \to A$ in \mathscr{C}_k defines, by adjunction, a map

$$\varphi_{\mu}: X \xrightarrow{\nabla} [Y, X \otimes Y] \xrightarrow{[1,\mu]} [Y, A] = Y^{\vee_A}$$

which satisfies $\varphi_{\mu}^{\vee_{A}} \circ \operatorname{can}_{Y}^{A} = \varphi_{\mu\circ\tau}$ where $\mu\circ\tau: Y \otimes X \xrightarrow{\tau} X \otimes Y \xrightarrow{\mu} A$. In particular, a map $\mu: X \otimes X \to A$ with $\mu\circ\tau = \mu$ defines a symmetric form φ_{μ} on X, that is, a map $\varphi_{\mu}: X \to X^{\vee_{A}}$ satisfying $\varphi_{\mu}^{\vee_{A}} \operatorname{can}_{X}^{A} = \varphi_{\mu}$.

1.12. $\mathscr{C}^{[n]}$ and shifted dualities. For $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, we write $\mathscr{C}^{[n]}_k$, or simply $\mathscr{C}^{[n]}$, for the dg k-category with duality $\mathscr{C}^{k[n]}$ where k[n] is the dg k-module with $k[n]^{-n} = k$ and $k[n]^i = 0$ for $i \neq -n$. Tensor product defines an equivalence of dg categories with duality

(1.12)
$$\mu_{i,j}: \mathscr{C}^{k[i]} \otimes \mathscr{C}^{k[j]} \xrightarrow{(\otimes, \operatorname{can})} \mathscr{C}^{k[i] \otimes k[j]} \xrightarrow{(1,\mu)} \mathscr{C}^{k[i+j]}$$

where the second form functor is the identity together with the duality compatibility map $[X, k[i] \otimes k[j]] \rightarrow [X, k[i+j]]$ induced by the isomorphism of dg k-modules $k[i] \otimes k[j] \rightarrow k[i+j] : x \otimes y \mapsto xy$. Note that under this isomorphism, the switch map $k[j] \otimes k[i] \rightarrow k[i] \otimes k[j]$ is identified with multiplication by $(-1)^{ij} : k[i+j] \rightarrow k[i+j]$. Therefore, in the following diagram, the left hand square commutes up to the natural isomorphism of dg form functors as in diagram (1.11), and the right hand square commutes

(1.13)
$$\begin{aligned} & \mathscr{C}^{k[i]} \otimes \mathscr{C}^{k[j]} \xrightarrow{(\otimes, \operatorname{can})} \mathscr{C}^{k[i] \otimes k[j]} \xrightarrow{(1,\mu)} \mathscr{C}^{k[i+j]} \\ & \downarrow^{\tau} & \downarrow^{(1,\tau)} & \downarrow^{(1,(-1)^{ij})} \\ & \mathscr{C}^{k[j]} \otimes \mathscr{C}^{k[i]} \xrightarrow{(\otimes, \operatorname{can})} \mathscr{C}^{k[j] \otimes k[i]} \xrightarrow{(1,\mu)} \mathscr{C}^{k[i+j]}. \end{aligned}$$

Remark 1.32. Let (X, φ) be a symmetric form in $\mathscr{C}^{[n]}$ and assume that $\varphi : X \to [X, k[n]]$ is an isomorphism. The symmetric form defines a dg form functor

$$(X,\varphi):k_+ \to \mathscr{C}^{[n]}:k \mapsto X, \ [k,k] \to [X,X]:a \mapsto a \cdot 1_X$$

with duality compatibility map the isomorphism $\varphi: X \to [X, k[n]]$. Therefore, we obtain dg form functors

$$(X,\varphi)\otimes:\mathscr{C}^{[m]}\cong k_+\otimes\mathscr{C}^{[m]}\xrightarrow{(X,\varphi)\otimes 1}\mathscr{C}^{[n]}\otimes\mathscr{C}^{[m]}\xrightarrow{\mu_{n,m}}\mathscr{C}^{[n+m]}$$

Lemma 1.33. The following diagram in $dgCatD_k$ commutes up to natural isomorphism of dg form functors

where $\langle -1 \rangle$ is the inner product space (k, -1) in $\mathscr{C}^{[0]}$ given by $x, y \mapsto -xy$.

Proof. This follows from diagram (1.13) and the identification of its right vertical map with the right vertical map in the Lemma.

Remark 1.34. If we denote by $m : k[2] \otimes k[2] \to k[4]$ the multiplication map, then tensor product with the symmetric form (k[2], m) in $\mathscr{C}^{[4]}$ induces isomorphisms of dg categories with duality

(1.14)
$$(k[2], m) \otimes : \mathscr{C}^{[n]} \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathscr{C}^{[n+4]};$$

compare [Sch10b, Proposition 7].

Definition 1.35. Let \mathcal{A} be a dg category with duality. The *n*-th shifted dg category with duality is

$$\mathcal{A}^{[n]} = \mathscr{C}^{[n]}_k \otimes \mathcal{A}.$$

The equivalences (1.12) and isomorphisms (1.14) induce equivalences and isomorphisms of dg-categories with duality

$$(\mathcal{A}^{[n]})^{[m]} = \mathscr{C}_{k}^{[m]} \otimes \mathcal{A}^{[n]} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathcal{A}^{[m+n]} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{A}^{[n]} \cong \mathcal{A}^{[n+4]}.$$

The dg categories with duality $\mathcal{A}^{[n]}$ all have the same underlying dg category but are equipped with a duality depending on $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. If the dg-category with duality \mathcal{A} is pretriangulated, then so is $\mathcal{A}^{[n]}$, $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, and $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}^{[0]}$ is an equivalence of dg categories with duality. In general, the dg form functor $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}^{[0]}$ always induces an equivalence on pretriangulated hulls for any dg category with duality \mathcal{A} .

1.13. The pretriangulated hull of a dg category with duality. Let \mathcal{A} be a dg category with duality. We will make its pretriangulated hull \mathcal{A}^{ptr} into a dg category with duality such that the inclusion $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ is duality preserving.

For that, let $(\mathcal{A}, \vee, \operatorname{can})$ be a dg category with duality. Consider the ordered set \mathbb{Z} as a category with strict duality $\mathbb{Z}^{op} \to \mathbb{Z}$: $n \mapsto -n$. Then the dg category of extensions $\mathbb{Z}\mathcal{A}$ is equipped with the duality

$$\vee:(\mathbb{Z}\mathcal{A})^{op}\to\mathbb{Z}\mathcal{A}:(A,q)\mapsto(A,q)^{\vee}=(A^{\vee},-q^{\vee})$$

where $(A^{\vee})_i = (A_{-i})^{\vee}$ and q^{\vee} has entries $(q^{\vee})_{ij} = (q_{-j,-i})^{\vee}$. On morphism complexes, the duality sends a matrix f to the matrix f^{\vee} with entries $(f^{\vee})_{ij} = (f_{-j,-i})^{\vee}$. The double dual identification can : $(A,q) \to (A,q)^{\vee \vee} = (A^{\vee \vee},q^{\vee \vee})$ is the matrix with entries $(\operatorname{can}_{(A,q)})_{ij} = \operatorname{can}_{A_i}$ for $i = j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $(\operatorname{can}_{(A,q)})_{ij} = 0$ for $i \neq j \in \mathbb{Z}$; see §1.15 below. Clearly, the inclusion $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathbb{Z}\mathcal{A}$ preserves dualities.

For a dg category with duality \mathcal{A} , the category $\mathscr{C}_k^{[0]}\mathcal{A}$ is a dg category with duality, and the inclusion $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathscr{C}_k^{[0]}\mathcal{A} : X \mapsto \mathbb{1} \otimes X$ is duality preserving. Therefore, the pretriangulated hull $\mathcal{A}^{ptr} = \mathbb{Z}\mathscr{C}_k^{[0]}\mathcal{A}$ is a pretriangulated dg category with duality containing \mathcal{A} as a full dg subcategory with duality. If \mathcal{A} is a pretriangulated dg category with duality then the inclusion $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{A}^{ptr}$ is an equivalence of dg categories with duality.

Example 1.36. Let $(\mathscr{E}, *, \eta)$ be a k-linear exact category with duality. Recall from Example 1.30 and the above discussion that $\operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}$ and \mathscr{E}^{ptr} are naturally equipped with the structure of a dg category with strong duality. Since both dg categories are pretriangulated hulls for \mathscr{E} , the natural dg form functors

$$\mathscr{E}^{\mathrm{ptr}} \to (\mathrm{Ch}^b \,\mathscr{E})^{\mathrm{ptr}} \leftarrow \mathrm{Ch}^b \,\mathscr{E}$$

are equivalences of dg categories with dualities.

Definition 1.37. A dg category with weak equivalences and duality is a quadruple $\mathscr{A} = (\mathcal{A}, w, \lor, \operatorname{can})$ where (\mathcal{A}, w) is a dg category with weak equivalences and $(\mathcal{A}, \lor, \operatorname{can})$ is a dg category with duality such that the dg subcategory $\mathcal{A}^w \subset \mathcal{A}$ of w-acyclic objects is closed under the duality functor \lor and $\operatorname{can}_A : A \to A^{\lor\lor}$ is a weak equivalence for all objects \mathcal{A} of \mathcal{A} . Note that then $f \in w$ if and only if $f^{\lor} \in w$. We may sometimes omit w, \lor or can from the notation when they are understood.

Example 1.38. Let $(\mathcal{E}, *, \eta)$ be an exact category with duality. From Examples 1.27 and 1.30 we obtain the dg category with weak equivalences and (strong) duality

$$(Ch^{o} \mathscr{E}, quis, *, \eta).$$

A morphism of dg categories with weak equivalences and duality (also called exact dg form functor) is a dg form functor (F, φ) where F an exact dg functor. Compositions of exact dg form functors are exact dg form functors. This defines the category dgCatWD_k of small dg k-categories with weak equivalences and duality. Note that if $\mathscr{A} = (\mathcal{A}, w)$ is a dg category with weak equivalences and duality, then so is its pretriangulated hull $\mathscr{A}^{\text{ptr}} = (\mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}, w)$.

Tensor product and function object given in Definition 1.26 and 1.29 make $\operatorname{dgCatWD}_k$ into a closed symmetric monoidal category. If $\mathscr{A} = (\mathcal{A}, w)$ is a dg category with weak equivalences and duality, then so is $\mathscr{A}^{[n]} = (\mathcal{A}^{[n]}, w)$ which is the saturation of the dg pair $(\mathcal{A}^{[n]}, (\mathcal{A}^w)^{[n]})$.

1.14. Grothendieck-Witt groups of dg categories. A dg category with weak equivalences and duality $\mathscr{A} = (\mathcal{A}, w, \lor, \operatorname{can})$ defines an exact category with weak equivalences and duality $(Z^0 \mathcal{A}^{\operatorname{ptr}}, w, \lor, \operatorname{can})$ in the sense of [Sch10b, §2.3] with exact sequences as defined in Section 1.3. As such its Grothendieck Witt group $GW_0(\mathscr{A})$ was defined in [Sch10b, Definition 1]. We will remind the reader of the definition below. But first, recall that a symmetric space in $\mathscr{A}^{\operatorname{ptr}}$ is a pair (\mathcal{A}, φ) where $\varphi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}^{\lor}$ is a weak equivalence in $\mathscr{A}^{\operatorname{ptr}}$ (in particular $\varphi \in Z^0 \mathcal{A}$) such that $\varphi^{\lor} \operatorname{can}_{\mathcal{A}} = \varphi$.

Definition 1.39 ([Sch10b]). Let $\mathscr{A} = (\mathcal{A}, w, \lor, \operatorname{can})$ be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality. The Grothendieck-Witt group $GW_0(\mathscr{A})$ of \mathscr{A} is the abelian group generated by symmetric spaces $[X, \varphi]$ in $(Z^0 \mathcal{A}^{\operatorname{ptr}}, w, \lor, \operatorname{can})$, subject to the following relations

- (1) $[X, \varphi] + [Y, \psi] = [X \oplus Y, \varphi \oplus \psi]$
- (2) if $g: X \to Y$ is a weak equivalence, then $[Y, \psi] = [X, g^{\vee} \psi g]$, and
- (3) if $(E_{\bullet}, \varphi_{\bullet})$ is a symmetric space in the category of exact sequences in $Z^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$, that is, a map

$$\begin{array}{cccc} E_{\bullet}: & E_{-1} \succ & E_{0} & \stackrel{p}{\longrightarrow} & E_{1} \\ \underset{\scriptstyle \downarrow}{}_{\downarrow} \varphi_{\bullet} & \underset{\scriptstyle \downarrow}{}_{\downarrow} \varphi_{-1} & \underset{\scriptstyle \downarrow}{}_{\downarrow} \varphi_{0} & \underset{\scriptstyle \downarrow}{}_{\downarrow} \varphi_{1} \\ E_{\bullet}^{\vee}: & E_{1}^{\vee} \succ & E_{0}^{\vee} & \stackrel{p}{\longrightarrow} & E_{-1}^{\vee} \end{array}$$

of exact sequences with $(\varphi_{-1}, \varphi_0, \varphi_1) = (\varphi_1^{\vee} \operatorname{can}, \varphi_0^{\vee} \operatorname{can}, \varphi_{-1}^{\vee} \operatorname{can})$ a weak equivalence, then

$$[E_0,\varphi_0] = \left[E_{-1} \oplus E_1, \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \varphi_1 \\ \varphi_{-1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}\right].$$

MARCO SCHLICHTING

Similarly, the Witt group $W_0(\mathscr{A})$ of \mathscr{A} is the abelian group generated by symmetric spaces $[X, \varphi]$ in $(Z^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}, w, \lor, \text{can})$, subject to the relations (1), (2) and

(3') if $(E_{\bullet}, \varphi_{\bullet})$ is a symmetric space in the category of exact sequences in $(Z^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}, w, \vee, \text{can})$, then $[E_0, \varphi_0] = 0$.

Furthermore, we define the *shifted Witt and Grothendieck-Witt groups* of \mathscr{A} as

$$W^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) = W_0(\mathscr{A}^{[n]})$$
 and $GW_0^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) = GW_0(\mathscr{A}^{[n]}).$

Note that for n = 0 we have $GW_0^{[0]}(\mathscr{A}) = GW_0(\mathscr{A})$ and $W^{[0]}(\mathscr{A}) = W_0(\mathscr{A})$.

Example 1.40. Let $(\mathscr{E}, *, \eta)$ be a k-linear exact category with duality. Then the Grothendieck-Witt group $GW_0(\operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}, \operatorname{quis}, *, \eta)$ of the dg category with weak equivalences and duality from Example 1.38 is naturally isomorphic to Knebusch's Grothendieck-Witt group $GW_0(\mathscr{E}, *, \eta)$; see [Sch10b, Remark 1]. This follows for instance from [Sch10b, Proposition 6 and Remark 14]. The same applies to the associated Witt groups.

1.15. More on extension categories. Let $poSetD_{str}$ be the category of posets with strict duality. Morphisms in that category are the order preserving embeddings which commute with dualities. Cartesian product makes $poSetD_{str}$ into a symmetric monoidal category. We will extend the symmetric monoidal functor (1.3) to a symmetric monoidal functor

(1.15) $\operatorname{poSetD}_{\operatorname{str}} \times \operatorname{dgCatD} \to \operatorname{dgCatD} : \mathcal{P}, (\mathcal{A}, \lor, \operatorname{can}) \mapsto (\mathcal{P}\mathcal{A}, \lor, \operatorname{can}).$

Let \mathcal{P} be a poset with strict duality $\mathcal{P}^{op} \to \mathcal{P} : x \mapsto x'$, and let $(\mathcal{A}, \lor, \operatorname{can})$ be a pointed dg category with duality. Then $\mathcal{P}\mathcal{A}$ is equipped with the duality $\lor :$ $(\mathcal{P}\mathcal{A})^{op} \to \mathcal{P}\mathcal{A} : (A,q) \mapsto (A,q)^{\lor} = (A^{\lor}, -q^{\lor})$ where $(A^{\lor})_i = (A_{i'})^{\lor}$ and q^{\lor} has entries $(q^{\lor})_{ij} = (q_{j'i'})^{\lor}$. Note that $(-q^{\lor})^2 - d(q^{\lor}) = 0$ because $(q^2)^{\lor} = -(q^{\lor})^2$ and $d(q^{\lor}) = (dq)^{\lor}$. On morphism complexes, the duality sends a matrix f to the matrix f^{\lor} with entries $(f^{\lor})_{ij} = (f_{j'i'})^{\lor}$. The double dual identification can : $(A,q) \to (A,q)^{\lor \lor} = (A^{\lor \lor}, q^{\lor \lor})$ is the matrix with entries $(\operatorname{can}_{(A,q)})_{ij} = \operatorname{can}_{A_i}$ for $i = j \in \mathcal{P}$ and $(\operatorname{can}_{(A,q)})_{ij} = 0$ for $i \neq j \in \mathcal{P}$. In the obvious way this construction is functorial in posets with strict duality \mathcal{P} and in pointed dg categories with duality $(A, \lor, \operatorname{can})$. The monoidal compatibility map (1.4) is duality preserving and thus equipped with the identity as duality compatibility map.

Let $\mathscr{A} = (\mathcal{A}, w)$ be a dg category with weak equivalences. Then we define $\mathcal{P}\mathscr{A}$ as the saturation of the dg pair $(\mathcal{P}\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{P}\mathcal{A}^w)$. If $\mathscr{A} = (\mathcal{A}, w)$ is a dg category with weak equivalences and duality, then the duality on $\mathcal{P}\mathcal{A}$ makes $\mathcal{P}\mathscr{A}$ into a dg category with weak equivalences and duality. Finally, the symmetric monoidal functor (1.3) extends to a symmetric monoidal functor

$$poSetD_{str} \times dgCatWD \rightarrow dgCatWD$$
.

2. The cone functor and a counter-example to invariance

Let \mathcal{A} be a pretriangulated dg category with duality. Any morphism f in \mathcal{A} has a cone C(f) in \mathcal{A} defined by diagram (1.8). This defines a (dg) functor

$$\operatorname{Cone}: \operatorname{Fun}([1], \mathcal{A}) \to \mathcal{A}: f \mapsto C(f)$$

where [n] denotes, as usual, the category (with unique duality) $0 \to 1 \to \cdots \to n$ associated with the poset $0 < 1 < \dots < n$. Thus, both categories Fun([1], \mathcal{A}) and

 ${\mathcal A}$ are exact dg categories with duality. In what follows, we make the cone functor into a dg form functor

Cone : Fun([1],
$$\mathcal{A}$$
) $\rightarrow \mathcal{A}^{[1]}$

with double dual identification a natural isomorphism. Note that the target will be equipped with a shifted duality. The construction of the cone functor and its properties will be fundamental for the rest of this paper. In this section, we will use it in Proposition 2.1 to give a counter-example to invariance under derived equivalences.

2.1. The mapping cone as a dg form functor. Recall from Example 1.2 the commutative dg k-algebra C and the exact sequence (1.1) in \mathscr{C}_k . For a dg category \mathcal{A} , let $S_2\mathcal{A}$ denote the full dg subcategory of Fun([2], \mathcal{A}) of those functors $A : [2] \to \mathcal{A}$ for which the sequence $A_0 \to A_1 \to A_2$ is exact in \mathcal{A} . Thus, Γ defines an object in $S_2\mathscr{C}_k$.

Recall from Remark 1.31 that the multiplication map $\mu : C \otimes C \to C$ of the commutative dg k-algebra C together with the composition $p\mu : C \otimes C \to T$ defines a symmetric form $(C, \mu \circ p)$ in $\mathscr{C}_k^{[1]}$. Note that its adjunction $\varphi_{\mu \circ p} : C \to [C, T]$ is an isomorphism. In this way we obtain a symmetric isomorphism of short exact sequences

(2.1)
$$\Gamma: \qquad k \succ \stackrel{i}{\longrightarrow} C \xrightarrow{p} T \\ \downarrow \gamma \qquad \gamma_{-1} = \bigvee \nabla \gamma_{0} = \bigvee \varphi_{\mu \circ p} \qquad \gamma_{1} = \bigvee id \\ [\Gamma, T]: \qquad [T, T] \succ \stackrel{[p, 1]}{\longrightarrow} [C, T] \xrightarrow{[i, 1]} [k, T].$$

In other words, the pair (Γ, γ) defines a symmetric space in $S_2 \mathscr{C}_k^{[1]}$ Tensoring with (Γ, γ) defines a dg form functor

$$(\Gamma, \gamma) \otimes id : \mathcal{A} \to (S_2 \mathscr{C}^{[1]}) \mathcal{A} \subset S_2 (\mathscr{C}^{[1]} \mathcal{A}) = S_2 \mathcal{A}^{[1]}.$$

with duality compatibility map a natural isomorphism. Note that $S_2(\mathcal{A}^{[n]}) = (S_2\mathcal{A})^{[n]}$.

Next, for any exact dg category with duality \mathcal{A} we define a dg form functor

$$(\Delta, \delta)$$
: Fun $([1], S_2\mathcal{A}) \to \mathcal{A}$

as follows. The exact dg-category with duality Fun([2], $S_2\mathcal{A}$) has objects the sequences $A^0_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{f^0} A^1_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{f^1} A^2_{\bullet}$ of morphisms of short exact sequences $A^i_{\bullet} : A^i_0 \to A^i_1 \twoheadrightarrow A^i_2$ of objects in \mathcal{A} . The evaluation at (1, 1)

$$e: \operatorname{Fun}([2], S_2\mathcal{A}) \to \mathcal{A}: (A^0_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{f^0} A^1_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{f^1} A^2_{\bullet}) \mapsto A^1_1$$

preserves dualities and thus defines a dg form functor between exact dg categories with duality.

Let $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}) \subset \operatorname{Fun}([2], S_2\mathcal{A})$ be the full dg-subcategory of those sequences $A^0_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{f^0} \mathcal{A}^1_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{f^1} A^2_{\bullet}$ for which the maps $f^1_0 : A^1_0 \to A^2_0$ and $f^0_2 : A^0_2 \to A^1_2$ are the identity maps. The duality on $\operatorname{Fun}([2], S_2\mathcal{A})$ preserves the subcategory $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A})$ and thus makes $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A})$ into a dg category with duality. The dg-functor $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}) \to \operatorname{Fun}([1], S_2\mathcal{A}) :$ $(f^0, f^1) \mapsto f^1 \circ f^0$ preserves dualities. If \mathcal{A} is exact then this is an equivalence of dg-categories. By Lemma 2.3 below, we can choose an inverse dg form functor Fun([1], $S_2\mathcal{A}$) $\rightarrow \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A})$ which is unique up to natural isomorphism of dg form functors. The dg form functor (Δ, δ) is the composition

$$(\Delta, \delta)$$
: Fun $([1], S_2\mathcal{A}) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}) \subset$ Fun $([2], S_2\mathcal{A}) \xrightarrow{e} \mathcal{A}$

Finally, the mapping cone dg form functor is the composition

(2.2) Cone : Fun([1],
$$\mathcal{A}$$
) $\xrightarrow{(\Gamma, \gamma) \otimes id}$ Fun([1], $S_2 \mathcal{A}^{[1]}$) $\xrightarrow{(\Delta, \delta)} \mathcal{A}^{[1]}$.

More precisely, it is the zigzag

(2.3)
$$\operatorname{Fun}([1],\mathcal{A}) \xrightarrow{(\Gamma,\gamma)\otimes id} \operatorname{Fun}([1],S_2A^{[1]}) \xleftarrow{\simeq} \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}) \xrightarrow{e} \mathcal{A}^{[1]}$$

of dg form functors in which the arrow in the wrong direction is an equivalence of dg categories with dualities for which we may choose an inverse if we wish. Replacing \mathcal{A} with $\mathcal{A}^{[n]}$ we obtain the dg form functor

$$\operatorname{Cone}: \operatorname{Fun}([1], \mathcal{A}^{[n]}) \to \mathcal{A}^{[n+1]}$$

for any exact dg category with duality and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. Note that the duality compatibility morphism for this form functor is an isomorphism.

2.2. A counter-example to invariance under derived equivalences. The following proposition shows that an exact dg form functor $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$ between pretriangulated dg categories with weak equivalences and duality which induces an equivalence of associated triangulated categories $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathcal{T}\mathscr{B}$ need not induce an isomorphism of Grothendieck-Witt groups $GW_0(\mathscr{A}) \to GW_0(\mathscr{B})$ contrary to the situation in K-theory.

To state the proposition, let R be commutative ring. Equip the exact dg category \mathscr{C}_R of bounded complexes of finitely generated free R-modules with the set of weak equivalences which are the quasi-isomorphisms, that is, the morphisms which become isomorphisms in $H^0\mathscr{C}_R$, or in other words, which are homotopy equivalences of bounded complexes. Recall from §2.1 the cone dg form functor

(2.4) Cone : Fun([1],
$$\mathscr{C}_R^{[-1]}) \to \mathscr{C}_R^{[0]}$$

Let w be the set of morphisms f in $\operatorname{Fun}([1], \mathscr{C}_R^{[-1]})$ for which $\operatorname{Cone}(f)$ is a quasi-isomorphism.

Proposition 2.1. Let R be a commutative ring.

(1) The cone functor (2.4) induces an equivalence of triangulated categories

$$w^{-1}\operatorname{Fun}([1],\mathscr{C}_R^{[-1]}) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \operatorname{quis}^{-1} \mathscr{C}_R^{[0]}$$

(2) If 2 is not a unit in R, then the map

$$GW_0(\operatorname{Fun}([1], \mathscr{C}_R^{[-1]}), w) \to GW_0(\mathscr{C}_R^{[0]}, \operatorname{quis})$$

induced by the cone functor (2.4) is not surjective.

Proof. An inverse to the functor in (1) is given by the functor $\mathscr{C}_R \to \operatorname{Fun}([1], \mathscr{C}_R)$ sending and object A of \mathscr{C}_R to the map $0 \to A$. Of course, this does not preserve dualities.

For part (2), recall that $GW_0(\mathscr{C}_R^{[0]}, \text{quis})$ is isomorphic to the usual Grothendieck-Witt group $GW_0^{free}(R)$ of non-degenerate symmetric bilinear forms on finitely generated free *R*-modules [Sch10b, Proposition 6]. The isomorphism is induced by the map that sends a finitely generated free *R*-module equipped with a non-degenerated

symmetric bilinear form to the complex concentrated in degree zero where it is that R-module together with the induced form on the complex. Let $m \subset R$ be a maximal ideal containing 2 which exists since 2 is not a unit in R. Then k = R/m is a field of characteristic 2. The composition

$$\operatorname{rk}_m: GW_0^{free}(R) \to GW_0^{free}(k) = GW_0(k) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{rk}} \mathbb{Z}: [M, \varphi] \mapsto \dim(M \otimes_R k)$$

is surjective since [R, 1] is sent to 1. We will show that for every symmetric space (M, φ) in $(\mathscr{C}_R^{[-1]}, w)$, the rank $\operatorname{rk}_m(\operatorname{Cone} M)$ of $\operatorname{Cone} M$ at m is even. For that, we can assume R = k and it suffices to show that the composition

(2.5)
$$W_0(\operatorname{Fun}([1], \mathscr{C}_k^{[-1]}), w) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Cone}} W_0(k) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{rk}} \mathbb{Z}/2$$

is zero. Since k has characteristic 2, we will ignore all signs. As mentioned above, inclusion as complexes concentrated in degree zero induces an isomorphism $W_0(k) \to W_0(\mathscr{C}_k^{[0]}, \text{quis})$. The inverse $W_0(\mathscr{C}_k^{[0]}, \text{quis}) \to W_0(k)$ is given by the zerohomology functor $[M, \varphi] \mapsto [H_0M, H_0\varphi]$. Let $(M, \varphi) = (P \xrightarrow{f} Q, \varphi^P, \varphi^Q)$ be a symmetric space in (Fun([1], $\mathscr{C}_k^{[-1]}), w$). We have to show that the symmetric space $(N, \psi) = H_0 \operatorname{Cone}(M, \varphi)$

in Vect_k has even rank. Symmetry of the map $(\varphi^P, \varphi^Q) : (P, Q) \to (Q^*[-1], P^*[-1])$ means that $\varphi_i^Q = (\varphi_{1-i}^P)^* \eta_{Q_i}$ where $V^* = Hom_k(E, k)$ is the usual dual of a k-vector space V and η is the usual canonical double dual identification $\eta_V : V \to V^{**}$. The cone symmetric space of (M, φ) in degree zero is the symmetric map of k-vector spaces

(2.6)
$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha & 0\\ 0 & \alpha^* \eta \end{pmatrix} : Q_0 \oplus P_1 \to P_1^* \oplus Q_0^*, \quad \text{where} \quad \alpha = \varphi_0^Q$$

The particular shape of the symmetric map shows that $Q_0 \oplus P_1$ has a basis $v_1, ..., v_n$, $n = \dim Q_0 + \dim P_1$, of isotropic vectors, that is, of vectors v_i for which the (possibly singular) associated symmetric bilinear form (2.6) satisfies $\langle v_i, v_i \rangle = 0$, i = 1, ..., n. Since the field k has characteristic 2 this implies that every vector $v \in Q_0 \oplus P_1$ has to be isotropic. As a subquotient, the non-singular symmetric space (N, ψ) also consists of isotropic vectors. Hence, the symmetric space (N, ψ) over the field k of characteristic 2 is symplectic. Every symplectic inner product space has even rank [MH73], hence, the map (2.5) is the zero map. \Box

We conclude this section with two lemmas used in the construction of the cone dg form functor. Recall terminology and notation from $\S1.9$.

Lemma 2.2. Let $(F, \varphi) : (\mathcal{A}, *, \alpha) \to (\mathcal{B}, *, \beta)$ be a form functor between categories with duality. If F is an equivalence of categories and φ a natural isomorphism, then (F, φ) induces an equivalence of categories of symmetric forms

$$(F,\varphi)_h: \mathcal{A}_h \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathcal{B}_h$$

Proof. Easy verification left to the reader.

Lemma 2.3. Let $(F, \varphi) : (\mathcal{A}, *, \alpha) \to (\mathcal{B}, *, \beta)$ be a form functor between categories with duality. If F is an equivalence of categories and φ a natural isomorphism, then (F, φ) is an equivalence of categories with duality, that is, there is a form functor $(G, \gamma) : (\mathcal{B}, *, \beta) \to (\mathcal{A}, *, \alpha)$ such that $(F, \varphi) \circ (G, \gamma)$ and $(G, \gamma) \circ (F, \varphi)$ are naturally equivalent to the identity form functors. Moreover, any two inverses of (F, φ) are naturally isomorphic.

Proof. Composition with (F, φ) induces a form functor between categories with duality

$$(F,\varphi)$$
: Fun $(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{A}) \to$ Fun $(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{B})$: $G \mapsto F \circ G$

which is an equivalence of underlying categories (since F is) and whose duality compatibility map is an isomorphism (since φ is). By Lemma 2.2, the induced functor between categories of symmetric forms is an equivalence of categories

$$\operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{A})_h \xrightarrow{\simeq} \operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{B})_h : (G,\gamma) \mapsto (F,\varphi) \circ (G,\gamma).$$

In particular, there is an object (G, γ) of $\operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{A})_h$ such that $(F, \varphi) \circ (G, \gamma)$ is naturally isomorphic to the identity form functor on \mathcal{B} . This object is unique up to natural isomorphism of form functors. Thus, we have shown that any form functor (F, φ) with F an equivalence and φ an isomorphism has a right inverse (up to natural isomorphism of form functors) which is unique up to natural isomorphisms of form functors. Let (G, γ) be such an inverse. Then since F is an equivalence, so is G, and since, furthermore, φ is an isomorphism, so is γ . Therefore, (G, γ) has a right inverse, too, say (H, η) . But then (F, φ) is naturally isomorphic to $(F, \varphi) \circ [(G, \gamma) \circ (H, \eta)] = [(F, \varphi) \circ (G, \gamma)] \circ (H, \eta)$ which is naturally isomorphic to (H, η) . Hence, (G, γ) is not only a left but also a right inverse of (F, φ) . \Box

3. GROTHENDIECK-WITT GROUPS OF TRIANGULATED CATEGORIES

The theory of Witt groups has experienced a renaissance some 15 years ago due to the introduction of triangulated category methods by Balmer [Bal00], [Bal01a]. The purpose of this section is to associate to every dg category with weak equivalences and duality a triangulated category with duality (Lemma 3.6), and to show that both have isomorphic Grothendieck-Witt groups (Proposition 3.8). This is the base case of the Invariance Theorem 6.5 which plays an important role in applications. Unfortunately, Balmer's framework is too restrictive for our purpose. So, part of this section recasts some of the definitions in [Bal00].

Our reference for triangulated categories is [Kel96]. In particular, we will only assume that the shift functor $T : \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{K}$ in a triangulated category \mathcal{K} is an equivalence of categories.

Definition 3.1. A triangulated category with duality is a triangulated category \mathcal{K} together with an additive functor $\sharp : \mathcal{K}^{op} \to \mathcal{K}$ and natural isomorphisms $\lambda : \sharp \xrightarrow{\cong} T\sharp T$ and $\varpi : 1 \xrightarrow{\cong} \sharp\sharp$ satisfying (1) - (3) below.

(1) The following diagram commutes

(2) For all objects X of K we have ∞[♯]_X ∘ ∞_{X[♯]} = 1_{X[♯]}.
(3) If

is an exact (also called distinguished) triangle in \mathcal{K} . Then the following triangle, called dual triangle, is also exact in \mathcal{K}

(3.2)
$$Z^{\sharp} \xrightarrow{g^{\sharp}} Y^{\sharp} \xrightarrow{f^{\sharp}} X^{\sharp} \xrightarrow{T(h^{\sharp}) \circ \lambda_{X}} T(Z^{\sharp}).$$

Remark 3.2. Given a triangulated category \mathcal{K} , an additive functor $\sharp : \mathcal{K}^{op} \to \mathcal{K}$, a natural transformation $\varpi : 1 \to \sharp\sharp$ and a natural isomorphism $\lambda : \sharp \to T\sharp T$ satisfying (1) and (2) of Definition 3.1. Then (3) is equivalent to requiring that the following triangle be exact

(3.3)
$$(TY)^{\sharp} \xrightarrow{(Tf)^{\sharp}} (TX)^{\sharp} \xrightarrow{h^{\sharp}} Z^{\sharp} \xrightarrow{\lambda_Y \circ g^{\sharp}} T(TY)^{\sharp}.$$

Indeed, under the natural isomorphism λ , the triangle (3.2) becomes the triangle (3.3) shifted twice.

Remark 3.3. There is an evident category $\Delta \mathcal{K}$ of exact triangles in \mathcal{K} . The duality functor \sharp on \mathcal{K} makes $\Delta \mathcal{K}$ into a category with duality $(\Delta \mathcal{K}, \sharp, \varpi)$ where the duality functor

$$\sharp: (\Delta \mathcal{K})^{op} \to \Delta \mathcal{K}$$

sends the exact triangle (3.1) to the exact triangle (3.2). The double dual identification for the exact triangle (3.1) is the map of triangles $(\varpi_X, \varpi_Y, \varpi_Z)$ which is indeed a map of triangles in view of the commutative diagram in Definition 3.1 (1).

Definition 3.4. A morphism of triangulated categories with duality

$$(F, \rho, \varphi) : (\mathcal{K}_1, \sharp, \varpi, \lambda) \to (\mathcal{K}_2, \sharp, \varpi, \lambda)$$

is a triple (F, ρ, φ) where $F : \mathcal{K}_1 \to \mathcal{K}_2$ is an additive functor, $\rho : FT \xrightarrow{\cong} TF$ and $\varphi : F\sharp \xrightarrow{\cong} \sharp F$ are natural isomorphisms such that $(F, \rho) : \mathcal{K}_1 \to \mathcal{K}_2$ is a triangle functor and such that the following diagrams commute

Composition is defined as

$$(\bar{F}, \bar{\rho}, \bar{\varphi}) \circ (F, \rho, \varphi) = (\bar{F} \circ F, \bar{\rho}_F \circ \bar{F} \rho, \bar{\varphi}_F \circ \bar{F} \varphi).$$

In this way we obtain the category TriD of small triangulated categories with duality and their morphisms. Note that a morphism of triangulated categories with duality (F, ρ, φ) as above induces morphisms of additive categories with duality (F, φ) : $(\mathcal{K}_1, \sharp, \varpi) \to (\mathcal{K}_2, \sharp, \varpi)$ and $(F, \rho, \varphi) : (\Delta \mathcal{K}_1, \sharp, \varpi) \to (\Delta \mathcal{K}_2, \sharp, \varpi)$.

For the purpose of the next definition, an inner product space in an additive category with duality $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp, \varpi)$ will mean a pair (\mathcal{A}, φ) where $\varphi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}^{\sharp}$ is an isomorphism satisfying $\varphi^{\sharp} \varpi_{\mathcal{A}} = \varphi$. An isometry from (\mathcal{A}, φ) to (\mathcal{B}, ψ) is an isomorphism $f : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ in \mathcal{A} such that $\varphi = f^{\sharp} \psi f$. This applies in particular to the additive categories with duality \mathcal{K} and $\Delta \mathcal{K}$ associated with a triangulated category with duality \mathcal{K} . **Definition 3.5.** The Grothendieck-Witt group

 $GW^0(\mathcal{K})$

of a triangulated category with duality $\mathcal{K} = (\mathcal{K}, \sharp, \varpi, \lambda)$ is the abelian group generated by isometry classes $[X, \varphi]$ of inner product spaces (X, φ) in \mathcal{K} , subject to the following relations

- (1) $[X, \varphi] + [Y, \psi] = [X \oplus Y, \varphi \oplus \psi]$
- (2) Given an inner product space in the category of exact triangles $\Delta \mathcal{K}$

$$\begin{split} E_{-1} & \xrightarrow{f} & E_0 & \xrightarrow{g} & E_1 & \xrightarrow{h} & T(E_{-1}) \\ \cong & \downarrow^{\varphi_{-1}} & \cong & \downarrow^{\varphi_0} & \cong & \downarrow^{\varphi_1} & \cong & \downarrow^{T_{\varphi_{-1}}} \\ E_1^{\sharp} & \xrightarrow{g^{\sharp}} & E_0^{\sharp} & \xrightarrow{f^{\sharp}} & E_{-1}^{\sharp} & \xrightarrow{T(h^{\sharp}) \circ \lambda_X} & T(E_1^{\sharp}), \end{split}$$

that is, $(\varphi_{-1}, \varphi_0, \varphi_1) = (\varphi_1^{\sharp} \varpi, \varphi_0^{\sharp} \varpi, \varphi_{-1}^{\sharp} \varpi)$ is an isomorphism, then $[E_0, \varphi_0] = \left[E_{-1} \oplus E_1, \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \varphi_1 \\ \varphi_{-1} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right] \in GW^0(\mathcal{K}).$

The Witt group

 $W^0(\mathcal{K})$

of \mathcal{K} is the abelian group generated by isometry classes $[X, \varphi]$ of inner product spaces (X, φ) in \mathcal{K} , subject to the relation (1) above and $[E_0, \varphi_0] = 0$ for every inner product space $(\varphi_{-1}, \varphi_0, \varphi_1)$ in the category of exact triangles as in (2).

3.1. The functor \mathcal{T} : dgCatWD \rightarrow TriD. Next we want to verify that the triangulated category of a dg category with weak equivalences and duality is canonically a triangulated category with duality. For that, consider the natural transformation in \mathscr{C}_k

 $\alpha_{B,X,Y}: B[BX,Y] \to [X,Y]: \ \alpha(b \otimes f)(x) = (-1)^{|b||f|} f(b \otimes x)$

where $b \in B$, $f \in [BX, Y]$ and $x \in X$. It is the unique admissible natural transformation of this shape in the sense of [KML71]. For $B = T = k[1] \in \mathscr{C}_k$, this map is an isomorphism.

Let $\mathcal{A} = (\mathcal{A}, \sharp, \varpi)$ be a dg category with duality. To simplify notation, we may write (\sharp, ϖ) for the duality of $\mathscr{C}_k^{[0]}\mathcal{A}$ though it is strictly speaking $(\vee \otimes \sharp, \operatorname{can} \otimes \varpi)$ where $(\vee, \operatorname{can}) = ([, 1], \operatorname{can})$ is the duality on $\mathscr{C}^{[0]}$. We define a natural transformation $\lambda : \sharp \to T \sharp T$ of functors $\mathscr{C}_k^{[0]}\mathcal{A} \to \mathscr{C}_k^{[0]}\mathcal{A}$ by

$$\lambda_{AX} = \lambda \otimes 1 : (AX)^{\sharp} = [A, \mathbb{1}] \otimes X^{\sharp} \to T \sharp T(AX) = T[TA, \mathbb{1}] \otimes X^{\sharp}$$

where $\lambda : [A, \mathbb{1}] \to T[TA, \mathbb{1}]$ is the inverse of $\alpha_{T,A,\mathbb{1}}$.

Lemma 3.6. Let $\mathscr{A} = (\mathcal{A}, w, \sharp, \varpi)$ be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality. Then the datum

$$\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A} = (\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}, \sharp, \varpi, \lambda)$$

defines a triangulated category with duality.

Proof. As a localization of a category with duality $Z^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ where ϖ is a natural weak equivalence, the datum $(\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}, \sharp, \varpi)$ defines a category with duality where ϖ is a natural isomorphism. We are left with checking conditions (1) and (3) of Definition 3.1.

For the first condition, consider the following diagram in \mathscr{C}_k

$$BX \xrightarrow{\operatorname{can}_{BX}^{Y}} [[BX, Y], Y]$$

$$1 \otimes \operatorname{can}_{X}^{Y} \swarrow \qquad \uparrow^{\alpha_{B, [BX, Y], Y}}$$

$$B[[X, Y], Y] \xrightarrow{1 \otimes [\alpha_{B, X, Y}, 1]} B[B[BX, Y], Y].$$

The diagram commutes for every X, Y, B in \mathscr{C}_k . This can be checked directly by a diagram chase. Alternatively, it also follows from Kelly-MacLane's Coherence Theorem [KML71] as there is a unique admissible natural transformation $BX \to [[BX, Y], Y]$. Since in $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$, we have $\varpi_{\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}} = \bigvee_{\mathscr{C}_k} \otimes \varpi_{\mathscr{A}}$ and $\lambda = \lambda \otimes id$, commutativity of the diagram for B = T and Y = 1 implies the commutativity of diagram (1) in Definition 3.1.

We are left with checking condition (3) of Definition 3.1. The condition is invariant under isomorphisms of exact triangles. Therefore, it suffices to check it for the standard triangles (1.7). For that, let $f: X \to Y$ be a morphism in $Z^0 \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$, and consider the commutative diagram



in which the outer diagram is the map of exact sequences (2.1) tensored with f. The rest of the diagram is given by the definition of the cone C(f). As usual, the squares with a \Box -sign in it are bicartesian. Applying the (exact) duality functor \sharp to the lower two squares of the diagram yields the lower part of the following commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} (TY)^{\sharp} & & \stackrel{i \otimes 1}{\longrightarrow} C(TY)^{\sharp} & \stackrel{p \otimes 1}{\longrightarrow} T(TY)^{\sharp} \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ ([1,T]Y)^{\sharp} & & \stackrel{([i,1]\otimes 1)^{\sharp}}{\longrightarrow} ([C,T]Y)^{\sharp} & \stackrel{([p,1]\otimes 1)^{\sharp}}{\longrightarrow} ([T,T]Y)^{\sharp} \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ (\gamma_{1}\otimes f)^{\sharp} & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ (TX)^{\sharp} & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ \end{array}$$

The upper vertical arrows are given by the natural isomorphism $\tilde{\beta} : ([B, D]Y)^{\sharp} \to B(DY)^{\sharp}$ with $B, D \in \mathscr{C}_k$ and $Y \in \mathscr{C}_k \mathcal{A}$. For $Y = E \otimes Y_0$ with $E \in \mathscr{C}_k$ and $Y_0 \in \mathcal{A}$ the natural transformation $\tilde{\beta}$ has the form

$$\tilde{\beta} = \beta \otimes id : B(DE)^{\sharp} \otimes Y_0^{\sharp} \to ([B, D]E)^{\sharp} \otimes Y_0^{\sharp}$$

where $\beta: B \otimes (DE)^{\sharp} \to ([B, D]E)^{\sharp}$ is the unique admissible natural transformation of this shape in \mathscr{C}_k . It is given by the formula

$$\beta: B[DE, A] \to [[B, D]E, A]: \beta(b \otimes f)(g \otimes e) = (-1)^{|f||b| + |g||b|} f(g(b) \otimes e).$$

The map β is an isomorphism for $A, B, D, E \in \mathscr{C}_k$.

Composition of the left two vertical arrows is $(Tf)^{\sharp}$. This is because $(\gamma_1 \otimes f)^{\sharp} = (Tf)^{\sharp} \circ (\gamma_1 \otimes 1_Y)^{\sharp}$ reducing the claim to verifying $(\gamma_1 \otimes 1_Y)^{\sharp} \circ \beta = 1_{(TY)^{\sharp}}$ which can be checked within \mathscr{C}_k where, by adjunction, it boils down to the composition

$$T \otimes \mathbb{1} \xrightarrow{\gamma_1 \otimes 1} [\mathbb{1}, T] \otimes \mathbb{1} \xrightarrow{e} T$$

being the usual isomorphism $T \otimes \mathbb{1} \cong T$. Similarly, the composition of the right two vertical arrows is the natural transformation $\alpha : T \sharp T \to \sharp$, inverse of λ . Again, this can be checked within \mathscr{C} where, by adjunction, it boils down to the composition

$$\mathbb{1} \otimes T \stackrel{\gamma_{-1} \otimes 1}{\longrightarrow} [T, T]T \stackrel{e}{\longrightarrow} T$$

being the usual identification $\mathbb{1} \otimes T \cong T$. The outer part of the diagram shows that the following is an exact triangle in \mathcal{TA}

$$(TY)^{\sharp} \xrightarrow{(Tf)^{\sharp}} (TX)^{\sharp} \xrightarrow{h^{\sharp}} (Cf)^{\sharp} \xrightarrow{\lambda_Y \circ g^{\sharp}} T(TY)^{\sharp}.$$

By Remark 3.2, we are done.

Next, we want to show that the Grothendieck-Witt group of a pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences and duality \mathscr{A} coincides with the Grothendieck-Witt groups of its derived category $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$ when $1/2 \in \mathscr{A}$. For that, let $\mathscr{A} = (\mathcal{A}, w, \sharp, \varpi)$ be a pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences and duality, and consider the localization functor

sending weak equivalences to isomorphisms. This functor preserves dualities and thus defines a form functor between categories with duality. Similarly, consider the functor

$$(3.5) S_2 Z^0 \mathcal{A} \to \Delta \mathcal{T} \mathscr{A}$$

from exact sequences in \mathcal{A} to exact triangles in \mathcal{TA} . It sends an exact sequence

to the exact triangle

(3.7)
$$X \xrightarrow{f} Y \xrightarrow{g} Z \xrightarrow{q \circ r^{-1}} TX$$

where the maps $q = q(f,g) : C(f) \to TX$ and $r = r(f,g) : C(f) \to Z$ are defined by the commutative diagram

$$(3.8) \qquad \qquad X \xrightarrow{f} Y \xrightarrow{g} Z$$
$$i \otimes 1 \qquad \Box \qquad V \xrightarrow{r(f,g)} CX \xrightarrow{r(f,g)} C(f)$$
$$p \otimes 1 \qquad \qquad TX,$$

in which the square is cocartesian, and the map $r(f,g) : C(f) \to Z$ is an isomorphism in $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$ since it is an admissible epimorphism in $\mathscr{C}_k\mathcal{A}$ with contractible kernel CX. It follows from the following lemma that the functor (3.5) equipped with the identity as duality compatibility map is a form functor between categories with dualities.

Lemma 3.7. Given an exact sequence (3.6) in a pretriangulated dg category \mathcal{A} , then the following diagram is a map of exact triangles in $\mathcal{T}\mathcal{A}$

$$\begin{array}{c} Z^{\sharp} \xrightarrow{g^{\sharp}} Y^{\sharp} \xrightarrow{f^{\sharp}} X^{\sharp} \xrightarrow{\bar{q} \circ \bar{r}^{-1}} T(Z^{\sharp}) \\ \downarrow^{1} \qquad \downarrow^{1} \qquad \downarrow^{1} \qquad \downarrow^{1} \\ Z^{\sharp} \xrightarrow{g^{\sharp}} Y^{\sharp} \xrightarrow{f^{\sharp}} X^{\sharp} \xrightarrow{T(h^{\sharp}) \circ \lambda_{X}} T(Z^{\sharp}) \end{array}$$

where $h = q \circ r^{-1}$ with q = q(f,g), r = r(f,g) and $\bar{q} = q(g^{\sharp}, f^{\sharp})$, $\bar{r} = r(g^{\sharp}, f^{\sharp})$ defined by the commutative diagram (3.8).

Proof. The only thing that needs justification is the commutativity of the right hand square in the diagram, that is, the commutativity of

$$\begin{split} X^{\sharp} & \xleftarrow{\bar{r}} C(g^{\sharp}) \xrightarrow{\bar{q}} T(Z^{\sharp}) \\ \downarrow^{\lambda_X} & \downarrow^1 \\ T^{\sharp}TX \xrightarrow{T(q^{\sharp})} T^{\sharp}C(f) \xleftarrow{T(r^{\sharp})} T(Z^{\sharp}). \end{split}$$

This diagram commutes due to the following two facts.

Firstly, in the following diagram

$$(3.9) \qquad \qquad \begin{array}{c} \sharp X \searrow \stackrel{i \otimes 1}{\longrightarrow} C \sharp X \xrightarrow{p \otimes 1} T \sharp X \\ \downarrow \lambda_X \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow 1 \\ T \sharp T X \xrightarrow{T \sharp (p \otimes 1)} T \sharp C X \xrightarrow{T \sharp (i \otimes 1)} T \sharp X \end{array}$$

the left square anti-commutes and the right square commutes where the middle vertical map is the natural transformation

$$C \otimes X^{\sharp} \xrightarrow{\gamma_0 \otimes 1} [C, T] \otimes X^{\sharp} \xrightarrow{\beta \otimes 1} T[C, 1] \otimes X^{\sharp}$$

with $\gamma_0: C \to [C, T]$ the map defined in §2.1 and $\beta: T[C, \mathbb{1}] \to [C, T]$ the (admissible) natural transformation

$$\beta: A[B, E] \to [B, AE] : \beta(a \otimes f)(b) = a \otimes f(b).$$

Since all maps in diagram (3.9) are of the form $? \otimes 1_{X^{\sharp}}$, (anti-) commutativity can be checked in \mathscr{C}_k with X = k in which case it is a direct verification.
Secondly, given a commutative diagram in an exact category



with exact rows and columns, let E be the push-out of the upper left corner, and P the pull-back of the lower right corner, and let $c_{ij} : E \to A_{ij}$, and $p_{ij} : A_{ij} \to P$, i = 0, 1, 2, i + j = 2, be the natural maps given by the universal properties defining E and P. Then we have the equation

$$(3.10) p_{11}c_{11} = p_{20}c_{20} + p_{02}c_{02}.$$

This can be checked by composing both sides of the equation with $P \to A_{12}$, $P \to A_{21}$, $A_{01} \to E$ and $A_{10} \to E$.

We apply the second fact to the diagram obtained by tensoring the (column) exact sequence (1.1) with the (row) exact sequence (g^{\sharp}, f^{\sharp}) . Then $E = C(g^{\sharp})$, $c_{20} = \bar{q}, c_{02} = \bar{r}$. Applying the exact functor T^{\sharp} to diagram (3.8) and using the first fact, we obtain $P = T^{\sharp}C(f)$, $p_{20} = T(r^{\sharp})$, and $p_{02} = -T(q^{\sharp})\lambda_X$. In the equation (3.10), the map $p_{11}c_{11}$ is zero in \mathcal{TA} because it factors through the object $C^{\sharp}Y$ which is zero in \mathcal{TA} . Therefore, equation (3.10) yields

$$0 = T(r^{\sharp}) \circ \bar{q} - T(q^{\sharp})\lambda_X \circ \bar{r}.$$

Since we have checked that the functors (3.4) and (3.5) preserve dualities, we obtain a well-defined map of abelian groups

$$(3.11) \qquad \qquad GW_0(\mathscr{A}) \to GW^0(\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}) : [A,\varphi] \mapsto [A,\varphi]$$

for any dg category with weak equivalences and duality \mathscr{A} . Recall that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathcal{A}$ means that \mathcal{A} is a dg category over a $\mathbb{Z}[1/2]$ -algebra.

Proposition 3.8. Let $\mathscr{A} = (\mathcal{A}, w, \sharp, \varpi)$ be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. Then the map (3.11) is an isomorphism of abelian groups

$$GW_0(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\cong} GW^0(\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}).$$

Proof. We can assume \mathcal{A} to be pretriangulated. For a small category \mathcal{C} , write $\pi_0 \mathcal{C}$ for its set of connected components, that is, the quotient of the set of objects of \mathcal{C} modulo the relation (generated by) $A \sim B$ whenever there is a morphism $A \to B$ in \mathcal{C} . If \mathcal{C} is a symmetric monoidal category, then $\pi_0 \mathcal{C}$ is an abelian monoid, and we write $K_0(\mathcal{C})$ for the Grothendieck group of the abelian monoid $\pi_0 \mathcal{C}$. Recall from Section 1.9 the category \mathcal{C}_h of symmetric forms in a category with duality \mathcal{C} . So, $K_0 \mathcal{C}_h$ denotes the Grothendieck group of symmetric forms in \mathcal{C} , that is, the Grothendieck group of $\pi_0(\mathcal{C}_h)$ in case \mathcal{C}_h is symmetric monoidal.

From Definitions 1.39 and 3.5, we have a map of short exact sequences of abelian groups

$$\begin{array}{cccc} K_0(wS_2\mathcal{A})_h & \longrightarrow & K_0(w\mathcal{A})_h & \longrightarrow & GW_0(\mathscr{A}) & \longrightarrow & 0 \\ & & & & & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ & & & & \downarrow & & \downarrow & \\ K_0(i\Delta\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A})_h & \longrightarrow & K_0(i\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A})_h & \longrightarrow & GW^0(\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}) & \longrightarrow & 0 \end{array}$$

where the vertical maps are induced by the functors (3.4) and (3.5) and the left horizontal maps are the differences of the two sides of the equations in Definitions 1.39 (3) and 3.5 (2). Let R_1 and R_2 be the images of the top left and the bottom left horizontal maps. So, R_1 is generated by $[E_0, \varphi_0] - H(E_{-1})$ where (E_*, φ_*) is a symmetric space in the category of exact sequences as in Definition 1.39 (3), and R_2 is generated by $[E_0, \varphi_0] - H(E_{-1})$ where (E_*, φ_*) is a symmetric space in the category of exact triangles as in Definition 3.5 (2). By Lemma 3.9 below, the middle vertical arrow in the diagram is an isomorphism. Hence, we are left with showing that the induced map $R_1 \to R_2$ is surjective.

Let (E_*, φ_*) be a symmetric space in the category of exact triangles in $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$ as in Definition 3.5 (2). Recall that we can assume \mathcal{A} to be pretriangulated, so $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A} = w^{-1}H^0\mathcal{A}$. By the definition of exact triangles in $w^{-1}H^0\mathcal{A}$, we can assume that (f, g, h) is an exact triangle in $H^0 \mathcal{A}$. The maps φ_i are fractions $\varphi_i = \alpha_i s_i^{-1}$ where $\alpha_i : A_i \to E_{-i}^{\sharp}$ and $s_i : A_i \to E_i$ are weak equivalences in \mathcal{A} . By the calculus of fractions, there is a map $a: A_{-1} \to A_0$ in $Z^0 \mathcal{A}$ such that $s_0 f =$ as_{-1} and $\alpha_0 a = g^{\sharp} \alpha_{-1}$ in $H^0 \mathcal{A}$. Furthermore, replacing $a : A_{-1} \to A_0$ with the homotopy equivalent $(a, i): A_{-1} \to A_0 \oplus CA_{-1}$, we can assume that $a: A_{-1} \to A_0$ is an inflation with quotient map $b: A_0 \to A_1 = A_0/A_{-1}$ in $Z^0 \mathcal{A}$. The pair (s_{-1}, s_0) extends to a map of exact triangles (s_{-1}, s_0, s_1) in $H^0\mathcal{A}$ from A_* to E_* . Since s_{-1} and s_0 are weak equivalences, so is s_1 . Therefore, the symmetric exact triangle (E_*, φ_*) is isometric in $w^{-1}H^0\mathcal{A}$ to the symmetric exact triangle (A_*, ψ_*) where $\psi_i = s_i^{\sharp} \varphi_i s_i$. In particular, $[E_0, \varphi_0] - H(E_{-1}) = [A_0, \psi_0] - H(A_{-1})$ in R_2 . We will show that the latter expression is in the image of $R_1 \to R_2$. Since $(s_1^{\sharp} \varphi_{-1} s_{-1}, s_0^{\sharp} \varphi_0 s_0, s_{-1} 1^{\sharp} \varphi_1 s_1) = (s_1^{\sharp} \alpha_{-1}, s_0^{\sharp} \alpha_0, \alpha_{-1}^{\sharp} s_1)$ in $w^{-1} H^0 \mathcal{A}$, we can assume that the components of $(\psi_{-1}, \psi_0, \psi_1) = (s_1^{\sharp} \alpha_{-1}, s_0^{\sharp} \alpha_0, \alpha_{-1}^{\sharp} s_1)$ are maps in $Z^0 \mathcal{A}$. In $H^0\mathcal{A}$ we have $\psi_0 a = s_0^{\sharp} \alpha_0 a = s_0^{\sharp} g^{\sharp} \alpha_{-1} = b^{\sharp} s_1^{\sharp} \alpha_{-1} = b^{\sharp} \psi_{-1}$. Therefore, the difference $\psi_0 a - b^{\sharp} \psi_{-1} : A_{-1} \to A_0^{\sharp}$ in $Z^0 \mathcal{A}$ factors through an injective object of $Z^0\mathcal{A}$. Since $a: A_{-1} \to A_0$ is an inflation in the Frobenius exact category $Z^0\mathcal{A}$, there is a map $\varepsilon: A_0 \to A_0^{\sharp}$ in $Z^0 \mathcal{A}$ which factors through that injective object such that $(\psi_0 + \varepsilon)a = b^{\sharp}\psi_{-1}$ in $Z^0\mathcal{A}$. Replacing ψ_0 with $\psi_0 + \varepsilon$ we can assume that $\psi_0 a = b^{\sharp} \psi_{-1}$ in $Z^0 \mathcal{A}$ without changing the image of ψ_0 in $H^0 \mathcal{A}$. From the last equality, we see that the pair (ψ_{-1}, ψ_0) induces a unique map on quotients $\psi_{0/-1}: A_1 \to A_0^{\sharp}$ in $Z^0 \mathcal{A}$. In particular, we have two maps of exact triangles in $w^{-1}H^0\mathcal{A}$ extending (ψ_{-1}, ψ_0) , namely $(\psi_{-1}, \psi_0, \psi_1)$ and $(\psi_{-1}, \psi_0, \psi_{0/-1})$. Since ψ_1 and $\psi_{0/-1}$ are isomorphisms in $w^{-1}H^0\mathcal{A}$, [Bal00, Lemma 4.6] provides us with an endomorphism $x : A_{-1}^{\sharp} \to A_{-1}^{\sharp}$ such that $x^3 = 0$ and $\psi_{0/-1} = (1+x)\psi_1$. In $w^{-1}H^0\mathcal{A}$, the maps $\psi_{0/-1} + \psi_{-1}^{\sharp} \varpi = (2+x)\psi_1$ and $\psi_0 + \psi_0^{\sharp} \varpi = 2\psi_0$ are isomorphisms since x is nilpotent and $1/2 \in \mathcal{A}$. It follows that

$$(\gamma_{-1},\gamma_0,\gamma_1) = \frac{1}{2}(\psi_{0/-1}^{\sharp}\varpi_{A_{-1}} + \psi_{-1},\psi_0 + \psi_0^{\sharp}\varpi_{A_0},\psi_{0/-1} + \psi_{-1}^{\sharp}\varpi_{A_1})$$

is a symmetric weak equivalence in the category of exact sequences in $(Z^0\mathcal{A}, w, \sharp, \varpi)$. This defines an element $[A_0, \gamma_0] - H(A_{-1}) \in R_1$ which maps to $[A_0, \psi_0] - H(A_{-1}) \in R_2$ since $\psi_0 = \gamma_0$ in $w^{-1}H^0\mathcal{A}$.

Lemma 3.9. Let $\mathscr{A} = (\mathcal{A}, w, \sharp, \varpi)$ be a pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. Then the functor $(w\mathcal{A})_h \to (i\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A})_h : (X, \varphi) \mapsto (X, \varphi)$ induces a bijection

$$\pi_0 \ (w\mathcal{A})_h \xrightarrow{\cong} \pi_0 \ (i\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A})_h.$$

Proof. The map is surjective by the following argument. Let (A, α) be a symmetric space in $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A} = w^{-1}Z^0\mathcal{A}$. We can write α as a fraction $\alpha = a \circ s^{-1}$ with $a: B \to A^{\sharp}$ and $s: B \to A$ weak equivalences in \mathcal{A} . Let $\varphi = (s^{\sharp}a + a^{\sharp}\varpi s)/2: B \to B^{\sharp}$. Then (B, φ) is a symmetric weak equivalence in \mathcal{A} , and $s: B \to A$ defines an isometry in $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$ between (B, φ) and (A, α) .

The map in the lemma is injective by the following argument. Let (A, α) and (B, β) be objects of $(w\mathcal{A})_h$, and let $[fs^{-1}]$ be an isometry in $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$ from (A, α) to (B, β) where $f : E \to B$ and $s : E \to A$ are weak equivalences in \mathcal{A} . Using the calculus of fractions in $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A} = w^{-1}H^0\mathcal{A}$, we can assume that $\alpha_0 = s^{\sharp}\alpha s$ and $\beta_0 = f^{\sharp}\beta f$ are homotopic. Therefore, the difference $\alpha_0 - \beta_0$ factors as $E \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} I \xrightarrow{\delta} E^{\sharp}$ where I is an injective object in $Z^0\mathcal{A}$. Then the pair $(E \oplus I, \varphi)$ with

$$\varphi = \begin{pmatrix} \beta_0 & \delta/2 \\ \delta^{\sharp} \varpi/2 & 0 \end{pmatrix} : E \oplus I \to E^{\sharp} \oplus I^{\sharp}$$

defines an object of $(w\mathcal{A})_h$. The string of maps in $(w\mathcal{A})_h$

$$(A,\alpha) \stackrel{s}{\leftarrow} (E,\alpha_0) \stackrel{\binom{1}{\varepsilon}}{\xrightarrow{}} (E \oplus I,\varphi) \stackrel{\binom{1}{0}}{\xleftarrow{}} (E,\beta_0) \stackrel{f}{\rightarrow} (B,\beta)$$

shows that $[A, \alpha] = [B, \beta] \in \pi_0(w\mathcal{A})_h$.

Definition 3.10 (Shifted dualities). Let $\mathcal{K} = (\mathcal{K}, \sharp, \varpi, \lambda)$ be a triangulated category with duality. The first shifted triangulated category with duality $\mathcal{K}^{[1]} = (\mathcal{K}, \sharp^{[1]}, \varpi^{[1]}, \lambda^{[1]})$ has the same underlying triangulated category as \mathcal{K} and

$$\sharp^{[1]} = T \sharp, \quad \varpi^{[1]} = -\lambda_{\sharp} \circ \varpi, \quad \lambda^{[1]} = -T(\lambda)$$

One checks that this defines indeed a triangulated category with duality in the sense of Definition 3.1. Similarly, we have a triangulated category with duality $\mathcal{K}^{[-1]} = (\mathcal{K}, \sharp^{[-1]}, \varpi^{[-1]}, \lambda^{[-1]})$ defined by

$$\sharp^{[-1]} = \sharp T, \quad \varpi^{[-1]} = (\lambda^{\sharp})^{-1} \circ \varpi, \quad \lambda^{[-1]} = -\lambda_T.$$

Iterating, we obtain triangulated categories with duality $\mathcal{K}^{[n]}$ for $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ where $\mathcal{K}^{[n]} = (\mathcal{K}^{[n-1]})[1]$ for n > 0, $\mathcal{K}^{[0]} = \mathcal{K}$, and $\mathcal{K}^{[n]} = (\mathcal{K}^{[n+1]})^{[-1]}$ for n < 0. For $m, n \in \mathbb{Z}$, there are natural isomorphisms $(\mathcal{K}^{[m]})^{[n]} \cong \mathcal{K}^{[m+n]}$. For instance

$$(id, 1, \lambda) : \mathcal{K}^{[0]} = (\mathcal{K}, \sharp, \varpi, \lambda) \xrightarrow{\cong} (\mathcal{K}^{[-1]})^{[1]} = (\mathcal{K}, T \sharp T, \lambda_{T \sharp T} \circ (\lambda^{\sharp})^{-1} \circ \varpi, T \lambda_{T}).$$

A morphism $(F, \rho, \varphi) : \mathcal{K}_1 \to \mathcal{K}_2$ of triangulated categories with duality induces another such morphism $(F, \rho, \varphi^{[1]}) : \mathcal{K}_1^{[1]} \to \mathcal{K}_2^{[1]}$ where $\varphi^{[1]} = T(\varphi) \circ \rho_{\sharp}$.

Definition 3.11. For a triangulated category with duality \mathcal{K} , one defines the *shifted* Witt and Grothendieck-Witt groups for $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ by

$$W^n(\mathcal{K}) = W^0(\mathcal{K}^{[n]})$$
 and $GW^n(\mathcal{K}) = GW^0(\mathcal{K}^{[n]}).$

Finally, we want to construct for $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ equivalences of triangulated categories with duality $\mathcal{T}(\mathscr{A}^{[n]}) \simeq (\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A})^{[n]}$. It suffices to construct such equivalences for $n = \pm 1$. Consider the following (admissible) natural transformation in \mathscr{C}_k

$$\beta: A[B, E] \to [B, AE] : \beta(a \otimes f)(b) = a \otimes f(b)$$

For A = T, E = 1 and $\mathscr{A} \in \text{dgCatWD}$ it defines a natural transformation $\beta : T \not =$ $\not = T$ which for $A \otimes X \in \mathscr{C}_k \otimes \mathcal{A}$ is

$$\beta \otimes 1 : T[A, \mathbb{1}] \otimes X^{\sharp} \to [A, T] \otimes X^{\sharp}.$$

Similarly, the natural isomorphism in \mathscr{C}_k

$$\phi: [EA, BD] \xleftarrow{\text{can}}{\cong} [E, B][A, D] \xrightarrow{\varphi} [A, [E, B]D]$$

with E = T and B = D = 1 defines a natural isomorphism of functors $\phi : \sharp T \to \sharp_{T^{-1}}$ which for $A \otimes X \in \mathscr{C}_k \otimes \mathcal{A}$ is

$$\phi \otimes 1 : [TA, 1] \otimes X^{\sharp} \to [A, [T, 1]] \otimes X^{\sharp}$$

where $T^{-1} = [T, 1] \cong k[-1].$

Lemma 3.12. Let \mathscr{A} be a pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences and duality. Then $(id, 1, \beta)$ and $(id, 1, \phi)$ define equivalences of triangulated categories with duality

$$(\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A})^{[1]} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathcal{T}(\mathscr{A}^{[1]}) \quad and \quad (\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A})^{[-1]} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathcal{T}(\mathscr{A}^{[-1]}).$$

Proof. The functors (id, 1) are equivalences of triangulated categories. So, the only thing to prove is commutativity of the two diagrams in Definition 3.4. Since all natural transformations involved are of the form $? \otimes 1$ it suffices to check the commutativity of the corresponding diagrams in \mathscr{C}_k .

For the first equivalence, the first diagram in Definition 3.4 is is the outer diagram in

where the dashed arrow is the (admissible) natural transformation

$$\varepsilon_B : [B, E] \to [TB, TE] : \varepsilon_B(f)(t \otimes b) = (-1)^{|t||f|} t \otimes f(b)$$

with B = [A, 1] and E = 1. Commutativity of this diagram can be checked directly, or by coherence. Similarly, commutativity of the second diagram in Definition 3.4 for the first equivalence requires us to check commutativity in \mathscr{C}_k of the diagram

$$\begin{array}{c|c} B[A,E] \xleftarrow{1\otimes\alpha} BT[TA,E] \xleftarrow{c\otimes1} TB[TA,E] \\ & & & \downarrow \\ & & \downarrow \\ \beta \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ & & \downarrow \\ [A,BE] \xleftarrow{\alpha} T[TA,BE]. \end{array}$$

with B = T and E = 1. Since $c_{T,T} = -1$, commutativity of the diagram follows from coherence, or by diagram chase. This proves the first equivalence of triangulated categories with duality in the lemma. The second is proved similarly, and we omit the details.

MARCO SCHLICHTING

Corollary 3.13. Let \mathscr{A} be a pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathcal{A}$. Then for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ there are natural isomorphisms

$$GW_0^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) \cong GW^n(\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}) \quad and \quad W^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) \cong W^n(\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}).$$

Remark 3.14. Let $(\mathcal{K}, \sharp, \varpi, \lambda)$ be a triangulated category with duality. Our definition of the Witt and Grothendieck-Witt groups $W^n(\mathcal{K})$ and $GW^n(\mathcal{K})$ of \mathcal{K} agree with Balmer's and Walter's definitions in [Bal00] and [Wal03b]. This is because for an inner product space in the category $\Delta \mathcal{K}$ of exact triangles as in Definition 3.5 (2), the map $(T\varphi_{-1})h: Z \to T(Z^{\sharp})$ is a symmetric map in the category with duality

$$(\mathcal{K}, T\sharp, \lambda_{\sharp}\varpi) = (\mathcal{K}, \sharp^{[1]}, -\varpi^{[1]}) \stackrel{T}{\simeq} \mathcal{K}^{[-1]}$$

which shows that the map from our definition to Balmer's definition is well-defined. Conversely, Balmer shows in [Bal00] that any $(\mathcal{K}, T\sharp, \lambda_{\sharp}\varpi)$ -symmetric map $Z \to T(Z^{\sharp})$ is part of a symmetric space in $\Delta \mathcal{K}$ as in Definition 3.5 (2) (with $\varphi_{-1} = id$). This shows that the map from his definition to our definition is well-defined. Since both maps are the identity maps on generators, they are isomorphism.

4. The multi-simplicial \mathcal{R}_{\bullet} -construction

4.1. Waldhausen's iterated S_{\bullet} -construction. To fix notation and to motivate our construction of the Grothendieck-Witt spectrum in Definition 5.4 below, we remind the reader of Waldhausen's definition of the K-theory of an exact category with weak equivalences [Wal85] and its explicit deloopings [Wal85, Proposition 1.5.3]. Recall that an exact category with weak equivalences is a pair (\mathscr{E}, w) where \mathscr{E} is an exact category and w is a set of morphisms in \mathscr{E} called weak equivalences satisfying certain properties; see for instance [Sch10b, §2.2]. It is called pointed if it is equipped with a choice of zero object in \mathscr{E} which we will call base point.

For an integer $n \ge 0$, let [n] be the totally ordered set

$$[n] = \{0 < 1 < \dots < n\}$$

of n+2 elements. As usual, an ordered set is considered as a category with unique non-identity morphism $a \to b$ if a < b. Let $\operatorname{Ar}[n] = \operatorname{Fun}([1], [n])$ be the category of arrows in [n]. For an integer $n \ge 0$ and a pointed exact category with weak equivalences (\mathscr{E}, w) , Waldhausen constructs another pointed exact category with weak equivalences $S_n\mathscr{E}$ as the full subcategory of $\operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{Ar}[n], \mathscr{E})$ of those functors

$$A: \operatorname{Ar}[n] \to \mathscr{E}: (p \le q) \mapsto A_{p,q}$$

for which $A_{p,p} = 0$ (the base point zero object of \mathscr{E}) for all $p \in [n]$ and $0 \to A_{p,q} \to A_{p,r} \to A_{q,r} \to 0$ is an admissible short exact sequence in \mathscr{E} whenever $p \leq q \leq r \in [n]$. A sequence in $S_n \mathscr{E}$ is exact if it is exact at each (p,q)-spot and a morphism in $S_n \mathscr{E}$ is a weak equivalence if it is a weak equivalence at each (p,q)-spot, $p \leq q \in [n]$.

Recall [Wal85, p. 330 Definition] that the K-theory space of (\mathscr{E}, w) is the loop space $\Omega | wS_{\bullet} \mathscr{E} |$ of the topological realization of the simplicial category $n \mapsto wS_n \mathscr{E}$. The connective K-theory spectrum $K(\mathscr{E}, w)$ of (\mathscr{E}, w) is the spectrum

$$\{|w\mathscr{E}|, |wS_{\bullet}\mathscr{E}|, ..., |wS_{\bullet}^{(n)}\mathscr{E}|, ...\}$$

with bonding maps defined in [Wal85, p. 341] where $i \mapsto S_i^{(n)} \mathscr{E}$ denotes the *n*-th iterate of the S_{\bullet} -construction:

$$S_i^{(n)}\mathscr{E} = \underbrace{S_i \dots S_i}_n \mathscr{E}.$$

This is a positive Ω -spectrum [Wal85, Proposition 1.5.3 and Remark thereafter]. It was given the structure of a symmetric spectrum in [GH99].

4.2. The \mathcal{R}_{\bullet} -construction. Recall [Sch10b, §2.3] that an exact category with weak equivalences and duality is a quadruple $(\mathscr{E}, w, *, \eta)$ with (\mathscr{E}, w) an exact category with weak equivalences and $(\mathscr{E}, *, \eta)$ a category with duality such that $* : (\mathscr{E}^{op}, w) \to (\mathscr{E}, w)$ is an exact functor (in particular, $*(w) \subset w$) and $\eta : id \to **$ is a natural weak equivalence. Note that if \mathscr{E} is an exact category with weak equivalences and duality, the category $w\mathscr{E}$ of weak equivalences in \mathscr{E} is a category with duality.

For an integer $n \ge 0$, let <u>n</u> be the totally ordered set of 2n + 1 elements

$$\underline{n} = \{ n' < (n-1)' < \dots < 0' < 0 < \dots < n \}.$$

This is a category with unique (strict) duality $n \leftrightarrow n'$. The assignment $[n] \mapsto \underline{n}$ defines a simplicial category with strict duality where for $\theta : [n] \to [m]$ the induced map $\underline{\theta} : \underline{n} \to \underline{m}$ is $\underline{\theta}(i) = \theta(i)$ and $\underline{\theta}(i') = \theta(i)'$. Let $\operatorname{Ar}(\underline{n}) = \operatorname{Fun}([1], \underline{n})$ be the category of arrows in \underline{n} . When n varies, this is a simplicial category with strict duality.

For a pointed exact category with weak equivalences and duality $\mathscr{E},$ the assignment

$$[n] \mapsto \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{Ar}(\underline{n}), \mathscr{E})$$

is a pointed simplicial exact category with duality with base point the unique functor $\operatorname{Ar}(\underline{n}) \to 0$. As in Section 4.1, we write

$$\mathcal{R}_n \mathscr{E} \subset \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{Ar}(\underline{n}), \mathscr{E})$$

for the full subcategory of those objects $A : \operatorname{Ar}(\underline{n}) \to \mathscr{E}$ for which $A_{i,i} = 0$ (the base point zero object of \mathscr{E}), and for which for all $i \leq j \leq k \in \underline{n}$ the sequence $0 \to A_{i,j} \to A_{i,k} \to A_{j,k} \to 0$ is a admissible exact sequence in \mathscr{E} . A map or sequence in $\mathcal{R}_n \mathscr{E}$ is a weak equivalence or admissible exact sequence if it is at each (p,q)-spot for all objects (p,q) of $\operatorname{Ar}(\underline{n})$. The duality on $\operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{Ar}(\underline{n}),\mathscr{E})$ makes $\mathcal{R}_n \mathscr{E}$ into a pointed exact category with weak equivalences and duality. Varying n, we obtain a simplicial pointed exact category with weak equivalences and duality $\mathcal{R}_{\bullet} \mathscr{E}$. The simplicial category $\mathcal{R}_{\bullet} \mathscr{E}$ is the edge-wise subdivision [Sch10b, §2.4], [Wal85, §1.9] of Waldhausen's S_{\bullet} -construction and was denoted $S_{\bullet}^{\bullet} \mathscr{E}$ in [Sch10b].

The inclusion $\iota : [n] \subset \underline{n} : i \mapsto i$ induces a functor of simplicial exact categories with weak equivalences $\mathcal{R}_{\bullet} \mathscr{E} \to S_{\bullet} \mathscr{E} : A \mapsto A \circ \iota$ and thus a map $(w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet} \mathscr{E})_h \to wS_{\bullet} \mathscr{E}$ as the composition

(4.1)
$$(w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}\mathscr{E})_h \xrightarrow{(A,\varphi)\mapsto A} w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}\mathscr{E} \xrightarrow{A\mapsto A\iota} wS_{\bullet}\mathscr{E}.$$

where C_h is the category of symmetric forms in C; see Section 1.9.

4.3. Homotopy pull-backs. Let $f : X \to Z$ and $g : Y \to Z$ be maps of topological spaces. Then the homotopy pull-back of the diagram $X \to Z \leftarrow Y$ is the topological space

$$X \stackrel{h}{\times} Y = \{(x, \sigma, y) \in X \times Z^{I} \times Y | f(x) = \sigma(0), g(y) = \sigma(1) \}$$

equipped with the topology making it a subspace of $X \times Z^I \times Y$ where Z^I is the space of paths $I \to Z$ in Z and I is the unit interval $[0,1] \subset \mathbb{R}$. It is equipped with the two projections maps $p_X : X \underset{Z}{\overset{h}{\times}} Y \to X : (x,\sigma,y) \mapsto x$ and $p_Y : X \underset{Z}{\overset{h}{\times}} Y \to Y : (x,\sigma,y) \mapsto y$ making the square



commute up to (a preferred) homotopy.

The homotopy pull-back is associative in the sense that for a diagram $X \to Z \leftarrow Y \to U \leftarrow V$, we have

$$(X \stackrel{h}{\underset{Z}{\times}} Y) \stackrel{h}{\underset{U}{\times}} V = X \stackrel{h}{\underset{Z}{\times}} (Y \stackrel{h}{\underset{U}{\times}} V).$$

If $g: Y = \text{pt} \to Z$ is the inclusion of the base point of Z then $X \underset{Z}{\overset{h}{\times}}$ pt is the homotopy fibre of $f: X \to Z$. If $f: X = \text{pt} \to Z$ and $g: Y = \text{pt} \to Z$ are the base point inclusions then $\text{pt} \underset{Z}{\overset{h}{\times}}$ pt is the loop space ΩZ of Z.

4.4. The Grothendieck-Witt space. The *Grothendieck-Witt space* of a pointed exact category with weak equivalences and duality \mathscr{E} was defined in [Sch10b, §2.7 Definition 3] as the homotopy fibre of the topological realization of the map (4.1), that is, it is the homotopy fibre product

(4.2)
$$|(w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}\mathscr{E})_{h}| \xrightarrow[|wS_{\bullet}\mathscr{E}|]{}^{h} \text{ pt.}$$

For $i \geq 0$, we write $GW_i(\mathscr{E})$ for the *i*-th homotopy group of the pointed topological space (4.2).

Inclusion of degree zero simplices defines a map $(w\mathscr{E})_h = (w\mathcal{R}_0\mathscr{E})_h \to (w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}\mathscr{E})_h$ of simplicial categories such that the composition

$$(4.3) \qquad (w\mathscr{E})_h \to (w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}\mathscr{E})_h \to wS_{\bullet}\mathscr{E}$$

is trivial (because $wS_0\mathscr{E} = \mathrm{pt}$ is the one-object one-morphism category). This induces a canonical map from $|(w\mathscr{E})_h|$ to the Grothendieck-Witt space (4.2) of \mathscr{E} which should be thought of as some kind of a group completion map (it really is a group completion if \mathscr{E} is a split exact category over $\mathbb{Z}[\frac{1}{2}]$ with weak equivalences the set of isomorphisms; see Appendix A). 4.5. The multi-simplicial \mathcal{R}_{\bullet} -construction. For a pointed exact category with weak equivalences and duality \mathscr{E} , we write $\mathcal{R}_{\bullet\cdots\bullet}^{(n)}\mathscr{E}$ for the *n*-th iterate of the \mathcal{R}_{\bullet} -construction. This is the *n*-simplicial pointed exact category with weak equivalences and duality

$$\mathcal{R}_{k_1,\ldots,k_n}^{(n)}\mathscr{E}=\mathcal{R}_{k_1}\mathcal{R}_{k_2}\ldots\mathcal{R}_{k_n}\mathscr{E},$$

which is the full pointed exact subcategory with weak equivalences and duality of

$$\operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{Ar}(\underline{k_1}) \times \operatorname{Ar}(\underline{k_2}) \times \cdots \times \operatorname{Ar}(\underline{k_n}), \mathscr{E})$$

consisting of those functors $A : \operatorname{Ar}(\underline{k_1}) \times \operatorname{Ar}(\underline{k_2}) \times \cdots \times \operatorname{Ar}(\underline{k_n}) \longrightarrow \mathscr{E}$ for which for all r, s = 1, ..., n and all $i_r \leq j_r \in \underline{k_r}, r \neq s$, the functor

$$A_{(i_1,j_1),\dots(i_{s-1},j_{s-1}),\bullet,(i_{s+1},j_{s+1}),\dots(i_n,j_n)} : \operatorname{Ar}(\underline{k_s}) \to \mathscr{E}$$

is an object of $\mathcal{R}_{k_s}\mathscr{E}$. Weak equivalences and admissible exact sequences are those maps and sequences of diagrams which are weak equivalences and admissible exact sequences when evaluated at every object of $\operatorname{Ar}(\underline{k_1}) \times \cdots \times \operatorname{Ar}(\underline{k_n})$. We denote by $\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{E}$ the diagonal of the multi-simplicial pointed exact category with weak equivalences and duality $\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet\cdots}\mathscr{E}$.

If we replace \mathscr{E} with $\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{E}$ in the sequence (4.3) we obtain the sequence of pointed topological spaces

(4.4)
$$|(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{E})_{h}| \longrightarrow |(w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{E})_{h}| \longrightarrow |wS_{\bullet}\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{E}|$$

with trivial composition.

Proposition 4.1. Let \mathscr{E} be a pointed exact category with weak equivalences and duality. Then for all $n \ge 1$, the sequence (4.4) of pointed topological spaces is a homotopy fibration.

Proof. We will use the fact that a sequence of pointed simplicial spaces which is degree-wise a homotopy fibration with connected base induces a homotopy fibration after topological realization [Wal78, Lemma 5.2]. By [Sch10b, §3 Remark 7], for every integer $q \ge 0$, the sequence

$$|(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{E})_h| \longrightarrow |(w\mathcal{R}_q\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{E})_h| \longrightarrow |wS_q\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{E}|$$

is a homotopy fibration when n = 1. In particular, for all integers $p \ge 0$ and $n \ge 1$, the sequence

$$|(w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}\mathcal{R}_{p}^{(n-1)}\mathscr{E})_{h}| \longrightarrow |(w\mathcal{R}_{q}\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}\mathcal{R}_{p}^{(n-1)}\mathscr{E})_{h}| \longrightarrow |wS_{q}\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}\mathcal{R}_{p}^{(n-1)}\mathscr{E}|$$

is a homotopy fibration. Since the base of that fibration is connected as it is homotopy equivalent to the connected space $|wS_qS_{\bullet}\mathcal{R}_p^{(n-1)}\mathscr{E}|$ (cf. [Sch10b, §2.4 Lemma 1]), the realization of the sequence in the *p*-direction (which is the first sequence above) is a homotopy fibration. By the same argument, realizing the first sequence in the *q*-direction yields the homotopy fibration (4.4).

Composing the second map in (4.4) with the homotopy equivalence

$$|wS_{\bullet}\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}^{(n)}\mathscr{E}| \xrightarrow{\sim} |wS_{\bullet}S_{\bullet}^{(n)}\mathscr{E}| : A \mapsto A\iota$$

of [Sch10b, §2.4 Lemma 1], we obtain the following.

Corollary 4.2. Let \mathscr{E} be a pointed exact category with weak equivalences and duality. Then for every integer $n \geq 1$, the sequence

$$|(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{E})_h| \longrightarrow |(w\mathcal{R}^{(1+n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{E})_h| \longrightarrow |wS^{(1+n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{E}|$$

is a homotopy fibration of pointed topological spaces.

4.6. The $\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}$ -construction for dg categories. Let $\mathscr{A} = (\mathcal{A}, w, \sharp, \varpi)$ be a pointed pretriangulated (or just exact) dg category with weak equivalences and duality. Then the quadruple $Z^{0}\mathscr{A} = (Z^{0}\mathcal{A}, w, \sharp, \varpi)$ is a pointed exact category with weak equivalences and duality, and therefore, the constructions and results above apply to $Z^{0}\mathscr{A}$. But it will be useful to stay within the category of dg categories. So, we will make $\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{i}\mathcal{A}$ into a dg category with weak equivalences and duality for $\mathcal{A} \in \text{dgCatWD}_{*}$ even when \mathcal{A} is not exact.

For a pointed dg category with duality \mathcal{A} , the assignment

$$[n] \mapsto \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{Ar}(\underline{n}), \mathcal{A})$$

is a pointed simplicial dg-category with duality with base point the unique functor $\operatorname{Ar}(\underline{n}) \to 0$. We write

$$\mathcal{R}_n \mathcal{A} \subset \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{Ar}(\underline{n}), \mathcal{A})$$

for the full dg subcategory of those objects $A : \operatorname{Ar}(\underline{n}) \to \mathcal{A}$ for which $A_{i,i} = 0$, and for which for all $i \leq j \leq k \in \underline{n}$ the sequence $0 \to A_{i,j} \to A_{i,k} \to A_{j,k} \to 0$ is exact. Recall that exact sequences in a dg category are defined even if the dg category itself is not exact. The duality on $\operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{Ar}(\underline{n}), \mathcal{A})$ makes $\mathcal{R}_n \mathcal{A}$ into a dg-category with duality. Varying n, we obtain a pointed simplicial dg category with duality $\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}\mathcal{A}$. For a pointed dg category with weak equivalences and duality $\mathscr{A} = (\mathcal{A}, w)$, we obtain a pointed simplicial dg category with weak equivalences and duality

$$n \mapsto \mathcal{R}_n \mathscr{A} = (\mathcal{R}_n \mathcal{A}, w)$$

corresponding the the (saturation of the) localization pair $(\mathcal{R}_n \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R}_n \mathcal{A}^w)$.

To define the iterated \mathcal{R}_{\bullet} -construction for dg categories, write $\mathcal{R}_{\bullet\cdots\bullet}^{(n)}\mathcal{A}$ for the *n*-simplicial dg-category with duality which in degree (k_1, \ldots, k_n) is the full dg-subcategory

$$\mathcal{R}_{k_1,\ldots,k_n}^{(n)}\mathcal{A} \subset \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{Ar}(\underline{k_1}) \times \operatorname{Ar}(\underline{k_2}) \times \cdots \times \operatorname{Ar}(\underline{k_n}), \mathcal{A})$$

of those dg-functors $A : \operatorname{Ar}(\underline{k_1}) \times \operatorname{Ar}(\underline{k_2}) \times \cdots \times \operatorname{Ar}(\underline{k_n}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}$ for which for all r, s = 1, ..., n and all $i_r \leq j_r \in \underline{k_r}, r \neq s$, the dg functor

$$A_{(i_1,j_1),\dots(i_{s-1},j_{s-1}),\bullet,(i_{s+1},j_{s+1}),\dots(i_n,j_n)} : \operatorname{Ar}(\underline{k_s}) \to \mathcal{A}$$

is an object of $\mathcal{R}_{k_s}\mathcal{A}$. We denote by $\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathcal{A}$ the diagonal of the multi-simplicial dg category with duality $\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet\cdots\bullet}\mathcal{A}$. If $\mathscr{A} = (\mathcal{A}, w)$ is a dg category with weak equivalences and duality then so is

$$\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{A} = (\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathcal{A}, w)$$

given by the (saturation of the) localization pair $(\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathcal{A}^w)$.

Remark 4.3. For an exact dg category with weak equivalences and duality $(\mathcal{A}, w, \sharp, \varpi)$, we have equalities of categories with duality

(4.5)
$$w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}^{(n)}\mathcal{A} = wZ^0\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}^{(n)}\mathcal{A} = w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}^{(n)}Z^0\mathcal{A}.$$

44

This lets us apply the results obtained for exact categories with weak equivalences and duality to exact dg categories with weak equivalences and duality. Note, however, that in general, the exact category $Z^0 \mathcal{R}_k^{(n)} \mathcal{A}$ has fewer exact sequences as the exact category $\mathcal{R}_k^{(n)} Z^0 \mathcal{A}$, and so, $\mathcal{R}_k \mathcal{R}_l \mathcal{A} \neq \mathcal{R}_{k,l}^{(2)} \mathcal{A}$ even when \mathcal{A} is exact, and thus, for dg categories, $\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}^{(n)} \mathcal{A}$ is not the iterate of $\mathcal{R}_{\bullet} \mathcal{A}$.

Using equality (4.5), we obtain from Corollary 4.2 the following.

Proposition 4.4. Let \mathscr{A} be a pointed exact dg category with weak equivalences and duality. Then for every integer $n \ge 1$, the sequence (4.3) induces a homotopy fibration of pointed topological spaces

$$|(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{A})_{h}| \longrightarrow |(w\mathcal{R}^{(1+n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{A})_{h}| \longrightarrow |wS^{(1+n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{A}|.$$

Remark 4.5. Recall (Section 4.4) that the Grothendieck-Witt space of an exact dg category with weak equivalences and duality is the homotopy fibre of the second map in Proposition 4.4 when n = 0. Proposition 4.4 therefore lets us deduce results for the functors $(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet})_h$ from the knowledge of similar results for the functors $wS^{(n)}_{\bullet}$, that is for K-theory, and for the Grothendieck-Witt space functor. For example, an exact dg form functor $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$ between pretriangulated dg categories with weak equivalences and duality which induces isomorphisms of K-groups and GW_i -groups for $i \geq 0$ induces homotopy equivalences $|(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{A})_h| \to |(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{B})_h|$ for all $n \geq 0$. In the sequel, we will frequently apply this argument.

Corollary 4.6. Let \mathscr{A} be a pointed pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences and duality. Then for every integer $n \ge 1$, the map

$$\pi_i|(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{A})_h| \longrightarrow \pi_i|(w\mathcal{R}^{(n+1)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{A})_h|$$

is an isomorphism for $0 \leq i < n$ and a surjection for i = n > 0. In particular, for every $n \geq 1$, the (composite) map $\pi_0|(w\mathscr{A})_h| \longrightarrow \pi_0|(w\mathscr{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{A})_h|$ induces an isomorphism

$$W_0(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\cong} \pi_0 | (w \mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet} \mathscr{A})_h |.$$

Proof. The first statement follows from Proposition 4.4 together with the fact that $\pi_i |wS_{\bullet}^{(n)}\mathscr{A}| = 0$ for $0 \leq i < n$. For the second statement, recall that the dg functor $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ is an equivalence for \mathcal{A} pretriangulated. Therefore,

$$W_0(\mathscr{A}) = W_0(Z^0 \mathscr{A}^{\mathrm{ptr}}, w) \stackrel{\cong}{\leftarrow} W_0(Z^0 \mathscr{A}, w) \stackrel{\cong}{\to} \pi_0|(w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet} \mathscr{A})_h|$$

where the last isomorphism is [Sch10b, §3 Proposition 3 and Remark 5].

Recall from Section 1.8 the category \mathcal{A}^w of *w*-acyclic objects in an exact category with weak equivalences (\mathcal{A}, w) .

Proposition 4.7. Let $(\mathcal{A}, w, \lor, \operatorname{can})$ be a pointed pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences and duality. Let $v \subset \mathcal{A} \simeq \mathcal{A}^{\operatorname{ptr}}$ be a larger set of weak equivalences such that $(\mathcal{A}, v, \lor, \operatorname{can})$ is also a pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences and duality. Then for $n \geq 1$ the functor $|(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)})_h|$ applied to the commutative

square of pointed pretriangulated dg categories with weak equivalences and duality



yields a homotopy cartesian square of pointed topological spaces with contractible lower left corner.

Proof. Since \mathcal{A} is pretriangulated, the map $\mathcal{A} \to \mathscr{C}_k^{[0]} \mathcal{A}$ is an equivalence of dg categories with duality. Therefore, the statement of the proposition holds for \mathcal{A} if and only if it holds for $\mathscr{C}_k^{[0]} \mathcal{A}$. We will prove the proposition for the latter category.

The pretriangulated dg category with duality $\mathscr{C}_k^{[0]}\mathcal{A}$ has a symmetric cone in the sense of [Sch10b, §4 Definition 4] given by the functors $E \mapsto PE = [C, \mathbb{1}]E$ and $E \mapsto CE$, the natural admissible epimorphism $[i, 1] : PE = [C, \mathbb{1}]E \to [\mathbb{1}, \mathbb{1}]E \cong E$, the natural admissible monomorphism $i : E \to CE$, and the natural map $P(E^{\vee}) \to (CE)^{\vee}$ which for E = AX with $A \in \mathscr{C}$ and $X \in \mathcal{A}$ is given by

$$\operatorname{can} \otimes 1_{X^{\vee}} : [C, \mathbb{1}][A, \mathbb{1}]X^{\vee} \to [CA, \mathbb{1}]X^{\vee}$$

where can : $[C, \mathbb{1}][A, \mathbb{1}] \to [CA, \mathbb{1}]$ is the map (1.10). Therefore, the square in the proposition induces homotopy cartesian squares of K-theory and Grothendieck-Witt spaces with contractible lower left corner, by [Wal85, Theorem 1.6.4] and [Sch10b, §4 Theorem 6]. By Proposition 4.4, we are done.

In the proof of the space-level version (Proposition 4.9) of the algebraic Bott sequence (Theorem 6.1), we will need the following lemma.

Lemma 4.8. Let $(F, \varphi) : \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$ be an exact dg form functor of pretriangulated dg categories with weak equivalences and duality. Suppose that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B}$ and that there are an exact pointed dg functor $G : \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A}$ (no compatibility with dualities required) and zig-zags of natural weak equivalences of pointed exact dg functors between FG and $id_{\mathscr{B}}$ and between GF and $id_{\mathscr{A}}$. Then for $n \geq 1$, the form functor (F, φ) induces homotopy equivalences of pointed spaces

$$|(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{A})_h| \xrightarrow{\sim} |(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{B})_h|.$$

Proof. Since the lemma also holds for K-theory (same proof as below), it suffices to show that $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$ induces a homotopy equivalence of Grothendieck-Witt spaces, by Proposition 4.4. The hypothesis of the lemma imply that the dg-functor $F: \mathrm{dgFun}(\mathscr{B}, \mathscr{A}) \to \mathrm{dgFun}(\mathscr{B}, \mathscr{B}) : H \mapsto F \circ H$ induces an equivalence of triangulated categories $w^{-1}H^0 \mathrm{dgFun}(\mathscr{B}, \mathscr{A}) \to w^{-1}H^0 \mathrm{dgFun}(\mathscr{B}, \mathscr{B})$ with inverse G. By Lemma 3.9, (F, φ) induces an isomorphism of abelian monoids

$$\pi_0 \ (w \operatorname{dgFun}(\mathscr{B}, \mathscr{A}))_h \xrightarrow{\cong} \pi_0 \ (w \operatorname{dgFun}(\mathscr{B}, \mathscr{B}))_h.$$

So, there is an object $(H, \psi) \in (w \operatorname{dgFun}(\mathscr{B}, \mathscr{A}))_h$ which under this isomorphism goes to $id_{\mathscr{B}} \in (w \operatorname{dgFun}(\mathscr{B}, \mathscr{B}))_h$. This means that there is a zigzag of natural weak equivalences between $(F, \varphi) \circ (H, \psi)$ and $id_{\mathscr{B}}$ compatible with forms. By [Sch10b, §2 Lemma 2], the dg form functors $(F, \varphi) \circ (H, \psi)$ and $id_{\mathscr{B}}$ induce homotopic maps on Grothendieck-Witt spaces. In particular, (F, φ) is surjective, and (H, ψ) is injective on higher Grothendieck-Witt groups $GW_i, i \geq 0$. By construction of H and the existence of G, there are zig-zags of weak equivalences of dg form functors between HF and $id_{\mathscr{A}}$ and between FH and $id_{\mathscr{B}}$. By the argument above (with (H, ψ) in place of (F, φ)), we see that (H, ψ) is also surjective and hence bijective on higher Grothendieck-Witt groups. From the previous paragraph it follows that (F, φ) induces isomorphisms $GW_i(\mathscr{A}) \to GW_i(\mathscr{B})$, $i \geq 0$.

The following proposition is a space-level version of the homotopy fibration in Theorem 6.1 below. Together with Corollary 4.11 it implies Karoubi's Fundamental Theorem [Kar80].

Let \mathscr{A} be a pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences and duality. The unique map $[1] \to [0]$ induces a duality preserving exact dg functor $I : \mathscr{A} \to Fun([1], \mathscr{A}) : A \mapsto 1_A$ whose composition with the cone functor of Section 2 has image in the full dg subcategory $(\mathscr{A}^{[1]})^w \subset \mathscr{A}^{[1]}$ of w-acyclic objects. In particular, the square in the following proposition commutes.

Proposition 4.9. Let \mathscr{A} be a pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences and duality. Assume that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. Then for $n \geq 1$ the functor $|(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet})_h|$ applied to the commutative square of exact dg form functors

yields a homotopy cartesian square of pointed topological spaces with contractible lower left corner. In particular, for $n \ge 1$ we obtain a homotopy fibration of pointed spaces

$$|(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{A})_h| \to |(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\operatorname{Fun}([1],\mathscr{A}))_h| \to |(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{A}^{[1]})_h|.$$

Proof. Let $w \subset Z^0 \mathcal{A}$ be the set of weak equivalences in \mathscr{A} , and let $v \subset Z^0 \operatorname{Fun}([1], \mathcal{A})$ be the set of morphisms f in $\operatorname{Fun}([1], \mathcal{A})$ for which $\operatorname{Cone}(f)$ is a weak equivalence in \mathscr{A} . By Proposition 4.7, the diagram

induces a homotopy cartesian square of $|(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet})_h|$ spaces with contractible lower left corner. The functor $\mathcal{A} \to \operatorname{Fun}([1], \mathcal{A})$ factors through the full subcategory $\operatorname{Fun}([1], \mathcal{A})^v \subset \operatorname{Fun}([1], \mathcal{A})$ of v-acyclic objects. By [Sch10b, §2 Lemma 2], the induced form functor $(G, id) : (\mathcal{A}, w) \to (\operatorname{Fun}([1], \mathcal{A})^v, w)$ yields an equivalence of Grothendieck-Witt spaces. More precisely, the form functor

$$(F,\varphi): (\operatorname{Fun}([1],\mathcal{A})^v \to \mathcal{A}: (f:A_0 \to A_1) \mapsto A_0$$

with duality compatibility map $\varphi_f = f^*$ defines an inverse up to homotopy of (G, id)in view of the identity $(F, \varphi) \circ (G, id) = id$ and the natural weak equivalences of form functors $(G, id) \circ (F, \varphi) \rightarrow id$ given by $(1_{A_0}, f)$ for $(f : A_0 \rightarrow A_1) \in$ Fun([1], \mathcal{A}). Similarly, (G, id) induces an equivalence of K-theory spaces, and hence of $|(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet})_h|$ spaces in view of Proposition 4.4.

MARCO SCHLICHTING

Finally, the dg form functor $(F, \varphi) = \text{Cone} : (\text{Fun}([1], \mathcal{A}, v) \to (\mathcal{A}^{[1]}, w) \text{ induces an equivalence of } |(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet})_h| \text{ spaces by Lemma 4.8 where } G : (\mathcal{A}, w) \to (\text{Fun}([1], \mathcal{A}), v) \text{ sends } X \text{ to the object } 0 \to X \text{ of Fun}([1], \mathcal{A}). \text{ We have } FG = id_{\mathcal{A}} \text{ and a zigzag of natural weak equivalences } id \to H \leftarrow GF \text{ where } H \text{ sends an object } f : X \to Y \text{ of Fun}([1], \mathcal{A}) \text{ to the object } \text{Cone}(id_X) \to \text{Cone}(f), \text{ and the natural weak equivalences are given by the natural maps from } f : X \to Y \text{ to } \text{Cone}(id_X) \to \text{Cone}(f) \text{ and from } 0 \to \text{Cone}(f) \text{ to Cone}(id_X) \to \text{Cone}(f). \square$

4.7. Hyperbolic and forgetful functors. Next, we want to identify the Grothendieck-Witt space of the upper right corner in the square of Proposition 4.9 with the K-theory space of \mathscr{A} .

For a dg category with weak equivalences \mathscr{A} (no duality given), the hyperbolic dg category with weak equivalences and duality is the dg category with weak equivalences

$$\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{A} \times \mathscr{A}^{op}$$

equipped with the strict duality $(A, B)^* = (B, A)$. Even if \mathscr{A} comes equipped with a duality, the duality on $\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A}$ does not dependent on it.

Let $\mathscr{A} = (\mathcal{A}, w, *, \operatorname{can})$ be a dg-category with weak equivalences and duality. The forgetful dg form functor $F : \mathscr{A} \to \mathcal{H}\mathscr{A}$ sends an object A of \mathscr{A} to the object (A, A^*) , a map f to (f, f^*) . It is equipped with the duality compatibility morphism $(1, \operatorname{can}) : (A^*, A^{**}) \to (A^*, A)$. If \mathscr{A} has direct sums, e.g., when \mathscr{A} is pretriangulated, then we have the hyperbolic dg form functor $\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}$ which sends an object (A, B) to $A \oplus B^*$ and a map (f, g) to the map $f \oplus g^*$. It is equipped with the duality compatibility morphism $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ \operatorname{can} & 0 \end{pmatrix} : B \oplus A^* \to A^* \oplus B^{**}$.

We also have an exact dg form functor

$$(4.6) (F,\varphi): \operatorname{Fun}([1],\mathscr{A}) \to \mathcal{H}\mathscr{A}: (f:A_0 \to A_1) \mapsto (A_0, A_1^*)$$

with duality compatibility map $(1, \operatorname{can}) : F(f^*) \to F(f)^*$.

Lemma 4.10. Let \mathscr{A} be a pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences and duality. Then for any integer $n \ge 1$, the functor (4.6) induces a homotopy equivalence of pointed topological spaces

$$|(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\operatorname{Fun}([1],\mathscr{A}))_h| \xrightarrow{\sim} |(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A})_h|.$$

Proof. Since the lemma holds for K-theory (same proof as below), we are reduced to showing that (4.6) induces a homotopy equivalence on Grothendieck-Witt spaces, in view of Proposition 4.4. It will be convenient to equip $Z^0 \operatorname{Fun}([1], \mathscr{A})$ with the exact structure where a sequence of functors $[1] \to \mathscr{A}$ is exact if it is exact in $Z^0 \mathscr{A}$ when evaluated at $0 \in [1]$ and $1 \in [1]$. The identity functor on $Z^0 \operatorname{Fun}([1], \mathscr{A})$ from the dg exact structure to this new exact structure induces a homotopy equivalence on Grothendieck-Witt spaces, by [Sch10b, §5.1 Lemma 7].

The inverse of (4.6) on Grothendieck-Witt spaces is given by the form functor

$$(4.7) \qquad (G,\psi): \mathcal{H}\mathscr{A} \to \operatorname{Fun}([1],\mathscr{A}): (A_0,A_1) \mapsto (0:A_0 \to A_1^*)$$

with duality compatibility map $(\operatorname{can}_{A_1}, 1_{A_0^*}) : G(A_1, A_0) \to G(A_0, A_1)^*$. This is because $(1, \operatorname{can}) : id_{\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A}} \to (F, \varphi) \circ (G, \psi)$ is a natural weak equivalence of form functors and thus induces a homotopy of associated maps on Grothendieck-Witt spaces [Sch10b, §2.8 Lemma 2]. Moreover, $(G, \psi) \circ (F, \varphi)$ is naturally weakly equivalent to the duality preserving functor $(f : A_0 \to A_1) \mapsto (0 : A_0 \to A_1)$ which

induces, up to homotopy, the same map on Grothendieck-Witt spaces as the identity functor, by Additivity [Sch10b, §3 Theorem 5], in view of the natural short exact sequence in $Fun([1], \mathscr{A})$

$$(0 \to A_1) \to (f : A_0 \to A_1) \to (A_0 \to 0).$$

Consider the sequence of functors

(4.8)
$$(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\operatorname{Fun}([1],\mathscr{A}))_{h} \xrightarrow{(A,\varphi)\mapsto A} w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\operatorname{Fun}([1],\mathscr{A}) \longrightarrow w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{A\mapsto A\iota} wS^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{A}$$

in which the non-labelled map is the functor $\operatorname{Fun}([1], \mathscr{A}) \to \operatorname{Fun}([0], \mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{A}$ induced by the inclusion $[0] \to [1] : 0 \mapsto 0$.

Corollary 4.11. For every pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences and duality \mathscr{A} and every integer $n \geq 1$, the composition of the maps in (4.8) induces a homotopy equivalence of pointed spaces

$$|(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\operatorname{Fun}([1],\mathscr{A}))_h| \xrightarrow{\sim} |wS^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{A}|.$$

Proof. The composition in (4.8) factors as

 $(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\operatorname{Fun}([1],\mathscr{A}))_h \xrightarrow{(F,\varphi)} (w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A})_h = (\mathcal{H}w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{A})_h \longrightarrow w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{A} \longrightarrow wS^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{A}$ in which the first map induces a homotopy equivalence by Lemma 4.10, the second map, by [Sch10b, §2 Lemma 3], and the third map, by [Sch10b, §2 Lemma 1]. \Box

5. PRODUCTS AND THE GROTHENDIECK-WITT SPECTRUM

From now on, we will work over a commutative base ring k with $\frac{1}{2} \in k$. The purpose of this section is to construct the Grothendieck-Witt spectrum functor. This is a symmetric monoidal functor

$$GW: dgCatWD, \otimes \longrightarrow Sp, \land$$

from the category of small (pointed) dg categories with weak equivalences and duality to the category of symmetric spectra of topological spaces. For $\mathscr{A} \in \text{dgCatWD}$, the *n*-th space of the spectrum $GW(\mathscr{A})$ will be the pointed topological space

(5.1)
$$GW(\mathscr{A})_n = \left| i \mapsto \left(w \mathcal{R}_i^{(n)} \mathscr{A}^{(n)} \right)_h \right|$$

Here, $\mathscr{A}^{(n)}$ denotes the dg category with weak equivalences and duality

$$\mathscr{A}^{(n)} = \mathbb{Z}^n((\mathscr{C}^{[1]})^{\otimes n} \otimes \mathscr{A}),$$

where $\mathbb{Z}^n = \mathbb{Z} \times ... \times \mathbb{Z}$ is the n-fold cartesian product of the poset \mathbb{Z} equipped with its usual ordering; see Section 1.15. When $n \geq 1$, the category $\mathscr{A}^{(n)}$ is equivalent to the pretriangulated hull of \mathscr{A} equipped with the *n*-th shifted duality; *cf.* Remark 1.11 and Definitions 1.16 and 1.35. When n = 0, then it is simply \mathscr{A} itself. The bonding maps of the spectrum will be defined in (5.8) below. We will show in Theorem 5.5 and Proposition 5.6 that the spectrum $GW(\mathscr{A})$ is a positive Ω -spectrum with associated infinite loop space the Grothendieck-Witt space as defined in [Sch10b] of the pretriangulated hull of \mathscr{A} . Its negative homotopy groups are Balmer's Witt groups of the triangulated category of \mathscr{A} , by Proposition 6.3 and Corollary 3.13.

5.1. The Grothendieck-Witt functor as a symmetric sequence. Consider the following symmetric monoidal functors.

(a) $\operatorname{dgCatWD} \times \operatorname{dgCatWD} \to \operatorname{dgCatWD} : (\mathscr{B}, \mathscr{A}) \mapsto \mathscr{B} \otimes \mathscr{A}$

with monoidal compatibility map the duality preserving exact dg functor

 $(\mathscr{B}_1 \otimes \mathscr{A}_1) \otimes (\mathscr{B}_2 \otimes \mathscr{A}_2) \stackrel{id \otimes \tau \otimes id}{\longrightarrow} (\mathscr{B}_1 \otimes \mathscr{B}_2) \otimes (\mathscr{A}_1 \otimes \mathscr{A}_2)$

and unit map $\mu^{-1}: k \to k \otimes k$ where $\tau: \mathscr{A}_1 \otimes \mathscr{B}_2 \to \mathscr{B}_2 \otimes \mathscr{A}_1$ is the switch isomorphism and $\mu: k \otimes k \to k$ is the multiplication isomorphism $k \otimes k \to k$.

$$(b) \qquad \qquad \mathrm{poSetD}_{\mathrm{str}} \times \mathrm{dgCatD} \to \mathrm{dgCatD}$$

introduced in 1.15 (1.15).

(c)
$$(\operatorname{CatD}_{str})^{op} \times \operatorname{dgCatWD} \longrightarrow \operatorname{dgCatWD} : (D, \mathscr{A}) \mapsto \operatorname{Fun}(D, \mathscr{A})$$

with monoidal compatibility map the duality preserving exact dg functor

 $\Phi: \operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{D}_1, \mathscr{A}_1) \otimes \operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{D}_2, \mathscr{A}_2) \to \operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{D}_1 \times \mathcal{D}_2, \mathscr{A}_1 \otimes \mathscr{A}_2)$

and unit map $id : k \to \text{Fun}(\text{pt}, k) = k$ where $\Phi(A, B)_{D_1, D_2} = (A_{D_1}, B_{D_2})$ and $\Phi(f \otimes g)_{D_1, D_2} = f_{D_1} \otimes g_{D_2}$.

Composition of symmetric monoidal functors thus yields the symmetric monoidal functor

(5.2)
$$\begin{array}{c} (\operatorname{CatD}_{str})^{op} \times \operatorname{poSetD}_{str} \times \operatorname{dgCatWD} \times \operatorname{dgCatWD} \\ \stackrel{1 \times 1 \times (a)}{\longrightarrow} & (\operatorname{CatD}_{str})^{op} \times \operatorname{poSetD}_{str} \times \operatorname{dgCatWD} \\ \stackrel{1 \times (b)}{\longrightarrow} & (\operatorname{CatD}_{str})^{op} \times \operatorname{dgCatWD} \\ \stackrel{(c)}{\longrightarrow} & \operatorname{dgCatWD}. \end{array}$$

Remark 5.1. Let \mathcal{U}, \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{W} be symmetric monoidal categories, and assume that \mathcal{W} has finite coproducts commuting with the monoidal tensor product. The category \mathcal{W}^{Σ} of symmetric sequences in \mathcal{W} is endowed with a symmetric monoidal product; see Appendix B.12. If $F: \mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{W}$ is a symmetric monoidal functor with monoidal compatibility map $\Phi: F(U_1, V_1) \otimes F(U_2, V_2) \to F(U_1 \otimes U_2, V_1 \otimes V_2)$ and unit $\mathbb{1} \to F(\mathbb{1}, \mathbb{1})$, then any object U of \mathcal{U} defines a symmetric monoidal functor

$$F_U: \mathcal{V} \longrightarrow \mathcal{W}^{\Sigma}: V \mapsto \left\{ n \mapsto F(U^{\otimes n}, V) \right\}$$

where Σ_n acts on $U^{\otimes n}$ by permuting the tensor factors. The monoidal compatibility map is the map induced by the $\Sigma_n \times \Sigma_m$ -equivariant map

$$\Phi: F(U^{\otimes n}, V_1) \otimes F(U^{\otimes m}, V_2) \longrightarrow F(U^{\otimes n} \otimes U^{\otimes m}, V_1 \otimes V_2),$$

and the unit is the map $\Phi : \mathbb{1} \to F(\mathbb{1}, \mathbb{1}) = F(U^{\otimes 0}, \mathbb{1}).$

We apply Remark 5.1 to the symmetric monoidal functor (5.2) and the object $U = (\operatorname{Ar}(\underline{i}), \mathbb{Z}, \mathscr{C}^{[1]})$ of $(\operatorname{CatD}_{str})^{op} \times \operatorname{poSetD}_{str} \times \operatorname{dgCatWD}$ and obtain the symmetric monoidal functor

$$\mathrm{dgCatWD} \to \mathrm{dgCatWD}^{\Sigma} : \mathscr{A} \mapsto \left\{ n \mapsto \mathrm{Fun}\left(\mathrm{Ar}(\underline{i})^n, \mathbb{Z}^n((\mathscr{C}^{[1]})^{\otimes n} \mathscr{A})\right) \right\}$$

varying simplicially with $i \in \Delta$. If we restrict to the full dg subcategory $\mathcal{R}_i^{(n)}$ we obtain the symmetric monoidal functor

$$\mathrm{dgCatWD} \to \mathrm{dgCatWD}^{\Sigma}: \mathscr{A} \mapsto \left\{ n \mapsto \mathcal{R}_{i}^{(n)} \mathbb{Z}^{n}((\mathscr{C}^{[1]})^{\otimes n} \mathscr{A}) \right\}$$

which varies simplicially with $i \in \Delta$. Composing with the symmetric monoidal functor

 $\Delta^{op} \operatorname{dgCatWD} \to \operatorname{Top}_* : \mathscr{A}_{\bullet} \mapsto |i \mapsto (w \mathscr{A}_i)_h|,$

we obtain a symmetric monoidal functor

$$GW : \operatorname{dgCatWD} \to \operatorname{Top}^{\Sigma}_* : \mathscr{A} \mapsto \{n \mapsto GW(\mathscr{A})_n\}$$

with $GW(\mathscr{A})_n$ as in (5.1). Thus, we have defined $\Sigma_m \times \Sigma_n$ -equivariant maps

$$\cup: GW(\mathscr{A})_m \wedge GW(\mathscr{B})_n \longrightarrow GW(\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})_{m+n}$$

functorial in $\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B} \in \operatorname{dgCatWD}$ and a unit map $(S^0, \operatorname{pt}, \operatorname{pt}, \ldots) \to GW(k)$ making the usual associativity and unit diagrams commute.

5.2. The bonding maps in the Grothendieck-Witt spectrum. Let \mathscr{A} be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality. Write $\mathscr{A}^{(0,n)}$ for the dg category with weak equivalences and duality

$$\mathscr{A}^{(0,n)} = \mathbb{Z}^{1+n}(\mathscr{C}^{[0]} \otimes (\mathscr{C}^{[1]})^{\otimes n} \otimes \mathscr{A}).$$

The inclusions $(\mathscr{C}^{[1]})^{\otimes n} \subset \mathscr{C}^{[0]} \otimes (\mathscr{C}^{[1]})^{\otimes n} : E \mapsto \mathbb{1} \otimes E$ and $\mathbb{Z}^n \subset \mathbb{Z}^{1+n} : n \mapsto (0, n)$ define duality preserving inclusions $\mathscr{A}^{(n)} \to \mathscr{A}^{(0,n)}$ which are equivalences of pretriangulated dg categories with weak equivalences and duality for $n \geq 1$, and for n = 0 it is the inclusion of \mathscr{A} into its pretriangulated hull.

For $n \ge 0$, consider the composite functor

$$\operatorname{Fun}\left([1],\mathscr{A}^{(0,n)}\right) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Cone}} \mathscr{C}^{[1]}\mathscr{A}^{(0,n)} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{A}^{(1+n)}$$

where the second functor is the equivalence

$$\mathscr{C}^{[1]} \otimes \mathbb{Z}^{1+n} (\mathscr{C}^{[0]} \otimes \mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{(1.4)} \mathbb{Z}^{1+n} (\mathscr{C}^{[1]} \otimes \mathscr{C}^{[0]} \otimes \mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{\otimes} \mathbb{Z}^{1+n} (\mathscr{C}^{[1]} \otimes \mathscr{B})$$

with $\mathscr{B} = (\mathscr{C}^{[1]})^{\otimes n} \otimes \mathscr{A}$. For $n \geq 0$, consider the commutative diagram (5.3)

$$\begin{pmatrix} w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}^{(n)}\mathscr{A}^{(n)} \end{pmatrix}_{h} \xrightarrow{} \text{pt} \\ \downarrow \\ \begin{pmatrix} w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}^{(1+n)}\mathscr{A}^{(0,n)} \end{pmatrix}_{h} \xleftarrow{I} \begin{pmatrix} w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}^{(1+n)} \operatorname{Fun}([1], \mathscr{A}^{(0,n)}) \end{pmatrix}_{h} \xrightarrow{\sim} wS_{\bullet}^{(1+n)}\mathscr{A}^{(0,n)} \\ \downarrow \\ \downarrow \\ \begin{pmatrix} w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}^{(1+n)}(\mathscr{A}^{(1+n)})^{w} \end{pmatrix}_{h} \xleftarrow{} \begin{pmatrix} w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}^{(1+n)}\mathscr{A}^{(1+n)} \end{pmatrix}_{h}. \end{cases}$$

Proposition 5.2. Let \mathscr{A} be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. Then, in diagram (5.3), the lower square is homotopy cartesian with contractible lower left corner for $n \ge 0$, and the upper square is homotopy cartesian for $n \ge 1$.

Proof. For $n \ge 1$, the upper square is homotopy cartesian, in view of Proposition 4.4 and the equivalence $\mathscr{A}^{(n)} \to \mathscr{A}^{(0,n)}$. The lower square is homotopy cartesian, by Proposition 4.9.

It follows that the sequence

$$|(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{A}^{(n)})_h|, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}$$

defines a positive Ω -spectrum whenever $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. To give a functorial and explicit definition of the bonding maps of that spectrum, we introduce the following notation which will only be used in this section. For $n \geq 0$, let

$$\overline{K}(\mathscr{A})_{1+n} = |wS_{\bullet}^{(1+n)}\mathscr{A}^{(0,n)}|$$

$$\widetilde{K}(\mathscr{A})_{1+n} = |(w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}^{(1+n)}\operatorname{Fun}([1],\mathscr{A}^{(0,n)}))_{h}|$$

$$GW(\mathscr{A})_{1+n}^{w} = |(w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}^{(1+n)}(\mathscr{A}^{(1+n)})^{w})_{h}|$$

In this notation, diagram (5.3) becomes the commutative diagram (5.4)

$$GW(\mathscr{A})_n \longrightarrow GW(\mathscr{A})_{1+n} \longleftrightarrow \widetilde{K}(\mathscr{A})_{1+n} \longrightarrow \overline{K}(\mathscr{A})_{1+n} \longleftrightarrow \operatorname{pt}.$$

Let $\widetilde{GW}(\mathscr{A})_n$ be the homotopy limit of the lower row, that is,

$$\widetilde{GW}(\mathscr{A})_n = GW(\mathcal{A})_{1+n}^w \underset{GW(\mathcal{A})_{1+n}}{\overset{h}{\times}} \widetilde{K}(\mathcal{A})_{1+n} \underset{\overline{K}(\mathcal{A})_{1+n}}{\overset{h}{\times}} \text{pt}.$$

For $n \ge 0$, diagram (5.4) defines a map

(5.5)
$$GW(\mathscr{A})_n \to \widetilde{GW}(\mathscr{A})_n$$

Furthermore, base-point inclusions (which are homotopy equivalences)

$$\operatorname{pt} \to GW(\mathscr{A})_{1+n}^w \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{pt} \to \widetilde{K}(\mathcal{A})_{1+n} \xrightarrow{h}_{\overline{K}(\mathcal{A})_{1+n}} \operatorname{pt}$$

define a map

(5.6)
$$\Omega GW(\mathcal{A})_{1+n} = \operatorname{pt} \underset{GW(\mathcal{A})_{1+n}}{\overset{h}{\times}} \operatorname{pt} \longrightarrow \widetilde{GW}(\mathscr{A})_{n}.$$

Proposition 5.3. Let \mathscr{A} be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. Then the map (5.5) is an equivalence for all $n \ge 1$, and the map (5.6) is an equivalence for all $n \ge 0$.

Proof. This is a restatement of Proposition 5.2.

Recall that k denotes our base ring (assumed to satisfy $\frac{1}{2} \in k$) which the reader may take to be $\mathbb{Z}[1/2]$. The inner product space $k \otimes k \to k : x \otimes y \to xy$ defines an object $\langle 1 \rangle$ of the hermitian category $(wk)_h$, and thus a pointed map $\langle 1 \rangle : S^0 \to$ $|(wk)_h| = GW(k)_0$ sending the non-base point of S^0 to that object. It follows

from Proposition 5.3 that there is a pointed map $\epsilon : S^1 \to GW(k)_1$ whose adjoint $ad(\epsilon) : S^0 \to \Omega GW(k)_1$ makes the following diagram commutative up to homotopy

(5.7)
$$S^{0} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{ad}(\epsilon)} \Omega GW(k)_{1}$$

$$\stackrel{\langle 1 \rangle}{\swarrow} \simeq \downarrow^{(5.6)} GW(k)_{0} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \widetilde{GW}(k)_{0}.$$

We fix once and for all such a map ϵ .

Definition 5.4. For a dg category with weak equivalences and duality \mathscr{A} , we define its *Grothendieck-Witt spectrum* $GW(\mathscr{A})$ as the symmetric sequence

$$GW(\mathscr{A}) = \{ GW(\mathscr{A})_0, GW(\mathscr{A})_1, GW(\mathscr{A})_2, \dots \},\$$

where the space $GW(\mathscr{A})_n$ is the Σ_n space (5.1). The $\Sigma_n \times \Sigma_m$ -equivariant bonding maps of the spectrum are the maps

(5.8)
$$\epsilon_n : (S^1)^{\wedge n} \wedge GW(\mathscr{A})_m \xrightarrow{\epsilon^{\wedge n} \wedge 1} (GW(k)_1)^{\wedge n} \wedge GW(\mathscr{A})_m \xrightarrow{\cup} GW(\mathscr{A})_{n+m}.$$

Cup product (Section 5.1) makes the spectrum GW(k) into a commutative symmetric ring spectrum, and $GW(\mathscr{A})$ into a module spectrum over GW(k).

Theorem 5.5. Let \mathscr{A} be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. Then for all $m \ge 1$, $n \ge 0$, the adjoint of the map (5.8) is a homotopy equivalence of pointed topological spaces

$$\operatorname{ad}(\epsilon_n): GW(\mathscr{A})_m \xrightarrow{\sim} \Omega^n GW(\mathscr{A})_{n+m}.$$

In other words, the spectrum $GW(\mathscr{A})$ is a positive Ω -spectrum.

Proof. For $m \geq 1$, consider the diagram

in which the upper square (the one containing the bent arrow) is (5.7) smashed with $GW(\mathscr{A})_n$ and thus commutes up to homotopy, the lower zigzag are the maps (5.5) and (5.6), and the vertical arrows are cup-product maps. In particular, the two lower squares commute. Since, by Proposition 5.3, the lower two maps labelled "~" are equivalences, the composition of upper horizontal (bent) arrow and right vertical arrow is also an equivalence. But this composition is the map $\mathrm{ad}(\epsilon_1)$ in the proposition. In particular, it is an equivalence. Iterating, we obtain equivalences $\mathrm{ad}(\epsilon_n)$.

Proposition 5.6. Let \mathscr{A} be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. Then the inclusion $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ induces a stable equivalence

$$GW(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\sim} GW(\mathscr{A}^{\mathrm{ptr}}),$$

MARCO SCHLICHTING

and the infinite loop space $\Omega^{\infty}GW(\mathscr{A})$ of the spectrum $GW(\mathscr{A})$ is naturally equivalent to the Grothendieck-Witt space as defined in [Sch10b] of the exact category with weak equivalences and duality $Z^0(\mathscr{A}^{\text{ptr}})$. In particular, the map $(w\mathscr{A}^{\text{ptr}})_h = GW(\mathscr{A}^{\text{ptr}})_0 \to GW(\mathscr{A}^{\text{ptr}})$ induces an isomorphism

$$GW_0(\mathscr{A}) \cong GW_0(\mathscr{A}^{\mathrm{ptr}}) \xrightarrow{\cong} \pi_0 GW(\mathscr{A}^{\mathrm{ptr}}) \cong \pi_0 GW(\mathscr{A}).$$

Proof. For all $n \geq 1$, the inclusion $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}^{\text{ptr}}$ induces equivalences of dg categories with weak equivalences and duality $\mathscr{A}^{(n)} \to (\mathscr{A}^{\text{ptr}})^{(n)}$. If follows that $GW(\mathscr{A})_n \to GW(\mathscr{A}^{\text{ptr}})_n$ is a homotopy equivalence for $n \geq 1$. This implies that $GW(\mathscr{A}) \to GW(\mathscr{A}^{\text{ptr}})$ is a stable equivalence.

By Theorem 5.5, the spectrum $GW(\mathscr{A})$ is a positive Ω -spectrum. This implies that

$$\Omega^{\infty} GW(\mathscr{A}) \simeq \Omega GW(\mathscr{A})_1$$

which is equivalent to $\widetilde{GW}(\mathscr{A})_0$, by Proposition 5.3. The Grothendieck-Witt space of \mathscr{A}^{ptr} was defined in [Sch10b] as

$$(w\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}\mathscr{A}^{\mathrm{ptr}})_{h} \underset{K(\mathscr{A}^{\mathrm{ptr}})_{1}}{\overset{h}{\times}} \mathrm{pt},$$

that is, if we replace the upper left corner of diagram (5.3) with this Grothendieck-Witt space when n = 0, then the upper square of that diagram becomes homotopy cartesian. Since the lower square of that diagram is homotopy cartesian, by Proposition 5.2, the natural map from the Grothendieck-Witt space to $\widetilde{GW}(\mathscr{A})_0$ is an equivalence. The last statement follows from [Sch10b, §3 Proposition 3].

Example. Recall from Example 1.38 the dg category with weak equivalences and duality $(Ch^b \mathscr{E}, quis, *, \eta)$ associated with the k-linear exact category with duality $(\mathscr{E}, *, \eta)$. It follows from Proposition 5.6 together with [Sch10b, Proposition 6 and Remark 14] that the infinite loop space $\Omega^{\infty}GW(Ch^b \mathscr{E}, quis, *, \eta)$ is naturally homotopy equivalent to the Grothendieck-Witt space of $(\mathscr{E}, *, \eta)$ as defined in [Sch10a, Definition 4.4] provided $\frac{1}{2} \in k$. In particular, we have isomorphisms on homotopy groups for all $i \geq 0$

$$GW_i(\operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}, \operatorname{quis}, *, \eta) \cong GW_i(\mathscr{E}, *, \eta),$$

where the right hand side denotes the higher Grothendieck-Witt groups of \mathscr{E} as in [Sch10a, Definition 4.12]. It follows from Proposition 6.3 below that for i < 0 we have

$$GW_i(\operatorname{Ch}^b \mathscr{E}, \operatorname{quis}, *, \eta) \cong W^{-i}(\mathscr{E}, *, \eta),$$

where the right hand side denotes Balmer's triangular Witt groups of \mathscr{E} as defined in [Bal00].

5.3. Extended Functoriality. As a symmetric monoidal functor between closed symmetric monoidal categories, the Grothendieck-Witt spectrum functor comes equipped with a natural map of spectra

$$GW(dgFun(\mathscr{A},\mathscr{B})) \to Sp(GW(\mathscr{A}), GW(\mathscr{B}))$$

compatible with the internal composition on both sides. The map above is the adjoint of the map

 $GW(\operatorname{dgFun}(\mathscr{A},\mathscr{B})) \wedge GW(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\cup} GW(\operatorname{dgFun}(\mathscr{A},\mathscr{B}) \otimes \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{e} GW(\mathscr{B}).$

It follows that two exact dg form functors $(F_i, \varphi_i) : \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}, i = 1, 2$, which give rise to the same element in GW_0 dgFun $(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B})$ induce homotopic maps $GW(\mathscr{A}) \to GW(\mathscr{B})$ of Grothendieck-Witt spectra and the same map $GW_i(\mathscr{A}) \to GW_i(\mathscr{B})$ on higher Grothendieck Witt groups. This happens, for instance, when there is a natural isomorphism of dg form functors $(F_1, \varphi_1) \cong (F_2, \varphi_2)$.

Definition 5.7. Let \mathscr{A} be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. Recall from Section 1.12 the dg categories with weak equivalences and duality $\mathscr{A}^{[n]} = \mathscr{C}^{[n]} \mathscr{A}$. For $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, we define the *n*-th shifted Grothendieck-Witt spectrum of \mathscr{A} as

$$GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) = GW(\mathscr{A}^{[n]}),$$

and we denote by

$$GW_i^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) = \pi_i GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{A})$$

its *i*-th stable homotopy group. From Proposition 5.6 we infer that when i = 0 and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, this group is the Grothendieck-Witt group $GW_0^{[n]}(\mathscr{A})$ from Definition 1.39.

5.4. **Products.** We extend products to the shifted Grothendieck-Witt spectrum functors $GW^{[n]}$. For $\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B} \in \mathrm{dgCatWD}_k$ the following exact dg form functor

$$\mathscr{C}^{[n]}\mathscr{A}\otimes \mathscr{C}^{[m]}\mathscr{B} \xrightarrow{1 \otimes \tau \otimes 1} (\mathscr{C}^{[n]} \otimes \mathscr{C}^{[m]}) \mathscr{A} \mathscr{B} \xrightarrow{\mu_{n,m} \otimes 1} \mathscr{C}^{[n+m]} \mathscr{A} \mathscr{B}$$

induces upon application of the symmetric monoidal functor GW an associative product map of spectra

$$\cup: GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) \wedge GW^{[m]}(\mathscr{B}) \to GW^{n+m}(\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})$$

where $\tau : \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{C}^{[m]} \to \mathscr{C}^{[m]} \mathscr{A}$ is the switch map and $\mu_{n,m} : \mathscr{C}^{[n]} \otimes \mathscr{C}^{[m]} \to \mathscr{C}^{[n+m]}$ is the map $\mathscr{C}^{k[n]} \otimes \mathscr{C}^{k[m]} \to \mathscr{C}^{k[n] \otimes k[m]}$ from Section 1.9 with A = k[n] and B = k[m]followed by the map $\mathscr{C}^{k[n] \otimes k[m]} \to \mathscr{C}^{k[n+m]}$ induced by the multiplication map $k[n] \otimes k[m] \cong k[n+m]$. For symmetric spectra X, Y, there is a natural pairing map

$$\pi_i X \otimes \pi_j Y \to \pi_{i+j} (X \wedge Y) : a \otimes b \mapsto a \wedge b.$$

The cup-product of spectra above thus yields the (associative) pairing

$$\cup: GW_i^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) \otimes GW_j^{[m]}(\mathscr{B}) \to GW_{i+j}^{[n+m]}(\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}).$$

Proposition 5.8. Let $\mathscr{A} \in \operatorname{dgCatWD}_k$. Given elements $a \in GW_i^{[n]}(k)$ and $b \in GW_i^{[m]}(\mathscr{A})$, then in $GW_{i+i}^{[n+m]}(\mathscr{A})$ we have

$$a \cup b = (-1)^{ij} \langle -1 \rangle^{mn} \cup b \cup a$$

where $\langle -1 \rangle \in GW_0(k)$ is the inner product space $x, y \mapsto -xy$ over k.

Proof. For any symmetric spectra X, Y, the following diagram commutes up multiplication by $(-1)^{ij}$

$$\pi_i X \otimes \pi_j Y \longrightarrow \pi_{i+j} (X \wedge Y)$$

$$\downarrow^{\tau} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\tau}$$

$$\pi_j Y \otimes \pi_i X \longrightarrow \pi_{i+j} (Y \wedge X).$$

We apply this with $X = GW^{[n]}(k)$ and $Y = GW^{[m]}(\mathscr{A})$. By virtue of the symmetric monoidal functor GW, the diagram of spectra

$$\begin{array}{c} GW(\mathscr{C}^{[n]}) \wedge GW(\mathscr{C}^{[m]}\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\cup} GW(\mathscr{C}^{[n]} \otimes \mathscr{C}^{[m]}\mathscr{A}) \\ \downarrow^{\tau} & \tau \\ GW(\mathscr{C}^{[m]}\mathscr{A}) \wedge GW(\mathscr{C}^{[n]}) \xrightarrow{\cup} GW(\mathscr{C}^{[m]}\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{C}^{[n]}) \end{array}$$

commutes. Finally, consider the following diagram in $dgCatWD_k$

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathscr{C}^{[n]} \otimes \mathscr{C}^{[m]} \mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{=} (\mathscr{C}^{[n]} \otimes \mathscr{C}^{[m]}) \mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{\mu_{n,m} \otimes 1} \mathscr{C}^{[n+m]} \mathscr{A} \\ & & \downarrow \\ & & \downarrow \\ & & \downarrow \\ & & \downarrow \\ \mathscr{C}^{[m]} \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{C}^{[n]} \xrightarrow{1 \otimes \tau} (\mathscr{C}^{[m]} \otimes \mathscr{C}^{[n]}) \mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{\mu_{m,n} \otimes 1} \mathscr{C}^{[n+m]} \mathscr{A} \end{array}$$

in which the left hand diagram commutes, by coherence in a symmetric monoidal category, and the right hand diagram commutes up to natural isomorphism of dg form functors, by Lemma 1.33. On application of the functor GW_i , this diagram becomes commutative, and the right vertical map is cup-product with the central element $\langle -1 \rangle^{mn} \in GW_0(k)$.

Remark 5.9. Let $\mu \in GW_0^{[4]}(k)$ and $\mu' \in GW_0^{[-4]}(k)$ be the Grothendieck-Witt classes represented by the symmetric spaces $k[2] \otimes k[2] \rightarrow k[4] : x, y \mapsto xy$ and $k[-2] \otimes k[-2] \rightarrow k[-4] : x, y \mapsto xy$. Then $\langle 1 \rangle = \mu \cup \mu' = \mu' \cup \mu \in GW_0^{[0]}(k)$. Therefore, cup-product with μ induces an isomorphism

$$GW_i^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) \cong GW_i^{[n+4]}(\mathscr{A}) : x \mapsto \mu \cup x = x \cup \mu$$

with inverse the cup-product with μ' for all $\mathscr{A} \in \mathrm{dgCatWD}_k$.

Proposition 5.10. Let \mathscr{A} be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. Then the square $\Box_{\mathscr{A}}$ in Proposition 4.9 induces a homotopy cartesian square of Grothendieck-Witt spectra with contractible lower left corner.

Proof. By Proposition 5.6, we can assume \mathscr{A} to be pretriangulated. For such categories, the square $(\Box_{\mathscr{A}})^{(n)}$ is equivalent to the square $\Box_{\mathscr{A}^{[n]}}$. Therefore, by Proposition 4.9, the square $GW(\Box_{\mathscr{A}})_n$ is homotopy cartesian for all $n \geq 1$ with contractible lower left corner. Since the square $GW(\Box_{\mathscr{A}})$ is a square of positive Ω -spectra, this implies the claim.

6. Bott Sequence, Invariance and Localization

The homotopy cartesian square of Grothendieck-Witt spectra in Proposition 5.10 induces a functorial exact triangle in the homotopy category of spectra

$$GW(\mathscr{A}) \stackrel{I}{\longrightarrow} GW(\operatorname{Fun}([1], \mathscr{A})) \stackrel{\operatorname{Cone}}{\longrightarrow} GW^{[1]}(\mathscr{A}) \stackrel{\delta}{\longrightarrow} S^1 \wedge GW(\mathscr{A})$$

For $\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{C}_k^{[-1]}$, we obtain the boundary map $\delta : GW^{[0]}(k) \to S^1 \wedge GW^{[-1]}(k)$. We let $\eta \in GW_{-1}^{[-1]}(k)$ be the element

(6.1)
$$\eta = -\delta\langle 1 \rangle \in GW_{-1}^{[-1]}(k)$$

where $\langle 1 \rangle \in GW_0^{[0]}(k)$ is the Grothendieck-Witt class represented by the symmetric space $k \otimes k \to k : x \otimes y \mapsto xy$. The element η is represented by the map of spectra

$$S^0 \xrightarrow{\langle 1 \rangle} GW^{[0]}(k) \xrightarrow{-\delta} S^1 \wedge GW^{[-1]}(k).$$

From Lemma 4.10 and Corollary 4.11, we have homotopy equivalences of pointed spaces $(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A})_h \simeq wS^{(n)}_{\bullet}\mathscr{A}$ for all pretriangulated dg categories with duality \mathscr{A} and $n \geq 1$. It follows that $GW(\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A})$ is a connective delooping of the K-theory space of \mathscr{A} . Our model for the K-theory spectrum will therefore be

(6.2)
$$K(\mathscr{A}) = GW(\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A})$$

Recall from Section 4.7 the forgetful and hyperbolic dg form functors $F : \mathscr{A} \to \mathcal{H}\mathscr{A}$ and $H : \mathcal{H}\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}^{\text{ptr}}$. They induce maps of spectra

$$F: GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) \longrightarrow K(\mathscr{A}) \text{ and } H: K(\mathscr{A}) \longrightarrow GW^{[n+1]}(\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{ptr}}) \xleftarrow{\sim} GW^{[n+1]}(\mathcal{A}).$$

Theorem 6.1 (Algebraic Bott Sequence). Let \mathscr{A} be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality for which $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. Then the sequence of spectra

$$GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{F} K(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{H} GW^{[n+1]}(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\eta \cup} S^1 \wedge GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{A})$$

is an exact triangle in the homotopy category of spectra.

Proof. In view of Proposition 5.6, we can assume \mathscr{A} pretriangulated. The square in Proposition 4.9 is multiplicative in the sense that tensor product induces a map of squares $\Box_{\mathscr{B}_0} \otimes \mathscr{B}_1 \to \Box_{\mathscr{B}_0 \otimes \mathscr{B}_1}$ in dgCatWD_k. For $\mathscr{B}_0 = \mathscr{C}^{[-1]}$ and $\mathscr{B}_1 = \mathscr{C}^{[1]} \mathscr{A}$, this shows commutativity of the right square in the following diagram

$$S^{0} \wedge GW^{[1]}(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\langle 1 \rangle \wedge 1} GW^{[0]}(k) \wedge GW^{[1]}(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\delta \wedge 1} S^{1} \wedge GW^{[-1]}(k) \wedge GW^{[1]}(\mathscr{A})$$

$$= \bigvee_{GW^{[1]}(\mathscr{A})} \xrightarrow{\delta} S^{1} \wedge GW^{[0]}(\mathscr{A}).$$

Going first horizontally then vertically in the diagram yields cup product from the left with $-\eta$. Going diagonally down then horizontally in the diagram yields the boundary map $\delta : GW(\mathscr{A}) \to S^1 \wedge GW^{[-1]}(\mathscr{A})$. Thus, we have a functorial exact triangle of spectra

$$GW(\mathscr{A}) \overset{I}{\longrightarrow} GW(\mathrm{Fun}([1],\mathscr{A})) \overset{\mathrm{Cone}}{\longrightarrow} GW^{[1]}(\mathscr{A}) \overset{-\eta \cup}{\longrightarrow} S^1 \wedge GW(\mathscr{A})$$

By Lemma 4.10, the exact dg form functor (4.6)

 $(F, \varphi) : \operatorname{Fun}([1], \mathscr{A}) \to \mathcal{H}\mathscr{A} : (f : A_0 \to A_1) \mapsto (A_0, A_1^*)$

induces an equivalence of Grothendieck-Witt spectra with inverse the exact dg form functor (4.7)

$$(G, \psi) : \mathcal{H}\mathscr{A} \to \operatorname{Fun}([1], \mathscr{A}) : (A_0, A_1) \mapsto (0 : A_0 \to A_1^*).$$

The composition $(F, \varphi) \circ I$ is the forgetful map $\mathscr{A} \to \mathcal{H}\mathscr{A}$. The composition $\operatorname{Cone} \circ (G, \psi)$ is the dg form functor $H \circ T$ where $T : \mathcal{H}\mathscr{A} \to \mathcal{H}\mathscr{A} : (A, B) \mapsto (TA, TB)$ is the shift functor which induces multiplication by -1 on K-theory, and $H : \mathcal{H}\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}^{[1]}$ is the hyperbolic functor. With our model of the K-theory spectrum (6.2), we therefore obtain an exact triangle in the homotopy category of spectra

$$GW(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{F} K(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{-H} GW^{[1]}(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{-\eta \cup} S^1 \wedge GW(\mathscr{A}).$$

Replacing \mathscr{A} with $\mathscr{A}^{[n]}$, we are done.

Let $(\mathscr{A}, w, *, \operatorname{can})$ be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. For $\varepsilon \in \{\pm 1\}$, write ${}_{\varepsilon}GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{A})$ for $GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}, w, *, \varepsilon \operatorname{can})$, and ${}_{\varepsilon}GW(\mathscr{A})$ for ${}_{\varepsilon}GW^{[0]}(\mathscr{A})$. Following Karoubi, one defines new theories ${}_{\varepsilon}U(\mathscr{A})$ and ${}_{\varepsilon}V(\mathscr{A})$ as the homotopy fibres of hyperbolic and forgetful functors

$$K(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{H} {}_{\varepsilon} GW(\mathscr{A}) \quad \text{ and } \quad {}_{\varepsilon} GW(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{F} K(\mathscr{A}).$$

The following theorem was proved by Karoubi in [Kar80] for rings with involution using different methods. Note, however, that the negative homotopy groups in the theorem differ from Karoubi's negative homotopy groups, in general.

Theorem 6.2 (Karoubi's Fundamental Theorem). Let $(\mathscr{A}, w, *, \operatorname{can})$ be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. Then there are natural stable equivalences

$$_{-\varepsilon}V(\mathscr{A}) \simeq \Omega_{\varepsilon}U(\mathscr{A}).$$

Proof. From the exact triangle in Theorem 6.1, we obtain equivalences of spectra

$$_{\varepsilon}U(\mathscr{A})\simeq _{\varepsilon}GW^{[-1]}(\mathscr{A})$$
 and $_{\varepsilon}V(\mathscr{A})\simeq \Omega _{\varepsilon}GW^{[1]}(\mathscr{A}).$

Cup product with the symmetric space $k[1] \otimes k[1] \to k[2] : x \otimes y \mapsto xy$ in $(\mathscr{C}^{[2]}, -\operatorname{can})$ induces an equivalence of dg categories with weak equivalences and duality $(\mathscr{A}^{[-1]}, \operatorname{can}) \simeq (\mathscr{A}^{[1]}, -\operatorname{can})$, and therefore an equivalence of Grothendieck-Witt spectra ${}_{\varepsilon} GW^{[-1]}(\mathscr{A}) \simeq {}_{-\varepsilon} GW^{[1]}(\mathscr{A})$. Hence, we obtain a homotopy equivalence as claimed.

Our next proposition shows that negative Grothendieck-Witt groups are Balmer's triangular Witt groups.

Proposition 6.3. Let \mathscr{A} be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. Let $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and i < 0 be integers. Then cup-product with η induces an isomorphism

$$\eta \cup : GW_i^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\cong} GW_{i-1}^{[n-1]}(\mathscr{A})$$

and the surjective map $\eta^{-i} \cup : GW_0^{n-i}(\mathscr{A}) \to GW_i^{[n]}(\mathscr{A})$ induces an isomorphism

$$W^{n-i}(\mathscr{A}) \cong GW_i^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}).$$

Proof. From the exact triangle in Theorem 6.1 and the fact that connective K-theory $K(\mathscr{A})$ has trivial negative homotopy groups, we obtain an exact sequence

$$K_0(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{H} GW_0^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\eta \cup} GW_{-1}^{[n-1]}(\mathscr{A}) \longrightarrow 0$$

and isomorphisms

$$GW_{-1}^{[n-1]}(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\eta \cup} GW_{-2}^{[n-2]}(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\eta \cup} GW_{-3}^{[n-3]}(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\eta \cup} \cdots$$

Replacing n with n-i, the proposition follows.

Lemma 6.4 (Karoubi induction). Let $F : \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$ be an exact dg form functor between dg categories with weak equivalences and duality. Assume that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B}$, that F induces an equivalence in K-theory and isomorphisms on all shifted Witt groups $W^n(\mathscr{A}) \cong W^n(\mathscr{B}), n \in \mathbb{Z}$. Then F induces an equivalence of Grothendieck-Witt spectra for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$

$$GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\simeq} GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{B}).$$

58

Proof. By Theorem 6.1, the form functor F induces a map of exact sequences for $n, i \in \mathbb{Z}$

$$\begin{array}{cccc} GW_{i+1}^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) \longrightarrow K_{i+1}(\mathscr{A}) \longrightarrow GW_{i+1}^{[n+1]}(\mathscr{A}) \longrightarrow GW_{i}^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) \longrightarrow K_{i}(\mathscr{A}) \\ & & & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ & & & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ GW_{i+1}^{[n]}(\mathscr{B}) \longrightarrow K_{i+1}(\mathscr{B}) \longrightarrow GW_{i+1}^{[n+1]}(\mathscr{B}) \longrightarrow GW_{i}^{[n]}(\mathscr{B}) \longrightarrow K_{i}(\mathscr{A}). \end{array}$$

By Proposition 6.3 and the hypothesis of the lemma, the functor F induces isomorphisms $GW_i^{[n]}(F) = W^{n-i}(F)$ for all $n, i \in \mathbb{Z}$ with i < 0. By a version of the 5-lemma, if $GW_i^{[n]}(F)$ and $K_*(F)$ are isomorphisms then $GW_{i+1}^{[n+1]}(F)$ is a surjection. If $GW_i^{[n]}(F)$ and $K_*(F)$ are isomorphisms and $GW_{i+1}^{[n]}(F)$ is a surjection then $GW_{i+1}^{[n+1]}(F)$ is an isomorphism. By induction, we are done.

Theorem 6.5 (Invariance for GW). Let $G : \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$ be an exact dg form functor between dg categories with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B}$. Suppose that the functor G induces an equivalence $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A} \to \mathcal{T}\mathscr{B}$ of associated triangulated categories, cf. Definition 1.26. Then G induces an equivalence of Grothendieck-Witt spectra for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$

$$GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\simeq} GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{B}).$$

Proof. By a theorem of Thomason [TT90, 1.9.8], the functor G induces an equivalence of K-theory spectra. By Proposition 6.3 and Corollary 3.13, the maps $GW_i^{[n]}(G)$ are isomorphisms for all $n, i \in \mathbb{Z}$ with i < 0. This finishes the proof in view of Lemma 6.4.

Call a sequence $\mathcal{T}_0 \to \mathcal{T}_1 \to \mathcal{T}_2$ of triangulated categories *exact* if the composition is trivial, the functor $\mathcal{T}_0 \to \mathcal{T}_1$ makes \mathcal{T}_0 into an epaisse subcategory of \mathcal{T}_1 (that is, a full subcategory which is closed under direct factors) and the induced functor from the Verdier quotient $\mathcal{T}_1/\mathcal{T}_0$ to \mathcal{T}_2 is an equivalence. Call a sequence $\mathscr{A}_0 \to \mathscr{A}_1 \to \mathscr{A}_2$ of dg categories with weak equivalences and duality *quasi-exact* if the associated sequence $\mathcal{T}_{\mathscr{A}_0} \to \mathcal{T}_{\mathscr{A}_1} \to \mathcal{T}_{\mathscr{A}_2}$ of triangulated categories is exact. An exact dg functor $(\mathcal{A}, w) \to (\mathcal{B}, v)$ of dg-categories with weak equivalences is called *quasiequivalence* if the induced triangle functor $\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{A}, w) \to \mathcal{T}(\mathcal{B}, v)$ is an equivalence.

Theorem 6.6 (Localization for GW). Let $(\mathscr{A}_0, w) \to (\mathscr{A}_1, w) \to (\mathscr{A}_2, w)$ be a quasi-exact sequence of dg categories with weak equivalences and duality. Assume that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}_0, \mathscr{A}_1, \mathscr{A}_2$. Then the commutative square of Grothendieck-Witt spectra

$$\begin{array}{c} GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}_{0},w) \longrightarrow GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}_{1},w) \\ & \downarrow \\ & \downarrow \\ GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}_{2}^{w},w) \longrightarrow GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}_{2},w) \end{array}$$

is homotopy cartesian, and the lower left corner is contractible. In particular, for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ there is a homotopy fibration of Grothendieck-Witt spectra

$$GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}_0) \to GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}_1) \to GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}_2).$$

Proof. Since the composition $\mathcal{TA}_0 \to \mathcal{TA}_1 \to \mathcal{TA}_2$ is trivial, the image of \mathcal{A}_0 in \mathcal{A}_2 is in the dg subcategory \mathcal{A}_2^w of w-acyclic objects. In particular, the square of Grothendieck-Witt spectra in the theorem commutes. Replacing \mathcal{A}_i with $\mathcal{A}_i^{[n]}$ if necessary, we can assume n = 0. Furthermore, by Proposition 5.6, we can assume all dg categories to be pretriangulated.

Let v be the set of morphisms in \mathscr{A}_1 which are weak equivalences in \mathscr{A}_2 . Then (\mathscr{A}_1, v) is a pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences and duality. By Proposition 4.7, the square of pretriangulated dg categories with weak equivalences and duality

$$\begin{array}{ccc} (\mathscr{A}_{1}^{v},w)^{(n)} \longrightarrow (\mathscr{A}_{1},w)^{(n)} \\ & & \downarrow \\ & & \downarrow \\ (\mathscr{A}_{1}^{v},v)^{(n)} \longrightarrow (\mathscr{A}_{1},v)^{(n)} \end{array}$$

induces a homotopy cartesian square of $|(w\mathcal{R}^{(n)}_{\bullet})_h|$ -spaces with contractible lower left corner. By Proposition 5.5, this square induces a homotopy cartesian square of Grothendieck-Witt spectra. By assumption, the exact dg form functors $(\mathscr{A}_0, w) \rightarrow (\mathscr{A}^v_1, w)$ and $(\mathscr{A}_1, v) \rightarrow (\mathscr{A}_2, w)$ induce equivalences on associated triangulated categories. By Theorem 6.5, they induce equivalences of Grothendieck-Witt spectra.

Remark 6.7. Let \mathscr{A} be a pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences and duality. Then the sequence

$$\mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{I} \operatorname{Fun}([1], \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Cone}} \mathscr{A}^{[1]}$$

induces an exact sequence of associated triangulated categories and hence a homotopy fibration of Grothendieck-Witt spectra, in view of Theorem 6.6. By Additivity, the Grothendieck-Witt spectra of $\operatorname{Fun}([1], \mathscr{A})$ and $\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A}$ are equivalent to the *K*-theory spectrum of \mathscr{A} . Therefore, the Localization Theorem 6.6 implies the homotopy fibration in the Bott Sequence 6.1 and thus Karoubi's Fundamental Theorem as explained in the proof of Theorem 6.2.

Proposition 6.8 (Additivity for GW). Let (\mathscr{U}, \vee) be a pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{U}$. Let $\mathscr{A} \subset \mathscr{U}$ be a full pretriangulated dg subcategory containing the w-acyclic objects \mathscr{U}^w of \mathscr{U} . Assume that $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{U}(A, B^{\vee}) = 0$ for all $A, B \in \mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$, and that $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{U}$ is generated as a triangulated category by $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$ and $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}^{\vee}$. Then the exact dg form functor

$$\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{U} : (A, B) \mapsto A \oplus B'$$

induces a stable equivalence of Grothendieck-Witt spectra:

$$K(\mathscr{A}) = GW(\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\sim} GW(\mathscr{U}).$$

Proof. The triangle functor $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}^{\vee} \to \mathcal{T}\mathscr{U}/\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$ is fully faithful because we have $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{U}(A, B^{\vee}) = 0$ for all $A, B \in \mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$. It is essentially surjective (hence an equivalence) because $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{U}$ is generated by $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$ and $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}^{\vee}$. From the K-theory analog of the Localization Theorem 6.6, the sequence $(\mathscr{A}, w) \to (\mathscr{U}, w) \to (\mathscr{U}, v)$ induces a homotopy fibration of K-theory spectra where v is the set of morphisms which are isomorphisms in $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{U}/\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$. In view of the Invariance Theorem for K-theory, the fibration splits since the composition $(\mathscr{A}^{\vee}, w) \to (\mathscr{U}, w) \to (\mathscr{U}, v)$ induces an

equivalence of triangulated categories. It follows that the functor $\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{U}$ is a K-theory equivalence.

The Witt groups of $\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A}$ are trivial as is the case for any hyperbolic category. The Witt groups $W^*(\mathscr{U})$ of \mathscr{U} are also trivial. It suffices to prove this for $W^0(\mathscr{U}) = W^0(\mathcal{T}\mathscr{U})$, the arguments for W^n being similar (or just apply the W^0 case to the *n*-th shifted triangulated category with duality $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{U}^{[n]}$). The hypothesis imply that for every $U \in \mathcal{T}\mathscr{U}$, there is an exact triangle $A \to U \to B \to TA$ in $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{U}$ with $A \in \mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$, $B \in \mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}^{\vee}$ such that for any map $U \to U'$ and any exact triangle $A' \to U' \to B' \to TA'$ in $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{U}$ with $A' \in \mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$, $B' \in \mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}^{\vee}$ there is a unique map of triangles from the first to the second extending the given map $U \to U'$. In particular, any symmetric isomorphism $\varphi : U \to U^{\vee}$ extends to a symmetric isomorphism of exact triangles showing that $[U, \varphi] = 0 \in W^0(\mathcal{T}\mathscr{U})$.

Since the functor $\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{U}$ is a K-theory equivalence and an isomorphism on triangular Witt groups, the Karoubi-Induction Lemma 6.4 implies that it is also a GW-equivalence.

7. Relation with L-theory and Tate of K-theory

Recall from (6.1) the element $\eta \in GW_{-1}^{[-1]}(k)$ corresponding to $\langle 1 \rangle \in W^0(k)$ under the isomorphism $GW_{-1}^{[-1]}(k) \cong W^0(k)$ of Proposition 6.3.

Definition 7.1. For $\mathscr{A} \in \operatorname{dgCatWD}$, we define its *L*-theory spectrum $L(\mathscr{A})$ as

$$L(\mathscr{A}) = \eta^{-1} GW(\mathscr{A}).$$

This is the homotopy colimit spectrum of the sequence

$$GW(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\eta \cup} S^1 \wedge GW^{[-1]}(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{S^1 \wedge \eta^2} S^2 \wedge GW^{[-2]}(\mathscr{A}) \longrightarrow \cdots$$

Since cup-product with the element $\mu \in GW_0^{[4]}(k)$ from Remark 5.9 induces an equivalence $GW^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) \simeq GW^{[n+4]}(\mathscr{A})$, the spectrum $\eta^{-1}GW(\mathscr{A})$ is also the localization of the GW(k)-module spectrum $GW(\mathscr{A})$ at the element $\eta^4 \mu \in GW_{-4}(k)$ of the commutative ring spectrum GW(k). In particular, $L(\mathscr{A}) = \eta^{-1}GW(\mathscr{A})$ is a module spectrum over the commutative ring spectrum $L(k) = (\eta^4 \mu)^{-1}GW(k)$ [Sch]. As usual, $L^{[n]}(\mathscr{A})$ denotes $L(\mathscr{A}^{[n]})$, and the homotopy groups of $L^{[n]}(\mathscr{A})$ are denoted by $L_i^{[n]}(\mathscr{A})$.

By definition, the ring spectrum L(k) is 4-periodic with periodicity isomorphism given by cup-product with $\eta^4 \mu$. As a module spectrum over L(k), the spectrum $L(\mathscr{A})$ is also 4-periodic.

Proposition 7.2. Let \mathscr{A} be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. Then there are natural isomorphisms for all $i, n \in \mathbb{Z}$

$$L_i^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) \cong W^{n-i}(\mathscr{A})$$

Proof. This is a consequence of Proposition 6.3.

7.1. The $\mathbb{Z}/2$ -action on K-theory. Call a pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences and duality $\mathscr{A} = (\mathscr{A}, w, *, \operatorname{can})$ strict if the duality is strict, that is, the natural transformation can : $1 \to **$ is the identity (in particular, ** = id), and if it is equipped with a choice of direct sum and zero object 0 satisfying $0^* = 0$, $(X \oplus Y)^* = Y^* \oplus X^*$ and $0 \oplus X = X = X \oplus 0$ for all objects X, Y of \mathscr{A} . We denote by dgCatWD_{str} the category of small strict pretriangulated dg categories

MARCO SCHLICHTING

with weak equivalences and duality. The morphisms in $dgCatWD_{str}$ are the exact dg functors which commute with direct sum and duality, and which preserve the chosen zero object.

Let \mathscr{A} be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality. By Lemma 7.10 below, we can (functorially) associate with \mathscr{A} a strict pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences and duality $\mathscr{A}_{\rm str}$ that comes with an exact dg form functor $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}_{\rm str}$ which, by Theorem 6.5, induces an equivalence on K-theory and Grothendieck-Witt spectra. So, in what follows, we may assume that \mathscr{A} is strict.

Let $\mathscr{A} = (\mathscr{A}, w, *)$ be a strict pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences and duality. The hyperbolic category $\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{A} \times \mathscr{A}^{op}$ is equipped with the duality $(X, Y) \mapsto (Y, X)$ (ignoring the duality * on \mathscr{A}). The functor

$$\sigma: \mathcal{H}\mathscr{A} \to \mathcal{H}\mathscr{A}: (X, Y) \mapsto (Y^*, X^*)$$

is duality preserving (as the duality on \mathscr{A} is strict) and induces a $C_2 = \mathbb{Z}/2$ action on the dg category with weak equivalences and duality $\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A}$. By functoriality, we obtain an induced C_2 -action on the Grothendieck-Witt spectrum $GW(\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A})$, hence on the K-theory spectrum $K(\mathscr{A}) = GW(\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A})$. If \mathscr{A} is not strict, we will write $K(\mathscr{A})$ for the spectrum $K(\mathscr{A}_{str})$ with its C_2 -action. Moreover, we will write $K^{[n]}(\mathscr{A})$ for the K-theory spectrum $K(\mathscr{A}^{[n]}) = GW(\mathcal{H}(\mathscr{A}^{[n]})_{str})$ of \mathscr{A} equipped with the C_2 -action coming from the duality on $\mathcal{A}^{[n]}$ as described above. Nonequivariantly, this spectrum is (equivalent to) the K-theory spectrum of \mathscr{A} , but the C_2 -action depends on n.

Example 7.3. We give an interpretation of the C_2 -action on K(R) for symmetric and alternating forms over a ring with involution R in terms of an action on $BGl(R)^+$. For that consider first an additive category with strict duality $(\mathcal{A}, *)$. If we equip the category $i\mathcal{A}$ with the C_2 -action $A \mapsto A$, $f \mapsto (f^*)^{-1}$, then the equivalence of categories $i\mathcal{A} \to (i\mathcal{H}\mathcal{A})_h : A \mapsto [(A, A), (id, id)] f \mapsto (f, f^{-1})$ is C_2 -equivariant. This gives the C_2 -action on the group completion of the classifying space of $i\mathcal{A}$, that is, on the usual K-theory space of \mathcal{A} .

For example, let R be a ring with involution $a \mapsto \bar{a}$. Let $\mathcal{A} = F(R)$ be the category of finitely generated free R-modules. More precisely, objects of F(R) are the free modules R^n , $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Maps and composition of maps are given by matrices and their products. The dual of R^n is R^n and the dual of a map $M \in M_n(R)$ is the matrix $M^* = {}^t \bar{M}$. In positive degrees, the hermitian K-theory of symmetric forms over R is the hermitian K-theory of the additive category with strict duality (F(R), *, id). By the discussion above, the corresponding C_2 -action on $BGl(R)^+$ is induced by

$$BGl \to BGl : M \mapsto {}^t \bar{M}^{-1}$$

and the functoriality of the plus construction.

In the literature one frequently finds a differently looking C_2 -action on K-theory; see for instance [BK05]. The point is that the hermitian K-theory of symmetric forms over R is also the hermitian K-theory of the ring $M_2(R)$ with involution

$$\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \bar{a} & \bar{c} \\ \bar{b} & \bar{d} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \bar{d} & \bar{b} \\ \bar{c} & \bar{a} \end{pmatrix}$$

since both rings have equivalent associated hermitian categories of projective modules. This yields the C_2 -action on $BGl_{\infty}(R) = BGl_{2\infty}(R)$ given by

$$Gl_{2n}(R) \to Gl_{2n}(R) : M \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1_n \\ 1_n & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} t & \overline{M} \end{pmatrix}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1_n \\ 1_n & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

To compare these two actions, consider the C_2 -action on $BGl_{\infty}(R) = BGl_{3\infty}(R)$ given by

$$Gl_{3n}(R) \to Gl_{3n}(R) : M \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1_n 0 \\ 1_n & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1_n \end{pmatrix} {}^{t} ({}^{t}\overline{M})^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1_n 0 \\ 1_n & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1_n \end{pmatrix}.$$

The two maps

$$\begin{array}{cccc} Gl_{2n}(R) & \longrightarrow & Gl_{3n}(R) & \longleftarrow & Gl_n(R) \\ M & \mapsto & \begin{pmatrix} M & 0 \\ 0 & 1_n \end{pmatrix}, & \begin{pmatrix} 1_{2n} & 0 \\ 0 & N \end{pmatrix} & \longleftrightarrow & N \end{array}$$

are C_2 -equivariant and yield, after passage to the colimit for $n \to \infty$ and taking (a functorial version of the) plus construction, C_2 -equivariant maps

$$K(R) \to K(R) \leftarrow K(R)$$

which are homotopy equivalences (forgetting the C_2 -action). In particular, the respective homotopy orbit (homotopy fixed point) spaces are all homotopy equivalent.

Finally, the hermitian K-theory of alternating forms over R in positive degrees is the hermitian K-theory of the additive category with duality (F(R), *, -id). It is also the hermitian K-theory of symmetric forms over the ring $M_2(R)$ with involution $\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} \bar{d} & -\bar{b} \\ -\bar{c} & \bar{a} \end{pmatrix}$ since both have equivalent associated hermitian categories. Thus, the involution on $BGl(R)^+ = BGl(M_2(R))^+$ corresponding to alternating forms over R is the involution corresponding to symmetric forms over the ring with involution $M_2(R)$.

7.2. The hypernorm in *K*-theory. Let *G* be a finite group. For any spectrum *X* with *G*-action its Tate spectrum $\hat{\mathbb{H}}(G, X)$ is the homotopy cofibre of the hypernorm map $\tilde{N} : X_{hG} \to X^{hG}$ from the homotopy orbit spectrum X_{hG} to the homotopy fix point spectrum X^{hG} ; see Appendix B when $G = C_2$. In Lemma 7.4 we give another description of this map for the C_2 -spectrum $K(\mathscr{A})$ associated with a (strict pretriangulated) dg category with weak equivalences and duality \mathscr{A} (where the action was defined in Section 7.1).

Let \mathscr{A} be a strict pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences and duality. We consider \mathscr{A} equipped with the trivial C_2 -action. Recall from §7.1 that the hyperbolic category $\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A}$ is equipped with a C_2 -action (in the category of strict pretriangulated dg categories with weak equivalences and duality). We will construct a sequence

(7.1)
$$\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{H} \bar{\mathscr{A}} \xleftarrow{\simeq} \mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{F} \mathcal{H}\mathscr{A}$$

of C_2 equivariant maps between strict pretriangulated dg categories with weak equivalences and duality in which the backward arrow is an equivalence of categories (forgetting the C_2 action).

Let $\overline{\mathscr{A}}$ be the dg category whose objects are isomorphisms $a: A \xrightarrow{\cong} B$ in \mathscr{A} and whose maps are commutative squares in \mathscr{A} . We define a strict duality on $\overline{\mathscr{A}}$ on objects by $(a: A \to B)^* = ((a^*)^{-1}: A^* \to B^*)$ and on morphisms by $(f,g)^* = (f^*, g^*)$. The equivalence of categories $\mathscr{A} \to \overline{\mathscr{A}}: X \mapsto (1: X \to X), f \mapsto (f, f)$ is duality preserving. The functor

$$\bar{\mathscr{A}} \to \bar{\mathscr{A}} : (f : X \to Y) \mapsto (f^{-1} : Y \to X)$$

MARCO SCHLICHTING

is duality preserving and induces a C_2 -action on the strict exact category with weak equivalences and duality $\overline{\mathscr{A}}$. Note that the duality preserving equivalence $\mathscr{A} \to \overline{\mathscr{A}}$ is C_2 -equivariant. The functors H and F in diagram (7.1) are defined as

$$H: \mathcal{H}\mathscr{A} \to \bar{\mathscr{A}}: \quad (X, Y) \quad \mapsto \quad (X \oplus Y^* \xrightarrow{\tau} Y^* \oplus X) \quad \text{and} \\ F: \mathscr{A} \to \mathcal{H}\mathscr{A}: \quad X \quad \mapsto \quad (X, X^*)$$

where τ denotes the map switching the two factors. Both functors are duality preserving, exact and C_2 -equivariant.

Applying Grothendieck-Witt spectra to diagram (7.1) yields a diagram

(7.2)
$$K(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{H} GW(\bar{\mathscr{A}}) \xleftarrow{\simeq} GW(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{F} K(\mathscr{A})$$

of C_2 -equivariant spectra where C_2 acts trivially on $GW(\mathscr{A})$. Taking homotopy (co-) limits, we obtain a sequence of spectra

(7.3)
$$K_{hC_2} \xrightarrow{H} \overline{GW}_{hC_2} \xleftarrow{\sim} GW_{hC_2} \longrightarrow GW \longrightarrow GW^{hC_2} \xrightarrow{F} K^{hC_2}$$

where we have suppressed the entries \mathscr{A} and where we wrote \overline{GW} for $GW(\overline{\mathscr{A}})$. The non-labelled maps in the diagram are the natural maps $GW_{hC_2} \to GW_{C_2} = GW = GW^{C_2} \to GW^{hC_2}$.

Lemma 7.4. The map $K(\mathscr{A})_{hC_2} \to K(\mathscr{A})^{hC_2}$ in (7.3) is naturally equivalent to the hypernorm map B.8 (B.4) for the C_2 -spectrum $K(\mathscr{A})$ defined in Section 7.1.

Proof. Let $G_1 = G_2 = \mathbb{Z}/2 = C_2$ and consider the sequence (7.2) as a sequence of $G_1 \times G_2$ -spectra where $G_1 \times G_2$ acts on the left two spectra via the projection $G_1 \times G_2 \to G_1$ on the first factor. The action on $GW(\mathscr{A})$ is trivial and the action on the last spectrum is via the projection $G_1 \times G_2 \to G_2$ onto the second factor. The map in (7.3) is the application of the functor $X \mapsto (X^{hG_2})_{hG_1}$ to the $G_1 \times G_2$ -equivariant string (7.2) preceded by $(X_2^G)_{hG} \to (X^{hG_2})_{hG_1}$ and followed by $(X^{hG_2})_{hG_1} \to (X^{hG_2})_{G_1}$. We have to show that the sequence (7.2) is $G_1 \times G_2$ equivariantly weakly equivalent to the sequence B.8 (B.3) where $X = GW(\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A})$.

By naturality of the G_1 -equivariant map $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}$ applied to the G_2 -equivariant map $F : \mathscr{A} \to \mathcal{H}\mathscr{A}$, we have a $G_1 \times G_2$ -equivariant commutative diagram of strict pretriangulated dg categories with weak equivalences and duality

$$(7.4) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{A} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{\bar{\mathcal{A}}} \\ \downarrow_{F} \qquad \qquad \downarrow_{\bar{F}} \\ \mathcal{H}\mathcal{A} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}\mathcal{A}.$$

Define a functor $J : \mathcal{H}\mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{H}\mathscr{A} \to \overline{\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A}}$ by sending the object ((X, Y), (U, V)) to the object $(\tau, \tau) : (X \oplus U, Y \oplus V) \longrightarrow (U \oplus X, V \oplus Y)$ and on maps in the obvious way. The functor is exact, duality preserving and $G_1 \times G_2$ -equivariant where G_1 acts on $\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{H}\mathscr{A}$ by interchanging the two factors $(x, y) \mapsto (y, x)$ and G_2 acts on $\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{H}\mathscr{A}$ via $(x, y) \mapsto (\sigma y, \sigma x)$. We have the following $G_1 \times G_2$ -equivariant commutative diagram of strict pretriangulated dg categories with weak equivalences and duality



where, strictly speaking, the upper right corner only makes sense after application of the functor GW using the convention $GW(\mathcal{A} \vee \mathcal{B}) = GW(\mathcal{A}) \vee GW(\mathcal{B})$. Going down then right is the $G_1 \times G_2$ -equivariant map (7.1) in view of the commutative square (7.4). Going right then down is the map that defines the hypernorm map.

Let \mathscr{B} be a pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences that is equipped with a direct sum operation and a zero object 0 such that $0 \oplus B = B = B \oplus 0$ for all objects B of \mathscr{B} . We make $\mathcal{H}\mathscr{B}$ into a strict pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences and duality by defining the direct sum in $\mathcal{H}\mathscr{B}$ by $(A, B) \oplus (A', B') =$ $(A \oplus A', B' \oplus B)$. For $\mathscr{A} = \mathcal{H}\mathscr{B}$, the sequence (7.2) yields the sequence of C_2 equivariant spectra

(7.5)
$$K(\mathcal{H}\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{H} GW(\overline{\mathcal{H}\mathscr{B}}) \xleftarrow{\simeq} GW(\mathcal{H}\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{F} K(\mathcal{H}\mathscr{B})$$

Lemma 7.5. The sequence (7.5) is C_2 -equivariantly equivalent to the sequence

$$K(\mathscr{B}) \wedge (C_2)_+ \to K(\mathscr{B}) \to \operatorname{Sp}^{C_2}((C_2)_+, K(\mathscr{B}))$$

where $K(\mathscr{B})$ has trivial C_2 -action, and both maps are induced by the C_2 -equivariant map $C_2 \rightarrow \text{pt.}$

Proof. We have a C_2 -equivariant isomorphism of strict pretriangulated dg categories with weak equivalences and duality

$$\Phi: \quad \mathcal{H}(\mathscr{B} \times \mathscr{B}) = (\mathscr{B} \times \mathscr{B}) \times (\mathscr{B} \times \mathscr{B})^{op} \stackrel{\cong}{\longrightarrow} \quad \mathcal{H}(\mathcal{H}\mathscr{B}) = \mathcal{H}\mathscr{B} \times (\mathcal{H}\mathscr{B})^{op}$$
$$(A_0, A_1), (B_0, B_1) \qquad \mapsto \qquad (A_0, B_1), (B_0, A_1)$$

where C_2 acts on the left hand side $\mathcal{H}(\mathscr{B} \times \mathscr{B})$ via the switch $\mathscr{B} \times \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{B} \times \mathscr{B}$: $(A, B) \mapsto (B, A)$. Then the following diagram of C_2 -equivariant dg form functors commutes

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathcal{H}(\mathscr{B} \times 0) \lor \mathcal{H}(0 \times \mathscr{B}) & \xrightarrow{\nabla} & \mathcal{H}(\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{\Delta} & \mathcal{H}(\mathscr{B} \times \mathscr{B}) \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & &$$

It follows that the sequence (7.5) is C_2 -equivariantly equivalent to the sequence

$$K(\mathscr{B}) \vee K(\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{\nabla} K(\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{\Delta} K(\mathscr{B}) \times K(\mathscr{B})$$

where C_2 acts on the left spectrum by switching the two summands, and on the right spectrum by switching the two factors.

Diagram (7.3) is a diagram of module spectra over the commutative ring spectrum GW(k). This is because the diagram is obtained by applying the functor GW to the C_2 -equivariant diagram (7.1) and taking various homotopy limits or colimits.

Thus, inverting $\eta \in GW_{-1}^{[-1]}(k)$ (or rather $\eta^4 \mu \in GW_{-4}(k)$) in diagram (7.3) yields a commutative diagram of spectra

For instance, $\eta^{-1}K(\mathscr{A})_{hC_2}$ is the homotopy colimit of the sequence

$$K(\mathscr{A})_{hC_2} \xrightarrow{\eta} (S^1 \wedge K^{[-1]}(\mathscr{A}))_{hC_2} \xrightarrow{\eta} (S^2 \wedge K^{[-2]}(\mathscr{A}))_{hC_2} \xrightarrow{\eta} \cdots$$

In particular, $\eta^{-1}K(\mathscr{A})_{hC_2} = (\eta^{-1}K(\mathscr{A}))_{hC_2} = 0$ as $K_i(\mathscr{A}) = 0$ for i < 0. We have already seen that the spectrum $L(\mathscr{A}) = \eta^{-1}GW(\mathscr{A})$ represents triangular Witt groups. The following theorem identifies the lower right corner with the Tate spectrum $\hat{\mathbb{H}}(C_2, K(\mathscr{A}))$ of $K(\mathscr{A})$.

Theorem 7.6. Let \mathscr{A} be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. Then both squares of spectra in diagram (7.6) are homotopy cartesian, the lower left corner is contractible, the lower middle term is $L(\mathscr{A})$ and the lower right term is the Tate spectrum of the C_2 -spectrum $K(\mathscr{A})$. In particular, there is a natural homotopy fibration

$$K(\mathscr{A})_{hC_2} \to GW(\mathscr{A}) \to L(\mathscr{A})$$

and a homotopy cartesian square of spectra

Proof. Consider the commutative diagram of spectra

The maps on vertical homotopy fibres are equivalences by Theorem 6.1 and Lemma 7.5. In other words both squares are homotopy cartesian. Passing to the homotopy colimit for $n \to \infty$ shows that the squares in diagram (7.6) are homotopy cartesian. Since the lower left corner is contractible (see discussion preceding the theorem) and the composition of the upper two horizontal maps is the hypernorm map (Lemma 7.4), the lower right corner of diagram (7.6) is the Tate spectrum $\hat{\mathbb{H}}(C_2, K(\mathscr{A}))$.

Remark 7.7. The map $L(\mathscr{A}) \to \hat{\mathbb{H}}(C_2, K(\mathscr{A}))$ is a module map over the 4-periodic ring spectrum L(k). In particular, both spectra are 4-periodic and the map respects the periodicity maps given by the cup product with the element of $\eta^4 \mu \in L_{-4}(k)$; compare [WW00].

Remark 7.8. The proof of Theorem 7.6 is rather formal and uses only the natural exact triangle of Theorem 6.1. In particular, we could replace the functor $\mathscr{A} \mapsto GW(\mathscr{A})$ with its localization $\mathscr{A} \mapsto GW(\mathscr{A})[\frac{1}{2}]$ inverting 2. In this way, we obtain for any pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$ a homotopy cartesian square of spectra

The lower right corner in this diagram is contractible; see for instance B.14. Therefore, we have an equivalence of spectra

$$GW(\mathscr{A})[1/2] \xrightarrow{\sim} L(\mathscr{A})[1/2] \oplus \mathbb{H}^{\bullet}(C_2, K(\mathscr{A})[1/2])$$

and an isomorphism of homotopy groups (Lemma B.10)

$$GW_i(\mathscr{A}) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/2] \cong W^{-i}(\mathscr{A}) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus (K_i(\mathscr{A}) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/2])^{C_2}.$$

7.3. Cofinality revisited. Let $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$ be a map of pretriangulated dg categories with weak equivalences such that the induced map on associated triangulated categories $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A} \to \mathcal{T}\mathscr{B}$ is cofinal, that is, it is fully faithful and every object of $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{B}$ is a direct factor of an object of $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$. Let $K_0(\mathscr{B}, \mathscr{A})$ be the monoid of isomorphism classes of objects in $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{B}$ under direct sum operation, modulo the submonoid of isomorphisms classes of objects in $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$. There is a canonical map $K_0(\mathscr{B}) \to K_0(\mathscr{B}, \mathscr{A}) : [B] \mapsto [B]$ which induces an isomorphism between the cokernel of $K_0(\mathscr{A}) \to K_0(\mathscr{B})$ and the group $K_0(\mathscr{B}, \mathscr{A})$. By a theorem of Thomason [TT90, 1.10.1], there is a homotopy fibration of spectra

(7.7)
$$K(\mathscr{A}) \to K(\mathscr{B}) \to K_0(\mathscr{B}, \mathscr{A})$$

where $K_0(\mathscr{B}, \mathscr{A})$ denotes the Eilenberg-MacLane spectrum whose only non-trivial homotopy group is in degree 0 where it is $K_0(\mathscr{B}, \mathscr{A})$.

Recall that for an Eilenberg-MacLane spectrum of a C_2 -module A, we denote by $\mathbb{H}^{\bullet}(C_2, A)$ the homotopy fixed point spectrum A^{hC_2} . This spectrum represents cohomology of the group C_2 with coefficients in the C_2 -module A.

Theorem 7.9 (Cofinality). Let $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$ be a map of dg categories with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B}$. If $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A} \to \mathcal{T}\mathscr{B}$ is cofinal, then there are homotopy fibrations of spectra

$$\begin{array}{rcl}
GW(\mathscr{A}) &\to & GW(\mathscr{B}) &\to & \mathbb{H}^{\bullet}(C_2, K_0) \\
L(\mathscr{A}) &\to & L(\mathscr{B}) &\to & \hat{\mathbb{H}}(C_2, K_0)
\end{array}$$

where K_0 denotes the C_2 -module $K_0(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{A})$ with C_2 -action induced by the duality functor on \mathcal{B} .

Proof. By Proposition 5.6, we can assume \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} pretriangulated. Write $GW^?$ and $L^?$ for the homotopy cofibres of $GW(\mathscr{A}) \to GW(\mathscr{B})$ and $L(\mathscr{A}) \to L(\mathscr{B})$. By cofinality in algebraic K-theory (7.7) and Theorem 7.6, we have a homotopy cartesian square of spectra



By Cofinality for higher Grothendieck-Witt groups [Sch10b, Theorem 7] and the Invariance Theorem 6.5, the upper horizontal map is an isomorphism on homotopy groups in positive degrees since in this range both have zero homotopy groups. It follows that the lower horizontal map is an isomorphism on homotopy groups in degrees ≥ 2 . Since the lower horizontal map is periodic as a module map over the periodic ring spectrum L(k), it induces an isomorphism in all degrees. It is therefore a stable equivalence.

Denote by $dgCatWD_{ptr} \subset dgCatWD$ the full subcategory of pretriangulated dg categories with weak equivalences and duality.

Lemma 7.10. There is a functor

 $\mathrm{dgCatWD}_{\mathrm{ptr}} \to \mathrm{dgCatWD}_{\mathrm{str}} : \mathscr{A} \mapsto \mathscr{A}_{\mathrm{str}}$

and a natural map $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}_{str}$ in dgCatWD_{ptr} which induces an equivalence $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A} \to \mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}_{str}$ on associated triangulated categories.

Proof. The construction in [Sch10b, Lemma 4] gives a functor that produces strict dualities without changing associated triangulated categories. Thus, we can assume that \mathscr{A} has a strict duality and that functors commute with dualities, and we need to construct \mathscr{A}_{str} satisfying $(X \oplus Y)^* = Y^* \oplus X^*$ and $0 \oplus X = X = X \oplus 0$ for all objects X, Y of \mathscr{A}_{str} . The category \mathscr{A}_{str} has objects the sequences $(A_0, ..., A_n)$ of objects of \mathscr{A} . The mapping space from $(A_0, ..., A_n)$ to $(B_0, ..., B_m)$ is the mapping space from $A_0 \oplus \cdots \oplus A_n$ to $B_0 \oplus \cdots \oplus B_m$ in \mathscr{A} (which can be identified with the set of $m \times n$ matrices with (i, j) entry the maps from A_j to B_i , and thus is independent of the choice of a sum). Composition is composition of maps in \mathscr{A} (or of matrices whichever is your point of view). The direct sum of two sequences $(A_0, ..., A_n)$ and $(B_0, ..., B_m)$ is the sequence $(A_0, ..., A_n, B_0, ..., B_m)$, the empty sequence is the (base point) zero object, and the dual of a sequence is $(A_0, ..., A_n)^* = (A_n^*, ..., A_0^*)$. The category \mathscr{A}_{str} is a strict exact category with weak equivalences and duality and the functor $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}_{str} : A \mapsto (A)$ is a duality preserving equivalence of categories and thus induces an equivalence on associated triangulated categories. \square

8. The Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt spectrum

We saw in Theorem 6.6 that the Grothendieck-Witt functor GW sends exact sequences of triangulated categories to long exact sequences of higher Grothendieck-Witt groups. In applications, however, it is more useful to have a functor that sends sequences of triangulated categories that are exact only up to factors to long exact sequences of abelian groups. In this section, we will construct such a functor GW, the Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt spectrum functor, together with a natural map of spectra $GW \to GW$ which is an isomorphism in degrees $i \ge 1$ and a monomorphism in degree i = 0. In most cases of interest, this map is also an isomorphism in degree i = 0.

The relation between the Grothendieck-Witt and Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt functors GW and $\mathbb{G}W$ is in some sense the same as the relation between connective and non-connective (or Bass) K-theory functors K and K. To construct nonconnective K-theory from connective K-theory, there are essentially two ways. In the geometric setting, one can use Bass' fundamental theorem as done by Thomason in [TT90]. In the abstract setting, one can use algebraic suspension functors as done by Wagoner [Wag72], Gersten [Ger72] and Karoubi [Kar70], and first worked out in the generality applicable to dg categories with weak equivalences in [Sch06]. In this section, we follow the abstract approach. In the following section, we will see in Theorem 9.13 and Remark 9.14 that the geometric opproach works as well.

8.1. Cone and suspension of dg categories. The *cone ring* is the ring C of infinite matrices $(a_{i,j})_{i,j\in\mathbb{N}}$ with coefficients $a_{i,j}$ in \mathbb{Z} for which each row and each column has only finitely many non-zero entries. Transposition of matrices ${}^t(a_{i,j}) = (a_{j,i})$ makes C into a ring with involution. As a \mathbb{Z} -module C is torsion free, hence flat.

The suspension ring S is the factor ring of C by the two sided ideal $M_{\infty} \subset C$ of those matrices which have only finitely many non-zero entries. Transposition also makes S into a ring with involution such that the quotient map $C \twoheadrightarrow S$ is a map of rings with involution. For another description of the suspension ring S, consider the matrices $e_n \in C$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, with entries $(e_n)_{i,j} = 1$ for $i = j \ge n$ and zero otherwise. They are symmetric idempotents, *i.e.* ${}^t e_n = e_n = e_n^2$, and they form a multiplicative subset of C which satisfies the Øre condition, that is, the multiplicative subset satisfies the axioms for a calculus of fractions. One checks that the quotient map $C \twoheadrightarrow S$ identifies the suspension ring S with the localization of the cone ring C with respect to the elements $e_n \in C$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$. In particular, the suspension ring S is also a flat \mathbb{Z} -module.

Let $\varepsilon = 1 - e_1 \in C$ be the symmetric idempotent with entries 1 at (0,0) and zero otherwise. The image $C\varepsilon$ of the right multiplication map $\times \varepsilon : C \to C$ is a finitely generated projective left C-module. Denote by \tilde{C} the full subcategory of left C-modules consisting of C and $C\varepsilon$. Then $\tilde{C}(C,C) = C$, $\tilde{C}(C\varepsilon,C) = \{a \in C \mid a\varepsilon = a\}$, $\tilde{C}(C,C\varepsilon) = \{a \in C \mid \varepsilon a = a\}$, and $\tilde{C}(C\varepsilon,C\varepsilon) = \{a \in C \mid a\varepsilon = a\} = \mathbb{Z}$. The rule $\tilde{C}^{op} \to \tilde{C} : C \mapsto C, \ C\varepsilon \mapsto C\varepsilon, \ a \mapsto^t a$ makes \tilde{C} into an additive category with strict duality. Note that $\mathbb{Z} \to \tilde{C} : \mathbb{Z} \mapsto C\varepsilon, \ n \mapsto n\varepsilon$ defines a fully faithful duality preserving functor. Since $\varepsilon = 0 \in S$, we have a duality preserving functor $\tilde{C} \to S : C \mapsto S, \ C\varepsilon \mapsto 0$ (recall that S is considered a pointed dg category) such that the composition

is trivial.

For a dg category with weak equivalences and duality \mathscr{A} , we denote by $\widetilde{C}\mathscr{A}$ and $S\mathscr{A}$ the dg categories with weak equivalences and duality $\widetilde{C} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathscr{A}$ and $S \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathscr{A}$. Tensoring the sequence (8.1) with $\mathscr{A} \in \text{dgCatWD}$, we obtain the the sequence

$$(8.2) \qquad \qquad \mathscr{A} \to \widetilde{C}\mathscr{A} \to S\mathscr{A}$$

Call a sequence $\mathcal{T}_0 \to \mathcal{T}_1 \to \mathcal{T}_2$ of triangulated categories *exact up to factors* if the composition is trivial, the functor $\mathcal{T}_0 \to \mathcal{T}_1$ is fully faithful and the induced functor from the Verdier quotient $\mathcal{T}_1/\mathcal{T}_0$ to \mathcal{T}_2 cofinal. **Definition 8.1.** An exact dg functor $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$ between dg categories with weak equivalences is called *Morita equivalence* if the associated triangle functor $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A} \to \mathcal{T}\mathscr{B}$ is cofinal. A sequence $\mathscr{A}_0 \to \mathscr{A}_1 \to \mathscr{A}_2$ of dg categories with weak equivalences is called *Morita exact* if the associated sequence of triangulated categories $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}_0 \to \mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}_1 \to \mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}_2$ is exact up to factors.

Lemma 8.2. The functors C, S: dgCatW \rightarrow dgCatW preserve Morita equivalences and Morita exact sequences. Moreover, for any dg category with weak equivalences \mathscr{A} , the sequence

$$\mathscr{A} \to \tilde{C}\mathscr{A} \to S\mathscr{A}$$

of dg categories with weak equivalences is Morita exact.

Proof. Recall the following facts from the theory of dg categories [Dri04], especially [Dri04, Proposition 1.6.3].

(1) Let \mathcal{B} be a homotopically flat dg category (that is, a dg category in which every mapping complex is homotopy equivalent to a complex of flat k-modules). Then the functor

$$dgCat \rightarrow dgCat : \mathcal{A} \mapsto \mathcal{B} \otimes \mathcal{A}$$

preserves Morita equivalences and Morita exact sequences.

- (2) Let $\mathcal{B}_0 \to \mathcal{B}_1 \to \mathcal{B}_2$ be a Morita exact sequence of homotopically flat dg categories, then the sequence $\mathcal{B}_0 \otimes \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}_1 \otimes \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}_2 \otimes \mathcal{A}$ is Morita exact.
- (3) For a full inclusion of dg categories $\mathcal{A}_0 \subset \mathcal{A}_1$ there is a dg category $\mathcal{A}_1 /\!\!/ \mathcal{A}_0$ together with a dg functor $\mathcal{A}_1 \to \mathcal{A}_1 /\!\!/ \mathcal{A}_0$ such that the sequence

$$\mathcal{A}_0 \to \mathcal{A}_1 \to \mathcal{A}_1 /\!\!/ \mathcal{A}_0$$

is Morita exact. Moreover, this sequence is functorial in the pair $\mathcal{A}_0 \subset \mathcal{A}_1$. Since the dg categories \tilde{C} and S are flat dg categories, the lemma holds for dg categories. Let \mathcal{B} be a homotopically flat dg category, and $\mathscr{A} = (\mathcal{A}, w)$ a dg category with weak equivalences. By (3) and the definition of $\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{B} \otimes \mathscr{A})$, the canonical triangle functor $\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{B}\mathscr{A}) \to \mathcal{T}(\mathcal{B}\mathcal{A} /\!\!/ \mathcal{B}\mathcal{A}^w)$ is cofinal (in fact, this is an equivalence, but we won't need that). Therefore, the lemma reduces to the dg category case.

Remark 8.3. Lemma 8.2 shows that the functors \hat{C} and S satisfy the requirements of the "set-up" of [Sch06, Section 2.2] on the category of dg categories with weak equivalences. They can therefore be used to define the non-connective K-theory spectrum $\mathbb{K}(\mathscr{A})$ of a dg category with weak equivalences \mathscr{A} .

Lemma 8.4. For any dg category with weak equivalences and duality \mathscr{A} such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$, the Grothendieck-Witt spectrum $GW(\tilde{C}\mathscr{A})$ is contractible.

Proof. The proof is the same is the proof of [Sch10b, Lemma 19], and we omit the details. \Box

In the following we will use terminology and results from Sections B.9 – B.11. Let $\tilde{S}^0 \to S^0$ be a cofibrant replacement of the monoidal unit $S^0 \in \text{Sp}$ in the positive projective stable model structure on the category Sp of spectra, and factor the composition $\tilde{S}^0 \to S^0 \to I$ into a cofibration (for the positive model structure) and a stable equivalence $\tilde{S}^0 \to \tilde{I} \to I$ in Sp. Write \tilde{S}^1 for the quotient \tilde{I}/\tilde{S}^0 . The induced map on quotients $\tilde{S}^1 \to S^1$ is a stable equivalence, and \tilde{S}^1 is cofibrant in the positive stable model structure on Sp. The inner product space $\langle 1 \rangle$ of k defines a map $\langle 1 \rangle : S^0 \to GW(k)$ of spectra. Since in the positive stable model structure on Sp, we have a cofibration $\tilde{S}^0 \to \tilde{I}$ and a trivial fibration $GW(\tilde{C}k) \to pt$, the map $\tilde{S}^0 \to S^0 \to GW(k)$ extends to a map $\rho : \tilde{I} \to GW(\tilde{C}k)$ such that the diagram



commutes. Moreover, the composition $GW(k) \to GW(\tilde{C}k) \to GW(Sk)$ is trivial, and we obtain the induced map of spectra $\sigma : \tilde{S}^1 \to GW(Sk)$.

Lemma 8.5. Let \mathscr{A} be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. Assume that the triangulated category $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$ of \mathscr{A} is idempotent complete. Then the composition

$$\rho: \tilde{S}^1 \wedge_S GW(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\sigma \wedge 1} GW(Sk) \wedge_S GW(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\cup} GW(S\mathscr{A})$$

is a stable equivalence.

Proof. Since \mathcal{TA} is idempotent complete, and $\tilde{C} \to S$ surjective on objects, the Morita exact sequence

$$\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A} \to \mathcal{T}C\mathscr{A} \to \mathcal{T}S\mathscr{A}$$

of Lemma 8.2 is in fact quasi-exact. Therefore, in the commutative diagram of spectra

$$\begin{split} \tilde{S}^{0} \wedge_{S} GW(\mathscr{A}) & \longrightarrow \tilde{I} \wedge_{S} GW(\mathscr{A}) & \longrightarrow \tilde{S}^{1} \wedge_{S} GW(\mathscr{A}) \\ & \downarrow^{1} \wedge 1 & \downarrow^{\rho \wedge 1} & \downarrow^{\sigma \wedge 1} \\ GW(k) \wedge_{S} GW(\mathscr{A}) & \longrightarrow GW(k) \wedge_{S} GW(\mathscr{A}) & \longrightarrow GW(k) \wedge_{S} GW(\mathscr{A}) \\ & \cup & \downarrow & \downarrow^{\cup} & \downarrow^{\cup} \\ GW(\mathscr{A}) & \longrightarrow GW(\tilde{C}\mathscr{A}) & \longrightarrow GW(S\mathscr{A}), \end{split}$$

the last row is a homotopy fibration, by Theorem 6.6. As a cofibre sequence, the first row is also a homotopy fibration. Since the composition of the left two and middle two vertical maps are stable equivalences (the latter composition by contractibility of \tilde{I} and $GW(\tilde{C}\mathscr{A})$), the map in the lemma is also a stable equivalence.

8.2. The Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt spectrum. In order to define a symmetric monoidal functor $\mathbb{G}W$ from dg categories to a category of spectra that sends Morita exact sequences to homotopy fibrations, we will work in the symmetric monoidal category of bispectra BiSp. The category of bispectra is yet another model for the stable homotopy category of spectra. This category contains the category of spectra Sp as a symmetric monoidal subcategory. The inclusion $\mathrm{Sp} \subset \mathrm{BiSp}$ preserves stable equivalences and induces an equivalence of associated homotopy categories; see Appendix B.11. The Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt spectrum functor most naturally has values in this category of bispectra. If we are not interested in multiplicative properties of the Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt spectrum, we can stay
within the category Sp of spectra and equivalently work with a certain mapping telescope of spectra as in Remark 8.8 below.

Recall that the category of \tilde{S}^1 - S^1 -bispectra is the category of \tilde{S}^1 -spectra in Sp, that is, the category of left modules over the free commutative monoid \tilde{S} generated by $(0, \tilde{S}^1, 0, 0, ...)$ in Sp^{Σ}. Thus, to specify a symmetric monoidal functor $\mathbb{G}W$: dgCatWD \rightarrow BiSp into \tilde{S}^1 - S^1 -bispectra is the same as to specify a symmetric monoidal functor $\mathbb{G}W$: dgCatWD \rightarrow Sp^{Σ} into symmetric sequences of spectra together with a map of spectra $\sigma: \tilde{S}^1 \rightarrow \mathbb{G}W(k)_1$.

Application of Remark 5.1 with F the symmetric monoidal functor

 $dgCatWD \times dgCatWD \rightarrow Sp : (\mathscr{B}, \mathscr{A}) \mapsto GW(\mathcal{B}\mathcal{A})$

and $U = S \in dgCatWD$ yields the symmetric monoidal functor

$$dgCatWD \longrightarrow Sp^{\Sigma} : \mathscr{A} \mapsto \{n \mapsto \mathbb{G}W(\mathscr{A})_n\}$$

with values in $\operatorname{Sp}^{\Sigma}$ where $\mathbb{G}W(\mathscr{A})_n$ is the spectrum $GW((S)^{\otimes n}\mathscr{A})$ with left Σ_n action permuting the tensor factors $(S)^{\otimes n}$. The map of spectra $\sigma : \tilde{S}^1 \to \mathbb{G}W(k)_1 = GW(Sk)$ extends uniquely to a map of commutative monoids

$$\tilde{S} \to \mathbb{G}W(k)$$

in $\operatorname{Sp}^{\Sigma}$ making every $\mathbb{G}W(k)$ -module $\mathbb{G}W(\mathscr{A})$ into a module over \tilde{S} . Thus, we have defined a symmetric monoidal functor

$$\mathbb{G}W$$
: dgCatWD \rightarrow BiSp.

Definition 8.6. Let \mathscr{A} be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. The bispectrum $\mathbb{G}W(\mathscr{A})$ constructed in Section 8.2 is called the *Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt* spectrum of \mathscr{A} . It is equipped with a natural map of bispectra

(8.3)
$$GW(\mathscr{A}) = \mathbb{G}W(\mathscr{A})_0 \to \mathbb{G}W(\mathscr{A})$$

Its homotopy groups are the Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt groups of \mathscr{A} :

$$\mathbb{G}W_i(\mathscr{A}) = \pi_i \mathbb{G}W(\mathscr{A}) = [\tilde{S}^n, \mathbb{G}W(\mathscr{A})]_{\mathrm{BiSp}}.$$

As usual, we write $\mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(\mathscr{A})$ and $\mathbb{G}W^{[n]}_i(\mathscr{A})$ for $\mathbb{G}W(\mathscr{A}^{[n]})$ and $\mathbb{G}W_i(\mathscr{A}^{[n]})$.

Let \mathcal{T} be a triangulated category. Recall from [BS01] that its idempotent completion $\tilde{\mathcal{T}}$ is canonically a triangulated category. If \mathcal{T} is a triangulated category with duality, then the duality on \mathcal{T} canonically extends to a duality on $\tilde{\mathcal{T}}$ such that the inclusion $\mathcal{T} \subset \tilde{\mathcal{T}}$ is duality preserving.

Proposition 8.7. Let \mathscr{A} be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. Then the bispectrum $\mathbb{G}W(\mathscr{A})$ is semistable. The Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt groups are given by

$$\mathbb{G}W_i^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) = \begin{cases} GW_i^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) & i > 0\\ GW_0^{[n]}(\widetilde{\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}}) & i = 0\\ GW_0^{[n]}(\widetilde{\mathcal{T}S^{-i}\mathscr{A}}) & i < 0. \end{cases}$$

72

In particular, the map (8.3)

$$GW_i^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) \to \mathbb{G}W_i^{[n]}(\mathscr{A})$$

is an isomorphism for $i \ge 1$ and a monomorphism for i = 0. If $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$ is idempotent complete, then this map is also an isomorphism for i = 0.

Proof. The triangulated category \mathcal{TCA} is idempotent complete. This is because there is a triangle functor $F: \mathcal{TCA} \to \mathcal{TCA}$ and a natural isomorphism $F \oplus id \cong F$ (compare [Sch10b, Lemma 19]). The triangle functor and the natural isomorphism extend to a triangle functor and a natural isomorphism on the idempotent completion of \mathcal{TCA} . This forces the K_0 groups of \mathcal{TCA} and its idempotent completion to be trivial. In particular, the cofinal inclusion of \mathcal{TCA} into its idempotent completion induces an isomorphism on K_0 . By Thomason's classification theorem of dense subcategories [Tho97], this inclusion is an equivalence, that is, \mathcal{TCA} is already idempotent complete.

For a dg category with weak equivalences and duality \mathscr{A} , let \mathscr{A}^c be the full dg subcategory of $(C\mathscr{A})^{\text{ptr}}$ of those objects which are direct factors in $\mathcal{T}(C\mathscr{A})$ of objects of $\mathcal{T}(\mathscr{A})$. A map in \mathscr{A}^c is a weak equivalence if it is an isomorphism in $\mathcal{T}(C\mathscr{A})$. Then \mathscr{A}^c is pretriangulated, contains \mathscr{A} , and has associated triangulated category $\mathcal{T}(\mathscr{A}^c)$ the idempotent completion of $\mathcal{T}(\mathscr{A})$. Moreover, the Morita equivalence $S\mathscr{A} \to S(\mathscr{A}^c)$ is in fact a quasi-equivalence because both have trivial K_0 as a quotient of $K_0(C\mathscr{A}) = K_0(C(\mathscr{A}^c)) = 0$. In the diagram

the right vertical map is a stable equivalence, by Lemma 8.5. By Cofinality (Theorem 7.9) the top horizontal map is an isomorphism on π_i for $i \ge 0$, and the bottom one is an isomorphism in all degrees, by the Invariance Theorem 6.5. Therefore, the left vertical map is an isomorphism in degrees $i \ge 0$. By Lemma B.16, the bispectrum $\mathbb{G}W$ is semi-stable, and $\mathbb{G}W_i(\mathscr{A})$ it the colimit of the sequence

$$GW_i(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\sigma \cup} GW_{1+i}(S\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\sigma \cup} \cdots GW_{k+i}(S^k\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\sigma \cup} GW_{1+k+i}(S^{1+k}\mathscr{A}) \cdots$$

which consists of isomorphisms after $k + i \ge 1$. This proves the claim in the proposition for i > 0. If $i \le 0$, then

$$\mathbb{G}W_i(\mathscr{A}) = GW_1(S^{1-i}\mathscr{A}) = GW_0((S^{-i}\mathscr{A})^c) = GW_0(\mathcal{T}S^{-i}\mathscr{A}).$$

Remark 8.8. Recall that the inclusion $\text{Sp} \subset \text{BiSp}$ of spectra into bispectra preserves stable equivalences and induces an equivalence of homotopy categories. By Remark B.17 and Proposition 8.7, the spectrum corresponding to the bispectrum $\mathbb{G}W(\mathscr{A})$ under this equivalence is the mapping telescope of the sequence of spectra

$$GW(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\sigma \cup} \Omega GW(S\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\sigma \cup} \Omega^2 GW(S^2\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\sigma \cup} \cdots$$

This telescope therefore has the correct homotopy type. But it does not retain good point-set multiplicative properties. In particular, it does not define a symmetric monoidal functor dgCatWD \rightarrow Sp. This is the reason we consider GW as a symmetric monoidal functor into bispectra rather than as a functor with values in spectra defined by the mapping telescope above.

Theorem 8.9 (Invariance for $\mathbb{G}W$). Let $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$ be an exact dg form functor between dg categories with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$, \mathscr{B} . If $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A} \to \mathcal{T}\mathscr{B}$ is cofinal, then the map of Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt spectra is a stable equivalence

$$\mathbb{G}W(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{G}W(\mathscr{B}).$$

Proof. The maps of abelian groups $\mathbb{G}W_i(\mathscr{A}) \to \mathbb{G}W_i(\mathscr{B})$ are isomorphisms in view of Proposition 8.7 and Lemma 8.2.

Theorem 8.10 (Localization for $\mathbb{G}W$). Let $\mathscr{A}_0 \to \mathscr{A}_1 \to \mathscr{A}_2$ be a Morita exact sequence of dg categories with weak equivalences and duality. Assume that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}_0, \mathscr{A}_1, \mathscr{A}_2$. Then the commutative square of Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt spectra

is homotopy cartesian, and the lower left corner is contractible. In particular, for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ there is a homotopy fibration of Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt spectra

$$\mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}_0) \to \mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}_1) \to \mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}_2).$$

Proof. To ease notation, we will prove the theorem for n = 0. The general case is then obtained from the case n = 0 by replacing \mathcal{A}_i with $\mathscr{A}_i^{[n]}$. By Remark 8.8, it suffices to check that the mapping telescope of the squares of spectra

is homotopy cartesian with contractible lower left corner. Here, we have written Ω^n for $\operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(\tilde{S}^n, \)$. One square maps into the next via the cup-product with $\sigma: \tilde{S}^1 \to GW(Sk)$.

As in the proof of Proposition 8.7, let \mathscr{A}^c be the full dg subcategory of $(C\mathscr{A})^{\text{ptr}}$ of those objects which are direct factors in $\mathcal{T}(C\mathscr{A})$ of objects of $\mathcal{T}(\mathscr{A})$. So, $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A} \to \mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}^c$ is an idempotent completion. Let $(S^n\mathscr{A}_2)^e \subset (S^n\mathscr{A}_2)^c$ be the full dg subcategory of those objects which are in the essential image of the functor $\mathcal{T}(S^n\mathscr{A}_1)^c \to \mathcal{T}(S^n\mathscr{A}_2)^c$. The dg category $(S^n\mathscr{A}_2)^e$ inherits the structure of a dg category with weak equivalences and duality from $(S^n\mathscr{A}_2)^c$. By Lemma 8.5 and the Cofinality theorem for GW (or from the Invariance theorem 8.9), the telescope of the diagrams (8.4) is stably equivalent to the mapping telescope over the diagrams of spectra

By Lemma 8.2, the sequence

$$(S^n \mathscr{A}_0)^c \to (S^n \mathscr{A}_1)^c \to (S^n \mathscr{A}_2)^e$$

is Morita exact. In fact, this sequence is quasi-exact, since the first two dg categories with weak equivalences have idempotent complete associated triangulated categories, and the last functor is essentially surjective on associated triangulated categories. By the Localization Theorem 6.6 for GW, the squares 8.5 are homotopy (co-) cartesian with contractible lower left corner. Therefore, the same is true for the mapping telescope over the diagrams (8.5) and (8.4).

As in Section 6, set

$$\mathbb{K}(\mathscr{A}) = \mathbb{G}W(\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A}).$$

By Remark 8.3, this bispectrum represents non-connective algebraic K-theory of \mathscr{A} as defined in [Sch06].

Theorem 8.11 (Algebraic Bott Sequence for $\mathbb{G}W$). Let \mathscr{A} be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality for which $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. Then the sequence of Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt spectra

$$\mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{F} \mathbb{K}(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{H} \mathbb{G}W^{[n+1]}(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\eta \cup} S^1 \wedge \mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(\mathscr{A})$$

is an exact triangle in the homotopy category of (bi-)spectra.

Proof. This follows from Theorem 6.1 in view of Remark 8.8. Alternatively, it also follows from the Localization Theorem 8.10 in view of Remark 6.7. \Box

As in Section 7.1, we consider the bispectrum $\mathbb{K}(\mathscr{A}) = \mathbb{G}W(\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A})$ equipped with the C_2 -action coming from the action on $\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A}$ and the functoriality of $\mathbb{G}W$, and we obtain a commutative diagram of bispectra

as in (7.6).

Definition 8.12 (Compare Definition 7.1). For $\mathscr{A} \in \text{dgCatWD}$, we define its stabilized *L*-theory spectrum $\mathbb{L}(\mathscr{A})$ as

$$\mathbb{L}(\mathscr{A}) = \eta^{-1} \mathbb{G} W(\mathscr{A}) = \eta^{-1} \sigma^{-1} G W(\mathscr{A}).$$

This a module spectrum over the commutative ring spectrum $L(k) = (\eta^4 \mu)^{-1} GW(k)$. In particular, it is 4-periodic with periodicity isomorphism induced by the cupproduct with $\eta^4 \mu$. As usual, $\mathbb{L}^{[n]}(\mathscr{A})$ denotes $\mathbb{L}(\mathscr{A}^{[n]})$, and the homotopy groups of $\mathbb{L}^{[n]}(\mathscr{A})$ are denoted by $\mathbb{L}^{[n]}_i(\mathscr{A})$. As in Remark 8.8, the spectrum $\mathbb{L}(\mathscr{A})$ is the mapping telescope of the sequence of spectra

(8.7)
$$L(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\sigma \cup} \Omega L(S\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\sigma \cup} \Omega^2 L(S^2\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\sigma \cup} \cdots$$

In particular, its homotopy groups $L_i(\mathscr{A})$ are given by the colimit

(8.8)
$$L_i(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\sigma \cup} L_{i+1}(S\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\sigma \cup} L_{i+2}(S^2\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\sigma \cup} \cdots$$

These groups are isomorphic to Karoubi's stabilized Witt groups [Kar06], but we won't need that fact here.

With this definition we have the $\mathbb{G}W$ -variant of Theorem 7.6 which is proved in the same way as Theorem 7.6.

Theorem 8.13. Let \mathscr{A} be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. Then the squares of (bi-) spectra (8.6) are homotopy cartesian, the lower left corner is contractible, and the lower right term is the Tate spectrum of the C_2 -spectrum $\mathbb{K}(\mathscr{A})$. In particular, there is a natural homotopy fibration

 $\mathbb{K}(\mathscr{A})_{hC_2} \to \mathbb{G}W(\mathscr{A}) \to \mathbb{L}(\mathscr{A})$

and a homotopy cartesian square of spectra



Recall (8.3) that there is a natural map of (bi-) spectra $GW(\mathscr{A}) \to \mathbb{G}W(\mathscr{A})$ since the 0-th spectrum of the bispectrum $\mathbb{G}W(\mathscr{A})$ is the spectrum $GW(\mathcal{A})$.

Theorem 8.14. Let \mathscr{A} be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. Then the following square of (bi-) spectra is homotopy cartesian



Proof. By Theorems 7.6 and 8.13 the map on vertical homotopy fibres is a map of L(k)-modules. In particular, this map is 4-periodic. By Proposition 8.7 and its K-theory analog, the maps $GW(\mathscr{A}) \to \mathbb{G}W(\mathscr{A})$ and $K(\mathscr{A}) \to \mathbb{K}(\mathscr{A})$ are isomorphisms in positive degrees (and monomorphisms in degree 0). It follows that the horizontal homotopy fibres are trivial in high degrees. In particular, the map between horizontal homotopy fibres is an isomorphism in high degrees. Therefore, the map on vertical homotopy fibres is an isomorphism in sufficiently high degrees. Since this map is periodic, it is an isomorphism in all degrees.

Proposition 8.15 (Additivity for $\mathbb{G}W$). Let (\mathscr{U}, \vee) be a pretriangulated dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{U}$. Let $\mathscr{A} \subset \mathscr{U}$ be a full pretriangulated dg subcategory containing the w-acyclic objects \mathscr{U}^w of \mathscr{U} . Assume that $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{U}(A, B^{\vee}) = 0$ for all $A, B \in \mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$, and that $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{U}$ is generated as a triangulated category by $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}$ and $\mathcal{T}\mathscr{A}^{\vee}$. Then the exact dg form functor

$$\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{U} : (A, B) \mapsto A \oplus B^{\vee}$$

induces a stable equivalence of Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt spectra:

$$\mathbb{K}(\mathscr{A}) = \mathbb{G}W(\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{G}W(\mathscr{U}).$$

Proof. From the proof of Proposition 6.8, the functor $\mathcal{H}\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{U}$ induces a K-theory equivalence. The same argument applies to show that it induces an equivalence of non-connective K-theory spectra \mathbb{K} . Since it is a GW-theory equivalence, by Proposition 6.8, Theorem 8.14 implies that it is also a an equivalence of Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt spectra $\mathbb{G}W$.

76

We end this section with a lemma which we need in the proof of Brumfiel's theorem in [KSW].

Lemma 8.16. Let \mathscr{A} be a dg category with weak equivalences and duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathscr{A}$. Then the natural map $L(\mathscr{A}) \to \mathbb{L}(\mathscr{A})$ induces a weak equivalence of spectra after inverting 2:

$$L(\mathscr{A})[1/2] \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbb{L}(\mathscr{A})[1/2].$$

Proof. Recall from the proof of Proposition 8.7 the dg categories with weak equivalences and duality \mathscr{A}^c , $S\mathscr{A}$ and $S(\mathscr{A}^c)$. The map $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}^c$ is a Morita equivalence, $\mathcal{T}(\mathscr{A}^c)$ is idempotent complete, and $S(\mathscr{A}) \to S(\mathscr{A}^c)$ is a quasi-equivalence. Lemma 8.5 holds with L in place of GW. In particular, in the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} L(\mathscr{A}) & \xrightarrow{\sigma \cup} \Omega L(S\mathscr{A}) \\ & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ L(\mathscr{A}^c) & \xrightarrow{\sigma \cup} \Omega L((S\mathscr{A})^c) \end{array}$$

the lower horizontal and the right vertical maps are equivalences. The left vertical map is an equivalence after inverting 2, by Cofinality (Theorem 7.9), hence, so is the top horizontal map. It follows that all maps in the sequence (8.7) are equivalences after inverting 2. Since $\mathbb{L}(\mathscr{A})[1/2]$ is the homotopy colimit of that sequence, we are done.

9. Higher Grothendieck-Witt groups of schemes

9.1. Vector bundle Grothendieck-Witt groups. Let X be a scheme. Write $\operatorname{Vect}(X)$ for the category of finite rank locally free sheaves on X. Denote by $\operatorname{sPerf}(X) = \operatorname{Ch}^b \operatorname{Vect}(X)$ the dg category of strictly perfect complexes on X, that is, the dg category of bounded complexes in $\operatorname{Vect}(X)$; see Example 1.30. The underlying category $Z^0 \operatorname{sPerf}(X)$ is a closed symmetric monoidal category with tensor product \otimes_{O_X} and internal homomorphism complex $\operatorname{Hom}_{O_X}^{\bullet}(E, F)$ given by formulas as in Subsection 1.1. The mapping complex of two objects in $\operatorname{sPerf}(X)$ is the complex of global sections of their internal homomorphism object. As in any closed symmetric monoidal category, an object A of $\operatorname{sPerf}(X)$ defines a duality

$$\sharp_A : \operatorname{sPerf}(X)^{op} \to \operatorname{sPerf}(X) : E \mapsto Hom_{O_X}^{\bullet}(E, A)$$

with double dual identification $\operatorname{can}^A : E \to E^{\sharp_A \sharp_A}$ given by the formula

$$\operatorname{can}_{E}^{A}(x)(f) = (-1)^{|x||f|} f(x).$$

If A is an invertible strictly perfect complex on X, that is, a shift of a line bundle on X, then the double dual identification is a natural isomorphism.

Let A be an invertible strictly perfect complex on X. Together with the set quis of quasi-isomorphisms, we obtain a dg category with weak equivalences and duality

(9.1)
$$\operatorname{sPerf}^{A}(X) = (\operatorname{sPerf}(X), \operatorname{quis}, \sharp_{A}, \operatorname{can}^{A}).$$

We say that $\frac{1}{2} \in X$ if $\frac{1}{2} \in \Gamma(X, O_X)$.

Definition 9.1. Let X be a scheme with an ample family of line bundles [TT90, Definition 2.1] such that $\frac{1}{2} \in X$, and let L a line bundle on X. The *n*-th shifted Grothendieck-Witt and Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt spectra of X with coefficients in

L are the *n*-th shifted Grothendieck-Witt and Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt spectra of (9.1) for A = L, that is,

$$GW^{[n]}(X,L) = GW^{[n]}(\operatorname{sPerf}^{L}(X)), \text{ and}$$
$$\mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(X,L) = \mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(\operatorname{sPerf}^{L}(X)).$$

Their homotopy groups are denoted by

$$GW_i^{[n]}(X, L) = \pi_i GW^{[n]}(X, L),$$
 and
 $\mathbb{G}W_i^{[n]}(X, L) = \pi_i \mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(X, L).$

When n = 0, or $L = O_X$, we may omit the decoration corresponding to it. For instance, GW(X) denotes $GW^{[0]}(X, O_X)$.

Remark. In [TT90], the K-theory of a quasi-compact and quasi-separated scheme X is defined as the K-theory of the category of perfect complexes on X. If X has an ample family of line bundles, this is also the K-theory of the category of strictly perfect complexes. If one wishes, one can develop the theory of higher Grothendieck-Witt groups for perfect complexes in the generality of Thomason; the technical foundations have been laid in the previous sections. But at the moment I don't see the need to deal with the extra technicalities that come with this generality, and have decided to stick with schemes that have an ample family of line bundles. This is sufficient for most applications.

Remark 9.2. Let X be a k-scheme with structure map $p: X \to \text{Spec}(k)$. The tensor product

$$\mathscr{C}_{k}^{[n]} \otimes_{k} \operatorname{sPerf}^{L}(X) \to \operatorname{sPerf}^{L[n]}(X) : A \otimes_{k} E \mapsto p^{*}A \otimes_{O_{X}} E$$

with duality compatibility as in (1.10) is an equivalence of dg categories with weak equivalences and duality. Therefore, the Grothendieck-Witt and Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt spectra $GW^{[n]}(X, L)$ and $\mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(X, L)$ are really the Grothendieck-Witt and Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt spectra of $\mathrm{sPerf}^{L[n]}(X)$ (without shift).

Proposition 9.3. Let X be a scheme with an ample family of line bundles such that $\frac{1}{2} \in X$. Then the following hold.

(1) For all $n, i \in \mathbb{Z}$ with $i \ge 0$ and all line bundles L on X, the map (8.3) is an isomorphism

$$GW_i^{[n]}(X,L) \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathbb{G}W_i^{[n]}(X,L).$$

(2) If $\mathbb{K}_i(X) = 0$ for i < 0 (e.g., X is a regular noetherian separated scheme) then the map (8.3) is a stable equivalence for all line bundles L on X and all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$:

$$GW^{[n]}(X,L) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(X,L).$$

Proof. The first part follows from Proposition 8.7 since $\mathcal{T}(\operatorname{sPerf}(X)) = D^b \operatorname{Vect}(X)$ is idempotent complete; see for instance [BS01].

For the second part, the map $K(X) \to \mathbb{K}(X)$ is a stable equivalence, by assumption. Therefore, the lower horizontal map in the square of Theorem 8.14 is a stable equivalence. Since this square is homotopy cartesian, the upper horizontal map of that square is also an equivalence.

9.2. **Products.** Let L_1 , L_2 be two line bundles on X and denote by L_1L_2 their tensor product $L_1 \otimes_{O_X} L_2$. Tensor product of complexes defines an exact dg form functor

$$(\otimes_{O_X}, \operatorname{can}) : \operatorname{sPerf}^{L_1}(X) \otimes_k \operatorname{sPerf}^{L_2}(X) \longrightarrow \operatorname{sPerf}^{L_1L_2}(X)$$

with duality compatibility map can as defined in (1.10). The tensor product is associative and unital up to natural isomorphism of dg form functors with unit the duality preserving functor $k \to \operatorname{sPerf}(X) : k \mapsto O_X$. Recall that the functors $GW : \operatorname{dgCatWD} \to \operatorname{Sp}$ and $\mathbb{G}W : \operatorname{dgCatWD} \to \operatorname{BiSp}$ are symmetric monoidal, and that the natural transformation $GW \to \mathbb{G}W$ commutes with the monoidal compatibility maps. Therefore, the tensor product of strictly perfect complexes induces maps of (bi-) spectra

$$GW^{[n]}(X, L_1) \wedge_S GW^{[m]}(X, L_2) \xrightarrow{\cup} GW^{[n+m]}(X, L_1L_2)$$
$$\mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(X, L_1) \wedge_{\tilde{S}} \mathbb{G}W^{[m]}(X, L_2) \xrightarrow{\cup} \mathbb{G}W^{[n+m]}(X, L_1L_2)$$

which are associative and unital up to homotopy. Taking homotopy groups, we obtain associative and unital cup products

$$GW_i^{[n]}(X, L_1) \otimes GW_j^{[m]}(X, L_2) \xrightarrow{\cup} GW_{i+j}^{[n+m]}(X, L_1L_2)$$
$$\mathbb{G}W_i^{[n]}(X, L_1) \otimes \mathbb{G}W_j^{[m]}(X, L_2) \xrightarrow{\cup} \mathbb{G}W_{i+j}^{[n+m]}(X, L_1L_2)$$

which are commutative in the sense that

$$\tau(a \cup b) = (-1)^{ij} \langle -1 \rangle^{mn} \cup b \cup a$$

for all $a \in GW_i^{[n]}(X, L_1)$ (or $a \in \mathbb{G}W_i^{[n]}(X, L_1)$), and $b \in GW_j^{[m]}(X, L_2)$ (or $b \in GW_j^{[m]}(X, L_2)$) where $\tau : L_1L_2 \cong L_2L_1$ is the switch isomorphism and $\langle -1 \rangle = [O_X, -1] \in GW_0(X)$. The proof is the same as the proof of Proposition 5.8, and we omit the details.

9.3. Functoriality. Let Sch be a small category of schemes, e.g., schemes of finite type over some fixed base. Let Sch denote the category whose objects are the pairs (X, L) where X is a scheme in Sch and L is a line bundle on X. A morphism $(X, L) \to (Y, M)$ in this category is a pair (f, α) where $f : X \to Y$ is a map of schemes and $\alpha : f^*M \cong L$ is an isomorphism. Composition of the two maps $(f, \alpha) : (X, L) \to (Y, M)$ and $(g, \beta) : (Y, M) \to (Z, N)$ is the pair

$$(g,\beta) \circ (f,\alpha) = (g \circ f, \alpha \circ f^*(\beta) \circ \lambda_{f,g})$$

where $\lambda_{f,g} : (gf)^* \cong f^*g^*$ is the usual natural isomorphism of functors. The higher Grothendieck-Witt groups $GW_i^{[n]}$ and $\mathbb{G}W_i^{[n]}$ are functorial for maps in this category.

More precisely, for a map $f: X \to Y$ of schemes, the functor $f^*: \operatorname{sPerf}(Y) \to \operatorname{sPerf}(X)$ is a symmetric monoidal functor between closed symmetric monoidal categories. As such it is equipped with natural maps

$$\phi_f: f^*[E, F] \to [f^*E, f^*F]$$

such that, given $g: Y \to Z$ and $E, F \in \operatorname{sPerf}(Z)$, the following diagram commutes

$$\begin{array}{c} f^*g^*[E,F] \xrightarrow{f^*\phi_g} f^*[g^*E,g^*F] \xrightarrow{\phi_f} [f^*g^*E,f^*g^*F] \\ & \lambda_{f,g} \uparrow \\ (gf)^*[E,F] \xrightarrow{\phi_{gf}} [(gf)^*E,(gf)^*F] \xrightarrow{[1,\lambda_{f,g}]} [(gf)^*E,f^*g^*F]. \end{array}$$

Now, a map $(f, \alpha) : (X, L) \to (Y, M)$ in Sch defines an exact dg form functor

 $(f,\alpha)^*:\mathrm{sPerf}^M(Y)\to\mathrm{sPerf}^L(X):E\mapsto f^*E$

with duality compatibility map $f^*[E, M] \xrightarrow{\phi_f} [f^*E, f^*M] \xrightarrow{[1,\alpha]} [f^*E, L]$. Given composable maps (f, α) and (g, β) as above, then $\lambda_{f,g}$ defines a natural isomorphism of dg form functors

$$\lambda_{f,g} : (f,\alpha)^* (g,\beta)^* \cong ((g,\beta) \circ (f,\alpha))^*.$$

Therefore, the diagrams of Grothendieck-Witt and Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt spectra $% \mathcal{A}$

commute up to homotopy. In particular, the higher Grothendieck-Witt groups $GW_i^{[n]}$ and $\mathbb{G}W_i^{[n]}$ are functors from Sch to abelian groups. Since tensor products of complexes commute with f^* up to natural isomorphism

Since tensor products of complexes commute with f^* up to natural isomorphism of dg functors, we have

$$f^*(a \cup b) = f^*(a) \cup f^*(b) \in GW_{i+j}^{[n+m]}(X)$$

for $a \in GW_i^{[n]}(Y)$ and $b \in GW_j^{[m]}(Y)$, and similarly for $\mathbb{G}W$ in place of GW.

Remark 9.4 (Strict Functoriality). Sometimes it is convenient to have functors

$$GW^{[n]}: \widetilde{\mathrm{Sch}} \to \mathrm{Sp}$$
 and $\mathbb{G}W^{[n]}: \widetilde{\mathrm{Sch}} \to \mathrm{BiSp}$

with values in (bi-) spectra before taking homotopy groups. The trouble with the functoriality as noted in Remark 9.3 is that the natural isomorphism of functors $\lambda_{f,g} : (gf)^* \cong f^*g^*$ is not the identity. As explained in [FS02, Appendix C.4], if we replace the (somewhat unspecified) category of vector bundles on X with the equivalent small category of big vector bundles on X, then we have equality $\lambda_{f,g} = id : (gf)^* = f^*g^*$. In particular, the resulting assignment $X \mapsto \operatorname{sPerf}^L(X)$ is functorial for maps in Sch and we obtain indeed a functor $GW^{[n]} : \operatorname{Sch} \to \operatorname{Sp}$ and $\mathbb{G}W^{[n]} : \operatorname{Sch} \to \operatorname{BiSp}$.

Let $Z \subset X$ be a closed subset with open complement X - Z. A complex $E \in \operatorname{sPerf}(X)$ has support in Z if it is acyclic outside Z, that is if for all $x \in X - Z$ the complex $E_x \in \operatorname{sPerf}(O_{X,x})$ is an acyclic complex of $O_{X,x}$ -modules. We denote by $\operatorname{sPerf}_Z^L(X)$ the full dg subcategory with weak equivalences and duality of $\operatorname{sPerf}^L(X)$ of those complexes which have support in Z. The *n*-th shifted Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt spectrum of X with coefficients in L and support in Z is the Karoubi-Grothendieck Witt spectrum of $\operatorname{sPerf}_Z^L(X)$, denoted by $\mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(X \text{ on } Z, L)$.

The following theorem was proved in [Sch10b] without the assumption $\frac{1}{2} \in X$.

Theorem 9.5 (Localization for vector bundle Grothendieck-Witt groups). Let X be a scheme with an ample family of line-bundles and $\frac{1}{2} \in X$. Let $Z \subset X$ be a closed subset with quasi-compact open complement U = X - Z. Then for all line-bundles L on X and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, the following is a homotopy fibration

$$\mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(X \text{ on } Z, L) \longrightarrow \mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(X, L) \longrightarrow \mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(U, L).$$

Proof. By a result of Thomason [TT90], the sequence of dg categories weak equivalences and duality

$$\operatorname{sPerf}_Z^L(X) \to \operatorname{sPerf}^L(X) \to \operatorname{sPerf}^L(U)$$

is Morita exact. The result follows from the Localization Theorem 8.10.

Theorem 9.6 (Nisnevich Mayer-Vietoris). Consider a pull-back diagram of quasicompact schemes



in which the map p is étale and the map j is an open immersion. Assume that X has an ample family of line bundles, and $\frac{1}{2} \in X$ (the same is then true for Y, U and V). If the map $p: (Y - V)_{red} \rightarrow (X - U)_{red}$ is an isomorphism, then for all line bundles L on X and all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ the square of schemes induces a homotopy cartesian diagram of Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt spectra

Proof. Let Z denote the common closed subset $(Y - V)_{red} \cong (X - U)_{red}$ of X and Y. By a result of Thomason [TT90, Theorem 2.6.3], the map p induces a quasi-equivalence of dg categories

$$p^* : \operatorname{sPerf}_Z(X) \to \operatorname{sPerf}_Z(Y).$$

The result now follows from Theorems 8.9 and 9.5.

Theorem 9.7 (Nisnevich descent). Let X be a noetherian scheme of finite Krull dimension with an ample family of line bundles and $\frac{1}{2} \in X$. Then for all line bundles L on X and all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, the map on global sections of a globally fibrant replacement for the Nisnevich topology of $\mathbb{GW}^{[n]}(\ ,L)$ on the small Nisnevich site on X is a stable equivalence:

$$\mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(X,L) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{H}_{Nis}\left(X,\mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(-,L)\right).$$

Proof. This follows from the Nisnevich Mayer-Vietoris Theorem 9.6 using for instance a spectrum version of [MV99, Lemma 1.18]. Alternatively, the same arguments as in [TT90, Theorem 10.8] using Theorem 9.6 yield the result. \Box

Theorem 9.8 (Homotopy Invariance). Let X be a noetherian regular separated scheme with $\frac{1}{2} \in X$. Then for all line bundles L on X and all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, the projection $p: X \times \mathbb{A}^1 \to X$ induces a stable equivalence of Grothendieck-Witt spectra

$$GW^{[n]}(X,L) \xrightarrow{\sim} GW^{[n]}(X \times \mathbb{A}^1, p^*L)$$

Proof. The analogous statement for K-theory and triangular Witt groups hold, by [Qui73] and [Bal01b, Theorem 3.4]. The theorem follows from Theorem 7.6 or from Lemma 6.4.

Theorem 9.9 (Mayer-Vietoris for regular blow-ups). *Consider a pull-back diagram* of schemes



in which the map i is a closed immersion and the map p is the blow-up of X along i. Assume that X has an ample family of line bundles, and $\frac{1}{2} \in X$ (the same is then true for Y, X' and Y'). If the map i is a regular embedding of codimension d, then for all line bundles L on X and all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ the square of schemes induces a homotopy cartesian diagram of Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt spectra



Proof. The claim is local in X, by Theorem 9.6. Therefore, we may assume X and Y affine and $L = O_X$. To ease notation, write D_X for the triangulated category \mathcal{T} sPerf(X), and similarly for Y, X', Y'. So, D_X and D_Y are generated as idempotent complete triangulated categories by O_X and O_Y , respectively. Recall (e.g., from [CHSW08, Lemma 1.4]) that the triangle functors $Lp^*: D_X \to D_{X'}, Lq^*: D_Y \to D_{Y'}$ and $Rj_*Lq^*: D_Y \to D_{X'}$ are fully faithful. Write $Lp^*D_X^{(k)}$ and $Rj_*Lq^*D_Y^{(k)}$ for the triangulated categories $O_{X'}(k) \otimes Lp^*D_X$ and $O_{X'}(k) \otimes Rj_*Lq^*D_Y$.

For triangulated subcategories $\mathcal{A}_1, ..., \mathcal{A}_n$ of an idempotent complete triangulated category \mathcal{A} , we denote by $\langle \mathcal{A}_1, ..., \mathcal{A}_n \rangle$ the idempotent complete triangulated subcategory of \mathcal{A} generated by $\mathcal{A}_1, ..., \mathcal{A}_n$. From the exact triangle in $D_{X'}$

$$O_{X'}(1) \to O_{X'} \to Rj_*O_{Y'} \to O_{X'}(1)[1],$$

we obtain the equality of triangulated subcategories of D(X')

$$(9.2) \qquad \langle O_{X'}(1) \otimes Lp^*D_X, \ Rj_*Lq^*D_Y \rangle = \langle O_{X'}(1) \otimes Lp^*D_X, \ Lp^*D_X \rangle$$

since the generators $O_{X'}(1)$ and $Rj_*O_{Y'}$ of the left hand side are in the right hand category, and the generators $O_{X'}(1)$ and $O_{X'}$ of the right hand side are in the left category. If we denote by \vee the duality functor $E \mapsto E^{\vee} = \text{Hom}(E, O_{X'})$ in $D_{X'}$, then applying \vee to the equality of triangulated subcategories yields the equality

$$(9.3) \quad \langle O_{X'}(-1) \otimes Lp^* D_X, \ (Rj_*Lq^* D_Y)^{\vee} \rangle = \langle O_{X'}(-1) \otimes Lp^* D_X, \ Lp^* D_X \rangle.$$

For $c = \lfloor \frac{d-1}{2} \rfloor$ the largest integer $\leq \frac{d-1}{2}$, let \mathcal{A} be the triangulated subcategory $\mathcal{A} = \left\langle Rj_*Lq^*D_Y^{(-1)}, ..., Rj_*Lq^*D_Y^{(-c)} \right\rangle$

of $D_{X'}$. From the equalities of triangulated categories above, we obtain the equalities of triangulated categories

$$\left\langle Lp^* D_X^{(c)}, Rj_* Lq^* D_Y^{(c-1)}, Rj_* Lq^* D_Y^{(c-2)}, ..., Rj_* Lq^* D_Y \right\rangle$$

$$\stackrel{(9.2)}{=} \left\langle Lp^* D_X^{(c)}, Lp^* D_X^{(c-1)}, ..., Lp^* D_X \right\rangle$$

$$\stackrel{(9.3)}{=} \left\langle \left(Rj_* Lq^* D_Y^{(-c)} \right)^{\vee}, ..., \left(Rj_* Lq^* D_Y^{(-1)} \right)^{\vee}, Lp^* D_X \right\rangle$$

$$= \left\langle \mathcal{A}^{\vee}, Lp^* D_X \right\rangle$$

From [CHSW08, Lemma 1.2(1)], this implies

$$D_{X'} = O_{X'}(c) \otimes D_{X'}$$

= $O_{X'}(c) \otimes \left\langle Lp^* D_X, Rj_* Lq^* D_Y^{(-1)}, Rj_* Lq^* D_Y^{(-2)}, ..., Rj_* Lq^* D_Y^{(-d+1)} \right\rangle$
= $\left\langle \mathcal{A}^{\vee}, Lp^* D_X, \mathcal{A}, \left[Rj_* Lq^* D_Y^{(-c-1)} \right] \right\rangle$

where the last term $[Rj_*Lq^*D_Y^{(-c-1)}]$ denotes $Rj_*Lq^*D_Y^{(-c-1)}$ if d-1 is odd and 0 if d-1 is even. As noted in the proof of [CHSW08, Proposition 1.5], every map from objects of

$$\langle \mathcal{A}^{\vee}, \ Lp^*D_X \rangle = \left\langle Lp^*D_X^{(c)}, \ Rj_*Lq^*D_Y^{(c-1)}, ..., Rj_*Lq^*D_Y \right\rangle$$

to objects of

$$\left\langle Rj_*Lq^*D_Y^{(-1)}, ..., Rj_*Lq^*D_Y^{(c-d+1)} \right\rangle = \left\langle \mathcal{A}, \ \left[Rj_*Lq^*D_Y^{(-c-1)} \right] \right\rangle$$

is zero.

Similarly, let \mathcal{B} be the triangulated subcategory

$$\mathcal{B} = \left\langle Lq^* D_Y^{(-1)}, ..., Lq^* D_Y^{(-c)} \right\rangle$$

of $D_{Y'}$. From [CHSW08, Lemma 1.2 (2)], we have

$$D_{Y'} = \left\langle \mathcal{B}^{\vee}, \ Lq^*D_Y, \ \mathcal{B}, \ \left[Lq^*D_Y^{(-c-1)}\right] \right\rangle$$

and every map from objects of $\langle \mathcal{B}^{\vee}, Lq^*D_Y \rangle$ to objects of $\langle \mathcal{B}, [Lq^*D_Y^{(-c-1)}] \rangle$ are zero. From [CHSW08, Proposition 1.5] and the fact that Lj^* commutes with dualities (up to natural isomorphism), we see that Lj^* sends $\langle Lp^*D_X, \mathcal{A} \rangle, Lp^*D_X$ and $\langle \mathcal{A}^{\vee}, Lp^*D_X \rangle$ to $\langle Lq^*D_Y \mathcal{B} \rangle, Lq^*D_Y$ and $\langle \mathcal{B}^{\vee}, Lq^*D_Y \rangle$. So, we have a map of filtrations of triangulated categories and dualities

$$(9.4) \qquad D_X \xrightarrow{Lp^*} Lp^* D_X \longleftrightarrow \langle \mathcal{A}^{\vee}, Lp^* D_X, \mathcal{A} \rangle \longleftrightarrow D_{X'}$$

$$Li^* \downarrow \qquad Lj^* \downarrow \qquad Lj^* \downarrow \qquad Lj^* \downarrow$$

$$D_Y \xrightarrow{Lq^*} Lq^* D_Y \longleftrightarrow \langle \mathcal{B}^{\vee}, Lq^* D_X, \mathcal{B} \rangle \longleftrightarrow D_{Y'}.$$

To this diagram corresponds a diagram of dg categories with weak equivalences and duality

where $\operatorname{sPerf}^i(X') \subset \operatorname{sPerf}(X')$ and $\operatorname{sPerf}^i(Y') \subset \operatorname{sPerf}(Y')$ are the full dg subcategories whose objects are in the triangulated subcategories of $D_{X'}$ and $D_{Y'}$ as indicated in diagram (9.4), so that the triangulated category diagram obtained from (9.5) is precisely the diagram (9.4).

I claim that all squares in (9.5) induce homotopy cartesian squares of $\mathbb{G}W$ -spectra. As a composition of homotopy cartesian squares, the outer diagram will then induce a homotopy cartesian of $\mathbb{G}W$ -spectra as claimed in the theorem. The left square of (9.5) induces a homotopy cartesian square of $\mathbb{G}W$ -spectra, by the Invariance Theorem 8.9 applied to the two horizontal arrows.

For the middle square of (9.5), the Localization Theorem 8.10 identifies the horizontal homotopy cofibres as the GW-spectra of the dg categories with weak equivalences and duality $(\operatorname{sPerf}^1(X'), v)$ and $(\operatorname{sPerf}^1(Y'), v)$ where the weak equivalences are the maps whose cones are in Lp^*D_X and Lq^*D_Y . Let $(\operatorname{sPerf}^1_0(X'), v) \subset$ $(\operatorname{sPerf}^1(X'), v)$ and $(\operatorname{sPerf}^1_0(Y'), v) \subset (\operatorname{sPerf}^1_0(Y'), v)$ be the full dg subcategories with weak equivalences and duality corresponding to the triangulated categories $\langle Lp^*D_X, \mathcal{A} \rangle / Lp^*D_X$ and $\langle Lq^*D_Y, \mathcal{B} \rangle / Lq^*D_Y$. By the Additivity Theorem 8.15, we have

 $\mathbb{G}W(\operatorname{sPerf}^1(X'), v) \simeq \mathbb{K}(\operatorname{sPerf}^1_0(X'), v), \quad \mathbb{G}W(\operatorname{sPerf}^1(Y'), v) \simeq \mathbb{K}(\operatorname{sPerf}^1_0(Y'), v).$

By [CHSW08, Proposition 1.5], the following induced map is a stable equivalence $j^* : \mathbb{K}(\operatorname{sPerf}_0^1(X'), v) \to \mathbb{K}(\operatorname{sPerf}_0^1(Y'), v)$. Therefore, the middle square in (9.5) induces a homotopy cartesian square of $\mathbb{G}W$ -spectra.

The last square in (9.5) induces a homotopy cartesian square of $\mathbb{G}W$ -spectra, by the Localization and Invariance Theorems 8.10 and 8.9, since Lj^* induces an equivalence after taking horizontal triangulated quotient categories, by [CHSW08, Proposition 1.5].

9.4. **Projective line-bundle formula.** Write $\mathbb{P}^1 = \operatorname{Proj}(k[S,T])$ for the projective line \mathbb{P}^1_k over k where k is our base ring, e.g., $k = \mathbb{Z}[1/2]$. Consider the category $\operatorname{Vect}(\mathbb{P}^1)$ of vector bundles on \mathbb{P}^1 equipped with the usual duality $\operatorname{Hom}(\ , O_{\mathbb{P}^1})$. Recall (Section 1.9) that this makes the category $\operatorname{Fun}([1], \operatorname{Vect}(\mathbb{P}^1))$ of morphisms in $\operatorname{Vect}(\mathbb{P}^1)$ into a category with duality. In that category, we have an object $S : O_{\mathbb{P}^1}(-1) \to O_{\mathbb{P}^1}$ (multiplication by $S \in k[S,T]$) equipped with the symmetric form $\tilde{\beta}$



(multiplication by T). We consider $\tilde{\beta}$ as a symmetric form in the dg category Fun([1], Ch^b Vect(\mathbb{P}^1)) of morphisms of complexes via the embedding Vect(\mathbb{P}^1) \rightarrow Ch^b Vect(\mathbb{P}^1) as complexes concentrated in degree 0. Its image under the cone dg form functor

Cone : Fun([1], Ch^b Vect(
$$\mathbb{P}^1$$
))^[0] $\longrightarrow \left(Ch^b Vect(\mathbb{P}^1) \right)^{[1]}$

is denoted by β . In view of the exact sequence

$$O_{\mathbb{P}^1}(-1) \xrightarrow{\binom{S}{T}} O_{\mathbb{P}^1} \oplus O_{\mathbb{P}^1} \xrightarrow{(T,-S)} O_{\mathbb{P}^1}(1),$$

the form on β is a quasi-isomorphism of complexes of sheaves on \mathbb{P}^1 . Therefore, β is non-degenerate and defines an element

$$\beta = \operatorname{Cone}(\tilde{\beta}) \in GW_0^{[1]}(\mathbb{P}^1).$$

Theorem 9.10. Let X be a scheme with an ample family of line bundles and $\frac{1}{2} \in X$, and denote by $p : \mathbb{P}_X^1 \to X$ the structure map of the projective line over X. Then for all line bundles L on X and all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, the following are natural stable equivalences of (bi-) spectra

$$\begin{array}{rcl} GW^{[n]}(X,L) \oplus GW^{[n-1]}(X,L) & \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} & GW^{[n]}(\mathbb{P}^1_X,p^*L) \\ \\ \mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(X,L) \oplus \mathbb{G}W^{[n-1]}(X,L) & \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} & \mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(\mathbb{P}^1_X,p^*L) \\ \\ & (x,y) & \mapsto & p^*(x) + \beta \cup p^*(y). \end{array}$$

Proof. The triangle functor $p^* : \mathcal{T} \operatorname{sPerf}(X) \to \mathcal{T} \operatorname{sPerf}(\mathbb{P}^1_X)$ is fully faithful, and β induces an equivalence $\beta \otimes : \mathcal{T} \operatorname{sPerf}(X) \to \mathcal{T} \operatorname{sPerf}(\mathbb{P}^1_X)/p^*\mathcal{T} \operatorname{sPerf}(X)$ of triangulated categories. This is classical; see for instance [Tho93a], [Sch11, Theorem 3.5.1]. Denote by w the set of morphisms in $\operatorname{sPerf}(\mathbb{P}^1_X)$ which are isomorphisms in $\mathcal{T} \operatorname{sPerf}(\mathbb{P}^1_X)/p^*\mathcal{T} \operatorname{sPerf}(X)$. By Theorems 6.6 and 8.10, the sequence

$$(\operatorname{sPerf}(X),\operatorname{quis}) \xrightarrow{p^*} (\operatorname{sPerf}(\mathbb{P}^1_X),\operatorname{quis}) \longrightarrow (\operatorname{sPerf}(\mathbb{P}^1_X),w)$$

induces homotopy fibrations of $GW^{[n]}$ and $\mathbb{G}W^{[n]}$ -spectra. By Theorems 6.5 and 8.9, these sequences split via the exact dg form functors

$$(\operatorname{sPerf}(X),\operatorname{quis}) \xrightarrow{\beta\otimes} (\operatorname{sPerf}(\mathbb{P}^1_X),\operatorname{quis}) \longrightarrow (\operatorname{sPerf}(\mathbb{P}^1_X),w)$$

whose composition induces an equivalence of associated triangulated categories, and hence GW and $\mathbb{G}W$ -equivalences.

Remark 9.11. Walter proved in [Wal03a] projective bundle formulas for the zeroth Grothendieck Witt groups $GW_0^{[n]}(\mathbb{P}_X(\mathscr{E}))$ for arbitrary vector bundles \mathscr{E} over X. His results immediately generalize to the higher Grothendieck-Witt groups $GW_i^{[n]}(\mathbb{P}_X(\mathscr{E}))$ and $\mathbb{G}W_i^{[n]}(\mathbb{P}_X(\mathscr{E}))$.

Lemma 9.12. Let k be a commutative ring with $\frac{1}{2} \in k$. Then the element $\beta \in GW_0^{[1]}(\mathbb{P}^1_k)$ is zero when restricted to the principal open subsets $D_+(S) = \operatorname{Spec}(k[T/S])$ and $D_+(T) = \operatorname{Spec}(k[S/T])$ of $\mathbb{P}^1_k = \operatorname{Proj}(k[S,T])$.

Proof. It suffices to prove the claim for $k = \mathbb{Z}[1/2]$ as β over k is obtained from β over $\mathbb{Z}[1/2]$ via base change along $\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \to k$. In any case, it is clear that $\beta_{|D_+(S)|} = 0$ as it is a form on a contractible complex. For the other restriction,

write U = S/T, so $D_+(T) = \operatorname{Spec} k[U]$. Note that $\beta_{|D_+(T)|}$ is supported on the closed subset U = 0 of $\operatorname{Spec} k[U]$, that is, it is in the image of the left horizontal map in the following diagram

The top row of the diagram is exact, by the Localization Theorem 9.5, and the middle vertical map is an isomorphism, by Homotopy Invariance (recall that $k = \mathbb{Z}[1/2]$ is regular). Therefore, the right horizontal map is injective, and the left horizontal map is the 0 map. In particular, $\beta_{|D_+(T)|} = 0$

In the following theorem, denote by $X[T^+] = D_+(S) \cong \mathbb{A}^1_X$ and $X[T^-] = D_+(T) \cong \mathbb{A}^1_X$ the two principal open subschemes of the standard covering of $\mathbb{P}^1_X = X \times_k \operatorname{Proj}(k[S,T])$ given by $S \neq 0$ and $T \neq 0$, and let $X[T^{\pm}]$ be their intersection. For a line bundle L on X we also denote by L the line bundle on $X[T^+], X[T^-]$ and $X[T^{\pm}]$ induced from L via the pull back along the projections $p: X[T^+], X[T^-], X[T^{\pm}] \to X$.

Theorem 9.13 (Bass' Fundamental Theorem). Let X be a scheme with an ample family of line bundles and $\frac{1}{2} \in X$. Then for all line bundles L on X and all integers $n, i \in \mathbb{Z}$, there are natural exact sequences

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathbb{G}W_i^{[n]}(X,L) \xrightarrow{(p^*,p^*)} \mathbb{G}W_i^{[n]}(X[T^+],L) \oplus \mathbb{G}W_i^{[n]}(X[T^-],L)$$
$$\longrightarrow \qquad \mathbb{G}W_i^{[n]}(X[T^{\pm}],L)$$
$$\xrightarrow{\delta} \qquad \mathbb{G}W_{i-1}^{[n-1]}(X,L) \longrightarrow 0.$$

Proof. To ease notation we will omit the line bundle in our notation. From the Nisnevich Mayer-Vietoris Theorem 9.6 applied to the open covering $X[T^+] \cup X[T^-] = \mathbb{P}^1_X$ and the Projective Line Bundle Theorem 9.10 we obtain a homotopy cartesian square

By Lemma 9.12, the element $\beta \in GW_0^{[1]}(\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{Z}[1/2]})$ is zero in $GW_0^{[1]}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2][T^+])$ and $GW_0^{[1]}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2][T^-])$. Therefore, the two maps $\beta \cup p^* : \mathbb{G}W^{[n-1]}(X) \to \mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(X[T^+])$ and $\beta \cup p^* : \mathbb{G}W^{[n-1]}(X) \to \mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(X[T^-])$ are null-homotopic. Since the two maps $p^* : \mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(X) \to \mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(X[T^+])$ and $p^* : \mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(X) \to \mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(X[T^+])$ are (split) injective, the long exact sequence of homotopy groups associated with the homotopy cartesian square decomposes into the exact sequences as in the theorem. \Box

Remark 9.14. The exact sequences in Theorem 9.13 are split. Splitting of the first non-trivial map in the sequence is clear, and the last non-trivial map is split via the cup-product with $[T] \in GW_1^{[1]}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2][T^{\pm}])$.

As in Bass' formalism of contracted functors, it follows from Theorem 9.13 that one can define the functors $\mathbb{G}W_i^{[n]}$ on schemes for i < 0 and all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ inductively by starting with the functors $\mathbb{G}W_0^{[n]}$, $n \in \mathbb{Z}$.

9.5. Coherent Grothendieck-Witt groups. There are many results about the triangular Witt groups of coherent sheaves, notably due to Stefan Gille. With our results in Sections 6 and 7, they immediately generalize to higher Grothendieck-Witt groups. In what follows, we will state and prove a few of them.

Let X be a noetherian scheme, and denote by $\operatorname{Qcoh}^b(X)$ and $\operatorname{Coh}^b(X)$ the dg categories of bounded complexes of quasi-coherent and coherent O_X -modules. These are closed symmetric monoidal categories under tensor product and internal homomorphism objects of quasi-coherent sheaves. In particular, any object A of $\operatorname{Qcoh}^b(X)$ defines a duality functor

$$\sharp_A : \operatorname{Qcoh}^b(X)^{op} \to \operatorname{Qcoh}^b(X) : E \mapsto Hom_{O_X}^{\bullet}(E, A)$$

with double dual identification $\operatorname{can}^A : E \to E^{\sharp_A \sharp_A}$ given by the formula

$$\operatorname{can}_{E}^{A}(x)(f) = (-1)^{|x||f|} f(x).$$

Denote by $\operatorname{Qcoh}_c^b(X) \subset \operatorname{Qcoh}^b(X)$ the full dg subcategory of those bounded complexes of quasi-coherent O_X -modules which have coherent cohomology. Recall that a dualizing complex on X is a bounded complex I^{\bullet} of injective quasi-coherent O_X -modules such that for every $E \in \operatorname{Qcoh}_c^b(X)$, the double dual identification $\operatorname{can}_E^{I^{\bullet}} : E \to E^{\sharp_I \bullet \sharp_I \bullet}$ is a quasi-isomorphism. By [Har66, p. 258], this only needs to be checked for $E = O_X$.

If X is a noetherian scheme with a dualizing complex I^{\bullet} , we have a dg category with weak equivalences and duality

(9.6)
$$(\operatorname{Qcoh}_{c}^{b}(X), \operatorname{quis}, \sharp_{I^{\bullet}}, \operatorname{can}^{I^{\bullet}}).$$

Definition 9.15. Let X be a noetherian scheme over $\mathbb{Z}[1/2]$ with dualizing complex I^{\bullet} . The *n*-th shifted *coherent Grothendieck-Witt spectrum* of X with coefficients in I^{\bullet} is the *n*-th shifted Grothendieck-Witt spectrum

$$GW^{[n]}(X, I^{\bullet})$$

of the dg category with weak equivalences and duality (9.6). The *n*-th shifted coherent Grothendieck-Witt groups of X with coefficients in I^{\bullet} are the homotopy groups of $GW^{[n]}(X, I^{\bullet})$:

$$GW_i^{[n]}(X, I^{\bullet}) = \pi_i GW^{[n]}(X, I^{\bullet}).$$

As usual, if n = 0, we omit the label corresponding to n.

Remark 9.16. Strictly speaking, the category $\operatorname{Qcoh}_c^b(X)$ is not small (not even essentially small), in general. To obtain an honest spectrum, one would have to replace the category $\operatorname{Qcoh}_c^b(X)$ by a small full dg subcategory closed under the duality such that the inclusion into $\operatorname{Qcoh}_c^b(X)$ induces an equivalence of associated triangulated categories. It is easy to see that one can always do that, one only needs to bound the size of the quasi-coherent sheaves involved by a sufficiently large cardinal. By Theorem 6.5, the choice of such a subcategory does not matter.

Remark 9.17. As in Definition 9.15, one can define a coherent Karoubi-Grothendieck-Witt spectrum $\mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(X, I^{\bullet})$ as the $\mathbb{G}W^{[n]}$ -spectrum associated with (9.6). Then the comparison map

$$GW^{[n]}(X, I^{\bullet}) \to \mathbb{G}W^{[n]}(X, I^{\bullet})$$

is a stable equivalence, by Theorem 8.14, because the negative K-groups of $\operatorname{Qcoh}_c^b(X)$ vanish. This is because the inclusion $\operatorname{Coh}^b(X) \subset \operatorname{Qcoh}_c^b(X)$ induces an equivalence of associated triangulated categories, and $\operatorname{Coh}^b(X)$ has trivial negative K-groups, by [Sch06, Theorem 7]. So, there is no need to develop a $\mathbb{G}W$ -theory for coherent sheaves.

Let X be a regular noetherian separated scheme. Then any coherent O_X -module has a finite injective resolution. Any finite injective resolution $\rho: O_X \to I^{\bullet}$ of the structure sheaf O_X defines a dualizing complex I^{\bullet} on X. Moreover, the inclusion

(9.7)
$$(\operatorname{sPerf}(X), \operatorname{quis}, \sharp_{O_X}, \operatorname{can}^{O_X}) \longrightarrow \left(\operatorname{Qcoh}^b_c(X), \operatorname{quis}, \sharp_{I^{\bullet}}, \operatorname{can}^{I^{\bullet}}\right)$$

defines an exact dg form functor with duality compatibility map

 $Hom_{O_X}^{\bullet}(E, O_X) \to Hom_{O_X}^{\bullet}(E, I^{\bullet}) : f \mapsto \rho \circ f.$

Theorem 9.18 (Poincaré duality). Let X be a regular noetherian separated scheme with $\frac{1}{2} \in X$, and let $\rho : O_X \to I^{\bullet}$ be a finite injective resolution of the structure sheaf O_X . Then the exact dg form functor (9.7) induces a stable equivalence of Grothendieck-Witt spectra

$$GW^{[n]}(X) \xrightarrow{\sim} GW^{[n]}(X, I^{\bullet}).$$

Proof. Recall that for a regular noetherian separated scheme X, the inclusion $\operatorname{sPerf}(X) \subset \operatorname{Coh}^b(X)$ induces an equivalence of associated triangulated categories. This is classical. For a proof, see for instance [Sch11, Theorem 3.3.5]. Since for any noetherian scheme, the inclusion $\operatorname{Coh}^b(X) \subset \operatorname{Qcoh}^b_c(X)$ induces an equivalence of associated triangulated categories, the result follows from the Invariance Theorem 6.5.

Let X be a noetherian scheme with dualizing complex I^{\bullet} . Let $i: Z \hookrightarrow X$ be a closed immersion with open complement $j: U = X - Z \hookrightarrow X$. Then j^*I^{\bullet} is a dualizing complex on U, and we obtain an exact dg form functor

$$(9.8) j^* : (\operatorname{Qcoh}_c^b(X), \operatorname{quis}, \sharp_{I^\bullet}, \operatorname{can}) \longrightarrow (\operatorname{Qcoh}_c^b(Y), \operatorname{quis}, \sharp_{j^*I^\bullet}, \operatorname{can})$$

with duality compatibility map the usual isomorphism

$$j^*Hom^{\bullet}_{O_X}(E,O_X) \xrightarrow{\cong} Hom^{\bullet}_{O_U}(j^*E,j^*I^{\bullet}).$$

Similarly, the complex of quasi-coherent O_Z -modules

$$i^{\flat}I^{\bullet} = Hom^{\bullet}_{O_X}(i_*O_Z, I^{\bullet})$$

is a dualizing complex for Z [Har66, p. 260], and we obtain an exact dg form functor

(9.9)
$$i_* : (\operatorname{Qcoh}^b_c(Z), \operatorname{quis}, \sharp_{i^b I^{\bullet}}, \operatorname{can}) \longrightarrow (\operatorname{Qcoh}^b_c(X), \operatorname{quis}, \sharp_{I^{\bullet}}, \operatorname{can})$$

with duality compatibility map the isomorphism

 $i_*Hom^{\bullet}_{O_Z}(E, i^{\flat}I^{\bullet}) = Hom^{\bullet}_{O_X}(i_*E, Hom^{\bullet}_{O_X}(i_*O_Z, I^{\bullet})) \xrightarrow{\cong} Hom^{\bullet}_{O_X}(i_*E, I^{\bullet})$ induced by the map $O_X \to i_*O_Z$. **Theorem 9.19** (Localization for coherent Grothendieck-Witt groups). Let X be a noetherian scheme with dualizing complex I^{\bullet} , and let $i : Z \hookrightarrow X$ be a closed immersion with open complement $j : U = X - Z \hookrightarrow X$. If $\frac{1}{2} \in X$, then for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, the exact dg form functors (9.8) and (9.9) induce a homotopy fibration of coherent Grothendieck-Witt spectra

$$GW^{[n]}(Z, i^{\flat}I^{\bullet}) \xrightarrow{i_*} GW^{[n]}(X, I^{\bullet}) \xrightarrow{j^*} GW^{[n]}(U, j^*I^{\bullet}).$$

Proof. Denote by $\operatorname{Qcoh}_c^b(X \text{ on } Z)$ the full dg subcategory of $\operatorname{Qcoh}_c^b(X)$ consisting of those complexes which are acyclic when restricted to U. It inherits the structure of a dg category with weak equivalences and duality from (9.6). The sequence

 $(\operatorname{Qcoh}_{c}^{b}(X \text{ on } Z), \operatorname{quis}) \longrightarrow (\operatorname{Qcoh}_{c}^{b}(X), \operatorname{quis}) \longrightarrow (\operatorname{Qcoh}_{c}^{b}(U), \operatorname{quis})$

is Morita exact. See for instance [Sch11, Theorem 3.3.2]. By the Localization Theorem 6.6, the sequence induces a homotopy fibration of $GW^{[n]}$ -spectra.

The exact dg form functor (9.9) factors through $\operatorname{Qcoh}_c^b(X \text{ on } Z)$, and we obtain the exact dg form functor

$$i_* : (\operatorname{Qcoh}_c^b(Z), \operatorname{quis}, \sharp_{i^{\flat}I^{\bullet}}, \operatorname{can}) \longrightarrow (\operatorname{Qcoh}_c^b(X \text{ on } Z), \operatorname{quis}, \sharp_{I^{\bullet}}, \operatorname{can}).$$

This functor induces isomorphisms on K-groups and triangular Witt groups, by the results of [Qui73] and [Gil07, Theorem 3.2]. By the Karoubi Induction Lemma 6.4 or by Theorem 7.6, it induces an equivalence of $GW^{[n]}$ -spectra.

We finish the section with an application to L-theory of schemes in characteristic zero. In the following theorem we write $\mathbb{L}(X)$ for the stabilized L-theory spectrum (Definition 8.12) of the dg category with weak equivalences and duality (9.1) where $A = O_X$.

Theorem 9.20 (Cdh-descent for L-theory). Let k be a field of characteristic zero. Then the stabilized L-theory functor $X \mapsto \mathbb{L}(X)$ satisfies cdh-descent on the category of finite type separable k-schemes that have an ample family of line bundles.

Proof. We use the criterion given in [CHSW08, Theorem 3.12]. The functor \mathbb{L} satisfies Nisnevich descent and has the Mayer-Vietoris property for blow-ups along regularly embedded centers since it is a filtered homotopy colimit of functors $\mathbb{G}W^{[n]}$ which have these properties (Theorems 9.6 and 9.9). The functor \mathbb{L} satisfies excision and is invariant under infinitesimal extension, by [Kar06].

10. Bott-periodicity

Let A be a topological ring (with involution) such that

(*) the group of units $A^* \subset A$ is open in A and the map $A^* \to A^* : a \mapsto a^{-1}$ is continuous.

For instance A could be a Banach algebra with involution. For a topological space X, the space of continuous maps $A(X) = \operatorname{Map}(X, A)$ in Top is a topological ring (with involution) with point-wise addition and multiplication (and involution). If X is compact and A satisfies (*), then A(X) trivially satisfies (*). Moreover, if A satisfies (*), then so does $M_n(A)$ for all $n \geq 1$ [Swa77, Corollary 1.2]. Denote by Top_{cpt} the category of compact topological spaces, and by Ab the category of abelian groups.

The following lemma is well-known (at least in the K_0 -case). We give a proof at the end of this section.

Lemma 10.1. Let A be a topological ring (with involution if appropriate) satisfying (*). Then the following functors are homotopy invariant,

$$\operatorname{Top}_{\operatorname{cpt}} \to \operatorname{Ab} : X \mapsto K_0(A(X)), GW_0^{[n]}(A(X)),$$

that is, they send homotopic maps to the same map. In particular, if X is a contractible compact topological space, then the map of algebras $A \to A(X)$ induced by $X \to \text{pt}$ yields isomorphisms

$$K_0(A) \cong K_0(A(X)),$$
$$GW_0^{[n]}(A) \cong GW_0^{[n]}(A(X)).$$

Let A be a Banach algebra (with involution). Let Δ_{top}^n be the standard topological n simplex. This is a contractible compact topological space. Varying n we have a cosimplicial space $n \mapsto \Delta_{top}^n$, hence a simplicial Banach algebra $A\Delta_{top}^*$. We set

$$K_{top}(A) = |K(A\Delta_{top}^*)|$$
$$GW_{top}^{[n]}(A) = |GW^{[n]}(A\Delta_{top}^*)|.$$

These are symmetric spectra, and module spectra over $GW(\mathbb{R})$. Recall that for $\varepsilon = \pm 1$, we may write $\varepsilon GW(A)$ instead of $GW^{\varepsilon - 1 + 4k}(A)$.

For a spectrum Z, write $\Omega^{\infty}Z \in \text{Top}$ for the infinite loop space associated with Z, that is, the zero space \tilde{Z}_0 of a functorial stable equivalence $Z \to \tilde{Z}$ into an Ω -spectrum \tilde{Z} . In particular, $\pi_i Z = \pi_i \Omega^{\infty} Z$ for $i \geq 0$.

Proposition 10.2. There are canonical homotopy fibrations of spaces

$$BGl^{top}A \to \Omega^{\infty} K_{top}(A) \to K_0(A)$$
$$B_{\varepsilon} O^{top}_{\infty,\infty}(A) \to \Omega^{\infty} {}_{\varepsilon} GW_{top}(A) \to {}_{\varepsilon} GW_0(A),$$

where G^{top} denotes the group G with its usual Euclidean topology. In particular, $\Omega^{\infty} K_{top}(A)$ and $\Omega^{\infty} {}_{\varepsilon} GW_{top}(A)$ are the usual topological K-theory and ε -hermitian K-theory spaces of A.

Proof. We only explain the hermitian K-theory case, the K-theory case being similar. By Lemma 10.1 and 4.6, the simplicial groups

$$i \mapsto \pi_0 GW^{[n]}(A\Delta^i)$$

are constant. Therefore, the Bousfield-Friedlander Theorem [BF78] implies that the following canonical map is an equivalence

$$|\Omega^{\infty} GW^{[n]}(A\Delta_{top}^{*})| \xrightarrow{\sim} \Omega^{\infty} |GW^{[n]}(A\Delta_{top}^{*})| = \Omega^{\infty} GW_{top}^{[n]}(A).$$

By Corollary A.2, Lemma 10.1 and the Bousfield-Friedlander Theorem [BF78], the homotopy fibre of $\Omega^{\infty}{}_{\varepsilon}GW_{top}(A) \rightarrow {}_{\varepsilon}GW_0(A)$ is therefore $|B_{\varepsilon}O_{\infty,\infty}(A\Delta^*)^+|$. Consider the zigzag of maps

$$B_{\varepsilon}O_{\infty,\infty}^{top}(A) \longleftarrow$$
$$B|\operatorname{Sing}_{\ast \varepsilon}O_{\infty,\infty}^{top}(A)| = |B\operatorname{Sing}_{\ast \varepsilon}O_{\infty,\infty}^{top}(A)| = |B_{\varepsilon}O_{\infty,\infty}(A\Delta_{top}^{\ast})| \longrightarrow |B_{\varepsilon}O_{\infty,\infty}(A\Delta_{top}^{\ast})^{+}|.$$

For a topological group G, the simplicial space BG is good in the sense of [Seg74] if G is well-pointed (at $1 \in G$). Thus, both maps in the diagram are maps of good simplicial spaces which are degree-wise homology isomorphisms. Hence, both maps are homology isomorphisms (after realization). Since all spaces in the diagram are nilpotent spaces (in fact H-spaces), the homology isomorphisms are in fact weak equivalences.

Theorem 10.3. Let A be a Banach algebra with involution. Then the sequence

$$GW_{top}^{[n]}(A) \xrightarrow{F} K_{top}(A) \xrightarrow{H} GW_{top}^{[n+1]}(A) \xrightarrow{\eta \cup} S^1 \wedge GW_{top}^{[n]}(A)$$

is an exact triangle in the homotopy category of spectra.

Proof. This follows from Theorem 6.1.

Remark 10.4. From our definitions, Lemma 10.1, and Theorem 10.3, we have for i < 0 the following: $\pi_0 GW_{top}^{[n]}(A) = GW_0^{[n]}(A)$, $\pi_i K_{top}(A) = 0$, and $\pi_i GW_{top}^{[n]}(A) = GW_i^{[n]}(A) = W^{n-i}(A)$.

10.1. Classical Bott periodicity. As in the proof of Theorem 6.2, Theorem 10.3 implies the topological version of Karoubi's fundamental theorem

(10.1)
$$_{-\varepsilon}V_{top}(A) \simeq \Omega_{\varepsilon}U_{top}(A)$$

where V_{top} and U_{top} are the homotopy fibres of the topological forgetful and hyperbolic functors $F : \Omega^{\infty} {}_{\varepsilon} GW_{top}(A) \to \Omega^{\infty} K_{top}(A)$ and $H : \Omega^{\infty} K_{top}(A) \to \Omega^{\infty} {}_{\varepsilon} GW_{top}(A)$.

Consider \mathbb{R} and \mathbb{C} as Banach algebras with trivial involution, and consider the quaternions \mathbb{H} as Banach algebra with its usual involution sending i, j, k to -i, -j, -k, respectively. Then we obtain

$$\begin{split} V(\mathbb{R}) &\sim \mathbb{Z} \times BO \quad V(\mathbb{C}) \sim U/O \quad V(\mathbb{H}) \sim \mathbb{Z} \times BSp \\ U(\mathbb{R}) &\sim O \quad U(\mathbb{C}) \sim O/U \quad U(\mathbb{H}) \sim Sp \\ _-V(\mathbb{R}) &\sim O/U \quad _-V(\mathbb{C}) \sim U/Sp \quad _-V(\mathbb{H}) \sim \mathbb{Z} \times Sp/U \\ _-U(\mathbb{R}) &\sim U/O \quad _-U(\mathbb{C}) \sim Sp/U \quad _-U(\mathbb{H}) \sim U/Sp \end{split}$$

in view of the classical homotopy equivalences

$$\begin{array}{ccc} O_n \xrightarrow{\sim} Gl_n(\mathbb{R}) & U_n \xrightarrow{\sim} Gl_n(\mathbb{C}) & Sp_n \xrightarrow{\sim} Gl_n(\mathbb{H}) \\ O_m \times O_n \xrightarrow{\sim} O_{m,n}(\mathbb{R}) & O_{m+n} \xrightarrow{\sim} O_{m,n}(\mathbb{C}) & Sp_m \times Sp_n \xrightarrow{\sim} O_{m,n}(\mathbb{H}) \\ U_n \xrightarrow{\sim} Sp_n(\mathbb{R}) & Sp_n \xrightarrow{\sim} Sp_n(\mathbb{C}) & U_n \xrightarrow{\sim} Sp_n(\mathbb{H}) \end{array}$$

induced by the polar decompositions of $Gl_n(\mathbb{R})$, $Gl_n(\mathbb{C})$ and $Gl_n(\mathbb{H})$. Using the topological version of Karoubi's Fundamental Theorem (10.1), we obtain the following table of homotopy equivalences

$$\begin{array}{ll} & O \sim \Omega(\mathbb{Z} \times BO) \\ -V(\mathbb{R}) \sim \Omega_+ U(\mathbb{R}) & O/U \sim \Omega O \\ -V(\mathbb{C}) \sim \Omega_+ U(\mathbb{C}) & U/Sp \sim \Omega O/U \\ +V(\mathbb{H}) \sim \Omega_- U(\mathbb{H}) & \mathbb{Z} \times BSp \sim \Omega U/Sp \\ & Sp \sim \Omega(\mathbb{Z} \times BSp) \\ -V(\mathbb{H}) \sim \Omega_+ U(\mathbb{H}) & Sp/U \sim \Omega Sp \\ +V(\mathbb{C}) \sim \Omega_- U(\mathbb{C}) & U/O \sim \Omega Sp/U \\ +V(\mathbb{R}) \sim \Omega_- U(\mathbb{R}) & \mathbb{Z} \times BO \sim \Omega U/O \end{array}$$

which yields the homotopy equivalence

$$\mathbb{Z} \times BO \sim \Omega^8(\mathbb{Z} \times BO).$$

Using the complex numbers \mathbb{C} with its usual involution $i \mapsto -i$, the topological version of Karoubi periodicity yields

$$\mathbb{Z} \times BU \sim \Omega^2(\mathbb{Z} \times BU).$$

Proof of Lemma 10.1. To simplify, write GW generically for one of the functors $GW_0^{[n]}$ or K_0 . We need to show that the projection $X \times I \to X$ induces an isomorphism $GW(A(X)) \to GW(A(X \times I))$. Since $A(X \times I) = A(X)(I)$, and A(X) satisfies (*) when ever A does and X is compact, it suffices to prove the case when X is a point. Any point $x : \text{pt} \to I$ of I induces a map $x^* : GW(A(I)) \to GW(A)$ such that the composition $GW(A) \to GW(A(I)) \to GW(A)$ is the identity. Therefore, what we really have to show is the surjectivity of the map $GW(A) \to GW(A(I))$. For a ring A (with involution), denote by $\mathcal{P}(A)$ the category of finitely generated projective A-modules, and denote by $\mathcal{M}(A)$ the category

$$\mathcal{M}(A) = \left(w \operatorname{Ch}^{b} \mathcal{P}(A) \right)_{h}$$

of symmetric spaces in the dg category $\operatorname{Ch}^b \mathcal{P}(A)$ with weak equivalences the homotopy equivalences of complexes and duality $\operatorname{Hom}(\ ,A[n])$. We will show that the functors $\mathcal{P}(A) \to \mathcal{P}(A(I))$ and $\mathcal{M}(A) \to \mathcal{M}(A(I))$ are essentially surjective on objects. Clearly, this implies the surjectivity of the map $GW(A) \to GW(A(I))$ as both groups are generated by the isomorphism classes of objects in $\mathcal{M}(A)$ and $\mathcal{M}(A(I))$, respectively (or in $\mathcal{P}(A)$ and $\mathcal{P}(A(I))$ in the K_0 -case).

By a version of the Serre-Swan theorem, the category $\mathcal{P}(A(I))$ of finitely generated projective A(I)-modules is equivalent to the category $\operatorname{Vect}_A(I)$ of locally trivial A-module bundles with fibres in $\mathcal{P}(A)$. This is similar to [Swa62] and follows for instance from [Swa77, §1]. Therefore, the set of A(I)-module isomorphisms $F \to E \in \mathcal{P}(A(I))$ is the set of sections of the locally trivial bundle $Iso(\tilde{E}, \tilde{F}) \to I$ of isomorphisms between the associated A-module bundles $\tilde{E}, \tilde{F} \in \operatorname{Vect}_A(I)$. Any locally trivial map into a paracompact space is a fibration. Thus, by contractibility of I, if $Iso(\tilde{E}, \tilde{F}) \to I$ has a section over one point, it has a global section, that is, if E and F are isomorphic over one point in I, then they are isomorphic A(I)modules. In particular, any $E \in \mathcal{P}(A(I))$ is isomorphic to $E_0 \otimes_A A(I)$, and the functor $\mathcal{P}(A) \to \mathcal{P}(A(I))$ is essentially surjective. The same argument applies to show that $\mathcal{M}(A) \to \mathcal{M}(A(I))$ is essentially surjective using the equivalence

$$\mathcal{M}(A(I)) = \left(w \operatorname{Ch}^{b} \mathcal{P}(A(I)) \right)_{h} \cong \left(w \operatorname{Ch}^{b} \operatorname{Vect}_{A}(I) \right)_{h}$$

and the fact that a bundle of complexes is the same as a complex of bundles. Given two objects E, F of $\mathcal{M}(A(I))$. These are bounded complexes in $\mathcal{P}(A(I))$ equipped with symmetric homotopy equivalences. Assume that the components E_i, F_i of E, F are zero outside [a, b], for some $a < b \in \mathbb{Z}$. Then the set of isomorphisms $E \to F$ in $\mathcal{M}(A(I))$ is the set of sections of a locally trivial continuous map $Iso(\tilde{E}, \tilde{F}) \to I$ which is the subbundle of $\prod_{a \leq i \leq b} Iso(\tilde{E}_i, F_i)$ of those isomorphisms which commute with differentials and forms. Again, $Iso(\tilde{E}, \tilde{F}) \to I$ is a fibration with contractible target and thus has a global section whenever it has a section at a point. As above, this implies that the functor $\mathcal{M}(A) \to \mathcal{M}(A(I))$ is essentially surjective. \Box

APPENDIX A. HOMOLOGY OF THE INFINITE ORTHOGONAL GROUP

A.1. **Group completions.** Let X be a homotopy commutative H-space. A group completion of X is an H-space map $f : X \to Y$ into a homotopy commutative H-spaces Y such that $\pi_0 Y$ is a group and such that the map

$$(\pi_0 X)^{-1} H_*(X, \mathbb{Z}) \to H_*(Y, \mathbb{Z})$$

induced by f is an isomorphism. If $(\mathscr{S}, \oplus, 0)$ is a symmetric monoidal category such that all translations $\oplus B : \mathscr{S} \to \mathscr{S} : A \mapsto A \oplus B$ are faithful, Quillen constructs a symmetric monoidal category $\mathscr{S}^{-1}\mathscr{S}$ and a monoidal map $\mathscr{S} \to \mathscr{S}^{-1}\mathscr{S}$ which induces a group completion of associated classifying spaces [Gra76, Theorem, p. 221]. If $(\mathscr{S}, \oplus, 0)$ is a symmetric strict monoidal category (up to equivalence of categories, this can always be achieved [May74]), a group completion is also the map $B\mathscr{S} \to \Omega \bar{B}\mathscr{S}$ where $\bar{B}\mathscr{S}$ is the Bar construction (classifying space) of the topological monoid $B\mathscr{S}$ [May75]. The two group completions are equivalent via the zigzag $\Omega \bar{B}\mathscr{S} \xrightarrow{\sim} \Omega \bar{B}\mathscr{S}^{-1}\mathscr{S} \xleftarrow{\sim} B\mathscr{S}^{-1}\mathscr{S}$ of homotopy equivalences.

Let $(\mathcal{A}, *, \eta)$ be an additive category with duality. Inclusion of degree zero simplices yields a map $(i\mathcal{A})_h \to (i\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}\mathcal{A})_h$ such that its composition with $(i\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}\mathcal{A})_h \to iS_{\bullet}\mathcal{A}$ as in (4.1) is the zero map. Therefore, we obtain an induced map into the homotopy fibre of the last map

(A.1)
$$(i\mathcal{A})_h \longrightarrow |i\mathcal{R}_{\bullet}\mathcal{A}| \xrightarrow{h}{\underset{|iS_{\bullet}\mathcal{A}|}{\times}} \operatorname{pt} \xrightarrow{\sim} \Omega^{\infty} GW(\mathcal{A}).$$

where the second map is a weak equivalence, by [Sch10b, §6 Proposition 6] and Proposition 5.6. In [Sch04], we have shown that this map is a group completion if 2 is invertible in \mathcal{A} . Our proof in [Sch04] uses Karoubi's Fundamental Theorem [Kar80]. The purpose of this section is to give a direct proof of that fact avoiding the Fundamental Theorem, so that our proof of Theorem 6.2 gives not only a generalization but also a new proof of Karoubi's theorem and its topological counter-part, classical Bott periodicity; see Section 10.

Theorem A.1. Let $(\mathcal{A}, *, \eta)$ be a split exact category with duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathcal{A}$. Then the natural map (A.1) is a group completion. In particular, there is a natural homotopy equivalence

$$(i\mathcal{A}_h)^{-1}(i\mathcal{A}_h) \simeq \Omega^{\infty} GW(\mathcal{A}).$$

MARCO SCHLICHTING

The proof of theorem A.1 occupies most of this section. Before going into the details we derive the statement that makes the link between the homology of the infinite orthogonal group and higher Grothendieck-Witt groups. For that, let R be a ring with involution $r \mapsto \bar{r}$ and $\varepsilon = \pm 1$. We denote by

$$_{\varepsilon}\mathscr{P}(R) = (\mathscr{P}(R), *, \varepsilon \operatorname{can}).$$

the additive category with duality, where $\mathscr{P}(R)$ is the category of finitely generated projective right *R*-modules, the dual P^* of a right *R*-module *P* is the left *R*-module $P^* = \operatorname{Hom}_R(P, R)$ considered as a right module via the involution, and $\operatorname{can}_P :$ $P \to P^{**}$ is the double dual identification with $\operatorname{can}_P(x)(f) = \overline{f(x)}$. The associated category $(i_{\varepsilon}\mathscr{P}(R))_h$ is the usual category of non-degenerated ε -symmetric bilinear forms on finitely generated projective *R*-modules with isometries as morphisms. We denote by $_{\varepsilon}GW(R)$, the Grothendieck-Witt spectrum

$$_{\varepsilon}GW(R) = GW(\mathscr{P}(R), *, \varepsilon \operatorname{can})$$

By Theorem A.1, its Ω^{∞} -space is a group completion of $(i_{\varepsilon} \mathscr{P}(R))_h$. Let

$$_{\varepsilon}O(R) = \operatorname{colim}_n Aut(_{\varepsilon}H(R^n))$$

denote the infinite ε -orthogonal group of R, where $Aut(\varepsilon H(P))$ denotes the group of isometries of the ε -hyperbolic space $\varepsilon H(P) = (P \oplus P^*, (\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1\\ \varepsilon & \cosh & 0 \end{smallmatrix}))$ and the inclusion $Aut(\varepsilon H(R^n)) \to Aut(\varepsilon H(R^{n+1}))$ is induced by the functor $\perp \varepsilon H(R)$.

Corollary A.2. For any ring with involution R such that $\frac{1}{2} \in R$, there is a natural homotopy equivalence

$$B_{\varepsilon}O(R)^+ \xrightarrow{\sim} \Omega_0^{\infty} {}_{\varepsilon}GW(R)$$

where $\Omega_0^{\infty} {}_{\varepsilon} GW(R)$ denotes the connected component of 0 of the space $\Omega^{\infty} {}_{\varepsilon} GW(R)$ and $B_{\varepsilon} O(R)^+$ is Quillen's plus construction applied to $B_{\varepsilon} O(R)$.

Proof. By Theorem A.1, the space $\Omega_0^{\infty} {}_{\varepsilon} GW(R)$ is a group completion of $(i_{\varepsilon} \mathscr{P}(R))_h$. The proof now is the same as in [Gra76, Theorem, p.224]. The main point is that if $\frac{1}{2} \in R$ then every non-degenerated ε -symmetric bilinear form is a direct factor of the hyperbolic form ${}_{\varepsilon}H(R^n)$ for some n; see also [Wei81, Proposition 3].

The proof of theorem A.1 is based on the following proposition. We introduce some notation. For an exact category with duality $(\mathscr{E}, *, \eta)$, the category $E(\mathscr{E})$ of exact sequences in \mathscr{E} is an exact category with duality where the dual $(E_{\bullet})^*$ of an exact sequence $E_{\bullet} = (E_{-1} \rightarrow E_0 \twoheadrightarrow E_1)$ in \mathscr{E} is the exact sequence $E_1^* \rightarrow E_0^* \twoheadrightarrow E_{-1}^*$ and the double dual identification $\eta_{E_{\bullet}}$ is $(\eta_{E_{-1}}, \eta_{E_0}, \eta_{E_1})$.

Proposition A.3. Let \mathcal{A} be a split exact category with duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathcal{A}$. Then the map $F : (iE\mathcal{A})_h \to i\mathcal{A} : (E_{\bullet}, \varphi) \mapsto E_{-1}$ of symmetric monoidal categories induces a homotopy equivalence after group completion.

Proof. The functor F has a section, the hyperbolic functor

$$\mathcal{H}: i\mathcal{A} \to (iE\mathcal{A})_h: A \mapsto \mathcal{H}(A) = \left(A \stackrel{\begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}}{\rightarrowtail} A \oplus A^* \stackrel{(0\ 1\)}{\twoheadrightarrow} A, \left(\eta, \begin{pmatrix} 0 \ 1 \end{pmatrix}, 1\right) \right)$$

$$g \mapsto \mathcal{H}(g) = \left(g, \begin{pmatrix} g & 0 \\ 0 & (g^*)^{-1} \end{pmatrix}, (g^*)^{-1} \right)$$

which is symmetric monoidal and thus induces an action of $i\mathcal{A}$ on $(i\mathcal{E}\mathcal{A})_h$ in the sense of [Gra76]. In view of the Lemma A.5 (3) below, the hyperbolic functor induces on π_0 an isomorphism of abelian monoids

$$\pi_0(\mathcal{H}): S = \pi_0 i \mathcal{A} \xrightarrow{\cong} \pi_0(i E \mathcal{A})_h.$$

To abbreviate, we write S for this monoid. The actions of the symmetric monoidal category $i\mathcal{A}$ on $(iE\mathcal{A})_h$ and on $i\mathcal{A}$ induce actions of the abelian monoid S on the homology groups of $(iE\mathcal{A})_h$ and of $i\mathcal{A}$ compatible with F. We will show that the localized map

(A.2)
$$F: S^{-1}H_*((iE\mathcal{A})_h, k) \to S^{-1}H_*(i\mathcal{A}, k)$$

is an isomorphism when the coefficient group is $k = \mathbb{F}_p, \mathbb{Q}$. This implies that (A.2) is an isomorphism for $k = \mathbb{Z}$, that is, the functor $F : (iE\mathcal{A})_h \to i\mathcal{A}$ induces a homology (hence homotopy) equivalence after group completion.

In order to prove that (A.2) is an isomorphism, we will analyze the spectral sequence associated with the functor $F : (iE\mathcal{A})_h \to i\mathcal{A}$. We first review some elementary properties of that spectral sequence in the more general context of an arbitrary functor $F : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{C}$ of small categories. For that, we fix an abelian group k (which we will suppress in most formulas), and write $H_p(\mathcal{C}) = H_p(\mathcal{C}, k)$ for the homology of the category \mathcal{C} with coefficients in k. More generally, we write $H_p(\mathcal{C}, A)$ for the homology of \mathcal{C} with coefficients in a functor $A : \mathcal{C} \to \langle \text{ab gps} \rangle$ from \mathcal{C} to abelian group. This is the homology of the chain complex associated with the simplicial abelian group

$$p \mapsto \bigoplus_{C_0 \to \dots \to C_n} A(C_0)$$

of chains on $N\mathcal{C}$ with coefficients in A.

Lemma A.4. (1) Let $F : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{C}$ be a functor between small categories. There is a strongly convergent first quadrant spectral sequence

$$E_{p,q}^2(F) = H_p(\mathcal{C}, H_q(F \downarrow _)) \Rightarrow H_{p+q}(\mathcal{B})$$

with differentials $d_{p,q}^n: E_{p,q}^n \to E_{p-n,q+n-1}^n$ and edge morphism

$$H_p(\mathcal{B}) \twoheadrightarrow E_{p,0}^{\infty} \subset E_{p,0}^2 = H_p(\mathcal{C}, H_0(F \downarrow _)) \to H_p(\mathcal{C})$$

the map $H_p(F)$ induced by F on homology. Here, the last map is the change-of-coefficient map sending $(F \downarrow _)$ to the constant one-object-one-morphism category.

- (2) If $F' : \mathcal{B}' \to \mathcal{C}'$ is another functor, and $b : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{B}'$ and $c : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}'$ are functors such that F'b = cF, then there is a map of spectral sequences $E(b,c): E(F) \to E(F')$ compatible with edge-maps and which, on E^2 -term and abutment, is the usual maps on homology induced by b and c.
- (3) Given two pairs of functors b_i: B → B', c_i: C → C' such that F'b_i = c_iF, i = 0, 1. If there are natural transformations β : b₀ ⇒ b₁ and γ : c₀ ⇒ c₁ such that F'β_B = γ_{FB} for all objects B of B, then the two induced maps of spectral sequences agree from the E²-page on:

$$E_{p,q}^{n}(b_{0},c_{0}) = E_{p,q}^{n}(b_{1},c_{1}): E_{p,q}^{n}(F) \to E_{p,q}^{n}(F'), \ n \ge 2.$$

MARCO SCHLICHTING

Proof (Sketch). The spectral sequence is obtained by filtering the bicomplex $K_{p,q} = \bigoplus_{X_{p,q}} k$ associated with the bisimplicial set $X_{\bullet,\bullet}$ whose p, q simplices is the set

$$X_{p,q} = \{B_0 \to \dots \to B_q, \ FB_q \to C_0 \to \dots \to C_p \ | \ B_i \in \mathcal{B}, \ C_i \in \mathcal{C}\}.$$

The filtration is by subcomplexes $K_{\leq n,\bullet} \subset K_{\leq n+1,\bullet} \subset K$ with $(K_{\leq n,\bullet})_{p,q} = K_{p,q}$ if $p \leq n$ and $(K_{\leq n,\bullet})_{p,q} = 0$ if p > n. As in the proof of Quillen's theorem A [Qui73, §1], the bisimplicial set $X_{\bullet,\bullet}$ is homotopy equivalent to the bisimplicial set which is constant in the *p*-direction and is the nerve $N_{\bullet}\mathcal{B}$ of \mathcal{B} in the *q*-direction. In particular, the abutment of the spectral sequence computes the homology of \mathcal{B} . It is straight forward to identify the E^2 -term as in (1). Functoriality as in (2) is clear since the pair (b, c) induces a map of the corresponding bicomplexes. The edge map for the spectral sequence of the identity functor id_C of \mathcal{C} is the identity map, so that the functoriality in (2), applied to the map $(F, id_C) : F \to id_C$ of functors, yields the description of the edge map in (1). For the somewhat extended functoriality in (3), one constructs an explicit homotopy between the two maps

$$(b_i, c_i): \bigoplus_{C_0 \to \dots \to C_p} H_j(F \downarrow C_0) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{C'_0 \to \dots \to C'_p} H_j(F' \downarrow C'_0), \quad i = 0, 1,$$

of simplicial abelian groups which compute the E^2 -terms of the spectral sequences. Again this is straight forward, and we omit the details.

We apply the lemma to the functor $F : (iE\mathcal{A})_h \to i\mathcal{A}$ and obtain the spectral sequence

(A.3)
$$E_{p,q}^2 = H_p(i\mathcal{A}, H_q(F \downarrow _)) \Rightarrow H_{p+q}((iE\mathcal{A})_h).$$

Every object A of $i\mathcal{A}$ induces functors $\oplus \mathcal{H}(A) : (iE\mathcal{A})_h \to (iE\mathcal{A})_h$ and $\oplus A : i\mathcal{A} \to i\mathcal{A}$ compatible with F. By Lemma A.4 (2), these functors induce a map of spectral sequences. Every map $A \to A'$ in $i\mathcal{A}$ induces natural transformations $\oplus \mathcal{H}(A) \Rightarrow \oplus \mathcal{H}(A')$ and $\oplus A \Rightarrow \oplus A'$ compatible with F. By Lemma A.4 (3), the objects A and A' induce the same map of spectral sequences from E^2 on. In other words, we obtain an induced action of the monoid S on the spectral sequence (A.3) from E^2 on. Since localization with respect to a commutative monoid is exact, we obtain a strongly convergent first quadrant spectral sequence

(A.4)
$$S^{-1}E_{p,q}^2 = S^{-1}H_p(i\mathcal{A}, H_q(F \downarrow _)) \Rightarrow S^{-1}H_{p+q}((iE\mathcal{A})_h)$$

In order to analyze this spectral sequence, we will employ the symmetric monoidal automorphism

$$\Sigma: (iE\mathcal{A})_h \to (iE\mathcal{A})_h: (M,\varphi) \mapsto (M,\frac{1}{2}\varphi), g \mapsto g.$$

Note that $F \circ \Sigma = F$, so that Σ induces an action of the spectral sequence (A.3). For every object A in iA, there is a natural transformation of functors

$$\Sigma \circ (\oplus \mathcal{H}(A)) \Rightarrow (\oplus \mathcal{H}(A)) \circ \Sigma$$

compatible with F. It is induced by the isometry $\Sigma \mathcal{H}(A) \cong \mathcal{H}(A)$ given by the map

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1/2 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} : A \oplus A^* \to A \oplus A^*$$

Therefore, the action of S on the spectral sequence (A.3) commutes with the action of Σ on it from the E^2 -page on. In particular, Σ induces an action on the spectral sequence (A.4).

96

Lemma A.5. (1) For every object A of iA, there is an equivalence of categories between the comma category $(F \downarrow A)$ and the one-object category whose endomorphism set is the set

$$\{a: A^* \to A \mid \eta \, a + a^* = 0\} \subset Hom(A^*, A)$$

with addition as composition. This is a uniquely 2-divisible abelian group.

- (2) Under the equivalence in (1), the automorphism $\Sigma : (F \downarrow A) \to (F \downarrow A)$ corresponds to $a \mapsto 2a$.
- (3) The functor F induces an isomorphism of abelian monoids

$$\pi_0(iE\mathcal{A})_h \xrightarrow{\cong} \pi_0 i\mathcal{A}.$$

Proof. Choose for every inflation $M_{-1} \xrightarrow{i} M_0$ in \mathcal{A} a retraction $r: M_0 \to M_{-1}$, so that we have ri = 1. For the inflation $\begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A} \oplus \mathcal{A}^*$ we choose $r = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$. The choice of these retractions defines for every object

(A.5)
$$M_{-1} \xrightarrow{i} M_0 \xrightarrow{p} M_1, \ (\varphi_{-1}, \varphi_0, \varphi_1), \ M_{-1} \xrightarrow{g} A$$

of the comma category $(F \downarrow A)$ an isomorphism to the object

(A.6)
$$A \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}} A \oplus A^* \xrightarrow{(0 \ 1)} A^*, \ \left(\eta, \begin{pmatrix} 0 \ 1 \\ \eta \ 0 \end{pmatrix}, 1\right), \ A \xrightarrow{1} A$$

of that category given by the maps

(A.7)
$$g: M_{-1} \to A, \quad \begin{pmatrix} gr+g\delta p\\ (g^*)^{-1}\varphi_1p \end{pmatrix}: M_0 \to A \oplus A^*, \quad (g^*)^{-1}\varphi_1: M_1 \to A^*,$$

where the map $r: M_0 \to M_{-1}$ is the chosen retraction of $i: M_{-1} \to M_0$, the map $\delta: M_1 \to M_{-1}$ is defined as $\delta = \frac{1}{2}(\varphi_1^*\eta)^{-1}\beta$, and $\beta: M_1 \to M_1^*$ is the unique map satisfying $p^*\beta p = \psi$ for the symmetric map $\psi = \varphi_0 - p^*\varphi_1^*\eta r - r^*\varphi_1 p: M_0 \to M_0^*$, the existence of β being assured since $\psi i = 0$. Note that the map just defined is an isomorphism in $E\mathcal{A}$ since it is an isomorphism on subobject and quotient object. All these isomorphisms together define an equivalence of categories between $(F \downarrow A)$ and the full subcategory of $(F \downarrow A)$ consisting of the single object (A.6). The endomorphism set of (A.6) is the set consisting of the maps

(A.8)
$$1: A \to A, \quad \begin{pmatrix} 1 & a \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}: A \oplus A^* \to A \oplus A^*, \quad 1: A^* \to A^*,$$

where $\eta a + a^* = 0$. Composition corresponds to matrix multiplication, hence to addition of the *a*'s. By our assumption $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathcal{A}$, the group $Hom(A^*, A)$ is uniquely 2-divisible, so is the kernel of the map $a \mapsto \eta a + a^*$. This proves part (1) of the lemma.

The existence of the isomorphism from (A.5) to (A.6) above (with g = 1) shows that every object of $(iE\mathcal{A})_h$ is (up to isomorphism) in the image of the hyperbolic functor $\mathcal{H}: i\mathcal{A} \to (iE\mathcal{A})_h$. Since $F \circ \mathcal{H} = id$, this proves (3).

For part (2), we note that Σ sends the object (A.6) to the object

(A.9)
$$A \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}} A \oplus A^* \xrightarrow{(0 \ 1)} A^*, \ \frac{1}{2} \left(\eta, \begin{pmatrix} 0 \ 1 \\ \eta \ 0 \end{pmatrix}, 1 \right), \ A \xrightarrow{1} A$$

for which, according to our choice of r = (10) (implying $\psi = 0$ and $\delta = 0$), the isomorphism (A.7) is given by the maps

$$1: A \to A, \quad \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1/2 \end{pmatrix}: A \oplus A^* \to A \oplus A^*, \quad 1/2: A^* \to A^*.$$

MARCO SCHLICHTING

The functor Σ sends the endomorphism (A.8) of (A.6) to the endomorphism of (A.9) given by the same maps as in (A.8). Under the equivalence of categories, this corresponds to the endomorphism of (A.6) given by the maps

 $1: A \to A, \quad \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2a \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1/2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & a \\ 0 & 1/2 \end{pmatrix}^{-1}: A \oplus A^* \to A \oplus A^*, \quad 1: A^* \to A^*.$ This proves the lemma.

Let $k = \mathbb{Z}/2$. Then Lemma A.5 (1) implies that the spectral sequences (A.3) and (A.4) degenerate at the E^2 -page to yield the isomorphism (A.2) since for a uniquely 2-divisible abelian group G, we have $H_q(G, \mathbb{Z}/2) = 0, q > 0$.

From now on we will assume $k = \mathbb{F}_p$, p prime $\neq 2$, or $k = \mathbb{Q}$.

Lemma A.6. Let k be one of the fields \mathscr{F}_p , $p \neq 2$, or \mathbb{Q} . Let G be an abelian group and $t: G \to G: a \mapsto 2a$. Then for all $q \geq 0$,

$$H_q(G,k) = \bigoplus_{q/2 \le i \le q, \ i \in \mathbb{N}} V_i$$

where $H_a(t)$ acts on the k-vector space V_i as multiplication by 2^i .

Proof. This follows from the explicit description of $H_*(G)$ given, for instance, in [Bro94, Theorem 6.4 (ii), Theorem 6.6]. Alternatively, it can be proved as follows. The statement is clearly true for q = 0 and q = 1 (for the latter use the natural isomorphism $G \cong \pi_i BG \cong H_1(BG, \mathbb{Z})$), hence it is true for $G = \mathbb{Z}$ (as $B\mathbb{Z} = S^1$). Using the Serre spectral sequence associated with the fibration $B\mathbb{Z} \to B\mathbb{Z} \to B(\mathbb{Z}/l)$ we see that the statement is true for $G = \mathbb{Z}/l$. Using the Künneth formula, if the statement is true for G_1 and G_2 then it is true for $G_1 \times G_2$. Therefore, the lemma holds for finitely generated abelian groups. Passing to limits, we conclude that it is true for all abelian groups.

Lemma A.6 applies to the endomorphism Σ of the k-module $H_q(F \downarrow A)$, in view of Lemma A.5 (2). We obtain a direct sum decomposition of the spectral sequences (A.3) and (A.4) into the eigen-space spectral sequences of Σ . Note that the eigenspace spectral sequence of (A.4) corresponding to the eigen-value 1 has $E_{p,q}^2$ -term $S^{-1}H_p(i\mathcal{A}, H_0(F \downarrow)) = H_p(i\mathcal{A}, k)$ if q = 0 and $E_{p,q}^2 = 0$ for $q \neq 0$. In particular, it degenerates completely at the E^2 -page.

The next lemma shows that Σ acts as the identity on the abutment of (A.4), so that the eigen-space spectral sequence of (A.4) corresponding to the eigen-value 1 has abutment the abutment of (A.4). Degeneration of this spectral sequence at the E^2 -page shows that its edge map (A.4 1) is an isomorphism, that is, (A.2) is also an isomorphism for $k = \mathbb{F}_p$, p prime $\neq 2$ and \mathbb{Q} .

Lemma A.7. Let k be one of the fields \mathbb{F}_p , p prime $\neq 2$, or \mathbb{Q} .

(1) Let $(\mathcal{C}, \oplus, 0)$ be a unital symmetric monoidal category with $\pi_0 \mathcal{C} = 0$. Then the map $id \oplus id : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C} : A \mapsto A \oplus A$ induces an isomorphism on homology

 $H_*(\mathcal{C},k) \xrightarrow{\sim} H_*(\mathcal{C},k).$

(2) The functor $\Sigma : (iE\mathcal{A})_h \to (iE\mathcal{A})_h$ induces the identity map on the abutment $S^{-1}H_*(iE\mathcal{A})_h$ of the spectral sequence (A.4).

Proof. For part (1), consider X = Y = BC as pointed spaces with base-point $0 \in C$, and write $f: X \to Y$ for the map on classifying spaces induced by $id \oplus id$: $C \to C$. Note that f preserves base points and that $\pi_*(f)$ is multiplication by

98

2, so that $\pi_*(f) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[\frac{1}{2}]$ is an isomorphism. Let G be the cokernel of the map $\pi_1(f): \pi_1 X \to \pi_1 Y$ and write $\tilde{Y} \to Y$ for the covering of Y corresponding to the quotient map $\pi_1 Y \to G$, that is, \tilde{Y} is the pullback of EG along $Y \to B\pi_1 Y \to BG$. By construction, the map $f: X \to Y$ factors through $\tilde{Y} \to Y$, and the induced map $X \to \tilde{Y}$ is surjective on π_1 . Let F be the homotopy fibre of $X \to \tilde{Y}$. By construction, F is a connected nilpotent space (in fact an infinite loop space as all maps $X \to \tilde{Y} \to Y \to BG$ are infinite loop space maps) with $\pi_* F \otimes \mathbb{Z}[\frac{1}{2}] = 0$. It follows that $H_q(F, \mathbb{Z}[\frac{1}{2}]) = 0$, hence $H_q(F, k) = 0, q > 0$. By the Serre spectral sequence, $X \to \tilde{Y}$ induces an isomorphism in homology with coefficients in k. Finally, the principal G-fibration $\tilde{Y} \to Y$ induces an isomorphism in homology with coefficients in k.

For part (2), write $\mathscr{S} = (i\mathcal{E}\mathcal{A})_h$. The abutment of (A.4) is the homology of the symmetric monoidal category $\mathcal{C} = \mathscr{S}^{-1}\mathscr{S}$, in view of Lemma A.5 (3) and [Gra76], see also Section A.1. Note that $\pi_0\Sigma: \pi_0\mathscr{S} \to \pi_0\mathscr{S}$ is the identity because $F \circ \Sigma = F$ and $\pi_0 F$ is an isomorphism, by Lemma A.5 (3). In particular, Σ induces the identity on $\pi_0\mathcal{C}$. Let $\mathcal{C}_0 \subset \mathcal{C}$ be the connected component of 0. In view of the natural isomorphism $H_*(\mathcal{C}_0) \otimes_k k \pi_0 \mathcal{C} \cong H_*\mathcal{C}$, it suffices to show that the restriction Σ_0 of $\Sigma: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}$ to \mathcal{C}_0 induces the identity on homology with coefficients in k. To that end, we consider the functor $T = id \oplus id : \mathscr{S} \to \mathscr{S}$ and the natural transformation $\Sigma T \cong T$ given by

$$\frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ -1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} : (M, \varphi/2) \perp (M, \varphi/2) \xrightarrow{\cong} (M, \varphi) \perp (M, \varphi).$$

The functors T and Σ and the natural transformation induce functors T and Σ on $\mathcal{C} = \mathscr{S}^{-1}\mathscr{S}$ and a natural transformation $\Sigma T \cong T$ of endofunctors of \mathcal{C} . Restricted to the connected component \mathcal{C}_0 of \mathcal{C} , we obtain functors $T_0, \mathscr{S}_0 : \mathcal{C}_0 \to \mathcal{C}_0$ and a natural transformation $\Sigma_0 T_0 \cong T_0$. By part (1), T_0 induces an isomorphism on homology with coefficients in k. Since $H_*(\Sigma_0, k) \circ H_*(T_0, k) = H_*(T_0, k)$, by the existence of the natural transformation $\Sigma_0 T_0 \cong T_0$, we have $H_*(\Sigma_0, k) = id$. \Box

This finishes the proof of Proposition A.3.

For the statement of the next proposition, recall that for an exact category with duality $(\mathcal{A}, *, \eta)$, the category $S_n \mathcal{A}$ is an exact category with duality, where the dual \mathcal{A}^* of an object \mathcal{A} of $S_n \mathcal{A}$ is $(\mathcal{A}^*)_{i,j} = (\mathcal{A}_{n-j,n-i})^*$ and the double dual identification η_A satisfies $(\eta_A)_{i,j} = \eta_{A_{i,j}}$.

Proposition A.8. Let \mathcal{A} be an additive category with duality. Assume $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathcal{A}$. Then the symmetric monoidal functors

$$(iS_{2n}\mathcal{A})_h \to (i\mathcal{A})^n : \qquad (A_{\bullet},\varphi_{\bullet}) \mapsto (A_{0,1},A_{1,2},...,A_{n-1,n}) (iS_{2n+1}\mathcal{A})_h \to (i\mathcal{A})^n \times (i\mathcal{A})_h : \quad (A_{\bullet},\varphi_{\bullet}) \mapsto (A_{0,1},A_{1,2},...,A_{n-1,n}), (A_{n,n+1},\varphi_{n,n+1})$$

are homotopy equivalences after group completion.

Before we give the proof, we note the following corollary of Proposition A.3.

Corollary A.9. Let $(A, *, \eta)$, $(\mathcal{B}, *, \eta)$ be additive categories with duality such that $\frac{1}{2} \in \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}$.

MARCO SCHLICHTING

(1) Given a non-singular exact form functor $(F_{\bullet}, \varphi_{\bullet}) : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{EB}$, that is, a commutative diagram of additive functors $F_i : (\mathcal{A}, w) \to (\mathcal{B}, w), i = -1, 0, 1,$

F_{ullet} :	$F_1 \xrightarrow{d_1} F_0 \xrightarrow{d_0} F_{-1}$
$\cong \qquad \varphi_{\bullet}$	$\simeq \qquad \qquad$
F_{ullet}^{\sharp} :	$F_{-1}^{\sharp} \xrightarrow[]{d_0^{\sharp}} F_0^{\sharp} \xrightarrow[]{d_1^{\sharp}} F_1^{\sharp}$

with exact rows and $(\varphi_1, \varphi_0, \varphi_{-1}) = (\varphi_{-1}^{\sharp} \eta, \varphi_0^{\sharp} \eta, \varphi_1^{\sharp} \eta)$ an isomorphism. Then the two non-singular exact form functors

$$(F_0, \varphi_0)$$
 and $H \circ F_1$

induce homotopic maps $(i\mathcal{A})_h \to (i\mathcal{B})_h$ after group completions.

(2) Given a non-singular exact form functor $(F_{\bullet}, \varphi_{\bullet}) : \mathcal{A} \to S_3 \mathcal{B}$, then the two non-singular exact form functors

$$(F_{03}, \varphi_{03})$$
 and $(F_{12}, \varphi_{12}) \perp H \circ F_{01}$

induce homotopic maps $(i\mathcal{A})_h \to (i\mathcal{B})_h$ after group completions.

Proof. Part (1) is a formal consequence of Proposition A.3. In a more general context, the implication is explained, for instance, in [Sch10b, 3.10. Proof of theorem 3.3].

For (2), write ~ for "homotopic after group completion". For any additive form functor $(F, \varphi) : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$, we have a form functor $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{E}\mathcal{B}$ given by

$$F \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} 1\\1 \end{pmatrix}} F \oplus F \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} 1-1\\ \twoheadrightarrow \end{pmatrix}} F, \quad \left(\varphi, \begin{pmatrix} \varphi & 0\\ 0 & -\varphi \end{pmatrix}, \varphi\right),$$

so that $H(F) \sim (F, \varphi) \perp (F, -\varphi)$, by (1).

Now consider the given non-singular exact form functor $(F_{\bullet}, \varphi_{\bullet}) : \mathcal{A} \to S_3 \mathcal{B}$. It induces the non-singular exact form functor $\mathcal{A} \to E \mathcal{B}$ given by

$$F_{02} \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} F_{02 \le 12} \\ F_{02 \le 03} \end{pmatrix}} F_{12} \oplus F_{03} \xrightarrow{(-F_{12 \le 23} \ F_{03 \le 23})} F_{23}, \quad (\varphi_{02}, \begin{pmatrix} -\varphi_{12} \ 0 \\ 0 \ \varphi_{03} \end{pmatrix}, \varphi_{23}),$$

so that $H(F_{02}) \sim (F_{12}, -\varphi_{12}) \perp (F_{03}, \varphi_{03})$, by (1). By Additivity in K-theory and the remark above, we have $H(F_{02}) \sim H(F_{01}) \perp H(F_{12}) \sim H(F_{01}) \perp (F_{12}, \varphi_{12}) \perp (F_{12}, -\varphi_{12})$. Cancelling $(F_{12}, -\varphi_{12})$, the claim follows.

Proof of Proposition A.8. The cases S_0 and S_1 are trivial, and the case S_2 is proposition A.3 since $E\mathcal{A} = S_2\mathcal{A}$. Recall that the assignment $[n] \mapsto S_n\mathcal{A}$ is a simplicial category, where a monotonic map $\vartheta : [n] \to [p]$ induces the functor $\vartheta^! : S_p\mathcal{A} \to S_n\mathcal{A} : A \mapsto \vartheta^! A$ with $(\vartheta^! A)_{i,j} = A_{\vartheta(i),\vartheta(j)}$. If $\vartheta(n-i) = p - \vartheta(i)$, then $\vartheta^!$ preserves dualities.

100

We consider the following monotonic maps:

$$\begin{aligned} \theta : [n-2] \to [n] : i \mapsto i+1, \quad \rho : [n] \to [n-2] : i \mapsto \begin{cases} 0 & i=0\\ i-1 & 1 \le i \le n-1\\ n-2 & i=n, \end{cases} \\ \iota : \ [1] \to [n] : \ i \mapsto i, \qquad \pi : \ [n] \to [1] : \quad i \mapsto \begin{cases} 0 & i=0\\ 1 & 1 \le i \le n. \end{cases} \end{aligned}$$

Note that $\theta^!$ and $\rho^!$ preserve dualities whereas, $\iota^!$ and $\pi^!$ don't. We will show that the functor

$$F = (\iota^!, \theta^!) : (iS_n \mathcal{A})_h \to i\mathcal{A} \times (iS_{n-2}\mathcal{A})_h : (A, \varphi) \mapsto \iota^! A, \theta^! (A, \varphi)$$

is a homotopy equivalence after group completion with inverse the functor

$$G = \rho^! \perp H\pi^! : i\mathcal{A} \times (iS_{n-2}\mathcal{A})_h \to (iS_n\mathcal{A})_h : A, (B,\varphi) \mapsto \rho^!(B,\varphi) \perp H(\pi^!A),$$

where $H : iS_n \mathcal{A} \to (iS_n \mathcal{A})_h$ denotes the hyperbolic functor $A \mapsto A \oplus A^*$, $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ \eta & 0 \end{pmatrix}$. One readily verifies $F \circ G = id$. For the other composition, consider the following monotonic maps

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{01} &= \iota \pi : [n] \to [n], \qquad \sigma_{02} : \ [n] \to [n] : \ i \mapsto \begin{cases} i & 0 \le i \le n-1 \\ n-1 & i = n, \end{cases} \\ \\ \sigma_{03} &= id : [n] \to [n] : i \mapsto i, \quad \sigma_{13} : \ [n] \to [n] : \ i \mapsto \begin{cases} 1 & i = 0 \\ i & 1 \le i \le n, \end{cases} \\ \\ \sigma_{12} &= \theta \rho : [n] \to [n], \qquad \sigma_{23} : \ [n] \to [n] : \ i \mapsto \begin{cases} n-1 & 0 \le i \le n-1 \\ n & i = n, \end{cases} \end{split}$$

and note that $(i, j) \mapsto \sigma_{i,j}^!$ defines a duality preserving functor $\sigma^! : S_n \mathcal{A} \to S_3 S_n \mathcal{A}$. By Corollary A.9 2, the functors $G \circ F = \sigma_{12}^! \perp H \sigma_{01}^!$ and $\sigma_{03}^! = id$ induce homotopic maps after taking group completions.

Proof of Theorem A.1. This is the same as the proof of [Sch04, Theorem 4.2], or its version [Sch04, Corollary 4.6]. The only place where Karoubi's Fundamental Theorem was used in [Sch04] was in [Sch04, Lemma 4.4] which asserts that a certain monoidal functor β_n : $(i\mathcal{A})^n \times (i\mathcal{A})_h \to (iS_{2n+1}\mathcal{A})_h$ is a homotopy equivalence after group completion. But this functor has a retraction which is a homotopy equivalence after group completion, by Proposition A.8. Thus β_n is a homotopy equivalence after group completion. \Box

APPENDIX B. SPECTRA, TATE SPECTRA, AND BISPECTRA

In this article we shall work with symmetric spectra of topological spaces where topological space means compactly generated topological space (that is, weak Hausdorff k-space) [McC69], [Hov99, Definition 2.4.21 and Proposition 2.4.22]. Symmetric spectra were first introduced in [HSS00] in order to construct a symmetric monoidal product on the level of spectra. Our main reference for symmetric spectra of topological spaces is [MMSS01], [Sch]. For the convenience of the reader and in

MARCO SCHLICHTING

order to fix notation we will review definitions and results needed in this article. In Sections B.9 – B.11, we consider bispectra used in the construction of the functor $\mathbb{G}W$.

B.1. **Spectra.** We start with fixing notation. Let $I = [0,1] \subset \mathbb{R}$ be the unit interval, $S^0 = \{0,1\} \subset I$ the zero-sphere (both pointed at 1), and let $S^1 = I/S^0$ be the unit circle. Inclusion and quotient map define the pointed maps $i: S^0 \to I$ and $p: I \to S^1$. Let Σ_n be the symmetric group of bijections of the set $\{1, ..., n\}$ of *n*-elements. We consider the *n*-sphere $S^n = S^1 \land ... \land S^1$ (smash product *n*-times) as a pointed space with left Σ_n -action given by $\sigma(x_1 \land \cdots \land x_n) = x_{\sigma^{-1}(1)} \land ... \land x_{\sigma^{-1}(n)}$ for $\sigma \in \Sigma$, and we denote by

 $e_{n,m}: S^n \wedge S^m \to S^{n+m}: (x_1 \wedge \ldots x_n) \wedge (y_1 \wedge \ldots y_m) \mapsto x_1 \wedge \ldots x_n \wedge y_1 \wedge \ldots y_m$

the canonical identification.

A symmetric sequence (in the category of pointed topological spaces) is a sequence $X_n, n \in \mathbb{N}$, of pointed topological spaces with a continuous base-point preserving left action by the symmetric group Σ_n . A map of symmetric sequences $X \to Y$ is a sequence of pointed Σ_n -equivariant maps $X_n \to Y_n$.

Definition B.1. A symmetric spectrum is a symmetric sequence X_n , $n \in \mathbb{N}$, in the category of pointed topological spaces together with pointed continuous $\Sigma_n \times \Sigma_m$ -equivariant maps

$$e_{n,m}: S^n \wedge X_m \to X_{n+m}$$

called *bonding maps* (or structure maps) where $\Sigma_n \times \Sigma_m$ acts on the space X_{n+m} via the inclusion $\Sigma_n \times \Sigma_m \subset \Sigma_{n+m} : (\sigma, \tau) \mapsto \sigma \sqcup a\tau a^{-1}$ with $a\{1, ..., m\} \rightarrow \{n+1, ..., n+m\} : i \mapsto n+i$. The bonding maps have to satisfy the following.

- (1) The map $e_{0,n}: S^0 \wedge X_n \to X_n$ is the usual identification $S^0 \wedge X_n \cong X_n$.
- (2) The following diagram commutes for all $k,n,m\in\mathbb{N}$

$$\begin{array}{c|c} S^k \wedge S^n \wedge X_m \xrightarrow{1 \wedge e_{n,m}} S^k \wedge X_{n+m} \\ \hline e_{k,n} \wedge 1 \\ S^{k+n} \wedge X_m \xrightarrow{e_{k+n,m}} X_{k+n+m}. \end{array}$$

A map of symmetric spectra $X \to Y$ is a map of symmetric sequences commuting with the bonding maps. All spectra in this article will be symmetric. For this reason, we will drop the adjective and call them simply spectra. The category of spectra is denoted by Sp.

The prime example of a spectrum is the sphere spectrum $S = \{S^0, S^1, S^2, ...\}$ with bonding maps $e_{n,m}$. More generally, if K is a pointed topological space, we denote by ΣK , or simply by K, the suspension spectrum of K which has n-th space the pointed space $S^n \wedge K$ where Σ_n acts on S^n as above, and it acts trivially on K. The bonding maps are the maps $e_{n,m} \wedge 1 : S^n \wedge S^m \wedge K \to S^{n+m} \wedge K$. A spectrum X is called Ω -spectrum if the adjoints $X_n \to \Omega X_{n+1}$ of the bonding maps $e_{1,n}$ are weak equivalences for all $n \geq 0$. It is called *positive* Ω -spectrum if the adjoints $X_n \to \Omega X_{n+1}$ are weak equivalences for all $n \geq 1$. The spectrum is called a *level* CW-complex if every space X_n is a CW-complex.

102

The category of spectra is tensored and cotensored over the category of pointed spaces. Let K be a pointed space and X a spectrum. Their smash-product is the spectrum $X \wedge K$ with *n*-th space $X_n \wedge K$ and bonding maps $e_{n,m} \wedge 1 : S^n \wedge X_m \wedge K \to X_{n+m} \wedge K$. The mapping (or power) spectrum from K to X is the spectrum Sp(K, X) with *n*-th space the mapping space in the category of pointed topological spaces $Map(K, X_n)$ and bonding maps

$$S^{n} \wedge \operatorname{Map}(K, X_{m}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Map}(K, S^{n} \wedge X_{m}) \xrightarrow{e_{n,m}} \operatorname{Map}(K, X_{n+m})$$
$$t \wedge f \mapsto (x \mapsto t \wedge f(x))$$

Via the topological realization functor $K \mapsto |K|$ from simplicial sets to topological spaces, the category of spectra is also tensored and cotensored over the category of pointed simplicial sets. We may write $X \wedge K$ and $\operatorname{Sp}(K, X)$ instead of $X \wedge |K|$ and $\operatorname{Sp}(|K|, X)$ when K is a simplicial set and X a spectrum.

B.2. Model structures on the category of spectra. Recall [Hov99, §2.4] that the category of pointed topological spaces is a proper model category with weak equivalences the maps that induce isomorphisms on all homotopy groups (with respect to all choices of base points). The fibrations are the Serre fibrations, and the cofibrations are the maps that have the left lifting property with respect to Serre fibrations which are weak equivalences. Every topological space is fibrant, relative CW-complexes are cofibrations, and CW-complexes are cofibrant in this model structure.

The category of spectra supports various model structures [MMSS01], [Sch]. Call a map of spectra $X \to Y$ level equivalence (level fibration) if the maps $X_n \to Y_n$ are weak equivalences (fibrations) of topological spaces for all $n \ge 0$. In the projective level model structure on Sp, the weak equivalences and fibrations are the level equivalences and the level fibrations, and the cofibrations are the maps that have the left lifting property with respect to fibrations which are level weak equivalences. The suspension spectrum functor $\Sigma : Top_* \to \text{Sp} : K \mapsto \Sigma K$ preserves cofibrations. In particular, the suspension spectrum ΣK of a pointed CW complex K is cofibrant. The level model structure is not particularly interesting in itself, but it is used to define the stable equivalences of spectra.

Denote by [X, Y]' the set of maps from X to Y in the homotopy category of the projective level model structure on Sp. A map of spectra $X \to Y$ is a *stable equivalence* if for all Ω -spectra Z, the map $[Y, Z]' \to [X, Z]'$ is a bijection.

In the projective stable model structure on the category of spectra, the weak equivalences are the stable equivalences of spectra, the cofibrations are the cofibrations of the projective level model structure, and the fibrations are the maps that have the right lifting property with respect to the cofibrations that are stable equivalences. In this stable model structure, a map $X \to Y$ of spectra is a fibration if the maps $X_n \to Y_n$ are Serre fibrations for all $n \ge 0$, and the squares



MARCO SCHLICHTING

are homotopy cartesian for all $n \geq 0$. In particular, the fibrant objects in the projective model structure are precisely the Ω -spectra, and suspension spectra of pointed CW complexes are cofibrant.

There is a useful variant of the projective model structures, namely, the positive projective model structures. Call a map of spectra $X \to Y$ positive level equivalence (positive level fibration) if the maps $X_n \to Y_n$ are weak equivalences (fibrations) of topological spaces for all $n \geq 1$. In the positive projective level model structure on Sp, the weak equivalences and fibrations are the positive level equivalences and the positive level fibrations, and the cofibrations are the maps that have the left lifting property with respect to fibrations which are positive level weak equivalences. In the positive projective stable model structure on the category of spectra, the weak equivalences are the stable equivalences of spectra, the cofibrations are the maps that have the right lifting property with respect to the cofibrations are the stable equivalences and the positive projective stable model structure, and the fibrations are the maps that have the right lifting property with respect to the cofibrations that are stable equivalences. The fibrant objects in the positive projective stable model structure and the positive stable model structure on Sp both have the stable model structure and the positive stable model structure on Sp both have the same weak equivalences and therefore the same homotopy categories.

A map of (positive) Ω spectra $X \to Y$ is a stable equivalence if and only if for all $n \geq 0$ $(n \geq 1)$, the maps $X_n \to Y_n$ are weak equivalences of topological spaces. A square of (positive) Ω -spectra

$$\begin{array}{c} X \longrightarrow Y \\ \downarrow & \downarrow \\ Z \longrightarrow U \end{array}$$

is homotopy cartesian if and only if the square

$$\begin{array}{c} X_n \longrightarrow Y_n \\ \downarrow & \downarrow \\ Z_n \longrightarrow U_n \end{array}$$

is a homotopy cartesian square of spaces for all $n \ge 0$ $(n \ge 1)$. We denote by [X, Y] the set of maps from X to Y in the stable homotopy category of spectra. This set is canonically an abelian group.

B.3. True and naive homotopy groups. The true homotopy groups, or simply homotopy groups $\pi_n X$, $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, of a spectrum X are the groups

$$\pi_n X = [S^n, X].$$

The *naive homotopy groups* of a spectrum X are the groups

$$\hat{\pi}_n X = \operatorname{colim}_k \pi_{n+k}(X_k)$$

where the colimit is taken over the system

$$\pi_m(X_k) \to \pi_{m+1}(X_{k+1}) : f \mapsto e_{1,k} \circ (S^1 \wedge f).$$

If this colimit stabilizes, that is, if the maps $\pi_{n+k}(X_k) \to \pi_{n+k+1}(X_{k+1})$ are isomorphisms for large k then the naive homotopy groups are canonically isomorphic to the homotopy groups. This happens, for instance, if the spectrum is a (positive) Ω -spectrum, or if it is a suspension spectrum.

B.4. **Products.** The symmetric monoidal product \wedge on pointed topological spaces defines a symmetric monoidal product \wedge on the category of symmetric sequences of pointed topological spaces; see B.12. The maps $e_{m,n}: S^n \wedge S^m \to S^{n+m}$ define a map of symmetric sequences $e: S \wedge S \to S$. Together with the map $u: \mathbb{1} \to S$ of symmetric sequences given by $1: S^0 \to S^0$ and $\text{pt} \to S^n$, $n \geq 1$, this makes the sphere spectrum S into a commutative monoid.

Now, a symmetric spectrum is the same as a left module over the commutative monoid S for the symmetric product \wedge in the category of symmetric sequences. It is a map of symmetric sequences $e: S \wedge X \to X$ such that the diagrams



commute.

The category of spectra Sp is symmetric monoidal under the smash product $X \wedge_S Y$ of spectra defined as the coequalizer in the category of symmetric sequences

$$X \wedge S \wedge Y \xrightarrow[eo\tau \wedge 1]{1 \wedge e} X \wedge Y \longrightarrow X \wedge_S Y$$

where $\tau : X \wedge S \to S \wedge X$ is the switch isomorphism in the symmetric monoidal category of symmetric sequences. If X is a cofibrant spectrum for the projective stable model structure then the functors $Y \mapsto X \wedge_S Y$ and $Y \mapsto Y \wedge_S X$ preserve stable equivalences. Thus, for any two spectra X and Y, the derived smash-product $X \wedge_S^L Y$ can be computed as either $cX \wedge Y$, $cX \wedge_S cY$, or $X \wedge_S cY$ where $cX \to X$ and $cY \to Y$ are cofibrant approximations of X and Y in the projective stable model structure.

B.5. The triangulated stable homotopy category. The stable homotopy category SH is obtained from the category Sp of spectra by formally inverting the stable equivalences. Recall that we denote by [X, Y] the set of maps in SH. If X is cofibrant, and Y is fibrant then this is the set of homotopy classes of maps of spectra $X \to Y$, where two maps $f, g: X \to Y$ of spectra are homotopic if there is a map $h: X \wedge I_+ \to Y$ such that $f = h_0$ and $g = h_1$. The stable homotopy category SH is a triangulated category with shift functor

$$X \mapsto S^1 \wedge_S X$$

A triangle in SH is exact if it is isomorphic in SH to a standard exact triangle

$$X \xrightarrow{f} Y \xrightarrow{g} C(f) \xrightarrow{h} S^1 \wedge X$$

associated with a map $f:X\to Y$ of spectra. The maps in the standard exact triangle are defined by the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} X & \xrightarrow{i \wedge 1} I \wedge X & \xrightarrow{p \wedge 1} S^{1} \wedge X \\ f & & & & & \\ f & & & & \\ Y & \xrightarrow{g} C(f) & \xrightarrow{h} S^{1} \wedge X \end{array}$$

in which the left square is cocartesian.

B.6. Homotopy Orbit spectra. Let G be a group and let EG be the usual contractible simplicial set on which G acts freely on the left. If Ob[n] denotes the set of objects of the category $[n] = \{0 < 1 < ... < n\}$ then

(B.1)
$$E_n G = G^{n+1} = \operatorname{Map}_{Sets}(Ob[n], G)$$

with simplicial structure induced by the cosimplicial set $n \mapsto Ob[n]$. The left action is given by gf(x) = g(f(x)) for $g \in G$, $f : Ob[n] \to G$ and $x \in Ob[n]$.

Fix a functorial cofibrant approximation $cX \xrightarrow{\sim} X$ on the category of spectra (in the projective stable model structure). If X is a spectrum with right G-action then so is cX, and the stable equivalence $cX \to X$ is G-equivariant, by functoriality of the cofibrant approximation. The homotopy orbit spectrum X_{hG} of a spectrum X with right G-action, also denoted $\mathbb{H}_{\bullet}(G, X)$, is the spectrum

$$X_{hG} = \mathbb{H}_{\bullet}(G, X) = cX \wedge_G EG_{+}$$

where for a pointed topological space K with left G-action the spectrum $X \wedge_G K$ is defined by the coequalizer diagram

$$\bigvee_{g \in G} X \wedge K \xrightarrow[g \wedge 1]{1 \wedge g} X \wedge K \longrightarrow X \wedge_G K$$

The non-equivariant map $pt \to G = E_0 G \to EG : pt \mapsto 1$ and the *G*-equivariant $EG \to pt$ induce a string of spectra

 $cX = cX \wedge S^0 \xrightarrow{\sim} cX \wedge EG_+ \longrightarrow cX \wedge_G EG_+ \longrightarrow cX \wedge_G S^0 = cX/G \to X/G$ such that the diagram



commutes. By the coequalizer definition of homotopy orbits, the two compositions

$$cX \wedge S^0 \xrightarrow[g \wedge 1]{1 \wedge g} cX \wedge EG_+ \longrightarrow cX \wedge_G EG_+$$

are equal for all $g \in G$. The two maps $1 \wedge g, 1 \wedge 1 : cX = cX \wedge S^0 \to cX \wedge EG_+$ are homotopic, by contractibility of EG. It follows that the diagram



is homotopy commutative for all $g \in G$. In particular, for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ the map $\pi_n(X) = \pi_n(cX) \to \pi_n(X_{hG})$ factors through $\pi_n(X)/G \to \pi_n(X_{hG})$. In general, this map is not an isomorphism.

- **Proposition B.2.** (1) If $X \to Y$ is a *G*-equivariant map of spectra which, forgetting the *G*-action, is a stable equivalence, then $X_{hG} \to Y_{hG}$ is also a stable equivalence.
 - (2) If X is a non-equivariant spectrum then $X \wedge G_+$ is a spectrum with right G-action and the natural map $(X \wedge G_+)_{hG} \rightarrow (X \wedge G_+)/G = X$ is a stable equivalence.

(3) If X has a right G-action, then there is a homological spectral sequence

$$E_{p,q}^2 = H_p(G, \pi_q X) \Rightarrow \pi_{p+q}(X_{hG})$$

with differentials $d^r: E^r_{p,q} \to E^r_{p-r,q+r-1}$. The spectral sequence converges strongly if $\pi_i X = 0$ for $i \ll 0$.

Proof. In any simplicial model category, the functor $? \land EG_+$ preserves weak equivalences between point-wise cofibrant objects [Hir03, Theorem 18.5.3.(1)]. This proves part (1).

For (2), the map

$$(X \wedge G_+) \wedge_G EG_+ = X \wedge EG_+ \to X \wedge S^0 = X$$

is a level equivalence since $|EG|_+ \to S^0$ is a homotopy equivalence. It follows that this map is a stable equivalence.

For part (3), the spectral sequence is the spectral sequence of a filtered spectrum obtained by applying the functor $cX \wedge_G ()_+$ to the skeletal filtration of EG. \Box

Remark B.3. If X is a spectrum which is a level CW complex, then the following map is a stable equivalence

$$X_{hG} = cX \wedge_G EG_+ \xrightarrow{\sim} X \wedge_G EG_+.$$

This is because there is a functor Sing_* from symmetric spectra of topological spaces to symmetric spectra of simplicial sets which is right-adjoint to a functor $| \ |$ from symmetric spectra of simplicial sets to symmetric spectra of topological spaces for which the unit of adjunction $X \to |\operatorname{Sing}_* X|$ is a level equivalence. Both functors Sing_* and $| \ |$ preserve stable equivalences. Therefore, in the commutative diagram

the horizontal maps are level weak equivalences because both sides are level cofibrant. The right vertical map is a stable equivalence because in the injective stable model structure on the category of symmetric spectra of simplicial sets every spectrum is cofibrant. Therefore, the left vertical map is a stable equivalence.

Example B.4. If X is a spectrum with $\pi_i X = 0$ for i < 0, then the spectral sequence B.2 (3) shows that the natural map $\pi_0(X)/G \to \pi_0(X_{hG}) = H_0(G, \pi_0 X)$ is an isomorphism. If X is an Eilenberg-MacLane spectrum (that is, $\pi_i X = 0$ for $i \neq 0$), then the spectral sequence collapses and yields an isomorphism for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}$

$$\pi_i(X_{hG}) = H_i(G, \pi_0 X).$$

Example B.5. If X is a spectrum with right G-action, then the canonical map $X \to X_{hG}$ is G-equivariant where G acts trivially on X_{hG} . More precisely, let $cX \wedge EG_+$ be the right G-spectrum where $g \in G$ acts as $g \wedge g^{-1}$ on $cX \wedge EG_+$. Then we have a G-equivariant string of maps $X \leftarrow cX \leftarrow cX \wedge EG_+ \to cX \wedge_G EG_+$ induced by the equivariant map $S^0 \leftarrow EG_+$ and the equivariant quotient map $X \wedge EG_+ \to X \wedge_G EG_+$. The maps $X \leftarrow cX \wedge EG_+$ is a stable equivalence (forgetting the G-action).
MARCO SCHLICHTING

We restrict now to the case $G = C_2 = \mathbb{Z}/2$ the 2-element group with $\sigma \in C_2$ the unique element of order 2. Let X be a spectrum with $C_2 = \mathbb{Z}/2$ action from the right. We have a second $\mathbb{Z}/2$ -action on X, denoted by C_2^- , where the non-trivial element acts as $-\sigma$ on X. From the discussion above, the map $X \to X_{hC_2^-}$ is C_2^- equivariant where $X_{hC_2^-}$ carries the trivial action. Therefore, the map $X \to X_{hC_2^-}$ is C_2 -equivariant where X carries the original C_2 -action, and the non-trivial element $\sigma \in C_2$ acts on $X_{hC_2^-}$ as -1. In summary, we have a C_2 -equivariant map of spectra

(B.2)
$$X \to X^+ \times X^- = X_{hC_2} \times X_{hC_2}^-$$

where $X^+ = X_{hC_2}$ has the trivial action, and σ acts on $X^- = X_{hC_2^-}$ by -1.

Lemma B.6. Let X be a spectrum with C_2 -action. Assume that the homotopy groups π_*X of X are all uniquely 2-divisible. Then the C_2 -equivariant map (B.2) is a stable equivalence. In particular, as an object of the triangulated stable homotopy category SH, the object X^+ is the image of the projector $(1 + \sigma)/2$ of X, and the homotopy groups of X^+ are given by the image of the map $(1+\sigma)/2 : \pi_*X \to \pi_*X$, that is, the following natural map is an isomorphism

$$\pi_*(X)/C_2 \xrightarrow{\cong} \pi_*(X_{hC_2}).$$

Proof. If $\pi_k X = 0$ for $k \ll 0$, the claim follows from the spectral sequence of Proposition B.2 (3) which collapses at the E^2 -page. Since any spectrum can be written as a sequential (homotopy) colimit of spectra X for which $\pi_k X = 0$ for $k \ll 0$, we are done.

B.7. Homotopy fixed point spectra. Consider the simplicial set EG from (B.1) equipped with the free right G-action defined by fg(x) = f(x)g for $g \in G$, $f : Ob[n] \to G$ and $x \in Ob[n]$. Fix a fibrant approximation $X \xrightarrow{\sim} X_f$ in the category of spectra (for the projective stable model structure). If X is a spectrum with right G-action then so is X_f , and the map $X \to X_f$ is G-equivariant. The homotopy fixed point spectrum X^{hG} , also denoted $\mathbb{H}^{\bullet}(G, X)$, of a spectrum X with right G-action is the spectrum

$$X^{hG} = \mathbb{H}^{\bullet}(G, X) = \operatorname{Sp}^{G}(EG_{+}, X_{f})$$

where for a pointed space K and a spectrum Y both with right G-actions, the spectrum $\operatorname{Sp}^{G}(K, Y)$ is defined by the equalizer diagram

$$\operatorname{Sp}^{G}(K,Y) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sp}(K,Y) \xrightarrow{(g,1)} \prod_{g \in G} \operatorname{Sp}(K,Y).$$

The G-equivariant map $EG \to pt$ and the non-equivariant map $pt \to EG : pt \mapsto 1$ induce a string of maps

$$X^G \to (X_f)^G = \operatorname{Sp}^G(S^0, X_f) \to \operatorname{Sp}^G(EG_+, X_f) \to \operatorname{Sp}(EG_+, X_f) \to \operatorname{Sp}(S^0, X_f) = X_f$$

such that the diagram

such that the diagram



commutes.

108

According to the equalizer definition of the homotopy fixed point spectrum, the two compositions

$$X^{hG} = \operatorname{Sp}^{G}(EG_{+}, X_{f}) \xrightarrow{\longrightarrow} \operatorname{Sp}(EG_{+}, X_{f}) \xrightarrow{(g,1)} \operatorname{Sp}(S^{0}, X_{f}) = X_{f}$$

are equal. By contractibility of EG, the map (g, 1) in the diagram is homotopic to (1, 1). Therefore, for all $g \in G$ the diagram



homotopy commutes. In particular, the map $\pi_n(X^{hG}) \to \pi_n(X_f) = \pi_n(X)$ factors through the fixed points $\pi_n(X)^G$ and we obtain a natural map $\pi_n(X^{hG}) \to \pi_n(X)^G$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. This map is not an isomorphism, in general.

- **Proposition B.7.** (1) If $X \to Y$ is a *G*-equivariant map of spectra which, forgetting the G-action, is a stable equivalence, then $X^{hG} \to Y^{hG}$ is a stable equivalence.
 - (2) If X is a non-equivariant spectrum then the spectrum $\operatorname{Sp}(G_+, X)$ has a right G-action and the map $X = \operatorname{Sp}(G_+, X)^G \to \operatorname{Sp}(G, X)^{hG}$ is a stable equivalence.
 - (3) For a spectrum X with right G-action there is a spectral sequence

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p(G, \pi_{-q}X) \Rightarrow \pi_{-p-q}(X^{hG})$$

which converges strongly if $\pi_i X = 0$ for i >> 0.

Proof. The proof is dual to the proof of Proposition B.2. We omit the details. \Box

Remark B.8. If X is a positive Ω -spectrum, then the map

$$\operatorname{Sp}^{G}(EG_{+}, X) \to \operatorname{Sp}^{G}(EG_{+}, X_{f}) = X^{hG}$$

is a stable equivalence. This is because the positive Ω -spectra are the fibrant objects of the positive projective stable model structure on Sp, and in any simplicial model category, the functor $\operatorname{Map}^{G}(EG_{+},?)$ preserves weak equivalences between pointwise fibrant objects [Hir03, Theorem 18.5.3.(2)].

Example B.9. If X is a spectrum with $\pi_i X = 0$ for i > 0 then the spectral sequence B.7 (3) shows that $H^0(G, \pi_0 X) = \pi_0(X^{hG})$, and the map $\pi_0(X^{hG}) \to (\pi_0 X)^G$ is an isomorphism.

Let X be an Eilenberg-MacLane spectrum $(\pi_i X = 0, i \neq 0)$ with right G-action. Then the spectral sequence collapses and yields an isomorphism for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}$

$$\pi_{-i}(X^{hG}) = H^i(G, \pi_0 X).$$

Lemma B.10. Let X be a spectrum with right C_2 -action. Assume that the homotopy groups π_*X of X are all uniquely 2-divisible. Then the C_2 -equivariant stable equivalence (B.2) induces stable equivalences

$$X^{hC_2} \xrightarrow{\sim} (X^+)^{hC_2} \xrightarrow{\sim} X^+$$

In particular, the following natural map is an isomorphism

$$\pi_*(X^{hC_2}) \xrightarrow{\cong} \pi_*(X)^{C_2}.$$

Proof. From the decomposition (B.2) of Lemma B.6, it suffices to prove the claim in case X has trivial action and in case the non-trivial element of C_2 acts as -1. In the first case, the map $X^{hC_2} = \operatorname{Sp}(BG_+, X_f) \to X_f$ is a weak equivalence. This follows from the spectral sequence B.7 (3) provided $\pi_k X = 0$ for k >> 0. Since every spectrum is a sequential homotopy limit of spectra X with $\pi_k X = 0$ for k >> 0 (given by the Postnikov tower), the first case follows. In the second case, the map $X^{hC_2} \to \text{pt}$ is a weak equivalence. Again, this follows from the spectral sequence B.7 (3) provided $\pi_k X = 0$ for k >> 0, and in general by passing to homotopy limits. \Box

B.8. Tate spectra. Let G be a finite group acting from the right on a spectrum X. The Tate spectrum $\hat{\mathbb{H}}(G, X)$ is the homotopy cofibre of the hyper norm map \tilde{N} : $X_{hG} \to X^{hG}$; see [ACD89], [WW89], [Gre01], [Jar97]. In case of a right G-module A, the Tate spectrum $\hat{\mathbb{H}}(G, A)$ of the Eilenberg-MacLane spectrum associated with A has n-th homotopy group naturally isomorphic to ordinary Tate cohomology $\hat{H}^{-n}(G, A)$ of G with coefficients in A. We review the relevant definitions and facts in case $G = \mathbb{Z}/2$.

Let $G = \mathbb{Z}/2 = \{1, \sigma\}$ where $\sigma \in G$ is the unique element of order 2, and let X be a spectrum with G-action. We consider $X \times X$ as a spectrum with $G_1 \times G_2$ -action where $G_1 = G_2 = G$ and $(\sigma, 1) \in G_1 \times G_2$ acts as the switch map $(x, y) \mapsto (y, x)$ and $(1, \sigma)$ acts as $(x, y) \mapsto (\sigma y, \sigma x)$. This also induces a $G_1 \times G_2$ action on $X \vee X \subset X \times X$. There is a string of $G_1 \times G_2$ -equivariant spectra

(B.3)
$$X \xrightarrow{(1,\sigma)} X \times X \xleftarrow{\sim} X \lor X \xrightarrow{1\lor 1} X$$

where $G_1 \times G_2$ acts on the source X via the projection $G_1 \times G_2 \to G_1$ onto the first factor and $G_1 \times G_2$ acts on the target X of the map via the second projection $G_1 \times G_2 \to G_2$. The arrow in the wrong direction is a stable equivalence. We write $N: X \to X$ for this string of maps and call it *norm map*. The norm map is an honest map in the homotopy category of spectra and induces $1 + \sigma : \pi_n X \to \pi_n X$ on homotopy groups.

For a spectrum Y with $G_1 \times G_2$ -action, we can consider Y as a G_i -spectrum via the group homomorphisms $G_1 \to G_1 \times G_2 : x \mapsto (x, 1)$ and $G_2 \to G_1 \times G_2 : x \mapsto (1, x)$, and the two actions commute. In particular, the homotopy fixed point spectrum Y^{hG_2} is a G_1 -spectrum and thus has a homotopy orbit spectrum $(Y^{hG_2})_{hG_1}$. To abbreviate we write $FY = (Y^{hG_2})_{hG_1}$ for this spectrum. Note that the functor F preserves stable equivalences, and comes equipped with natural maps $(Y^{G_2})_{hG_1} \to FY \to (Y^{hG_2})_{G_1}$. Since G_2 acts trivially on the source of (B.3) and G_1 acts trivially on the target of (B.3), we obtain the hypernorm map

(B.4)
$$\tilde{N}: X_{hG} = (X^{G_2})_{hG} \to FX \xrightarrow{FN} FX \to (X^{hG})_{G_1} = X^{hG}.$$

More precisely, the hypernorm map is the string of maps N:

$$X_{hG} = (X^{G_2})_{hG_1} \to FX \to F(X \times X) \stackrel{\sim}{\leftarrow} F(X \vee X) \to FX \to (X^{hG_2})_{G_1} = X^{hG}$$

where the arrow in the wrong direction is a stable equivalence.

Lemma B.11. The two maps $cX \to X_{hG} \xrightarrow{\tilde{N}} X^{hG} \to X_f$ and $cX \to X \xrightarrow{N} X \to X_f$ are equal in the homotopy category of spectra.

Proof. For clarity of exposition, write X and Y for source and target of (B.3) with their respective $G_1 \times G_2$ actions. So, the norm map is a $G_1 \times G_2$ -equivariant string of maps $X \to Y$ with the arrow pointing in the wrong direction a stable equivalence. By functoriality, we have a commutative diagram



where the vertical maps are actually strings of maps with the vertical arrows in the wrong direction being stable equivalences. Every spectrum in the top row receives a natural map from $(cX)^{G_2}$ such that all triangles commute. Similarly, every spectrum in the bottom row naturally maps to $(Y_f)_{G_1}$ such that all triangles commute. The resulting composition $(cX)^{G_2} \to FX \to FY \to (Y_f)_{G_1}$ is the first map in the lemma, and the map $(cX)^{G_2} \to X \to Y \to (Y_f)_{G_1}$ is the second map in the lemma. By the commutativity of the diagram, these two maps are equal. \Box

Definition B.12. The Tate spectrum

 $\hat{\mathbb{H}}(\mathbb{Z}/2, X)$

of a spectrum X with $G = \mathbb{Z}/2$ action is the homotopy cofibre of the hypernorm map $\tilde{N}: X_{hG} \to X^{hG}$. Since \tilde{N} involves a stable weak equivalence in the wrong direction, we give the following more precise and functorial version on the level of spectra. The Tate spectrum is defined to be the lower right corner in the diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} X_{hG} \longrightarrow F(X \times X) \xleftarrow{\sim} F(X \vee X) \longrightarrow X^{hG} \\ \bigvee & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & &$$

where left and right squares are push-outs, all vertical arrows are cofibrations, the left vertical map is the inclusion $X \to X \wedge I : x \mapsto x \wedge 0$ of X into its cone (1 being the base-point of I = [0, 1]), and where the diagram $X \to Z(f) \to Y$ is a factorial factorization of a map $f : X \to Y$ into a cofibration followed by a stable equivalence.

The functor $\hat{\mathbb{H}}(\mathbb{Z}/2, \cdot)$ preserves stable equivalences and it sends sequences of $\mathbb{Z}/2$ -spectra which (forgetting the action) are homotopy fibre sequences to homotopy fibre sequences.

Example B.13. If X is an Eilenberg-MacLane spectrum $(\pi_i X = 0 \text{ for } i \neq 0)$ equipped with a $\mathbb{Z}/2$ -action, then the long exact sequence associated with the homotopy fibration $X_{hG} \to X^{hG} \to \hat{\mathbb{H}}(G, X)$ together with the calculations of the homotopy groups of X_{hG} and X^{hG} in Examples B.4 and B.9 yield isomorphisms

$$\pi_i \hat{\mathbb{H}}(\mathbb{Z}/2, X) \cong \begin{cases} H_i(\mathbb{Z}/2, \pi_0 X) & i \ge 2\\ H^{-i}(\mathbb{Z}/2, \pi_0 X) & i \le -1 \end{cases}$$

and an exact sequence

$$0 \to \pi_1 \hat{\mathbb{H}}(G, X) \to \pi_0(X_{hG}) \xrightarrow{N} \pi_0(X^{hG}) \to \pi_0 \hat{\mathbb{H}}(G, X) \to 0.$$

By Examples B.4, B.9 and Lemma B.11 the middle map $\pi_0 \tilde{N}$ is the usual norm map $1 + \sigma : (\pi_0 X)/G \to (\pi_0 X)^G$. These properties characterize Tate cohomology of $G = \mathbb{Z}/2$ with coefficients in the *G*-module $\pi_0 X$. Therefore, we have natural isomorphisms for $i \in \mathbb{Z}$

$$\pi_i \widehat{\mathbb{H}}(\mathbb{Z}/2, X) \cong \widehat{H}^{-i}(\mathbb{Z}/2, \pi_0 X).$$

Lemma B.14. If X is a spectrum with C_2 -action such that all its homotopy groups π_*X are uniquely 2-divisible, then its Tate spectrum is contractible

$$\mathbb{H}(C_2, X) \simeq \mathrm{pt}$$

Proof. For the C_2 -equivariant stable equivalence $X \simeq X^+ \times X^-$ from Lemma B.6, we have $(X^-)_{hC_2} \simeq (X^-)^{hC_2} \simeq \text{pt}$; see Lemmas B.6 and B.10. This reduces the proof of the lemma to the case when $X = X^+$ has trivial C_2 -action. In this case, the maps $X \to X_{hC_2}$ and $X^{hC_2} \to X$ are weak equivalences; see Lemmas B.6 and B.10. The composition $cX \to X \xrightarrow[]{N} X \to X_f$ is multiplication by 2 which is an equivalence since 2 is invertible in the homotopy groups of X. From Lemma B.11, it follows that the hypernorm map $\tilde{N}: X_{hC_2} \to X^{hC_2}$ is a stable equivalence. In particular, its homotopy cofibre, the Tate spectrum, is contractible.

B.9. Spectra in monoidal model categories. Let $(\mathcal{C}, \otimes, \mathbb{1})$ be a cofibrantly generated closed symmetric monoidal model category for which the domains of the generating cofibrations are cofibrant, and let $K \in \mathcal{C}$ be a cofibrant object. Recall that the category \mathcal{C}^{Σ} of symmetric sequences in \mathcal{C} is symmetric monoidal under the monoidal product of Section B.12 which we will denote by \wedge . We have evaluation functors $\operatorname{Ev}_n : \mathcal{C}^{\Sigma} \to \mathcal{C} : X \mapsto X_n$ and their left adjoints $G_n : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}^{\Sigma} : M \mapsto (0, ..., 0, (\Sigma_n)_+ \otimes M, 0, 0, ...)$. The category $\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{C}, K)$ of K-spectra in \mathcal{C} is the category of left modules over the free commutative monoid $S := \operatorname{Sym}(G_1K) =$ $(\mathbb{1}, K, K^{\otimes 2}, K^{\otimes 3}, ...)$ in \mathcal{C}^{Σ} on the symmetric sequence $G_1K = (0, K, 0, 0, ...)$. The evaluation functors $\operatorname{Ev}_n : \operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{C}, K) \to \mathcal{C} : X \mapsto X_n$ have left adjoints $F_n : \mathcal{C} \to$ $\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{C}, K) : M \mapsto \operatorname{Sym}(G_1K) \wedge G_n K$. By abuse of notation, we will write M for F_0M . As modules over the commutative monoid $S = \operatorname{Sym}(G_1K)$, the category $\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{C}, K)$ is symmetric monoidal with unit S and monoidal product $X \wedge_S Y$ defined as the coequalizer of the two multiplication maps $X \wedge S \wedge Y \to X \wedge Y$ coming from $X \wedge S \cong S \wedge X \to X$ and $S \wedge Y \to Y$.

In [Hov01, Theorem 8.11], Hovey constructs a (projective) stable symmetric monoidal model structure on $\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{C}, K)$ for which K is cofibrant and the functor $\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{C}, K) \to \operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{C}, K) : X \mapsto K \wedge_S X$ is a left Quillen equivalence. The weak equivalences for this model category are the stable equivalences which are the maps $X \to Y$ of K-spectra which induce bijections $[Y, E]' \to [X, E]'$ on morphism sets in the homotopy category of the level model structure on $\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{C}, K)$ for every Ω -spectrum E. Here, a K-spectrum X is an Ω -spectrum if X_n is fibrant in \mathcal{C} for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and the adjoint $X_n \to \operatorname{Map}_{\mathcal{C}}(K, X_{n+1})$ of the structure map $K \otimes X_n \to X_{n+1}$ is a weak equivalence in \mathcal{C} . The functors $F_l : \mathcal{C} \to \operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{C}, K)$ preserve weak equivalences and cofibrant objects. For M and $N \in \mathcal{C}$, there are natural isomorphisms $F_{m+n}(M \otimes N) \to F_m M \wedge_S F_n N$ (adjoint to the identity map $M \otimes N = \operatorname{Ev}_{m+n}(F_m M \wedge_S F_n N)$) which are associative and unital. In particular, the functor $F_0 : \mathcal{C} \to \operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{C}, K)$ is strong symmetric monoidal. If $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C} : X \to K \otimes X$ is a left Quillen equivalence, then $F_0 : \mathcal{C} \to \operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{C}, K)$ is a left Quillen equivalence [Hov01, Theorem 9.1].

Example B.15. An example to keep in mind is $(\text{Top}_*, \wedge, S^0)$ with the usual model structure and $K = S^1$. In this case, the model structure in Section B.9 is the projective stable model structure on the category of spectra of topological spaces. But the example we are really interested in is $(\text{Sp}, \wedge_S, S^0)$ equipped with the positive projective stable model structure and $K = \tilde{S}^1$ a cofibrant replacement of $S^1 \in \text{Sp}$ in that model structure; see below.

B.10. **True and naive homotopy sets.** For two objects X, Y of a model category \mathcal{M} , denote by $[X, Y]_{\mathcal{M}}$ the set of maps from X to Y in the homotopy category of \mathcal{M} . Let $n \in Z$ be an integer. For a K-spectrum X define its n-th naive K-homotopy set as

$$\hat{\pi}_n(X) = \operatorname{colim}_k[K^{\otimes k}K^{\otimes n}, X_k]_{\mathcal{C}}$$

where the maps in the colimit are given by tensoring with K and composing with the structure map $K \otimes X_k \to X_{1+k}$ of the K-spectrum X. The *n*-th true K-homotopy set of a K-spectrum X is the set

$$\pi_n(X) = [K^{\otimes n}, X]_{\mathrm{Sp}(\mathcal{C}, K)}$$

Of course, in case $C = \text{Top}_*$ and $K = S^1$, these are precisely the definitions given in Section B.3. There is a natural map

(B.5)
$$\hat{\pi}_n(X) \to \pi_n(X)$$

defined as follows:

$$[K^{\otimes k}K^{\otimes n}, X_k]_{\mathcal{C}} \xrightarrow{F_k} [F_k(K^{\otimes k}K^{\otimes n}), F_k(X_k)]_{\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{C}, K)}$$

$$= [(F_1K)^{\wedge k}K^{\otimes n}, F_k\operatorname{Ev}_k(X)]_{\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{C}, K)}$$

$$\xrightarrow{s_k} [(F_1K)^{\wedge k}K^{\otimes n}, X)]_{\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{C}, K)}$$

$$\xleftarrow{\lambda^{\wedge k}} [K^{\otimes n}, X)]_{\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{C}, K)}$$

where $s_k : F_k \operatorname{Ev}_k \to 1$ is the counit of adjunction, and $\lambda : F_1 K \to S$ is the adjoint of the identity map $K = \operatorname{Ev}_1(S)$. Note that λ , and hence $\lambda^{\wedge n}$, is a stable equivalence [Hov01, Theorem 8.8].

B.11. **Bispectra.** Now, we specialize to the case $(\mathcal{C}, \otimes, \mathbb{1})$ the category (Sp, \wedge_S, S) of spectra equipped with the *positive stable model structure* and $K = \tilde{S}^1$ a cofibrant replacement of $S^1 \in \text{Sp}$ in that model structure. The resulting category $\text{Sp}(\text{Sp}, \tilde{S}^1)$ of symmetric spectra in Sp will be called the *category of* \tilde{S}^1 - S^1 -*bispectra*, or simply the *category of bispectra* denoted by BiSp:

$$\operatorname{BiSp} = \operatorname{Sp}(\operatorname{Sp}, S^1).$$

It is equipped with the projective stable model structure of Hovey [Hov01, Theorem 8.11] induced by the *positive stable model structure on the category* Sp of spectra. So, a bispectrum in our sense is a left module over the commutative monoid $\tilde{S} = (S^0, \tilde{S}^1, \tilde{S}^2, \tilde{S}^3, ...) = \text{Sym}(G_1 \tilde{S})$ in the category of symmetric sequences Sp^{Σ} in Sp where \tilde{S}^n denotes $\tilde{S}^1 \wedge_S \tilde{S}^1 \wedge_S ... \wedge_S \tilde{S}^1$ (*n* factors). The symmetric monoidal product in BiSp is denoted by $\wedge_{\tilde{S}}$.

Since in Sp smash product with \tilde{S}^1 is a Quillen equivalence, the symmetric monoidal inclusion $F_0 : \text{Sp} \to \text{BiSp}$ is a Quillen equivalence, too. In other words the category of bispectra is yet another symmetric monoidal model for the stable homotopy category.

Recall the map $\lambda : F_1(\tilde{S}^1) \to \tilde{S}$ which is adjoint to the identity map $\tilde{S}^1 = \operatorname{Ev}_1(\tilde{S})$. For a bispectrum X, write $\lambda^* : X \to RX = \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{BiSp}}(F_1(\tilde{S}^1), X)$ for the adjoint of the map $\lambda \wedge_{\tilde{S}} 1_X : F_1(\tilde{S}^1) \wedge_{\tilde{S}} X \to \tilde{S} \wedge_{\tilde{S}} X = X$. A level fibrant bispectrum X (*i.e.*, a bispectrum $X = (X_0, X_1, ...)$ such that X_n is a positive Ω -spectrum in Sp) is called *semistable* if the map $\lambda^* : X \to RX$ is a $\hat{\pi}_*$ -isomorphism.

Lemma B.16. Let X be a level fibrant semistable \tilde{S}^1 - S^1 bispectrum. Then the natural map (B.5) is an isomorphism for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$:

$$\hat{\pi}_n(X) \xrightarrow{\cong} \pi_n(X).$$

Proof. As in [HSS00], denote by \mathbb{R}^n the *n*-fold iterate of the functor \mathbb{R} , by $\mathbb{R}^{\infty}X$ the mapping telescope of

$$X \xrightarrow{\lambda^*} RX \xrightarrow{R\lambda^*} R^2 X \xrightarrow{R^2\lambda^*} R^3 X \longrightarrow \cdots,$$

and by $i_X : X \to R^{\infty}X$ the map from the initial term into the mapping telescope. For a level fibrant semistable \tilde{S}^{1} - S^{1} bispectrum, the map $i_X : X \to R^{\infty}X$ is a $\hat{\pi}_*$ -isomorphism, and $R^{\infty}X$ is an Ω -spectrum. For every Ω -spectrum X, the map $\hat{\pi}_*(X) \to \pi_*(X)$ is an isomorphism. Moreover, for any $\hat{\pi}_*$ -isomorphism is a stable equivalence. These claims are proved precisely as in [HSS00] or [Sch] with the exception of the last claim which we will prove below. Therefore, in the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
\hat{\pi}_*(X) & \longrightarrow & \pi_*(X) \\
\downarrow & & \downarrow \\
\hat{\pi}_*(R^\infty X) & \longrightarrow & \pi_*(R^\infty X)
\end{array}$$

the two vertical maps and the lower horizontal map are isomorphisms. It follows that the top horizontal map is an isomorphism too.

The proofs that a $\hat{\pi}_*$ -isomorphism is a stable equivalence in [HSS00, Theorem 3.1.11] and [Sch, Theorem 4.23] both rely on the injective level model structure on the category of symmetric spectra of simplicial sets in which every object is cofibrant. A corresponding model structure in the case of bispectra presumably exists but we don't really need it. A minor modification of their argument will do. For an Ω -spectrum E, the map $i_E : E \to R^{\infty}E$ is a level equivalence. In particular, it is an isomorphism in the homotopy category of the level model structure on bispectra. Denote by [X, Y]' the set of maps from X to Y in that homotopy category. For a map $f : X \to Y$ of bispectra and E an Ω -bispectrum, we have a commutative diagram

$$\begin{split} [Y,E]' &\xrightarrow{R^{\infty}} [R^{\infty}Y,R^{\infty}E]' \xrightarrow{[1,i_E^{-1}]'} [R^{\infty}Y,E]' \xrightarrow{[i_Y,1]'} [Y,E]' \\ & \downarrow^{[f,1]'} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{[R^{\infty}f,1]'} \qquad \downarrow^{[R^{\infty}f,1]'} \qquad \downarrow^{[f,1]'} \\ [X,E]' \xrightarrow{R^{\infty}} [R^{\infty}X,R^{\infty}E]' \xrightarrow{[1,i_E^{-1}]'} [R^{\infty}X,E]' \xrightarrow{[i_X,1]'} [Y,E]' \end{split}$$

114

in which the two horizontal compositions are the identity maps. This shows that the map of sets $[f, 1]' : [Y, E]' \to [X, E]'$ is a retract of the map of sets $[R^{\infty}f, 1]' : [R^{\infty}Y, E]' \to [R^{\infty}X, E]'$. If f is a $\hat{\pi}_*$ -isomorphism of level fibrant bispectra then $R^{\infty}f$ is a level equivalence. Hence, the map of sets $[R^{\infty}f, 1]'$ is a bijection. As a retract of a bijection, the map of sets [f, 1]' is also a bijection. By definition, this means that f is a stable equivalence.

Remark B.17. Recall that the inclusion $\text{Sp} \subset \text{BiSp}$ of spectra into bispectra preserves stable equivalences and induces an equivalence of homotopy categories. In fact, it is a left Quillen equivalence. In particular, the quasi-inverse BiSp sends an $X \in \text{BiSp}$ to the zero spectrum Z_0 of a fibrant replacement Z of $X \in \text{BiSp}$. On the subcategory of level fibrant semistable bispectra, this quasi-inverse can be chosen to be $(R^{\infty}X)_0$. That is, it is the mapping telescope of the diagram of spectra

$$X_0 \xrightarrow{\lambda^*} \Omega X_1 \xrightarrow{R\lambda^*} \Omega^2 X_2 \xrightarrow{R^2 \lambda^*} \Omega^3 X_3 \longrightarrow \cdots$$

Example B.18. Let $X = (X_0, X_1, ...)$ be a level fibrant bispectrum. Recall that this means that each X_n is a positive Ω -spectrum in Sp. Assume that the map of spectra $X_n \to \Omega X_{1+n}$ adjoint to the structure maps induces an isomorphism $\pi_i(X_n) \to \pi_i(\Omega X_{1+n})$ whenever i > 0. Then X is semistable. This is because the map $X \to RX$ in degree n is precisely the map $X_n \to \Omega X_{1+n}$, and $\hat{\pi}_n(X) \to \hat{\pi}_n(RX)$ is the map on colimits over i of the horizontal sequences



By assumption, all the maps in the diagram are isomorphisms when i + n > 0. Hence, $\hat{\pi}_n(X) \to \hat{\pi}_n(RX)$ is an isomorphism for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$.

B.12. Symmetric sequences [HSS00]. Recall [HSS00, 2.1.1] that a symmetric sequence in a category C is a functor $\Sigma \to C$ from the category Σ to C where Σ has objects the finite sets $\overline{n} = \{1, 2, ..., n\}, \overline{0} = \emptyset$, for $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and the automorphisms of the sets \overline{n} as its maps. A morphism of symmetric sequences is a natural transformation of functors $\Sigma \to C$. This defines the category C^{Σ} of symmetric sequences in C.

If the category \mathcal{C} has finite coproducts \bigsqcup then so does the category \mathcal{C}^{Σ} of symmetric sequences in \mathcal{C} . Coproducts in \mathcal{C}^{Σ} are computed object-wise. Let $(\mathcal{C}, \otimes, \mathbb{1})$ be a symmetric monoidal category which has finite coproducts. In particular, it has an initial object $\emptyset = \bigsqcup_{\emptyset}$. Assume that the monoidal product commutes with finite coproducts, that is, the natural maps $(A \otimes E) \sqcup (B \otimes E) \to (A \sqcup B) \otimes E$ and $\emptyset \to \emptyset \otimes E$ are isomorphisms. Then the category of symmetric sequences \mathcal{C}^{Σ} is equipped with a symmetric monoidal product which is best described by replacing Σ by a slightly larger but equivalent category [HSS00, Remark 2.1.5].

Let \mathcal{P} be the category whose objects are the finite subsets of \mathbb{N} and whose morphisms are the isomorphisms of sets. The natural inclusion $\Sigma \subset \mathcal{P}$ is an equivalence of categories with inverse $\mathcal{P} \to \Sigma$ given by identifying a finite subset P of \mathbb{N} with the set $|\overline{P}| \in \Sigma$ via the unique order-preserving bijection $P \cong |\overline{P}|$ where |P| denotes the cardinality of P. The categories of functors $\Sigma \to \mathcal{C}$ and $\mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{C}$ are equivalent

(via the functor $\Sigma \subset \mathcal{P}$ and its inverse $\mathcal{P} \to \Sigma$). The tensor product of two functors $X, Y : \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{C}$ is the functor $X \otimes Y$ which for a finite subset P of \mathbb{N} is

$$(X \otimes Y)(P) = \bigsqcup_{\substack{A \cup B = P, \\ A \cap B = \emptyset}} X(A) \otimes Y(B).$$

An isomorphism $f : P \to Q$ of sets defines the map $(X \otimes Y)(f)$ which is the coproduct of the isomorphisms $X(A) \otimes Y(B) \to X(fA) \otimes Y(fB)$ induced by the isomorphisms $f : A \to f(A)$ and $f : B \to f(B)$. The tensor product is equipped with maps

$$m_{A,B}: X(A) \otimes Y(B) \to (X \otimes Y)(A \sqcup B)$$

functorial in $A, B \in \mathcal{P}$. As in [HSS00, Lemma 2.1.6], tensor product of symmetric sequences makes the category \mathcal{C}^{Σ} into a symmetric monoidal category with unit the symmetric sequence $(\mathbb{1}, \emptyset, \emptyset, \dots)$.

The tensor product of symmetric sequences has the following universal property. Let Z be a symmetric sequence in C, and let

$$f_{A,B}: X(A) \otimes Y(B) \to Z(A \sqcup B)$$

be a family of morphisms in \mathcal{C} functorial in $A, B \in \mathcal{P}$. Then there is a unique morphism $f: X \otimes Y \to Z$ of symmetric sequences in \mathcal{C} such that $f_{A,B} = f_{A \sqcup B} \circ m_{A,B}$ for all $A, B \in \mathcal{P}$.

If \mathcal{C} and \mathcal{D} are symmetric monoidal categories with finite coproducts that commute with the monoidal products, and if $F : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D}$ is a symmetric monoidal functor commuting with finite coproducts then the induced functor $F : \mathcal{C}^{\Sigma} \to \mathcal{D}^{\Sigma} : X \mapsto$ $F \circ X$ on symmetric sequences has the same property that is, it is also symmetric monoidal and commutes with finite coproducts.

References

- [ACD89] A. Adem, R. L. Cohen, and W. G. Dwyer. Generalized Tate homology, homotopy fixed points and the transfer. In *Algebraic topology (Evanston, IL, 1988)*, volume 96 of *Contemp. Math.*, pages 1–13. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1989.
- [AF14] Aravind Asok and Jean Fasel. A cohomological classification of vector bundles on smooth affine threefolds. *Duke Math. J.*, 163(14):2561–2601, 2014.
- [Bal00] Paul Balmer. Triangular Witt groups. I. The 12-term localization exact sequence. K-Theory, 19(4):311–363, 2000.
- [Bal01a] Paul Balmer. Triangular Witt groups. II. From usual to derived. Math. Z., 236(2):351– 382, 2001.
- [Bal01b] Paul Balmer. Witt cohomology, Mayer-Vietoris, homotopy invariance and the Gersten conjecture. K-Theory, 23(1):15–30, 2001.
- [BF78] A. K. Bousfield and E. M. Friedlander. Homotopy theory of Γ-spaces, spectra, and bisimplicial sets. In *Geometric applications of homotopy theory (Proc. Conf., Evanston, Ill., 1977), II*, volume 658 of *Lecture Notes in Math.*, pages 80–130. Springer, Berlin, 1978.
- [BK90] A. I. Bondal and M. M. Kapranov. Enhanced triangulated categories. Mat. Sb., 181(5):669–683, 1990.
- [BK05] A. J. Berrick and M. Karoubi. Hermitian K-theory of the integers. Amer. J. Math., 127(4):785–823, 2005.
- [BKSØ15] A. J. Berrick, M. Karoubi, M. Schlichting, and P. A. Østvær. The Homotopy Fixed Point Theorem and the Quillen-Lichtenbaum conjecture in Hermitian K-theory. Adv. Math., 278:34–55, 2015.
- [Bro94] Kenneth S. Brown. Cohomology of groups, volume 87 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1994. Corrected reprint of the 1982 original.

- [BS01] Paul Balmer and Marco Schlichting. Idempotent completion of triangulated categories. J. Algebra, 236(2):819–834, 2001.
- [CHSW08] G. Cortiñas, C. Haesemeyer, M. Schlichting, and C. Weibel. Cyclic homology, cdhcohomology and negative K-theory. Ann. of Math. (2), 167(2):549–573, 2008.
- [CHW08] G. Cortiñas, C. Haesemeyer, and C. Weibel. K-regularity, cdh-fibrant Hochschild homology, and a conjecture of Vorst. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 21(2):547–561, 2008.
- [Dri04] Vladimir Drinfeld. DG quotients of DG categories. J. Algebra, 272(2):643–691, 2004.
- [FRS12] J. Fasel, R. A. Rao, and R. G. Swan. On stably free modules over affine algebras. Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci., 116:223–243, 2012.
- [FS02] Eric M. Friedlander and Andrei Suslin. The spectral sequence relating algebraic Ktheory to motivic cohomology. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4), 35(6):773–875, 2002.
- [FS09] J. Fasel and V. Srinivas. Chow-Witt groups and Grothendieck-Witt groups of regular schemes. Adv. Math., 221(1):302–329, 2009.
- [Ger72] S. M. Gersten. On the spectrum of algebraic K-theory. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 78:216–219, 1972.
- [GH99] Thomas Geisser and Lars Hesselholt. Topological cyclic homology of schemes. In Algebraic K-theory (Seattle, WA, 1997), volume 67 of Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., pages 41–87. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1999.
- [Gil07] Stefan Gille. The general dévissage theorem for Witt groups of schemes. Arch. Math. (Basel), 88(4):333–343, 2007.
- [Gra76] Daniel Grayson. Higher algebraic K-theory. II (after Daniel Quillen). In Algebraic K-theory (Proc. Conf., Northwestern Univ., Evanston, Ill., 1976), pages 217–240. Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 551. Springer, Berlin, 1976.
- [Gre01] J. P. C. Greenlees. Tate cohomology in axiomatic stable homotopy theory. In Cohomological methods in homotopy theory (Bellaterra, 1998), volume 196 of Progr. Math., pages 149–176. Birkhäuser, Basel, 2001.
- [Hap87] Dieter Happel. On the derived category of a finite-dimensional algebra. Comment. Math. Helv., 62(3):339–389, 1987.
- [Har66] Robin Hartshorne. Residues and duality. Lecture notes of a seminar on the work of A. Grothendieck, given at Harvard 1963/64. With an appendix by P. Deligne. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, No. 20. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1966.
- [Hir03] Philip S. Hirschhorn. Model categories and their localizations, volume 99 of Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2003.
- [Hor05] Jens Hornbostel. A¹-representability of Hermitian K-theory and Witt groups. Topology, 44(3):661–687, 2005.
- [Hov99] Mark Hovey. Model categories, volume 63 of Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1999.
- [Hov01] Mark Hovey. Spectra and symmetric spectra in general model categories. J. Pure Appl. Algebra, 165(1):63–127, 2001.
- [HSS00] Mark Hovey, Brooke Shipley, and Jeff Smith. Symmetric spectra. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 13(1):149–208, 2000.
- [Jar97] J. F. Jardine. Generalized étale cohomology theories, volume 146 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1997.
- [Kar70] Max Karoubi. Foncteurs dérivés et K-théorie. In Séminaire Heidelberg-Saarbrücken-Strasbourg sur la Kthéorie (1967/68), Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 136, pages 107–186. Springer, Berlin, 1970.
- [Kar73] Max Karoubi. Périodicité de la K-théorie hermitienne. In Algebraic K-theory, III: Hermitian K-theory and geometric applications (Proc. Conf., Battelle Memorial Inst., Seattle, Wash., 1972), pages 301–411. Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 343. Springer, Berlin, 1973.
- [Kar80] Max Karoubi. Le théorème fondamental de la K-théorie hermitienne. Ann. of Math. (2), 112(2):259–282, 1980.
- [Kar06] Max Karoubi. Stabilization of the Witt group. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 342(3):165–168, 2006.
- [Kel82] Gregory Maxwell Kelly. Basic concepts of enriched category theory, volume 64 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1982.

MARCO SCHLICHTING

- [Kel90] Bernhard Keller. Chain complexes and stable categories. *Manuscripta Math.*, 67(4):379–417, 1990.
- [Kel96] Bernhard Keller. Derived categories and their uses. In Handbook of algebra, Vol. 1, pages 671–701. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1996.
- [Kel99] Bernhard Keller. On the cyclic homology of exact categories. J. Pure Appl. Algebra, 136(1):1–56, 1999.
- [Kel06] Bernhard Keller. On differential graded categories. In International Congress of Mathematicians. Vol. II, pages 151–190. Eur. Math. Soc., Zürich, 2006.
- [KML71] G. M. Kelly and S. Mac Lane. Coherence in closed categories. J. Pure Appl. Algebra, 1(1):97–140, 1971.
- [Kne77] Manfred Knebusch. Symmetric bilinear forms over algebraic varieties. In Conference on Quadratic Forms—1976 (Proc. Conf., Queen's Univ., Kingston, Ont., 1976), pages 103–283. Queen's Papers in Pure and Appl. Math., No. 46. Queen's Univ., Kingston, Ont., 1977.
- [Kob99] Damjan Kobal. K-theory, Hermitian K-theory and the Karoubi tower. K-Theory, 17(2):113–140, 1999.
- [KSW] Max Karoubi, Marco Schlichting, and Charles Weibel. The Witt group of real algorate varieties. To appear in *J. Topol.*
- [May74] J. P. May. E_∞ spaces, group completions, and permutative categories. In New developments in topology (Proc. Sympos. Algebraic Topology, Oxford, 1972), pages 61–93. London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., No. 11. Cambridge Univ. Press, London, 1974.
- [May75] J. Peter May. Classifying spaces and fibrations. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., 1(1, 155):xiii+98, 1975.
- [McC69] M. C. McCord. Classifying spaces and infinite symmetric products. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 146:273–298, 1969.
- [MH73] John Milnor and Dale Husemoller. Symmetric bilinear forms. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1973. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete, Band 73.

[MMSS01] M. A. Mandell, J. P. May, S. Schwede, and B. Shipley. Model categories of diagram spectra. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3), 82(2):441–512, 2001.

- [Mor12] Fabian Morel. A¹-Algebraeic Topology over a Field, volume 2052 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2012.
- [MV99] Fabien Morel and Vladimir Voevodsky. A¹-homotopy theory of schemes. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., (90):45–143 (2001), 1999.
- [Nee90] Amnon Neeman. The derived category of an exact category. J. Algebra, 135(2):388–394, 1990.
- [PW10] Ivan Panin and Charles Walter. On the motivic commutative ring spectrum BO. arXiv:1011.0650, 2010.
- [Qui73] Daniel Quillen. Higher algebraic K-theory. I. In Algebraic K-theory, I: Higher Ktheories (Proc. Conf., Battelle Memorial Inst., Seattle, Wash., 1972), pages 85–147. Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 341. Springer, Berlin, 1973.
- [Sch] Stefan Schwede. Symmetric Spectra. http://www.math.uni-bonn.de/people/schwede/SymSpec-v3.pdf.
- [Sch04] Marco Schlichting. Hermitian K-theory on a theorem of Giffen. K-Theory, 32(3):253– 267, 2004.
- [Sch06] Marco Schlichting. Negative K-theory of derived categories. Math. Z., 253(1):97–134, 2006.
- [Sch10a] Marco Schlichting. Hermitian K-theory of exact categories. J. K-Theory, 5(1):105–165, 2010.
- [Sch10b] Marco Schlichting. The Mayer-Vietoris principle for Grothendieck-Witt groups of schemes. *Invent. Math.*, 179(2):349–433, 2010.
- [Sch11] Marco Schlichting. Higher algebraic K-theory. In Topics in algebraic and topological K-theory, volume 2008 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 167–241. Springer, Berlin, 2011.
- [Seg74] Graeme Segal. Categories and cohomology theories. *Topology*, 13:293–312, 1974.
- [Swa62] Richard G. Swan. Vector bundles and projective modules. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 105:264–277, 1962.
- [Swa77] Richard G. Swan. Topological examples of projective modules. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 230:201–234, 1977.

- [Tho93a] R. W. Thomason. Les K-groupes d'un fibré projectif. In Algebraic K-theory and algebraic topology (Lake Louise, AB, 1991), volume 407 of NATO Adv. Sci. Inst. Ser. C Math. Phys. Sci., pages 243–248. Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 1993.
- [Tho93b] R. W. Thomason. Les K-groupes d'un schéma éclaté et une formule d'intersection excédentaire. Invent. Math., 112(1):195–215, 1993.
- [Tho97] R. W. Thomason. The classification of triangulated subcategories. Compositio Math., 105(1):1–27, 1997.
- [TT90] R. W. Thomason and Thomas Trobaugh. Higher algebraic K-theory of schemes and of derived categories. In *The Grothendieck Festschrift, Vol. III*, volume 88 of *Progr. Math.*, pages 247–435. Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1990.
- [Wag72] J. B. Wagoner. Delooping classifying spaces in algebraic K-theory. Topology, 11:349– 370, 1972.
- [Wal78] Friedhelm Waldhausen. Algebraic K-theory of generalized free products. I, II. Ann. of Math. (2), 108(1):135–204, 1978.
- [Wal85] Friedhelm Waldhausen. Algebraic K-theory of spaces. In Algebraic and geometric topology (New Brunswick, N.J., 1983), volume 1126 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 318–419. Springer, Berlin, 1985.
- [Wal03a] Charles Walter. Grothendieck-Witt groups of projective bundles. K-theory preprint archive, 2003.
- [Wal03b] Charles Walter. Grothendieck-Witt groups of triangulated categories. K-theory preprint archive, 2003.
- [Wei81] Charles A. Weibel. K-theory of Azumaya algebras. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 81(1):1–7, 1981.
- [WW89] Michael Weiss and Bruce Williams. Automorphisms of manifolds and algebraic Ktheory. II. J. Pure Appl. Algebra, 62(1):47–107, 1989.
- [WW00] Michael S. Weiss and Bruce Williams. Products and duality in Waldhausen categories. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 352(2):689–709, 2000.
- [Zib11] Marcus Zibrowius. Witt groups of complex cellular varieties. Doc. Math., 16:465–511, 2011.

MARCO SCHLICHTING, MATHEMATICS INSTITUTE, ZEEMAN BUILDING, UNIVERSITY OF WARWICK, COVENTRY CV4 7AL, UK

E-mail address: m.schlichting@warwick.ac.uk